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Ascential Software Limited

Director's Report
For the Year Ended 31 December 2011

The director presents his annual report and the audited financial statements of the company for the year ended
31 December 2011

Principal activity and business review

The company has been an intermediary holding company dunng the year The intention of the director 1s that
the company remains an intermediary holding company for the forseeable future

Results and dividends

The profit for the year, after taxation, amounted to £47,066 (2010 £37,372)
The director has not recommended the payment of a dividend (2010 £nil)
Principal risk and uncertainties

Gwen that the company 1s no longer trading the director considers that it 1s exposed to imited risks and
uncertainties

Key performance indicators

Given the nature of business, the director considers the use of key performance indicators unnecessary to gain
an understanding of the development, position and performance of the company

Financial risk management

The operations of the company do not expose it to material financial nisks including the effects of change In
debt market prices, credrt risk and liguidity risk  Interest recerved from fellow group undertakings s calculated
on a LIBOR basis meaning the company has some exposure to interest rate nsk

Director

The director who served the company dunng the year and up to the date of signing the financial statements
was as follows

| Ferguson

Provision of information to auditors

In so far as the director 1s aware
. there i1s no relevant audit information of which the company's auditors are unaware, and

. the director has taken all the steps he ought to have taken as a director in order to make himself aware
of any relevant audit information and to establish that the auditors are aware of that information
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Ascential Software Limited

Director’'s Report
For the Year Ended 31 December 2011

Independent auditors

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP are deemed to be re-appointed under section 487(2) of the Companies Act
2006

Signed by order of the board

| Fewgugg7 8 C/\

Director

Date 26 July 2012
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Ascential Software Limited

Statement of Director's Responsibilities
For the Year Ended 31 December 2011

The director 1s responsible for preparing the Director's report and the financial statements in accordance with
applicable law and regulations

Company law requires the director to prepare financial staterments for each financial year Under that law the
director has prepared the financial statements in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted
Accounting Practice {(United Kingdom Accounting Standards and applicable law) Under company law the
director must not approve the financial statements unless he 1s satisfied that they give a true and fair view of
the state of affarrs of the company and of the profit or loss of the company for that peried |n preparing these
financial statements, the director 1s required to

. select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently,
. make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent,
. state whether apphcable UK Accounting Standards have been followed, subject to any matenal

departures disclosed and explained in the financial statements,

. prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it 1s inappropriate to presume that
the company will continue in business

The director 1s responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the
company's transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the
company and enable him to ensure that the financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006 He 1s
also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the
prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities
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Ascential Software Limited

Independent Auditors’ Report to the Members of Ascential Software Limited

We have audied the financial statements of Ascential Software Limited for the year ended 31 December 2011
which comprise the Profit and Loss Account, the Balance Sheet and the related notes The financiat reporting
framework that has been applied in their preparation is applcable law and United Kingdom Accounting
Standards (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice)

Respective responsibilities of directors and auditors

As explained more fully in the Statement of Director's Responsibilities set out on page 4 the director Is
responsible for the preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair
view OQur responsibility 1s to audit and express an opinion on the financial statements in accordance with
applicable law and International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland) Those standards require us to comply
with the Auditing Practices Board's Ethical Standards for Auditors

This report, including the opinions, has been prepared for and only for the company's members as a body In
accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 18 of the Companies Act 2006 and for no other purpose We do not, In
giving these opinions, accept or assume responsibility for any other purpose or to any other person to whom
this report 1s shown or into whose hands it may come save where expressly agreed by our prior consent In
writing

Scope of the audit of the financial statements

An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements sufficient to
give reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free from matenal misstatement, whether caused
by fraud or error This includes an assessment of whether the accounting policies are appropnate to the
company's circumstances and have been consistently applied and adequately disclosed, the reasonableness of
significant accounting estimates made by the director, and the overall presentation of the financial statements

In addition we read all the financial and non-financial information In the Director's report to 1dentify matenal
tnconsistencies with the audited financial statements If we become aware of any apparent matenal
misstatements or iInconsistencies we consider the implications for our report

Opinion on financial statements
In our opinion the financial statements

. give a true and farr view of the state of the company’s affairs as at 31 December 2011 and of its
profit for the year then ended,

. have been properly prepared In accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting
Practice, and

. have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006
Opinion on other matter prescribed by the Companies Act 2006

In our opinion the information given in the Director's Report for the financial year for which the financial
statements are prepared 1s consistent with the financial statements
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Ascential Software Limited

Independent Auditors' Report to the Members of Ascential Software Limited

Matters on which we are required to report by exception
We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters where the Companies Act 2006 requires us to
report to you If, in our opinon

A7

adequate accounting records have not been kept, or returns adequate for our audit have not been
received from branches not wvisited by us, or

the financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns, or
certain disclosures of director's remuneration specified by law are not made, or

we have not received all the information and explanations we require for cur audit

Trevor Smith {Senior statutory auditor)

for and on behalt of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors
Southampten

Date 27 July 2012
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Ascential Software Limited

Profit and Loss Account
For the Year Ended 31 December 2011

Note
Interest recevable S
PROFIT ON ORDINARY ACTIVITIES BEFORE TAXATICN
Tax on profit on ordinary activities 6
PROFIT FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR 11

All amounts refate to continuing operations

The company has no recognised gains and losses other than the profit for the years as set out above

2011 2010

£ £
64,035 51,905
64,035 51,905

(16,969) {14,533)
47,066 37,372

There 1s no difference between the profit and loss account reported above and its historical cost equivalent

The notes on pages 9 to 12 form part of these financial statements
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Ascential Software Limited

Registered number 01657917

Balance Sheet

As at 31 December 2011

FIXED ASSETS

Investments

CURRENT ASSETS

Debtors

Note

8

CREDITORS. amounts faling due within

one year

NET CURRENT ASSETS

TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES

CAPITAL AND RESERVES
Called up share captal
Capital redemption reserve
Profit and loss account

TOTAL SHAREHOLDER FUNDS

10
11
11

12

12,448,415

2011

12,448,415

12,448,415

2,750,000
5,354,231

4,344,184

12,448,415

12,741,960

(340,611)

The financial statements were approved and signed by the director on 26 July 2012 by

oK

1 Ferg USOR—_)

Director

| G~

The notes on pages 9 to 12 form part of these financial statements

2010

12,401,349

12,401,349

2,750,000
5,354,231
4,297,118

12,401,349
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Ascential Software Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Year Ended 31 December 2011

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

11

1.2

13

14

15

16

Basis of accounting

The financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis, under the historical cost
convention in accordance with the Companies Act 2006 and applicable accounting standards in the
United Kingdom The principal accounting policies, which have been applied consistently throughout
the year, are set out below

Consolidation

The financial statements contain information about Ascential Software Limited as an indiidual
company and do not contain consolidated financial information as the intermediary parent of the
group The company 1s exempt under Section 401 of the Companies Act 2006 from the reguirement
to prepare consolidated financial statements as it and its subsidiary undertakings are included by full
consolidation In the consolidated financial statements of its ulimate parent company International
Business Machines Corporation, a company incorporated in the United States of America

Cash flow statement

The company has taken advantage of the exemption in Financial Reporting Standards No 1
(Revised 1996) "Cash Flow Statements" from including a cash flow statement mn the financial
statements on the grounds that it 1s wholly owned and its ulimate parent company, International
Business Machines Corporation, publishes a consolidated cash flow statement in their consolidated
financial statements, which are publicly available

Investments

Investments are valued at the lower of cost less impairment losses or recoverable amounts

Interest receivable

Interest recevable 1s recognised on an accruals basis using vanable rates based on LIBOR less 15
basis points

Taxation
Income tax 1s the current tax calculated on taxable profits for the year and any adjustments tn

respect of prior periods The company's liability for current tax 1s calculated using tax rates that have
been enacted or substantially enacted by the reporting date

DIRECTOR'S EMOLUMENTS

The director's aggregate emoluments in respect of qualifying services were £mil (2010 £mil) The
director was remunerated by IBM United Kingdom Limited, a fellow subsidiary undertaking, and his
services to the company are considered incidental to his overall duties provided to IBM United Kingdom
Limsted Accordingly no allocation is made to Ascential Software Limited

AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

Auditors’ remuneratron for the audit of the financial statements of £8,500 (2010 £8,500) was borne by a
fellow subsidiary undertaking
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Ascential Software Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Year Ended 31 December 2011

PARTICULARS OF EMPLOYEES

The company has no employees other than the directors, whom did not receive any remuneration from
the company (2010 - £nil) All employees were transferred to IBM United Kingdom Limited on 1
November 2005

INTEREST RECEIVABLE
2011 2010
£ £
Interest receivable from group undertakings 64,035 51,805

Interest 1s charged on a compounding basis on amounts due from group undertakings at vaniable rates
based on LIBOR less 15 basis points

TAXATION
2011 2010
£ £
UK corporation tax charge on profit for the year 16,969 14,533

Factors affecting tax charge for the year

The tax assessed for the year i1s the same as (2010 - the same as) the standard rate of corporation
tax in the UK of 26 5% (2010 - 28%)

Factors that may affect future tax charges

Finance (No 2) Act 2010 was substantively enacted on 21 July 2010 and included legislation to reduce
the main rate of corporation tax from 28% to 27% A further reduction to 26% with effect from 1 Apnil
2011 was enacted via a resolution passed by Parliament on 29 March 2011 Cn 5 July 2011, Finance
Act 2011 was substantively enacted, reducing the main rate of corporation tax to 25% with effect from 1
Apnl 2012

The March 2012 Budget Statement announced further reductions of the main rate of corporation tax to
24% with effect from 1 Aprnl 2012, and by 1% per annum to 22% by 1 Apni 2014 These changes had nct
been substantively enacted at the balance sheet date and, therefore, the effects of these are not

included in these financial statements
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Ascential Software Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Year Ended 31 December 2011

FIXED ASSET INVESTMENTS

Investments
n
subsidiary
companies
£
Cost or valuation
At 1 January 2011 and 31 December 2011 14,128
Impairment
At 1 January 2011 and 31 December 2011 14,128
Net book value
At 31 December 2011 -
At 31 December 2010 -
Subsidiary undertakings
The following were subsidiary undertakings of the company
Name Class of shares Holding
Ascential UK Limited QOrdinary 100%

Ascential UK Limited ceased to trade on 1 November 2005, however the subsidiary was party to a
butlding lease agreement, which was terminated in December 2011  Ascential UK Limited 15 registered
in England and Wales

The investment in Ascential UK Limited amounting to £14,128 has been deemed irrecoverable and has
been fully impatired in a previous year

DEBTORS
2011 2010
£ £
Amounts due from group undertakings 12,448,415 12,741,960

Amounts due from group undertakings are unsecured and have no fixed date of repayment Interest 1s
charged on a compounding basis on amounts due from group undertakings at variable rates based on
LIBOR less 15 basis points

CREDITORS: Amounts falling due within one year

2011 2010
£ £
Corporation tax - 340,611
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Ascential Software Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Year Ended 31 December 2011

10.

11

12

13

14.

SHARE CAPITAL

2011 2010
£ £
Allotted, called up and fully paid
2,750,000 Ordinary shares of £1 each 2,750,000 2,750,000
RESERVES
Capital
redemption Profit and
reserve loss account
£ £
At 1 January 2011 5,354,231 4,297,118
Profit for the financial year 47,066
At 31 December 2011 5,354,231 4,344,184
RECONCILIATION OF MOVEMENT IN SHAREHOLDERS' FUNDS
2011 2010
£ £
Opening shareholders’ funds 12,401,349 12,363,977
Profit for the financial year 47,066 37,372
Closing shareholders' funds 12,448,415 12,401,349

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Transactions with other companies within the group are not disclosed in accordance with Financial
Reporting Standard No 8 "Related Party Discoisure” as the consolidated financial statements of
International Business Machines Corporation, In which this company is included, are available at the
address shown in note 14

ULTIMATE PARENT COMPANY

The company's iImmediate parent undertaking i1s IBM United Kingdom Holdings Limited, registered in
England and Wales

The company's ultimate parent undertaking and controlling party 1s International Business Machines
Corporation which 1s incorporated 1n the United Stated of America and 1s the parent undertaking of the
smallest and largest group to consolidate these financial statements Copies of the financial statements
of this undertaking may be cbtained from IBM Corporate Headquarters, New Orchard Road, New York
10504
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A Letter from
the President and CEO

T'am pleased to report that IBM had
another strong year mn 2011. Your
company continued to outperform
our industry and the market at large.
We capped IBM’s first century by
achieving record revenue, profit,

free cash flow and earnings per share.
At the same time, we continued to
delver superior returns to you, and we
are well positioned for future growth
in a globally integrating economy.

Revenue and income: Our revenue in 2011 was
$107 hllion, up 7 percent We grew operatung pre-tax
mncome by 9 percent, to $21 6 billion, our lughest ever

Margins: IBM’s operating pre-tax income margin rose for
the minth consecutive year—to 20 2 percent, up 10 points
since 2000 We achuzeved this by continwing to shift our
business mix to more profitable segments and by dniving
productivity More than 90 percent of our segment profit
1n 2011 was from software, services and finanaing

Earrungs per share: We have continued to achieve
strong EPS growth Last year was another record, with
diluted operating earmings per share of $13 44, up

15 percent Thus marked nine straight years of double-
digit EPS growth

Cash flow, IBM has consistently generated strong
cash flow, a key indicator of real business performance
In 2011 our free cash flow was $16 6 billhon We have
mmproved our free cash flow by nearly $10 billion over
the past decade We ended 2011 wath $11.9 bilhon of
cash and marketable securiies

Investment and return to shareholders: Our cash flow
has enabled us to mvest in the business and wo generate
substantial returns to investors, while spending

%6 3 bilion on R&D In 2011 we invested $1 8 bilhion for
five acqusitions i key areas of software and $4 1 billion
1 net capital expenditures We were able to return

$18 5 bullion to you—S$15 billion through share
repurchases and $3 5 billion through dividends Last year’s
dividend increase was 15 percent, marking the 16th
year in a row 1n which we have raised our dividend, and
the 96th consecutive year in which we have paid one

A road map to the future

Thus performance was the result of disciplined execution
by more than 400,000 IBMers and the strategic
reposiioming of the company over the past decade
‘We have steadily realigned our business tolead in a
new era of computing and to enable our chents to
benefit from the new capabilities that era 1s creating
As a consequence, our investors benefit from a business
model that 1s both sustainable over the long term

and fueled by some of the world’s most artractive high-
growth markets and technologies




/7

Virginia M Remetty, President and CEO
Samuel J Palmtsano, Chairman of the Board




You see this expressed in financial terms in our EPS road
maps We introduced our first in 2007, and surpassed
our 2010 objectives Now, we are well on track toward our
2015 Road Map goal of at least $201n operating earnings
per share

As before, the road mapis not simply a list of targets,

but a management model bult on exploiting muluple
ways to create valne Operaung leverage will come

from our connmung shift to higher-margin busmesses
and mmproving enterpnse productivity— expected to

be 58 bullion: over tus five-year penod We will create
value for shareholders through an anbapated $50 milhon
in share repurchases and $20 billion 1n dvidends

When 1t cormes to growth strategies, we are focused
on four high-growth spaces that should drive
approximately $20 billion in revenue growth by 2015

1 Growth Markets. Revenue for our Growth Markets
Unit was up 1 percentat constant currency for the second
year m a row Growth markets contributed 22 percent

of IBM’ gengraphic revenue 1n 2011, up from 11 percent in
2000, and we expect them to approach 30 percent by 2015

2 Busmness Analytics Our analytics busmess grew

16 percent for the year Having spotted early the
emergence of “big data,” IBM built the world’ leading
analytics software and consulting practice, and we are
translating 1t into powerful new capabilities, which
enable our clients to 1dennfy, manage and even predict
outcomes that matter to thetr success

A Letter from the President and CEO

3. Cloud. IBM has helped thousands of chents adopt
aspects of cloud computing, where I'T resources are
virtuahized, hughly automnated and accessed by self-service
QOur cloud revenue in 2011 was more than three nmes

the prior year

Our strong strategic positioning,
solid balance sheet, recurring
revenue, robust profit streams
and unmatched global

reach give us confidence that
we will achieve success in

the next five years, as we have
during the past decade.

4. Smarter Planet. All of this comes together in our
solutions to build Smarter Planet systems, transforming
systems such as supply chains, retail, energy, transportation,
telecommunications, food and water. It includes the
successful establishment of large new market categories,
such as Smarter Cities and Smarter Commerce Smarter
Planet revenue grew by almost 50 percent in 2011




In sum, our strong strategic positioning, solid balance sheet,
recurring revenue, robust profit streams and unmatched
global reach give us confidence that we will achteve success
n the next five years, as we have during the past decade
The information on pages 9 to 15 —“Generaung Higher
Value at IBM"— explains how

The decade ahead

The next decade holds enormous promuse for IBM,
most importantly because of what it holds for business
and society at large We are uniquely posinoned to deliver
the benefits of a vast new natural resource—a gusher

of data from both man-made and natural systems that
can now be tapped to help businesses and institutions
succeed 1n an creasingly complex and dynarmic global
economy Together, we can create economuc and societal
value of incalculable potenual, across the developed
and developing worlds, as well as in new global markerts
such as those in Africa

Without question, the world 1s undergoing disruption

But IBM now stands out among our industry peers

and in business at large as disuncuvely able to keep moving
to the future, and to keep generating differentiating
value for our chents, our employees and the cinzens of the
world And that, in turn, premises to contitue generating
high value for cur owners

The fact that we enter IBM’s second century with such
strength and confidence 15 a testament to the extraordinary
leadership of Sam Palmusano as IBMs CEO I will leave

to Sam the description of our historic transformanon

But there is no doubt that IBM today 1s far stronger than
1t was a decade ago, in both 1ts performance and 1ts impact
on the world

Let me close by expressing my pride in the worldwide
IBM team for bringing us to thus point, and my grantude
to you, our shareholders, for your unwavering support

I trust you share our excitement about your company’s
performance and the way in which IBMers are building
on our storted past to build an even brighter future

"lfugom&@mwb

VirginiaM Rometty
President and Chief Executive Officer

This letter wnclides selected s efevences to cevtain non-GAAP finanaal measures that ave made to facafieate a compararive vet: of the company’s ongorng operational performance
For snformarton about the comipary’s finanaal vesults velated 1o (i) operarmg pre-sax micome, opernting pre-tax wncome margri mmd sperating eavmngs per share and (i) free cash
Jlow, wbich ave i ench case won-GAAP measur es, see the company’s Form 8-K subnureted to the SEC ont January 19, 2012 {Artachnent 1—-Non-GAAP Supplementary Matevials)




A Letter from

the Chairman of the Board

As we look back on our strong
performance 1 2011 — the culmimaton
of an impressive decade—Gnni

and I thought it would be appropriate
for me to share a perspective on this
most recent phase of IBM’s 100-year
journey, and to offer some thoughts

on what it has taught us.

I recently took a look at my notes from my first meeting
with IBM’s semior leadersh:p after becoming chairman
in January 2003 1was surprised to see how hirtle I had
written down At the top were Just four questions

‘Why would someone invest Inus?

Why would custorners buy from us?
Why would society allow us to operate?
Why would someons work here?

+ o+ o+ 4

Our hustory teaches us that IBM became one of the world’s
great companes by continually creating value for aif

of these stakeholders Certainly, that was the IBM I joined
38 years ago And as IBM’ incoming chairman nine years
ago, I couldn’t imagane an agenda that wasn’t bwilt on that
muludimensional goal

Let’s consider how we have done against each of these
fundamental questions

First, how have we done in answering: Why would
someone invest in us? Some technology companes,
particularly start-ups, are attractive to mvestors because
they grow meteorically —but often without profit or
positve cash flow Others provade a broad portfolio

of products and services—but therr very breadth makes
them mysufying to the nvestor

A decade ago we commutted to providing our owners
with clanty about our business model, strategies, finances
and governance principles We would manage and grow
IBM through the basics—revenue, profit, earmings, cash
and margins And we pledged to deliver consistent investor
returns through dividends and repurchased shares

At the same nme, we behieved we could provide a umque
mvestment opportunity — participation in attractive

new growth areas in technology and in emerging markets,
with confidence that IBM would safeguard shareholders’
mnvestments

It all came together in our 2010 Road Map, and we

are contnuing to demonstrate progress against our
2015 Road Map The results for mvestors speak for
themselves. Over the past five years, we have increased
our market capitalization by $70 llion, and returned
$50 billion to shareholders 1n net share repurchases
and $14 billion 1n dividends— creaung approximately
$135 bulhon in value for our owners




Second, why would customers buy from us?

IBM’s business model has always been to provide valuee
to our clients that they cannot get from anyone else -~
value that gives them a competitive advantage This
model 15 not universal in our ndustry—where some
choose to compete on the basis of greater efficiency
and lower cost But it was ours

A decade ago, however, we straddled two worlds—of
enterprise and consumer technology—at a ime when
computng was staring to move beyond the PC This
emerging model of technology, in which intelbgence
was betng infused into all the ways our world works,
could be of enormous value to our clients But delivering
thus potential meant we had to transform our portfoho

of technologies and skills

We did so We got out of PCs and disk drives, and
mcreased our presence 1n key areas of software, industry
expertise and process know-how, increasing software

and services from 65 percent of IBM’s segment profit in
2000 to 84 percent today We invested nearly $70 bilhon
in R&D since the beginning of 2000, shifung research
into new areas and generating more than 47,000 patents—
extending IBM’s streak of leadershipin U § patents to

19 years And we acquired 130 companies, 1n strategic areas
of software and services

The result® Client after chient— from Bhart, which 1s
acceleranng the modermization of Africa through mobile
telecom, to Macy’s, which 15 redefining the online
shopping experience, to the ity of Rio de Janeiro, which
1s mventing the Smarter City of the 21st century —1s
saying, “We couldn’t have done 1t without IBM ” This
1S IMUSIC tO Our ears

At this tstitwdion, an individual
can actually change the

world, can learn something new
every day, can colluborate

1ol some of the sinartest people
on the planet, can work in a
progressive environment and
can truly be a global citizen.

Third, why would society allow us to operate?

Over the past decade, we have increasingly sought to
address the world’s biggest problems, driven by the 1dea
of building a smarter planet Without question, we do
this in pursuit of large new profit opportuniues Butit

1s more than that It represents the fusion of IBM’s business

and ciizenship goals And that shows up not only in our
broad strategies, but in how we work as individuals around
the world




We hear again and again from schools, governments,
nongovernmental organizatons and communities that
the thing they value most is the expertise of [BMers—
more even than donations of cash or technology (although
those are also welcome, and plenuful) IBMers bring
expertise in engineering, finance, marketing, management
and more to help cittes actually become smarter, to
reimagine existing school models, as with P-TECH in
New York City, and to develop glcbal atizens and leaders,
as we're doing through Corporate Service Corps

One consequence of this business-citizenship fusion 1s
that we can dehver 1ts benefiss at ncreasing scale Our

On Demand Commuruty, for example, has grown mnefold
m volunteers since 1t began In one example alone—

our Centennial Celebraoon of Service—more than
300,000 IBMers performed more than 4 million hours

of service across 120 countries

Fourth, why would someone work here? In an eatlier
era, this had a lot to do with job security and stabiliy
We learned the hard way that that was unsustainable
And yet, IBM today remains an employer of choice

Why? I believe it 1s because, at thns insutution, an individual
can actually change the world, can learn something new
every day, can collaborate with some of the smartest people
on the planet, can work 1n a progressive environment and
can truly be a global citizen

Since 2002 we have invested about $100 billion 1n
non-salary employee compensation — bonuses,
commussions, benefits and employee equity— including

A Letter from the Charman

more than $5 billion 1n employee learning and
development. In 2005, we became the first corporation
to guarantee our employees’ genetic privacy The
way we develop leaders was ranked number one 1n the
world by Fortune And we have recerved widespread
recognition for cur diversity, work/life, environmental
and coliaboration policies and programs

In the end, it comes back to our values as IBMers It was
no accident that the first major work effort 1 launched
at that seruor leadership meeting nine years agowas a
collecuve “Jam” on who we are and why we exist What
resulted —the values IBMers themselves shaped—has
held up remarkably well as a distllanon of what 1t means
to be “an IBMer”

We still have a long way to go to fully realize these values
mn our work, our management systems and our behavior
But I think 1t's safe to say, after nearly a decade, that we
lard the nght foundauon Iam also convinced that the
transformation we have carred out since then was only
possible because we first undertook this deeper dive

of self-discovery

‘The road ahead

None of these shfts was easy—but that comes with the
territory, when you choose to live at the intersection
of all of your company’s key constituencies You must
accept—indeed, embrace — the inherent tensions
And you must balance conunual forward motion with
a clear understanding of what must never change.




The result 1s a fundamentally different IBM than existed

a decade ago—one that s dehivering historic results
despite a global economic downturn, even as it more fully
exemplifies the company’s century-old character We
have outperformed our industry and the market as a whole,
and we did 1t the hard way— through technology
breakthroughs, the creanon of client value, and driving
change 1n how the company operates That record 1s
something of which we can all be proud

The fact that we enter our second century on such a high
note 1s 2 testament to a umque nsttution and a remarkable
group of people For nine years, it has been my privilege

to be the temporary steward of that insorunon For 38 years,
1t has been my even deeper privilege to have worked with
those women and men

Clearly, 38 years with one company 1s rare these days
However, there 15 benefit to developing deep under-
standing of an industry and the culture of a company,
even if this sort of longewity 1s not valued as lnghly in
today’s world 1 believe such knowledge 1s what made 1t
possible to transform IBM and posituon it for the future

Both my own experience and the prormse of our new
CEO give me enormous hope for the decade ahead Ginnu
Rometty 15 2 bnlhiant leader who has also spent her entire
career with IBM I could not be prouder or happrer for her,
or more optimistc about IBM’s future 1n her hands

This s a fundamentally
different IBM than existed

a decade ago—one that is
delivering historic results despue
a global economic downturn.
even as il more fully exemplifies
the company’s century-old
character.

To IBM’s steadfast investors, to our chents, and to the
citizens of all the communities where IBMers work to
build 2 smarter planet, please know that you have my
deepest thanks Iam confident that our second century
together will be even more remarkable than our first

;/m.//%w

Samuel ] Palmisano
Chairman of the Board
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Generating
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at IBM
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201 Performance In 2011 HBM dehvered record petformanee in revenue,

prolit. carnings per share and fiee eash flow

. $107vitlion
13 44 | ke revenue ;

; i LR e Whomatt ) ! upty R rgh
operaing ) LU 3L AL
earnings /z e e e = e . e e = e e

r share* / AN
Pe / 5 S - S8 Soiian

tpowasf teowih nein / ! ¥
UM R 3T / Gp"mlr"u [AS HFPCINTY retin ned
i

L ey 4h
Contie-aagier 1 alpeen o i ' sef) Slep 2l L
T 2010 201 voom ' 1 {0 T,

Lookmg abead 0 2015, we will continue our
translounation lor mowth




10

IBM has built a record of leadershup by puisning the most
translormational opportamties, inventung the hicakthrough
tedchnologies to capiure them and building an organization
able to debver supenor results over the long erm.,

We continually change
our business mix toward

higher-value, more profitable

technologies and market
opportunities

Segment Pre-Tax Incorne*

[ f 200

mm Hardware/Finanaing &3 Services Software
R I 1 Le ¥ore &m0 oxt R
P fro=z U TR T I S -t

' -
[TLE

[T

We have become a globally
integrated enterprise, to
capture new growth and
improve productivity

Approaching

30%

of geographic revenue
from growth markets
by 2015
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By aligning our business
model with our clients’
needs we generated
superior financial results .
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lowing us to Invest in

future sources of growth
and provide record returmns
to our shareholders

$70billion

m capital expected
to be retumed
through 2015
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Generating Higher Value at IBM

Primary Uses of Cash
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R -

Capital Expenditures
wy ACquisitons
M Share Repurchases
mm Dradends

4. This delvers long-term value
and high performance for
all key IBM stakeholders—
ivestors, clients, employees
and society
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5. whie driving a new era
of growth and leadership

Our four complementary growth intiatives — business analytics, cloud, growth markets
and Smar ter Planet - target opportunties that are changing the glohal IT landscape With

for IBM

AL ik O b

Growth intiatives
will contribute about

$20 billion

i ncremental
revenue growth

PEa IR Eaktis

2 2°/o

of IBM’s geographic
revenue

117

revenue increase
al constant currency
from 2010

Nearly

40

countries grew
double digits at
constant currency

Nearly

60%

of growth markets

revene 1s now outside

the BRICs

strong contnbution from these imibatives, 1BM delvered 7 percent revenue growth in 2011

20t Performance

Growth Markets Business Analytics
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ety 3t o enue a1

Cloud Smarter Planet
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Growth Markets

The world’s emerging markets will drive more than 60 percent of global GDP growth n
the next four years IBM s invesung i more than 100 of these countries, which are buillding
out criicat infrastructure, developing strategic industries and responding to massive
demographuc shifts, such as rapid urbanization

Geographic Gross Profit Growth
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Lisinese fneiics

Organizations are reaching far beyond the structured tables of databases Theyare
analyzing the streaming, unstructured data generated by events as they cccurinthe
world, and acting upon those insights — from customer preferences or patient outcomes,
to process inefficiencies or safety —in real ttime They are integrating analytics into the

way they work
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Cloud

Cloud, which delivers business and IT services over the netwark, 1s transforming the way
data centers are designed and software s developed, providing far more ethiciency and
flexsinity That has the potential to change the way manyindustries work Bulitrequres
addressing impartant issues of security and privacy So, enterprises seek not just clouds,
but smarter clouds 1BM s helping them build private clouds in areas cenirat to ther
husiness, while also enabling them, hke consumers, to tap into cloud services provided
by IBM and others.
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.. and for the economies,
cities and people of
the world

ST
Nearly

50‘70

revenue growth
from 2010

More than

2,000

Smarter Ciuies
engagements
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Smarter Planet B,
~

The infusion ot digital Intelhgence into the world's systems 1s changing the way people, N
organizations and entire Industries approach what they do —how they interact, organize ~

and create value Nowhere s the potential for transformation greater than in our cities
Atound the world, city leaders are struggling with economic challenges, overtaxed
infrastructures and dramatic demographic shifts In more than 2,000 Smarter Cities
engagements, we see forward-tlhinking leaders emeruying with new approaches to make
their communities smarter and to make them work better

Smarter Law Enforcement

Memptus Police Depariment
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Smarter Government Services

Boizano, haly
Remote Patient Monitoring

80%

of particpants
felt more secure

70%

improved thesr
mobty through
exercises
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Smarter Transportation

Singapore's Land Transport Authority
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Fimancial Highhghis

International Business Machines Corporation and Subsidiary Companies

{$ in milions exceplt per Share amounts)

For the year ended D kil 201 2010
Ravenue $106,916 $ 99,870
Net income $ 15,855 $ 14,833
Operating {non-GAAP) earnings* $ 16,318 $ 15,023
Earnings per share of common stock
_ Assuming dilution __ L B s e o .8 1306 5 1182
_ Basic R R . e _ _.% 1328 $ 1169
Diluted operating (non-GAAPY $ 1344 $ 1167
Net cash provided by operating activities $ 19,846 $ 19,549
Capnal expendiiures, net 4,059 3,984
Share repurchases - . 15088 15375
Cash dvidends paid on common stock 3,473 3,177
Per share of common stock 2.90 250
At December 31 201 2010
Cash, cash equivalents and marketable securties e e 2 JBINE22 S 11651
Total assets 116,433 113,452
Working capital 8,805 7,554
Total debt 31,320 28,624
Total equity 20,236 23172
Common shares outstanding (inrmulons) e e e e e - - .- . 0188 1,208
Market capitalization . - - e $213,886 3180220
Stock price per common share $ 183 88 $ 14676
Number of employses in [BM/wholly owned subsidianes 433,362 426 751

* See page 38 for a reconcliation of net income to operating earrings
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Looking Forward
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Report of Financials
International Business Machines Corporation and Subsidiary Companies
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Significant Accounting Policies
Accounting Changes
Acguisttions/Diestitures

Financial Instrurnents
Inventorles

Financing Receivables
Property Plant and Equipment

Investments and Sundry Assets
Intangible Assets including Goodwaill

Borrowings

Other Liabities

Equrty Activity

Contingencies and Commitments

Taxes

Resegarch, Development and Engineering
Earnings Per Share of Common Stock
Rental Expense and { ease Commitments
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Retiement-Related Benefits

Segment Information

Subsgeguent Events

ICIRIPIDIOVIQIZIZIFRIC™ | |DHIMIM{OIO0I

Five-Year Comparison of Selected Financial Data

Selected Quarterly Data
Performance Graphs

Board of Directors and Senior Leadership
Stockholder Information

1% |
|

89

-—
S8

— = |
gzl

-
(]
on

-
(=]
[5]

-
[=]
[+¢)

—y
—
[w]

—
—
38 ]

—-
_a
N

—
-
~4

|

—_
-
-~

o
o
[¢+]

b
~
0

ry
N
Ry

—
(]
()]

Y
L)
\{e]

|

s
.
o

—
£
—

[
I
as]

—
H
o

—
£
n




18

Management Discussion

International Business Machines Corporation and Subsidiary Cormpanies

Qverview

The financial section of the Internatronal Business Machines
Corporation (IBM or the company) 2011 Annual Report includes the
Management Discussion, the Consolidated Financial Statements and
the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements This Overview
1s designed to provide the reader with some perspective regarding
the information contained in the financial section

Organization of Information

= The Management Discussion 1s designed to provide readers
with an overview of the business and a narrative on the
company's financial results and certain factors that may affect
its future prospects from the perspective of the company’s
management The “Management Discussion Snapshot” on pages
19 and 20, presents an overview of the key performance drivers
n20M

+ Beginning with the "Year in Review” on page 26, the Management
Discussion contains the results of operations for each reportabie
segment of the busmness and a discussion of the company's
financial posihion and cash flows Other key sections within the
Management Discussion include *Looking Forward” on page
55, and "Liguidity and Capital Resources” on pages 56 to 58 It
1s useful to read the Management Discussion in conjunction with
note T, “Segment Information,” on pages 135 to 139

« Global Financing 1s a reportable segment that is measured as a
stand-alone entity A separate “Global Financing” section s
nciuded beginning on page 63

* The Consolidated Financial Statements are presented on pages
70 through 75 These statements provide an overview of the
company’s ncome and cash flow performance and its financial
position

» The Notes follow the Consolidated Financial Statements Among
other tems, the Notes contan the company's accounting policies
(pages 76 to 86), acquisitions and divestitures {pages 88 to 93),
detatled information on specific tems within the financial statements,
certain contingencies and commitments (pages 112 to 115} and
retirement-related benefits nfermation (pages 121 to 135)

» The Consolidated Financial Statements and the Notes have been
prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States (GAAP)

«» Thereferences to "adjusted for currency” or “at constant currency”
In the Management Discussion do not include operational
impacts that could result from fluctuations in foreign currency
rates Certain financial results are adjusted based on a smple
mathematical mode! that translates current penod results in local
currency using the comparable prior year period's currency
conversion rate This approach 18 used for countries where the
functional currency is the local country currency Thig information
1s provided so that certain financial results can be wiewed without
the impact of fluctuations in foreign currency rates, thereby
faciitating period-t0-period comparisons of business performance
See “Currency Rate Fluctuahons” on page 61 for addiional
information

* Within the financial statements and tables in this Annual Report,
certan columns and rows may not add due to the use of rounded
numbers for disclosure purposes Percentages reported are
calcutated from the underlying whole-dollar numbers

Operating (non-GAAP) Earnings
In an etfort to provide better transparency inte the operational results
of the bustness, the company separated business results into
operating and non-cperating categones beginning January 1, 201
Operating earaings 18 a non-GAAP measure that excludes the effects
of certan acquisiion-related charges and retrement-related costs,
and ther related tax impacts For acquisitions, operating earnings
exclude the amortization of purchased intangible assets and
acquisition-related charges such as in-process research and
development, transaction costs, apphicable restructunng and related
expenses and tax charges related to acquisition integration For
retirement-related costs, the company has characterized certain
items as operating and others as non-operating The company
includes defined benefit plan and nonpension postretirernent benefit
plan service cost, amorhization of pnor service cost and the cost of
defined contribution plans In operating earnings Non-operating
retrernent-related cost includes defined benefit plan and nonpension
postretirernent benefit plan interest cost, expected return on plan
assets, amortized actuarial gains/losses, the impacts of any plan
curtalments/settlements and multi-employer plan costs, pension
Insolvency costs and other costs Non-operating costs are primarily
related to changes In pension plan assets and labikties which are
tied to financial market performance and the company considers
these costs to be outside the operational performance of the business
Overall, the company believes that prowiding investors with a view
of operating earnings as described above provides increased
transparency and clarity into both the operationat results of the
busmess and the performance of the company’'s pension plans,
improves visibility to management decisions and therr impacts
on operational performance, enables better comparison to peer
companies, and allows the company to provide a long-term strategrc
view of the business going forward For its 2015 earnings per share
Road Map, the compary s utilzing an operating view to establish
its objectives and track its progress Effective January 1, 2011, the
company's segment financial results and performance reflect
operating earnings, consistent with the company’s management
and measurement system The 2010 and 2009 financal results
in this Annual Report have been reclassified to conform with the
2011 presentation of business results into operating and non-
operating categories

Forward-Looking
and Cautionary Statements

Certan staterments contained n this Annual Report may constitute
forward-looking statements within the meaning of the Private
Securties Litigation Reform Act of 1895 Any forward-looking statement
In this Annual Report speaks only as of the date on which it 1s made,
the company assumes No obligation to update or revise any such
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staternents Forward-locking stataments are based on the company’s
current assumptions regarding future business and financial
performance, these staternents by their nature address matters that
arg uncertain to different degrees Forward-locking statements
involve a number of nsks, uncertainties and other factors that could
cause actual results to be matenally different, as discussed more
fully elsewhere in this Annual Report and in the company’s filings
with the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC), including the
company's 2011 Form 10-K filed on February 28, 2012

Management Discussion Snapshot

(3 ang shares in milions except per share amounts)

Yr-to-Yr
Percent/
Margin
For the year anded December 31 2011 2010 Change
Revenue . S108916 $ 99870 1%
Gross profit margin 46 9% 46 1% 0 8pis
Totalexpense andotherincome | §,20.135  $ 26201 108%
Total expense and other
Incoma-to-revenue ratio 27 3% 263% O 9pts
Income before INncome taxes _ 321003 § 19723  65%
Provision for incoms taxes 5,148 4 890 53%
Net income S 15855 § 14833 6 9%
Net income margin 148% 149% 00pts
Earnings per share
of common stock
Assuming difution $ 1308 $ 1152 13 4%
Weightad-average shares
outstanding
Assurming dilution 12138 1,287 4 5 N%
Assets*” . _$116,433  $113452 0 26%
Liabilties* $ 96,197 § 90,279 6 6%
Equity** $ 20,236  § 23172 {12 7)%

* 3 4 parcent adjusted for currancy
** At December 31

The following table provides the company's operating {non-GAAP)
earnings for 2011 and 2010

{8 in miiions except per share amounts)

Y oy
Percent
For the year ended December 3 201 2010 Change
Net income as reporied 315,855 $14,833 69%
Non-operating adjustments
{net of tax)
Acquisition-related charges 495 443 120
Non-operating ratirement-related
costs/(income) 132) 253) {87 3)
Operating (non-GAAP) earnings* §16 318 $15,023 B86%
Dituted operating (non-GAAP)
earnings per share $ 1344 $ 1167 152%

" See page 38 for a more detalad reconcilation of net income to operating earnings

In 2011, the compary delivered strong financsal results highlighted by
solid revenue performance, continued margin expanston, strong profit
and cash generation and effective use of cash inits centenral year,
the cornpany achieved record levels of revenue, profit, free cash flow
and earnings per share {EPS} The financial performance 1s the resuft
of the transformation of the company which began years ago This
transformation has been focused on shifting the business to higher
value areas of the market, improving productivity and investing in
opportunities to drve future growth These changes have contnbuted
to nine consecutive years of double-digit earnings per share growth
More importantly, this transformation has strengthened the business
and put the company on track to achweve its 2015 Road Map objective
of at least $20 of operating (non-GAAP) earnings per share

The focus on key growth inhatives and investments in innovation
are enabhng the company to expand into new markets and capitalize
on trends like business analytics and cloud computing The growth
markets strategy to expand nto new markets, build out IT infrastructures
and lead in specific Industries 1s driving strong performance and
market share gains Growth markets revenue increased 16 O percent
{11 percent adjusted for curmrency) in 2011 contnbuting approximately
two-thirds of the total constant currency revenue growth for the year
and represented 22 percent of total geographic revenue The
company's business analytics solutions helps clents leverage
massive amounts of data and content to gain business insight and
optimize results Business analytics revenue increased 16 percent
compared to 2010 The Smarter Planet offerings generated close to
50 percent growth year to year, with Smarter Commerce demonstrating
strong market momentum in cloud computing, the company 15
helping its clients improve the economics of information technology
In 2011, the company continued to expand its offerings and cloud
revenue for the year was more than three times the prior year results
With strong contribution from these growth iniiatives, the company
delivered revenue growth of 71 percent (3 percent adjusted for
currency) compared to 2010

Segment performance was led by Software which increased
revenue 10 9 percent (8 percent adjusted for curmency) driven by key
branded middleware which increased 15 6 percent (13 parcent adjusted
for currency) and continued to extend its lead in the middieware
market Inthe Global Services business, Global Technology Services
increased 7 0 percent (3 percent adjusted for currency) and Glabal
Business Services grew revenue 5 8 percent (1 percent aciusted for
currency) dnven by strong performance in the growth markets where
both segments grew reveriue 11 percent at constant currency Systems
and Technology delivered revenue growth of 5 6 percent (3 percent
adjusted for cutrency) dnven by strong performance in Power Systerns
which increased 12 O percent {9 percent adjusted for currency) and
the growth markets which increased 14 9 percent (12 percent
adjusted for currency)

The consolidated gross profit margin increased O 8 points versus
2010 to 46 9 percent This was the eighth consacutive year of
improvement in the gross profit margin The cperating (non-GAAP}
gross margin of 47 2 percent increased 11 ponts compared to the
prior year The increase In gross margin i 2011 was drnven by margin
improvements in Software, Systems and Technclogy and Global
Services, and an improved revenue mix driven by Software
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Total expense and other Income increased 10 8 percent in 2011
versus the pnor year Total operating (non-GAAP) expense and other
income Increased 10 2 percent compared to the pnor year The
year-to-year drivers for both categories were approxmately

=  Currency” 4 points
s Acquisitons™ 3 points
» Base expense 3 ponts

* Reflects impacts of translation and hedging programs
** Includes acquisitions completed in prior 12 month pericd

Pre-tax iIncome grew 6 5 percent and the pre-tax margin was
19 6 percent, a decrease of 01 points versus 2010 Netincome
ncreased 6 9 percent and the net mcome margin was 14 8 percant,
flat versus 2010 The effective tax rate for 2011 was 24 5 percent,
compared with 24 8 percent in the prior year Operating (non-GAAP)
pre-tax iIncome grew 8 7 percent and the operating {(non-GAAP)
pre-tax margin was 20 2 percent, an increase of 0 3 points versus
the prior year Operating (non-GAAP) earmings increased 8 6 percent
and the operating (non-GAAP) earnings margin of 15 3 percent
increased 0 2 points versus the prior year The operating {(non-GAAP)
effective tax rate was 24 5 percent versus 24 4 percent in 2010

Diluted earnings per share improved 13 4 percent reflecting the
growth in net Income and the benefits of the common stock repurchase
program In 2011, the company repurchased approximatety 89 milion
shares of its common stock Diluted earnings per share of $13 06
increased $1 54 from the prior year Operating (non-GAAP) diluted
earnings per share of $13 44 increased $177 versus 2010 driven
by the following factors

s Revenue Increase at actualrates  $0 82
«  Margin expansion $018
+« Common stock repurchases $0 77

At December 31, 2011, the company’s balance sheet and hquicty
positions remain strong and are well positioned to support the
company's objectives Cash and cash equivalents at year end was
$11,922 milicn Key drivers in the balance sheet and total cash flows
are highlighted below

Total assets increased $2,981 mition (4,636 milhon adjusted for
currency) from December 31, 2010 driven by

« Increases In total recevables ($1,564 million), cash and cash
equvalents ($1,262 million), goodwill ($1,077 million) and
prepaid expenses and other assets ($1,022 milion), partally
offset by

» [ecreases in marketable securities ($990 million) and
nvestments and sundry assets ($883 million)

Totai habities increased $5,918 mdlion {$86,324 million adjusted for
currency) from December 31, 2010 driven by

» Increases in total debt ($2,695 million), retirement and
nonpension postretirement benefit obligatiens ($2,396 million),
accounts payable ($713 million) and deferred income
($798 milion), partially offset by

» Decreases i taxes ($903 milion}

Total equity of $20,236 million decreased $2,937 million from
December 31, 2010 as a result of

» Increased treasury stock ($14,803 million) driven by
share repurchases, pension adjustments ($2,448 milhon)
and currency translation adjustments ($711 million),
partally offset by

= Higher retamed earnings ($12,326 million) and common
stock ($2,7 11 midlion)

The company generated $19,846 million in cash flow from
operations, an ncrease of $298 milllon compared to 2010, pnmariy
driven by the increase n net income Net cash used in investing
actiities of $4,396 millon was $4,111 million lower than 2010, driven
by less cash used for acquisitions {4,111 million) Net cash used in
financing activites of $13,696 million was $1,267 milion higher,
compared to 2(H0, pnmanly due to lower cash from common stock
transactions ($991 millon) and increased dividend payments (3296
million})

As a result of the strong cash performance, the company continued
to Invest In capital and acquisitions and delivered significant returns
to 1ts shareholders with over $18 billion in share repurchase and
didends in 2011

The estmated Global Services backlog was $141 billion at
Decembar 31, 2011, down $2 billion (flat adjusted for currency) versus
the pricr year-end balance, and up $4 bilion ($5 billlon adjusted for
currency), from September 30, 2011

In January 2012, the company disclosed that it is expecting GAAP
earnings of at least $14 16 and operating (non-GAAF) earnings of at
least $14 85 per diluted share for the full year 2012

For additional nformation and details, see the “Year in Review”

section on pages 26 through 43

Description of Business

Please refer to {BM's Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with
the SEC on February 28, 2012 for a more detated version of this
Description of Business, especially itern 1A entitled “Risk Factors "

The company creates business value for clients and solves
business problems through integrated solutions that leverage
information technology and deep knowledge of business processes
IBM solutions typically create vatue by reducing a client's operational
costs or by enabling new capabilities that generate revenue These
solutions draw from an iIndustry-leading portfolio of consulting,
delivery and implementation services, enterprise software, systems
and financing
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Strategy
Desprte the volatility of the infermation tachnology (IT) industry
over the past decade, IBM has consisiently defivered excellent
performance, with a steady track record of sustained earrungs per
share growth The company has shifted its business mix, exiting
certain segments while increasing its presance in higher-value areas
such as services, software and integrated solutions As part of this
shift, the company has acquired over 120 comparnies since 2000,
complementing and scaling its portfolio of products and offenngs
IBM's clear strategy has enabled steady resuits in core business
areas, while expanding its offenngs and addressable markets The
key tenets of this strategy are

+ Delver value to enterprise clients through integrated
business and IT innovation,

« Shift the business mix to higher-value areas, and

* Become the premier globally integrated enterprise

These priorties reflect a broad shift i chent spending toward
integrated solutions, as companies seek higher levels of business
value from therr IT investments IBM has been able to deliver this
enhanced client value thanks to its industry expertise, understanding
of clents’ businesses and the breadth and depth of the company’s
capabiities

Consistent with this strategy IBM 1s leveraging its capabilities to
build and expand strong positions 1n targeted growth areas IBM's
growth iniatives include Smarter Planet, Growth Markets, Business
Analytics and Optimization and Cloud Computing Each intiative
represents a significant growth opportunity with attractive profit
margins for IBM

Smarter Planet
Smarter Planet s IBM's vision of a technology-enabled world that
1s more Instrumented, interconnected, and nteligent than ever before,
enabling people and organizations to tackte significant business
and societal challenges At the heart of this wision 1s the opportunity
for meaningful mnovation—exploring and extending the boundaries
of businesses, Industries and communities It's about helping the
company’s clients become better at what they do for their clients
IBM’s strategy I1s to accelerate progress towards a “smarter planet”
by equipming ts clients wath the advanced, integrated capabilities
that they will need to thnive in this exciting new world that is unfolding
before us—capabilties such as business analytics, business process
management, social business and cloud computing

QOver the past year, IBM has steadlly deepened its commstment
to understanding and delivering on the promise of a smarter planet
for its Iine of business and IT clients across a broad range of
industries An industry-based approach is central to the strategy,
since every industry confronts a distinct set of challenges and
opportunities in today's constantly transforming world Whether
“smarter” means helping a hospital group 1o deliver improved heatth-
care, a local government to ease traffic congestion, or a retall chamn
to execute a successiul cross-channel campaign, IBM I1s aggressively
dsveloping and investing in a portfolio of industry sclutions that will
help these clients achieve therr goals

Two recently announced initiatives that are already driving
significant vaiue liustrats IBM's deep commitment to bullding & smarter
planet Smarter Commerce and Smarter Cities IBM's Smarter
Commerce model integrates and transforms how companies manage
and adapt their buy, market, sell and service processes, placing the
customer squarely at the center of ther business iBM's Smarter Cities
initiative enables local governments to make smarter decistons,
anticipate 1ssues and coordinate resources more effectively, and delrver
ciizen-centric services that underpin sustainable economic growth

Growth Markets
The company has benefited from its Investments over the past
several years In growth markets The focus now 1s on geographic
expansicn of IBM's presence, on salected industries of the highest
impact and opportunity, on countries' build-out of infrastructure
algned with ther nationat agendas, and on creating markets and
new business models to serve the different requirements that exist
In these emerging countries The company’s efforts in developing
new growth markets within the Afncan continent is a good example
of this focus Many of these imtiatives are leading edge, both in
technologies and business models and are delivening both increased
revenue and margin expansion

In order to support this growth, IBM 1s continuing to invest
significantly in these markets to expand capacity, to develop talent
and o deepen its research and development (R&D) capabilities cn
the ground At the same time, 1IBM continues to leverage talent across
growth markets under its globally mtegrated enterprise model to the
benefit of both its clients and the company globally

Business Analytics and Optimization
Business Analytics and Optimization 1s core to achieving a Smarter
Planet, helping leaders of this new information-centric and insight-
driven worid make better and faster business decisions As the
proliferation of “big data” ¢ontinues from both structured and
unstructured sources, IBM1s helping organizattons leverage analytics
N new ways to address market uncertainty, cornplexity and volatiity
These capabilities allow decision makers {0 identify patterns and
gain deeper insights in a way that 1s unimaginable by other means
These insights give organizations the ability to anticipate and shape
better outcomes so thay can grow, retain and satisfy customers
They can now dynamically plan, forecast and align resources and
manage rsk, reduce fraud and ensure compliance They can also
leverage analytics to increase operational efficiency and agihty
IBM's approach 1s to ensure customers have complete end-to-
end solutions across iIndustries and functional focus areas like sales,
finance and sk These sofutions are designed to help organizations
develop an information and analytics strategy that flows from the
business strategy, establish a strong information foundation, make
analytics skills and capabilities pervasive, and create a culture that
takes action on analytics IBM continues to invest inits analytics
capabilities to deliver real world solutions that its clients can put to
work today These ongoing investments in both omganic development
and new acguisitions are complementad by IBM's focus on game-
changing innovations ike Watson, which 1s ushering in a new
generation of probabilistic analytics that can dramatically improve
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decision making through natural language processing, hypotheses
generation and evidence-based learning It Is ancther unique example
of Just how far organizations can go with IBM analytics

Cloud Computing
Cloud 1s a new model for consuming and deliverning business and
IT services It can delver significant econemies of scale, enable
higher qualities of service and even serve as a transformative platform
for business innovation From a business perspective, the promise
of cloud computing lles in the ability to shape influertial communities,
launch product innovations and explore new business madels with
minimal time, cost and effort From an IT perspective, the power of
the model comes from harnessing vast stores of underutilized
technotogy with highly efficient virtualization and management,
consumer-style user interfaces and ubiquitous broadband

IBM has already helped thousands of its clients adopt and leverage
cloud computing through its broad portfolio of IBM SmartCloud
products, soluttons and services Teday, IBM defivers many line-of-
business solutions via cloud-based hosting models, enabling rapid
adoptron and exploraton of new capabilities that can dnve significant
business value for its clients and ther customers For developers and
IT arganizatons seeking to leverage cloud computing, IBM can help
build out private, on-premise cloud-based environments, provide
security and integration services across private and hybrid cloud
models, and/or offer ts own cloud-based infrastructure and services,
Including advanced analytics, collaboration, and T nfrastructure such
as virtual servers, storage and tools for testing software Across IBM's
entire SmartCloud portfolio, the company offers expert consulting,
breakthrough technologies and a portfelio of cloud-based services
squarely focused on the requirements of the enterprise

Business Model
The company’s business modet 1s built to support two principal
goals helping clients o become more innovative, efficient and
competitive through the application of business insight and IT
solutions, and prowding long-term value o shareholders The business
model has been developed over time through strategic investments
In capabilifies and technologies that have supernor long-term growth
and profitability prospects based on the value they deliver to clents

The company’s global capabilities include services, software,
systems, fundamental research and related financing The broad
mix of businesses and capabilities are combined to provide integrated
solutiens to the company’s chents

The business model 1s resilient, adapting to the continuously
changing market and economic environment The company cortinues
to divest certain businesses and strengthen its position through
strategic organic investments and acquistions in higher-value segments
like business analytics, smarter planet and cloud computing in addrtion,
the company has transformed itself irto a globally integrated erterprise
which has improved overall productivity and 1s driving investment and
expanding particpation in the world’s fastest growing markets

This business model, supported by the company’s financial
model, has enabled the company to deliver strong earnings, cash
flows and returns to shareholders over the long term

Business Segments and Capabilities

The company’s major operations consists of five business segments
Global Technology Services, Global Business Services, Software
Systems and Technology and Global Financing

Global Services 1s a critical component of the company’s strategy
of providing IT infrastructure and business nsight and solutions to
clents While solutions often Include industry-leading IBM software
and systems, other suppliers’ products are also used if a client solution
requires It Approximately 60 percent of external Global Services
segment revenue 1s annuity based, coming primarily from outsourcing
and maintenance arrangements The Global Services backlog
provides a solid revenue base entering each year Within Global
Services, there are two reportable segments Global Technology
Services and Global Business Services

Global Technology Services (GTS) primanly provides IT
infrastructure services and business process services, delivering
business value through global scale, standardization and automation

GTS Capabilihes

Strategic Outsourcing Services comprehensive IT outsourcing
services dedicated to transforming clients' existing infrastructures
fo consistently deliver improved quality, flexibility, sk management
and financial value The company Integrates long-standing expertise
In service management and technology with the ability to exploit
the power of new technologies from IBM systems and software,
such as cloud computing, analytics and wrtualization, to deliver
high performance, innovation and improved abslity to achieve
business objectives

Global Process Services a range of standardized through
transformational offerings including processing platforms and
business process outsourcing These services deliver mproved
business results to chents through the strategic change and/or
operation of the client's business processes, applications and
infrastructure

integrated Technofogy Services project-based portfolio of services
that enable chents to optimize their IT environments by driving
efficiency, flexibility and productivity, while reducing costs The
standardized portfolio 1s built around key assets and patented
software, and Incorporates best practces and proven methodalogies
that ensure predictive guality of delivery, security and compliance
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Mamtenance a complete line of suppoert services from product
maintenance through solution support to maintain and improve the
avallability of clients’ IT infrastructures

GTS Services Delivery responsible for the worldwide delivery
of IBM’s technology- and process-based services Operating within
a globally integrated detivery model enables regional client-facing
teams to utilize a global network of competencies and centers,
providing industry-leading, standardized, integrated tcols and
processes By leveraging insights and expenience drawn from IBM’s
global scale, skills and technology, with apphied innovatien from IBM
Research, chents gamn access tc leading-edge, high-quality services
with improved productinity, flexibility, cost and outcomes

Global Business Services (GBS} primarily prowides professional
services and application management services, delivernng business
value and nnovation to clients through solutions which leverage
industry and business-process expertise while integrating the
nadustry-leading portfolio of IBM and strategic partners, to define
the upper end of client-valued services

GBS Capabilities
Consuiting and Systems Integration delivery of value to clients
through consutting services for Strategy and Transformation, Application
Innovation Services, Enterprise Applications and Business Analytics
and Optimization

Apphrcation Managerment Services application development,
management, matntenance and support services for packaged
software, as well as custom and legacy applicaticns Value s delivered
through advanced capabdities in areas such as applications testing
and modernization, cloud application security, the company’s highly
differentiated globally integrated capability model, Industry knowiedge
and the standardizatton and automatron of application development

Software consists primarily of middleware and operating systems
software Middieware software enables clients o integrate systems,
processes and applications across a standard software platform to
improve their business results, sclve cntical problems and gain
competitive advantage within therr ndustries 1BM middieware 1s
designed on open standards, making it easier to integrate disparate
business applications, developed by different methods and
implemented at different smes Operating systems are the software
engines that run computers Approximately two-thirds of external
software segment revenue 1S annuity based, coming from recurring
license charges and cngoing subscription and support The remaining
one-third relates to one-time charge (CTC) arrangements in which
clents pay one, up-front payment for a perpetual license Tymically,
the sale of OTC scitware includes one year of subscnphon and
support Clients can also purchase ongoing subscnphon and support
after the first year, which includes unspecified product upgrades
and technical support

Software Capabilities

WebSphere Software delivers capabilities that enable chents to
integrate and manage business processes across therr organizations
with the flexibiiity and agility they need to respond 1o changing
conditions quickly With a services-oriented architecture (SOA),
businesses can more easily ink together ther fragmented data and
business processes to extract value from therr existing technology
Smarter Commerce software enables seamless interacbon between
companies, their customers and supplhers throughout the business
cycle, resulting in better customer expenence, higher sales, lower
inventornes, better service levels and improved response times

Information Management Software enables clents to ntegrate,
manage and use their nformation to gan business value and mprove
ther outcomes Solutions include advanced database management,
enterprise content management, information integration, data
warehousing, performance management business analytics and
intelligence, as well as the emerging area of big data analytics

Twvoh Software helps cltents manage thewr technology and business
assets by providing wisibility, control and autormation across their
organizations With solutions for identity management, data security,
storage management, cloud computing, enterprtse mokbility and the
ability to provide autornation and provisioning of the datacenter, Tivel
helps build the infrastructure needed to make the world’s sysiems—
from transportation to water, energy and telecommunications —
run smarter

Lotus Software enables businesses to connect people and processes
for more effectve commurucation and increased productivity through
collabaration, messaging and social networking software By remaining
at the forefront of collaboration tools, Lotus helps crganizations reap
the benefits of social netwerking and social business

Rational Software supports software development for both IT as
well as complex and embedded system solutions with a surte of
Collaborative Lifecycie Management products Jazz, Rational's
technology platform, transforms the way people work together to
builld software, making software delivery more integrated and
collaborative, while optimizing for successful business ocutcomes

Security Systemns Software provides clents with a single secunty
intelligence platform that aligns with their business objectives and
enables them to more intelligently secure their enterprises by
appiying deep analytics to better identify and prevent vulnerabilities
within traditional, cyber, cloud and mobile secunty

QOperating Systems software that manages the fundamental
processes that make computers run

22




24

Management Discussion

International Business Machines Corporation and Subsidiary Companies

Systems and Technology provides clients with business solutions
requirng advanced computing power and storage capabilities
Approximately hatf of Systems and Technology's server and storage
sales transactions are through the company's business partners,
with the balance direct to end-user chents In addition, Systems and
Technology provides leading semiconductor technology, products
and packaging solutions for IBM's own advanced technology needs
and for external chents

Systems and Technology Capabilities

Systems a range of general purpose and integrated systems
designed and optimized for specific business, public and scientific
computing needs These systems — System z, Power Systems and
System x—are typically the core technology in data centers that
provide required infrastructure for business and institutons Also,
these systems form the foundation for IBM’s integrated offenings,
such as IBM Smart Analytics, IBM Netezza, IBM SmartCloud Entry
and IBM BladeCenter for Cloud IBM servers use both IBM and non-
IBM microprocessor technology and operating systems All IBM
servers run Linux, a key open-source operating system

Storage data storage products and solutions that allow clients to retan
and manage rapidly growing, complex volumes of chigital information
These solutions address critical chient requirements for information
retention and archiving, security, compliance and storage optimization
including data deduplication, avarlability and virtualization The
portfolio consists of a broad range of disk and tape storage systems
and software, Including the ultra-scalable disk storage system XIV

Retail Store Solutrons provider of market leadership solutions that
include hardware, software and services for the retarl industry,
including pont-of-sale and self-service systems and peripherals
Solutions leverage industry standards and interfaces enabling
efficient rollouts and supernior iIntegration

Microelectrorucs semicenductor design and manufactunng primariy
for use (n IBM systems and storage products as well as delivering
semiconductors and related services to external clients

Global Financing facilitates clients' acquisition of 1BM systems,
software and services Global Financing invests in fnancing assets,
leverages with debt and manages the associated risks with the
objective of generating consistentty strong returns on equity The
primary focus an the company’s offerings and clients mrigates many
of the nsks normally associated with a financing company Global
Financing has the benefit of both a deep knowledge of its client base
and a clear insight into the products and services that are being
financed This combination allows Global Financing to effectively
manage two of the mayjor risks (credit and residual value) that are
normally assoc:ated with financing

Global Financing Capabilies

Chent Financmg lease and loan financing to end users and internal
clents for terms generally between one and seven years Internal
financing 1s predominantly in support of Global Services’ long-term
client service contracts Global Financing also factors a selected
portion of the company's accounts receivable, primarily for cash
management purposes Allinternal financing arrangements are at
arm’s-length rates and are based upon market conditions

Commercial Financing short-term mventory and accounts receivable
financing to dealers and remarketers of |T products

Remanufactunng and Remarketing as equipment Is returned at
the conclusion of a lease transaction, these assets are refurbished
and scld or teased to new or existing clients both externally and
internally Externatly remarketed equipment revenue represents sales
or leases to clients and resellers Internally remarketed equipment
revenue primarily represents used equipment that s sold or leased
intermally to Systems and Technology and Global Services Systems
and Technology may also sell the equiprnent that it purchases from
Giobal Financing to external clients
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IBM Worldwide Organizations
The following worldwide organizations play key roles in [BM’s defivery
of value to 1ts clents

» Sales and Distribution

* Research, Development and Intellectual Property
* Enterprise Transformation

s Integrated Supply Chain

Sales and Distnbution
IBM has a significant global presence, operating in more than
170 countries, with an increasingly broad-based geographic distribution
of revenue The company's Sales and Distnibution organization
manages a streng global footprint, with dedicated country-based
operating units focused on delivering chent value Within these units,
client relationship professionals work with integrated teams of
consultants, product specialists and dehvery {ulfiliment teams to
improve clients’ business performance These teamns deliver value
by understanding the clients' businesses and needs, and then bring
together capabiities from across IBM and an extensive network of
Business Partners to develop and implement sclutions

By combining global expertise with local experience, IBM's
geographic structure enables dedicated management focus for local
clients, speed in addressing new market opportunities and timely
nvestments in emerging opporturites The gecgraphic units align
Industry-skrited resources to serve clents' agendas 1BM extends
capabilities to mid-market client segments by leveraging industry
skills with marketing, iIom com and local Business Partner resources

Through its growth markets organization, the company continues
to Increase its focus on the emerging markets around the worid that
have market growth rates greater than the global average —countries
within Scutheast Asia, Eastern Europe, the Middle East and Latin
America The company’s major markets include the G7 countnes of
Canada, France, Germany, Italy, Japan, the United States (U S} and
the Un#ted Kingdom (U K ) plus Austria, the Bahamas, Belgium, the
Caribbean region, Cyprus, Denmark, Finland, Greece, iceland, Ireland,
Israel, Malta, the Netherlands, Norway, Portugal, Spain, Sweden and
Switzerland

The majority of IBM's revenue, excluding the company’s onginal
equipment manufacturer (OEM) technology business, occurs in
Industries that are broadly grouped into six sectors

* Finzncial Services Banking, Financial Markets, Insurance
+ Public Education, Government, Healthcare, Life Sciences
s Industral Asrcspace and Defense, Automaotive,
Chemical and Petroleum, Electronics
=  Distnbution Consumer Products, Retall,
Travel and Transportation
« Communications Telecommunigationg,
Mecha and Entertainment, Energy and Utiities
s General Business Mainly companies with fewer than
1,000 employees

Research, Development and Intellectual Property

IBM's R&D operations differentiate the company from its competitors
IBM annually invests approximately $6 billion for R&D, focusing on
high-growth, high-value opportunities

IBM Research works with clients and IBM business units
on near-term and mid-term innovations and solutions and, in
many cases, qualfies new technologes to be transferred to IBM
development organizations It also explores the boundaries of science
and technology —from nanotechnology, to systems, to analytics, to
cloud, 1o IBM Watson, a computer system that applied advanced
analytics to defeat the all-ttme champions on the television quiz
show, Jecparady!

In addition to producing world-class systems, software and
technology products, IBM innovations also are a major differentiator
In providing solutions for the company’s clients through its services
businesses IBM Research has the world’s largest mathematics
department of any public company This urit is actively mvolved with
many of the company's business analytics client engagements

In 2014, the company once agarn was awarded more US patents
than any other company, the 19th consecutive year IBM has been
the patent leader IBM's 6,180 patents in 2011 were the most U S
patents ever awarded to one company In a single year, more than
70 percent of the patents (BM was issued in 2011 were for software
and services

The company continues to actively seek intellectual property
protection for its innovations, while increasing emphasis on other
mnitiatives designed to leverage its intellectual property leadership
The company's nvestments in R&D also result in intellectual property
{IP) ncome of approximately $1 bition annually Some of IBM's
technelogical breakthroughs are used exclusively In IBM products,
while others are licensed and may be used in either/both IBM
products and/or the products of the licensee While the company's
various proprietary intellectual property nghts are important to its
success, IBM believes its business as a whole 1s not materiaily
dependent on any particular patent or license, or any particular
group of patertts or hicenses 1IBM owns or is icensed under a number
of patents, which vary in duration, relating to its products Licenses
under many of the patents owned by IBM have been and are being
granted to others under reasonable terms and conditions

Enterpnse Transformation

A key element of the company’s strategy has been focused on
becoming the premier globally Integrated enterpnse The company
has implemented a consistent set of processes and standards
worldwide to reduce inefficiencies and tmprove collaboration
With ts processes fully integrated, the company implemented
a new operating model with work shared In global resource
centers of excellence located where it made the most business
sense Since 2005, giobal ntegration has enabled the company to
deliver over $6 billion in productivity and improve service quality,
speed and nsk management The company has shifted resources
toward bufding client relationships and employees skills, while
positioning the company for new market opportunities During this
transformation, IBM pioneered this new operating model, changing
from a classic “multinational,” with smaller versions of the parent
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company rephcated in countnes around the world, to a global model
with one set of processes, shared services and broadly distnbuted
dectsion making

The company has now embarked on the next generation of its
transformation in which new capabilihes and technologies like
business analytics and cloud cormputing will dnve performance The
proven principles of the globally integrated enterpnse will be applied
to all of the company’s spending to continue to dnve additional
productimty benefits in shared services, integrated operations and
end-to-end process transformation

Integrated Supply Chain

1BM spends approximately $35 bithion annually through its supply
chamn, procunng matenals and services globally In addition, in
2011, the company managed approximately $20 biilon n
procurement spending for its clients through the Global Process

Year in Review

Segment Details

Services organization The supply, manufacturing and fogistics
and customer fulfilment operations are mntegrated in one operating
unit that has optimized inventories over wme Simplifying and
streamlining internal processes has rmproved sales force productvty
and operational effectiveness and efficiency Continuous
mprovements to supply chain resdiency aganst market-place
changes and nsks have been particularly vatuable in maintaining
E:ontmunty during natural disasters and other disruptive events that
are occurnng with increased frequency

The company’s continuing efforts to denve business value from
its own globally integrated supply chain provides a strategic
advantage for the company to create value for clients IBM leverages
its supply cham expertise for clients through its supply chain
business transformation outsourcing service to optimize and help
operate clents’ end-to-end supply chain processes, from procurement
to logistics

The following 1s an analysis of the 2011 versus 2010 reportable segment results The table below presents each reportable segment’s external

revenue and gross margin results

{3y milikons)
Yr to-Yr ¥r -10-Yr
Percent/  Percent Change
Margin Adjusted for
For the year ended December 31 201 2010 Charge Currency
Revenue e e i i et r—— ——— = < 10 e e soesmson s e
Global Technology Services $ 40879 $38,201 7 0% 27%
__Gross margin . R 35 0% 34 5% _D5pts
Global Business Services 19,284 18,223 5 8% 15%
Gross margin 28 8% 280% 07pts
Software e %4844 22485 109%  BO0%
__Grossmargn B8 5% 87 9% 05pts
Systemsand TeChnology o e e o .18.983 783 88% . 32%
LGOSS MR o e e e e e e o - 308 8B% o 16pts
Global Financing 2,102 2,238 (6 1)% 9 1)%
JGrossmangn L e o e e e s e o o e = LOB% SIS% L. 08IRS
Other_ R e e e e - Jz2 750 Lg% 63%
Gross margin {54 5% 8 6)% (45 9)pts.
Total consolidated revenue 5106916 $99 870 71% 34%
Total consolidated gross profit S 50,138 $46,014 8 0%
. Totatconsoldated grosS MBI e s o i e o e BB 4B% Q8PS
Non-operaing adjustments e ——————
Amortization of acquired intangibles assets = . oL _ . .3540 . 20 __ 308%
Acquisition-related charges o . . . . S .. o NM o
Retirement-related costs/(Income) 2 {204} NM
Operating {non-GAAP) gross profit S 50481 $46,07C 96%
Operating (non GAAP) gross margin 47 2% 46 1% 11pts

* Rectassified to conform wath 2011 presentation
NM—Not meaningful
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The following table presents each reportable segment’s external revenue as a percentage of total segment external revenue and each
reportable segment's pre-tax Income as a percentage of total segment pre-tax ncome

Revenua Pre-tax Income™"

For the year ended Decomber 31 201 2010 2011 2010
Global Technology Services . 3B _..985%  2T4% __  263%
Global Business Services 182 184 131 122

Total Giobal Services 567 56 9 406 384
Software . 235 - 27 435 Las2
Systems and Technology o 179 .81, 71 70
Global Financing 20 23 : X2 94
Total 100 0" 100 0% 100 0% 100 0%

* Segment pre-tax Income includes iransactions between segments that are intended ta reflect an arm s-length transter price and exciudes certain unallocated corporate items

see note T "Segmant Information,” on pages 135 to 139 for addiicnal informaticn
* Reclassified to conform with 2011 presentation

The Product Lifecycle Management {PLM) transaction gain recorded
" the first guarter of 2010 mpacted the year-to-year results of the
company's reportable segments for 2011 compared to 2010 In
addition, workforce rebalancing charges were ncurred in every
segment In the first quarter of both years The PLM transaction gain
($591 million) was recorded in Software n the first quarter of 2010
In the segment analysis below and in the Global Financing analysis
on pages 63 and 64, each segment’s pre-tax income and pre-tax
margin for 2011 and 2010 1s presented on an as-reported basis and
on a basis normalized for these actions in both years to provde a better
perspective of the underlying operational performance of the segments

Global Services
The Global Services segments, Global Technology Services (GTS3)
and Global Business Services (GBS), delivered $60,163 million of

revenue in 2011, an Iincrease of 6 6 percent (2 percent adjusted for
currency) compared 1o 2010 Services revenue performarnice, adjusted
for currency, was consistent over the course of the year driven
by stability in the backlog Performance in 2011 was led by strength
Iin the growth markets with total services revenue up 16 9 percent
{11 percent adjusted for currency) and gross margin 2 points higher
than in the major markets The services segments also had good
performance in the other key growth initatives cloud, business analytcs
and Smarter Planet Total outsourcing revenue of $28,301 milion,
which includes GTS Qutsourcing and GBS Application Management
Services Cutsourcing, increased 7 8 percent {3 percent adjusted for
currency) and total transactional revenue of $24,348 million, which
includes Gonsuling and Systems Integration within GBS and Integrated
Technology Services within GTS, increased 6 2 percent (2 percent
adjusted for currency) year to year

{% in millions)
Yr to-Yr
Yr 10-¥r  Percent Change
Percent Adjusted for
For the year ended December 3t 2011 2010* Change Currency
Global Senvices external revenue $60,163 $56 424 6 6% 23%
Global Technology Services $40,679 $38,201 70% 27%
_ Cutsourcing ~ o L o 23,911 22,241 75 R 30
_ Integrated Technology Services . . ~ 9453 8,714 85 41
Maintenance 7.515 7,250 36 02)
Global Business Services . . . 519284 $18,223 .58%, _15%
Qutsourcing 4,390 4007 95 48
Consuiting and Systemns Integration 14,895 14 216 48 05

* Reclassified 10 conform with 2011 presentation of Qutsourging and Consulting and Systems Integration revenue within GBS
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Giobat Technology Services revenue of $40,879 milion increased
70 percent (3 percent adjusted for currency) in 2011 versus 2010
Revenue performance was led by the growth markets which were
up 16 8 percent {11 percent adiusted for currency) GTS Outscurcing
revenue Increased 75 percent (3 percent adjusted for currency) in
2011 and gained share QOutsourcing performance in 2011 was driven
by strength in the growth markets with revenue up 11 percent,
adjusted for currency, as the outsourcing offerings are continuing to
help ckents build out therr IT infrastructures Integrated Technology
Services (ITS} revenue Increased 8 5 percent (4 percent adjusted
for currency) in 2011 versus 2010, aiso led by the growth markets
which increased 13 percent, adjusted for currency Revenue growth
year over year, adjusted for currency, in both GTS Qutsourcing and
ITS was relatively consistent over the course of the year

Global Business Services revenue of $19,284 milion increased
5 8 percent (1 percent adjusted for currency) in 2011 led by strength
in the growth markets with revenue up 174 percent (11 percent
adjusted for currency) Application Qutsgurcing revenue increased
9 5 percent (5 percent adjusted for currency) in 201 year to year
Consulting and Systems Integration {C&SI), which includes Consutting,
Application Management Services systems integration and the US
Federal business, grew revenue 1in 2011 4 8 percent {1 percent
adjusted for currency) Both GBS lines of business had strong year-
to-vear performance in the growth markets with double-digit constant
currency revenue growth GBS was impactedin 2011 by revenue
declines in Japan and in the Public Sector, excluding Japan and
the Public Sector, total GBS revenue increased 119 percent in 2011
{8 percent adjusted for currency)

($ in mulhons)
¥r-to-¥Yr
Percent/
Margin
For the year ended D ber 31 2011 2010° Change
Global Services
Global Techrology Services
External gross proft CS14020 $13194 0 BS%
External gross profit margin 350 345% 05pts
Pre-tax income $ 6284  $ 5499 14 3%
Pre-tax margin ~ o 149%  138% 1 0pts

_ Pre-taxincome—normalzed™ S 6398 § 5,771 10 9%

Pre-tax margin—normalzed 15 2% 14 6% CBpts
Globat Business Services .

. Externalgrossprofit 5 5545 $ 5106 86%
External gross profit margm 28 8% 28 0% 0 7pts
Pre-tax incorme 53008 $ 2546 18 1%

__ Pretax margin___ 15 0% 134% 16pts
Pre-tax mcome—normalized-  $ 3062 § 2674 = 141%
Pre-tax margin—normalzed 16 2+, 14 1% 11pts

* Reclassified 10 conform with 2011 presentation

** Excludes $116 milllon and $273 million of workforce rebalancing charges in the first
quarter of 2011 and 2010 respectively

+ Excludes $45 milhon and $128 milllon of workforce rebalancing chargesin the first
quarter of 2011 and 2010 respectively

GTS gross profit increased 8 & percent n 2011 and gross margin
improved 0 & points year to year Margin expansion was driven by
improved gross profit performance in all ines of business Pre-tax
ncome increased to $6,284 million in 2011 with a pre-tax margin of
14 9 percent On a normalized basis, segment pre-tax income in
201 increased 10 9 percent and margin expanded 0 6 ponts to
15 2 percent

GBS gross profit increased 8 6 percent in 2011 and gross margin
improved 07 points 1o 28 8 percent, led primanily by margin
improvement in Apphcation Management Services Outsourcing
(GBS segment pre-tax income improved 18 1 percent to $3,008 milion
with a pre-tax margm of 15 0 percent Cn a normalized basts,
segment pre-tax income in 2011 mcreased 14 1 percent with a pre-tax
margin of 15 2 percent, an increase of 11 ponts year to year

Tota! Global Services segment pre-tax income was $9,290 million
In 2011, an increase of $1,246 million or 15 & percent year to vear
The combined pre-tax margm in 201 improved 1 2 points versus
2010 On a normalized basis, total Giobal Services pre-tax income
in 2011 ncreased 119 percent with a pre-tax margin of 15 2 percent,
up 0 8 paints year to year In 2011, the company established two
Global Services integration hubs which will drive the business to a
new level of global consistency, Integration and standardization in
the development and delivery of solutions to clients Both Global
Services segments had strong profit and margin performance in
20M as they continue to mix to higher value cfferings and markets,
and continue to focus on productivity and cost management

Global Services Backlog

The estimated Global Services backlog at December 31, 2011 was
$141 billon, a decrease of $17 bilkon {flat adjusted for currency)
compared to the December 31, 2010 balance, and an increase of
$3 8 bilion ($4 7 bilion adjusted for currency) compared to the
September 30, 2011 balance There are three primary drivers
of total services revenue backlog, new sales into the existing
contract base and new ciient signings A very high percentage
of annual services revenue, approximately 70 percent, comes
from the run out of the opening backlog The December 31, 2011
backlog position provides a very solid base of revenue for total
Services to begin 2012 In 2012, the company expects approxmately
3 percent revenue growth from the backlog, at consistent foreign
exchange currency rates The estimated outsourcing backlog
at December 31, 2011 was $93 bilion, a decrease of $4 0 biflion
($2 8 billion adusted for currency) from December 31, 2010
balance, and an increase of $2 2 billion ($2 8 bilhon adjusted
for currency) from the September 30, 2011 level
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(3 In bilkons)
Yr to Yr
Change
Yrio¥r Adjusted for
At Decomber 31 2011 2010 Change Currency
BN e e e e e e e et e sre saten oot oo reen o e o e =
__Totalbacklog L . o 81406 . 1424 517 $00
Qutsourcing backlog 224 096 5 {4 0) {2 8)

Total Globat Serwices backlog includes GTS Outsourcing, ITS, GBS
QOutsourcing, Consulting and Systems Integration and Mantenance
Cutsourcing backiog includes GTS Outsourcing and GBS Outsourcing
Total backlog 1s intended to be a staternent of overall work under
contract and therefore does Include Maintenance Backlog estimates
are subject to change and are affected by several factors, including
terminations, changes in the scope of contracts, periodic revalidations,
adjustments for revenue not matenalized and adjustments for currency

Global Services signings are management's Initial estimate of the
value of a clent’s commitment under a Global Services contract There
are no third-party standards or requirements governing the calculation
of signings  The caleulation used by management involves estimates
and judgments o gauge the extert of a client's commitment, including

the type and duratton of the agreerment, and the presence of termination
charges or wind-down costs

Signings include GTS Outsourcing, ITS, GBS Outsourcing and
Consulting and Systerns Integration contracts Contract extensions
and Increases In scope are treated as signings only io the extent of
the incremental new value Maintenance 1s not included in signings
as mantenance contracts tend to be more steady state, where
revenues equal renewals

Contract portfolios purchased in an acguisition are treated as
positive backlog adjustments prowided those contracts meet the
company's requirements for nival signings A new signing will be
recognized If a new services agreement 1s signed incidental or
coincidental to an acquisition or divestiture

(% n milions)
Yr -to-Yr
Yr-to-Yr  Percert Change
Percent Adjusted for
For the year ended Decernber 31 201 2010° Change Curmency
Yotal signings $57,435 $57,696 {05)% 4 0)%
.Qutsourcingsignings L e e 579250 BB1268 (BE% . _P%
Transactional signings 28184 26,428 66 26
* Reaclassified to conjorm with 201 presentation
Software
(3 in mulions)
Yr-to-Yr
Yr-to-Yr  Percent Change
Percent Adjusted for
For tho yaar ended Dy ber 31 2011 2010" Change Currency
Sottware external revenue $24,944 $22,485 10 9% B 0%
__Muddieware 520,650 __$18445 12 0% __90%
—_ KeyBrandedMiddloware - — S . 7L SO 177 - OO ). M |- 4
WebSphere Farnily 405 ar4
.. IMformaton Management e e e e . 328 88
Lotus L. _ e . L 38 . b2z
Thoh 102 74
Rational . i 49 18
Other middleware 4,600 4,565 08 {19)
___Operating systems 2,479 2,282 B6 56
Other 1,814 1,758 32 04

Reclassified (o conform with 2011 presentatlon

29




30

Management Discussion

international Business Machines Corporation and Subsidiary Gompanies

Software reverue of $24,944 million increased 103 percent (8 percent
adjusted for currency) in 2011 compared to 2010 Adjusting for the
divested PLM operations, revenue grew at 11 8 percent (9 percent
adjusted for currency) in 2011 Revenue growth was driven by key
branded meddleware, reflecting continued strong demand for the
company's offerings and sclid growth in key focus areas such as
Smarter Commerce and business analytics Overall, the Software
business had another very good year in 201, delivering nearly
$10 billon In segment pre-tax income, an ncrease of $500 million
from 2010 The company continues to invest In additional capabilities
for the Software business through both organic investments and
strategic acquisitions, Including the completion of five acquisitions in
201, plus acquisiions announced in the fourth quarter of 2011 that
closed in the first quarter of 2012

Key branded middleware revenue increased 156 percent
{13 percent adjusted for currency) and agan gained market share
In 2011, as the Software business extended its lead in the middieware
market Software revenue continued to mix to the faster growing
branded middleware which accounted for 64 percent of total software
revenue in 2011, an increase of 3 points from 2010 Performance in
20M was led by strong double-digit growth nWebSphere The Soltware
business comtinued to have solid performance in its growth indiatives,
with business anatytics revenue up double digits in 2011 year to year

WebSphere revenue increased 40 5 percent (37 percent adjusted
for currency) in 201 wath strong performance throughout the year
and gained share WebSphere's five product areas all had revenue
growth of 18 percent or hugher in 2011, led by the Smarter Cormmerce
offerings, which more than tripled year to year This performance
contributed to the company's overall growth in the retall industry in
each of the last two years The 2010 acquisitions of Sterling
Commerce, Coremetrics and Unica Corporation all contributed to
the WebSphere year-to-year performance

Information Management revenue increased 12 § percent
{10 percent adjusted for currency) and gained share in 2011 compared
to 2010 Distnbuted Database revenue increased 33 percent in 2011,
led by strong performance from the Netezza offerings Since
acqguiring Netezza in November 2010, the Software business has
expanded its custorner base by over 40 percent The company's
business analytics software offerings, most of which are part of
Information Management, continue to cutpace the market with
double-digit revenue growth, year to year in 2011

Lotus revenue increased 3 8 percent (flat adjusted for currency)
in 2011 compared to 2010, with growth driven by the Social Business
offerings

Twol revenue mcreased 10 2 percent (7 percent adjusted for
currency) In 2011 when compared to 2010 and gained share Revenue
growth was led by Storage software with growth of 25 percent
{22 percent adjusted for currency) Secunty solutions software also
delivered growth in 2011, with revenue up 9 percent {6 percent
adjusted for currency)

Rational revenue increased 4 9 percent (2 percent adjusted for
currency) in 2011 versus 2010 and gained share Revenue growth
was driven by Telelogic, which increased 11 percent (7 percent
adjusted for currency) year to year

Operating systems revenue increased 8 6 percent (B percent
adjusted for currency) In 2011 compared to 2010, dnven primanly by
growth in Power Systems

Other software revenue increased 3 2 percent (flat adjusted for
currency) with growth in software-related services partially offset
by the divestiture of the PLM operations in the first quarter of 2010

& in milions)
Yr-to Yr
Percent/
Mamgin
For tha year ended December 31 2014 200" Change
Software
External gross profit £22.065 $19,774 11 6%
. Exernalgrossproftmargn | B85%  879% _ _05pts
Pre-taxincome S 94970  $9466 _  53%
Pro-lax margn 35 3% 37 2% {19 pts
__Pretaxincome—normalzed™ ___ $10.009  $8972 _ 116%
Pre-tax margn—normalized 35 5% 35 3% 02pts

* Reclassified 1o conform with 2011 presentation

“* Excludes $3¢ milhon and $98 milion of workforce rebalancing charges i the first
quarter of 2011 and 2010 respectively and $(51) mifkon related to the PLM gainin
the first quarter of 2010

Software gross profit Increased 116 percent to $22,065 million in
2011 driven primanly by the growth in revenue Gross profit margin
improved 0 5 ponts versus 2010 Software delivered segment
pre-tax mcome of $9,970 millon i 2011, an increase of 5 3 percent
versus 2010 On a normalized basis, segment pre-tax income
increased 11 6 percent and segment pre-tax margin improved
0 2 points to 35 5 percent in 2011 The Software segment delivered
strong margin and profit growth in 2011 and contributed to the
company's continued margin expansion and profit performance
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Systems and Technology

{$ In mitions}

Yr-10Yr

¥r to-Yr  Percent Charge

Percent Adjusted for

For the yaar ended December 31 2011 2010 Change Currency
Systems and Technology external revenue $18.,985 $17,973 5 6% 32%
System z _ R R 03% 2 1%

Power Systems 120 95

. Systemx - 57 24

L 58 =3

Retail Store Solutions 116 94

TowlSystems o o .. .65__ __ 38

Microslectronics OEM 02 01

Systemns and Technology revenue increased 5 6 percent (3 percent
adsted for currency) in 2011 versus 2010 Performance in 2011 was
driven by the growth markets which increased 14 9 percent (12 percent
adjusted for currency) The major markets increased 2 7 percent,
but were essentially flat at constant currency versus the prior year
penod

System z revenue increased 0 3 percent (down 2 percent adjusted
for currency) in 2011 versus 2010 MIPS (milions of instructions per
second) shipments increased 16 percent in 20H versus 2010 The
revenue performance and lower MIPS growth was a result of the
strong prior-year performance and was consistent with pnor mainframe
product cycles, as the company successfully launched its zEnterpnse
196 server in the third quarter of 2010 Since the z196 server began
shipping, the company has added over 115 new System z clients, with
more than 33 percent in the growth markets

Power Systems revenue increased 12 0 percent (9 percent
adjusted for currency) in 2011 versus 2010 wath perfermance driven
by strong growth in high-end systems High-end systems revenue
Increased 31 percent (28 percent adjusted for currency) in 2011
compared to 2010 The company extended its market leadership in
20M, having posted 15 consecutive quarters of year-to-year share
gans In addition, this was the second consecutive year that the
company had over 1,000 competitive displacements, which this
year generated over $1 bilhon of business, approximately 50 percent
of this business was from Hewlett Packard, with most of the batance
from Oracle/Sun

System x revenue Increased 5 7 percent (2 percent adjusted for
currency) In 2041 compared to 2010 High-end System x revenue
increased 35 percent (31 percent adjusted for currency) in 2011 versus
the prior year System x revenue increased 22 percent (18 percent
adjusted for currency) In the growth markets and closed the year with
1ts ninth consecutive quarter with a double-digit increase in the
growth markets

Storage revenue increased 5 8 percent (3 percent adjusted for
currency}in 2011 versus 2010 Total disk revenue increased 7 percent
{4 percent adjusted for currency) in 201 versus 2070, driven by growth
in enterpnse disk products Tape revenue increased 3 percent (flat
adjusted for currency) in 2011 versus 2010 When combined with
storage software, total storage revenue increased 10 percent in 2011
compared {o the prior year

Retail Stores Solutions revenue increased 116 percent (9 percent
adjusted for currency} in 2011 versus the prior year The brand gained
share n 201 and contributed to the company’s overall mproved
performance in the retail industry

Microelectromes OEM revenue increased O 2 percent (flat adjusted
for currency) in 2011 versus 2010, as the company shifted its
production to meet internal demand

(8 in mulions})
Yr-10 Yr
Percent/
Margin
For the year ended December 31 2011 20107 Change
Systems and Technology
External gross profit $7.565 $6,856 10 2%
External gross profit margin _398% _ 381%___ 16pts
__ Pre-taxincome _ - . 81833 B1456 _ 122%
Pre-tax mangin B8 2% 7 8% 0 5pts
_Pre-taxincome—normalzed”” 51,652 _ $1513 92%
Pre-tax margin— normalzed 8 3% 8 1% O 3pts

* Reclassified to conform with 2011 presentation
**Excludes $19 milion and $57 million of werkforce rebalancing charges in the first
quarter of 2011 and 2010 raspectively

The increase In external gross profit for 2011 versus 2010 was due
to higher revenue and an improved overall gross profit margin

Overall gross margin increased 1 6 points in 2011 versus the prior
year The increase was primarily driven by margin improvements
in Power Systems (1 2 paints), System z (0 4 points) and System x
(O 6 points), partiaily offset by lower margins in Microglectronics
(0 6 points) and Storage (0 2 points)

Systems and Technology's pre-tax ncome increased $177 milion
(12 2 percent) to $1,633 million in 2011 and on a normalized basis
increased $139 million to $1,652 million in 2011, when compared
to the prior year Pre-tax margin increased 0 5 points, and on a
normatized basis O 3 points, versus the prior year

Global Financing

See pages 63 through 87 for an analysis of Global Financing's
segment results

i
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Geographic Revenue

In addition to the revenue presentation by reportable segment, the company alsc measures revenue performance on a geographic basis
The following geographic, regional and country-specific revenue performance excludes OEM revenue, which 1s discussed separately below

{$ In millions})

Yr-10 Yr

oot Acitod o

For the year ended DI 3 2011 2010 Change Cumency
Total revenue S106 916 $39,870 71% 34%
Geographies. | __ . . . . ol eme e o o .o o_..BM04370 0 897060 73% 0 36%

LAMENCES e e e e e e PASM  A2044 69 B2

Europe/Middie East/Afnca 33,952 31,866 65 jI_E—i

Asia Pacific e ., 25,273 . 230 82 7
Major markets 51% 16%
Growih markets . 160% 114%
BRIC countries 18 6% 161%

Total geographic revenue increased 7 3 percent (4 percent adjusted
for currency) to $104,170 mifion in 2019, led by strong performance
In the growth markets

The growth markets increased 16 O percent {11 percent adusted
for currency) in 2011 and gained 4 pomnts of market share The growth
markets strategy to expand into new markets, build out IT infrastructures
and lead in specific industnes 1s drnving the strong performance and
share gains Revenue growth cutpaced growth n the major markets
by 10 points in 2011 on a constant currency basis In the BRIC countries
{Brazil, Russia, Incha and China), revenue increased 18 6 percent
{16 percent adjusted for currency) in 2011, with double-digit growth
in each country Owverall in 2011, the company had double-digrt constant
currency revenue growth in nearly 40 growth market countries
These countries contributed nearly two-thirds of the company's 2011
constant currency revenue growth and represented 22 percent of
total gecgraphic revenue in 2011 To further drive market expansion,
the company opened 82 new branches and added over 1,500 new
sales resources in 201

Amerncas revenue increased 6 9 percent (6 percent adjusted
for currency}in 2011 Within the major market countries, the US
increased 4 2 percent and Canada increased 14 3 percent (10 percent
adjusted for currency) Revenue in the Latin Amernca growth markets
ncreased 16 8 percent {14 percent adjusted for currency) with growth
n Brazil of 13 0 percent (9 percent adjusted for currency)

Europe/Middie East/Afnca (EMEA) revenue increased 6 5 percent
{2 percent adjusted for currency) in 2011 compared to 2010 In
the major market countries, revenue growth was led by the UK up
9 4 percent (5 percent adjusted for currency), Span up 11 2 percent
(6 percert adjusted for currency), Germany up 5 8 percent (1 percent
adjusted for currency) and France up 4 4 percent (fiat adjusted for
currency) Revenue in lialy decreased O 6 percent (5 percent adjusted
for currency) The EMEA growth markets increassd 11 6 percent
{10 percent adjusted for currency) in 2011, led by growth in Russia
of 49 8 percent (49 percent adjusted for currency)

Asia Pacific revenue increased 9 2 percent (2 percent adjusted
for currency) year over year The Asia Pacific growth markets increased
16 8 percent (11 percent adjusted for currency), led by growth in
China of 21 8 percent (18 percent adjusted for currency) and India
of 10 9 percent {13 percent adjusted for currency) Japan revenue
increased 2 O percent {decreased 7 percent adjusted for currency)

CEM revenue of $2,746 mullion in 2011 decreased 2 3 percent
{3 percent adjusted for currency) compared to 2010, driven by the
Microelectrontcs OEM business

Total Expense and Other Income

($ 10 millions)
Yr-to-vr
Percent/
Margin
For the year onded December 31 2011 2010 Charge
Total consolidated expense
__and other {income) 829135 _ $26 291 10 8%
Non-operating adjustments
Amontization of acquired
intangible assets e 28  (253) 144
Acquisiton-related charges (45} (46) (18}
Non-cperating retirement-related
{costs)/income 74 210 (64 6)
Total operating {(non-GAAP)
expense and other (income) 528 875 $26,202 10 2%
Total consolidated
expense-to-revenue ratio 27 3% 26 3% 09pis
Operating (non-GAAP)
expense to-revenue ratio 27 0 26 2% 08pts
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Total expense and other (iIncome) :increased 10 8 percent in 2011
versus 2010 Total operating (non-GAAP) expense and other income)
increased 10 2 percent versus the prior year The key dnvers of the
year-to-year change in total expense and other (income) for both
expense presentations were approximately

+ Currency” 4 points
s Acqusttions™ 3 ponts
+ Baseexpense 3points

* Reflects impacts of translaton and hedging programs
“* Includes acquisitions completed i prior 12 manth penad

In the execution of its strategy, the company continues to invest
N 1ts growth initiatives, innovation and strategic acquisitions The
company also has had an ongoing focus on increasing efficiency
and productvity across the business

For addittonal information regarding total expense and other
Income, see the following analyses by category

Seling, General and Administrative

{ in milicns)
Yr -to-¥r
Percent
For the year ended December 31 2011 2010 Change
Selling, general and
administrative expense
Selling, general and
-admnstratve—other ~ B20.287 $18585  92%
Advertising and promotional expense 1373 1337 27
Workforce rebalancingcharges . | 440 641 (313
Retremgnt-relatedcosts | 603 404 221
Amortization of acquired
.mtangblesassets 269 283 144
Stock-based compensation 514 488 54
Bad debt expense 88 40 1166
Total consolidated selling, general
and administrative expense $23,594  $21,837 80%
Non operating adjustrrents
Amortization of acquired
. Intangibls assots - ey @53 144
Acquisiion-related charges {20) {41) 523
Non-gperating retirement-related
(costs)/income {13} B4 NM
Operating {nen-GAAP)
selling, general and
administrative expense 523272 $21,628 7 6%

NM—Not meaningful

Total Selling, general and administrative (SG&A} expense increased
8 0 percent (5 percent adjusted for currency) i 2011 versus 2010
Overall the increase was driven by currency impacts (3 points),
acquisition-related spending (3 points) and base expense (2 points)
Operating (non-GAAP) SG8A expense increased 7 6 percant (5 percent
adjusted for currency) primarity driven by the same factors Workforce
rebalancing charges decreased $201 million due primarly to
actions taken in the first quarter of 2010 ($558 milllon) Bad debt
expense increased $47 milhon in 2011 primarily due to higher
receivable balances and the current economic environment in
Europe The accounts recenvable provision coverage was 15 percent
at December 31, 2011, a decrease of 30 basis points from year-
end 2010

Other (Income) and Expense

[§ in rullions)
Yr to-Yr
Percent
For the year ended December 31 2011 2010 Change
Other (income) andexpense . _
Foreign currency transacton
lossas/(gans) 5513 $303 69 2%
{Gains¥osses on dernvative
Lnstuments LA esy | 529)
Interest ncome {136} (92) 48 4
Net {gainsilosses from securities
and investment assets (227} 31 NM
Other 158} (790) ©927)
Total consolidated other
{income) and expense S {20) $(787) {97 4)%
Non-operating adjustment
Acquistiion-related charges {25) {4) NM
Operating (non-GAAP)
other (income) and expense S {45] {791 (94 3)%

NM—Not meaningful

Other (income) and expense was income of $20 milhon and
$787 milion for 2011 and 2010, respecinvely The decrease inincome
in 2011 was primanty dnven by the net gain ($581 milkon) from the
PLM transaction recorded in the first quarter of 2010 and a net gain
associated with the dispositron of a joint venture in the third quarter
of 2010 (857 million) reflected In Other in the table above In addition,
foreign currency rate volatity drove higher foreign currency transaction
losses (3210 million) and lower gains on derwvative instruments
(8126 millon} These decreases in income were partially offset
by higher net gains from securitties and investment asset sales
($258 radfion), primarily in the first quarter of 2011
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Research, Development and Engineenng

{$ in miltons}
Yr to Yr
Percent
For the year ended December 31 2011 2010 Change
Total consolidated research,
___development and engineermg __ S6 258 $6 026 38%

Non-operating adjustment

Non-operating retirament-related
{costg)fincome 88 126 204

Operating {non-GAAP} research,
development and engineering

56 345

The company continues to Invest In research and development,
focusing its Investments on high-value, igh-growth opportunties
and to extend Its technology leadership Total research, development
and engineering (RD&E) expense increased 3 8 percent in 2011
versus 2010, primanly driven by acguisitions {up 4 points) and .
currency impacts (up 2 points), partially offset by base expense
(down 2 paints) Operating (non-GAAP) RD&E expense increased
31 percent in 2011 compared to the prior year primarily driven by
the same factors RO&E investments renresented 5 9 percent of
revenue in 2011, compared to 6 0 percent in 2010

Inteflectual Property and Custom Developrnent income

{3 10 rilkons)
Yr to-Yr
Percent
For the year ended December 31 201 2010 Change
Sales and other transfers
__of mtellectual property S 309 § 203 52 3%
Licensing/royalty-basedfees 211 312 (82 5)
Custom development income 558 638 {80}
Total 51108 $1,154 {4 0)%

The timing and amount of sales and other transfers of IP may
vary significantly from period to period depending upon timing
of divestitures, Industry consclidation, economic conditions and
the timing of new patents and know-how development There were
no signiftcant ndividual IP transactions in 2011 or 2010

Interest Expense

{$ In millions)
Yr to-Yr
Percent
For the year ended December 31 2011 2010 Change
Inierestexpense . ..
Total $411 $368 11 6%

The Increase In interest expense in 2011 versus 2010 was primarly
driven by higher average debt levels, partially offset by lower average
Interest rates Interest expense 1s presented in cost of financing in
the Consolidated Staternent of Earnings only If the related external
borrowings are to support the Global Financing external business
See pages 66 and 67 for additional information regarding Global
Financing debt and inferest expense Overall iInterest expense
{excluding capitalized interest) for 2011 was $964 million, an
sncrease of $41 million year to year

36,152 31%

Stock-Based Compensation
Total pre-tax stock-based compensation cost of $697 million
increased $68 milion compared to 2010 The increase was prirmarily
the result of an increase related to the company’s assumgption of stock-
based awards previously 1Issued by acquired entities ($22 million)
and increases related to restricted stock units and performance share
units ($48 million), partiaily offset by a reduction related to siock
options ($2 milion) Cost, and the year-to-year change, was reflected
nthe folowing categories Gost $120 mulhon, up $27 mullion, SG&A
expense $514 mihon, up $26 million, and RD&E expense $62 million,
up $14 milion

See note R, “Stock-Based Compensation,' on pages 118 to 121
for additional infarmation on stock-based incentive awards

Retirement-Related Plans

The following table provides the total pre-tax cost for all retirement-
related plans These amounts are included in the Consolhdated
Statement of Earmings within the caption (e g, Cost, SG&A, RD&E)
relating to the job function of the plan participants

(8 0 milhans)
Yr 10 ¥r
Percent
For the year ended D ber 31 201 2010 Change
Retirement-related plans—~cost_ o . _
. Servicecost . . % 549 5 550 0 2%
Amortization of pror
_ _ service cost/(credits) . _ @sn {183 (148
Cost of defined contribution plans 1513 1,430 58
Tota! operating costs %1905 %1 796 £ 0%
Interest cost _ _A801 4763 34
Expected return on plan assets {6,574} (6,488} _ 13
Recognzed acluarial losgses 1788 1,194 487
Plan amendments/curtalments/
settlements__ L 1 27 _@809
Multi employer plan/other costs 112 89 260
Total non-operating costs/
{income) $ 7y $ {414) (82 5%
Total retirement-related
plans—cost S 1832 $1382 32 6%

In 2011, total retirement-related plans cost increased by $450 milion
compared to 2010, pnmarily driven by an increase in recagnized
actuanallosses of $584 million and increased cost associated with
defined contribution ptans ($83 miliion), partally otfset by lower
interest cost of $162 million and an increased expected return on
plan assets of $87 milicn




Management Discussion

International Business Machines Corporation and Subsidiary Companies

As discussed in the “Operating (non-GAAF) Earnings” section on

page 18, the cornpany characterizes certan retirement-related costs
as operating and others as non-operating Utihizing this charactenzation,
operating retirement-related costs in 201 were $1,905 milion, an
increase of $108 milllon compared to 2010, primanly driven by the
$83 millon increase in defined contribution plan costs Non-operating
costs of ${72) million Increased $342 milion 1y 2011 compared to the
prior year driven primarily by the increase in recognized actuanal
losses ($594 milion), partally offset by lower interest cost ($162 miflion}
and the increase i expected return on plan assets {$87 million)

Income Taxes

The effective tax rate for 2011 was 24 5 percent compared with
24 8 percent in 2010 The operating (non-GAAP) tax rate for 20M
was 24 5 percent compared with 24 4 percentin 2010 The 0 3 point
decrease in the as-reported effective tax rate was primarily driven
by a more favorable geographic mix of pre-tax earnings (0 6 points),
the lack of prior year impacts related to certan intercompany
payments made by foreign subsidiaries (6 6 points) and a reduced
Impact associated with the intercompany licensing of certamn
intellectual property and acquisition integration costs (2 2 points)
These benefits were offset by a decrease in the utilization of foreign
tax credits (3 7 points) and a decrease In the benefits associated
with the settliernents of the U S federal income tax audit {5 5 points)
The remaining items were individually insignificant

Earnings Per Share

Basic earnings per share 1s computed on the bagis of the weighted-
average number of shares of common stock cutstanding during the
period Diluted earnings per share 1s computed on the basis of the
weighted-average number of shares of cormmon stock cutstanding
plus the effect of diftive potential common shares outstanding during
the penod using the treasury stock method Dilutve potential common
shares inglude outstanding stock options and stock awards

Yrto¥r
Percent
For the year enced Decomber 31 2011 2010 Change
Earnings per share of common stock B
Assuming ddution S$1306 $11 52 134%
Bese . S1325 81369 133%
Diluted operating (non-GAAP) $13 44 $11 67 15 2%
Weighted-average shares
_-outstanding finmifliens)
Assurning dilution 12138 _ 12874 57)%
Basic 1,167 0 1,265 8 {5 7)%

Actual shares cutstanding at December 31, 2011 and 2010 were
1,163 2 mihon and 1,228 0 million, respectively The average number
of common shares outstanding assuming dilution was 73 6 million
shares lower in 2011 versus 2010 The decrease was prmarily the
result of the common stock repurchase program See note L, “Equity
Activity” on page 110 for additronal information regarding comman
stock activities Also see note P_“Earnings Per Share of Common

Stock.” on page 117

Financial Position
Dynamics
At December 31, 2011, the company's balance sheet and quidity
positions remain strong and are well positioned to support the
company’s long-term objectives Cash and cash equivalents at
year end was $11,922 million, an increase of $271 million from the
prior year-end pasion Dunng the year, the campany contnued
to manage its Investment portfolio to mest its capital preservation
and liguidity bbjectwes, which resulted in a shift to higher rated
Institutions At year end, a significant portion of the investment
portfolo was invested in U S sovereign instruments with no holdings
of European sovereign debt securities

Total debt of $31,320 milion increased $2,695 million from
the prior year-end level The commercial paper balance at
December 31, 2011 was $2,300 millon, an increase of $1,156 millon
from the prior year Within total debt, $23,332 15 In support of the
Global Financing business which s leveraged ata 72to 1ratio The
company continues to have substantial flexibility in the market
During 2011, the company completed bond 1ssuances totaling
$4,850 mullion, with terms ranging from three to ten years and priced
from 0 875 to 2 90 percent depending on the matunty In addimon,
the company renewed 1ts $10 bilion global credit facility for five
years, with 100 percent of the facility available cn a same day basis

Consistent wath accounting standards the company remeasures
the funded status of its retirement and postretirement plans at
December 31 At December 31, 2011, the overall net underfunded
posttion was $16,389 million, an increase of $2,654 million from
December 31, 2010 as the increase in the benefit cbligation due to
the reduction In discount rates more than offset the returns on plan
assets At year end, the company's qualified defined benefit plans
were well funded and ts cash requirements related to these plans
remain stable going-forward In 2011, the return on the US Personal
Pension Plan assets was 8 4 percent and the plan was 98 percent
funded Owverall, global asset retumns were 61 percent and the comparny’s
qualfied defined benefit plans worldwide were 96 percent funded

The company's qualified defined benefit plans do hold European
sovereign debt securities in therr trust funds See note S, *Retirement-
Related Benefits,” on page 129 for additional information

Duning 201, the company generated $19,846 million In cash from
operatrons, an increase of $298 million compared to 2010 in addition,
the company generated $16,604 mithon in free cash flow in 2011, an
increase of $305 milion over the prior year See pages 56 and 57
for additional imformation on free cash flow The company returned
$18,519 million to shareholders in 2011, with $15,046 million in share
repurchases and $3,473 million In dividends In 2011, the company
repurchased approximately 89 millvon shares and had $8 7 bilion
remaiwng N share repurchase authorization at year end The
company has consistently generated strong cash from operations
and strong free cash flow and this permits the company to invest
and deploy capital to areas with the most attractive long-term
opportunities

The assets and debt associated with the Global Financing
business are a significant part of the company’s financial position
The financial position amounts appearing on page 72 are the
consolidated amounts including Global Financing The amounts
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appearing in the separate Global Financing section, beginning on
page 63, are supplementary data presented to facilitate an
understanding of the Global Financing business

Working Capttal

{% In muions)

At December 31 2011 2010
Current assets $50 928 $48.116
Current labilites 42 123 40,562
Working capital $ 8 BOS $ 7 554
Current ratio 1211 1191

Working capital iIncreased $1,251 million from the year-end 2010
position The key changes are descrnbed below

Current assets increased $2,812 millkon ($3,734 mulion adjusted
for currency), due to

» An:ncrease of $1,337 mihon ($1,584 milkon adjusted
for currency) in short-term recevables due to
— Higher volumes of financing recevables of $644 million
($789 miilion adjusted for currency) driven by customner
loans and inventory financing, and
— Higher software sales volumes of approximately
$300 mifhon, and
— Reclasses of approxmately $300 milhion of long-term
other receivables to reflect matunity dates
« Anincrease of $1,022 milhon {$1,181 milion adjusted for
currency) In prepaid expenses and other current assets
primarily due to
— Anincrease of $387 milion in collateral receved related
to derivatives valuations, and
— Anincrease of $326 millien In Income taxes primarily driven
by tax payments nthe US|, and
— Anincrease of $310 million in various prepaid expenses, and
e Anincrease of $1,262 milion ($1,755 milkon adjusted
for currency) in cash and cash equivalents (see the following
cash flow analysis}, partially offset by
» Adecline of $990 milion in marketable secunties due
to sales of securities during 2011

Current labihties increased $1,561 milkon (1,772 millon adjusted for
currency) as aresult of

» Anincrease in short-term debt of $1,685 million primarity
driven by
— New debt 1ssuances of $8,123 million including commercial
paper, and
- Reclasses of $4,325 milllon from long-term to short-term
debt to reflect matunty dates, partiatly offset by
— Payments of $8,910 million
» Anincrease in accounts payable of $713 milion {$766 million
adjusted for currency) reflecting higher year-end activity as
well as the increase in collateral related to dervatives, and

« Anincrease In deferred incorme of $617 milion ($638 million
adusted for currency) driven by the software business,
including acquisitians, partially offset by

e A decrease of $903 millkon in taxes payable prmarly due
to tax payments in the U S during 2011, and

« Adecrease in other accrued expenses and hakxbies of
$621 mithon ($473 million adjusted for currency) prmarly
due to denvatives valuations

Cash Flow

The company's cash fiow from operating, investing and financing
activities, as reflected in the Consolidated Statement of Cash Fiows
onpage 73, 1s summarized In the table below These amounts include
the cash flows associated with the Globat Financing business

{8 n miflions)

For the year ended December 3t 2011 2010
Net cash provided by/(used in) o
_ Operating activities B 519846 $19,548
Investing actvities _ .. lA396) (8,507
Financing activities (13,696) {12,429)

Effect of exchange rate changes
©n cash and cash equivalents {493) {135
Net change in cash and cash equivalents $ 1262 5 (1522

Net cash from operating activities increased by $288 milion in 2011
as compared to 2010 drven by the following key factors

» Improved net mcome of $1,022 millen, and
* Adecrease In net gans on asset sales of $459 million, driven
by the PLM transaction gain in 2010, partially offset by
s Adecrease n cash provided by operating assets and liabilities
of $1,162 miliion due to
- Higher net tax payments of approximately $900 milion
during 2011 compared to 2010, and
- A decrease In cash provided by receivables of $790 million
as a result of higher volumes in 2011, partially offset by
— A decrease in cash used related to retirement-related plans
of $196 million, primarily driven by lower non-U S employer
funding in 2011, and
— A decrease in cash used for workforce rebalancing actvities
of $278 milion during 2011 compared to 2010

Net cash used in investing activities decreased $4,111 mition due to
a decrease in cash used for acquisihons

Net cash used in financing activities increased $1,267 million as
a result of

= Anet decrease of $991 million in cash from common
stock transactions, and

* Anincrease in dividends paid of $296 milion m 201
compared to 2010, partialiy offset by

»  Adecrease in common stock repurchases of $329 mition
In 2011 compared to 2010
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Noncurrent Assets and Liabihties

{$ In millions)

At December 31 201 2010
Nencurrent assets _ ce eme e e ..565805  $65,335
Long-term debt $22,857  $21846
Noncurrent labiltes {excluding debt} 531,217 $27 871

The increase In noncurrent assets of $168 million {$902 million
adjusted for currency) was driven by

* Anincrease of $1,077 million in goodwill {$1,282 millon
adjusted for currency) driven by acquisitions dunng 2011, and

» Anincrease of $282 milion in deferred taxes ($256 milon
ad|usted for currency) primarily driven by retirement related
actwty, parhally offset by

= Anincrease of $227 milkon ($330 millicn adjusted
for currency) in long-term financing receivables driven
by increased volumes, and

* Adecrease of $883 million ($753 million adjusted for currency)
minvestments and sundry assets driven by net asset sales of
$395 milhon during 2011 as well as a reclass to short-term
other recevables of approximately $300 million to reflect
maturity dates, and

= Adecrease of $225 milion ($66 milion adjusted
for currency) in prepaid pension assets resulting from
pension remeasurerments, and

+ Adecrease of $214 milion in property, plant and equipment
{net) primarily due to currency

Long-term debt mcreased by $1,011 miflion due to new debt issuances
of $5,194 million, partally offset by reclasses of $4,325 milkon to
short-term debt as certain instruments approach matunty

Other noncurrent labilities, excluding debt, increased $3,346 milkon
{$3,544 milion adjusted for currency) primarily driven by

+ Anncrease in retrement and nonpension benefit obligations
of $2,396 million ($2,488 million adjusted for currency)
prnimarnly driven by remeasurements inthe US,
the United Kingdom and Japan, and

» Anincrease of $770 milion ($834 million adjusted for
currency) In other noncurrent habilities primartly due to an
increase in tax related habilities

Debt

The company’s funding requirements are continually monitored and
strategies are executed to manage the overalt asset and hability
protile Additonally, the company mamtains sufficient flexibility to
access global funding sources as needed

(8 in miflions)

Al Dacember 31 204 2010

Total company debt 531,320 $28 624

Total Glebal Financing segment debt $23,332 $22,823
Debttosupportexternalclents, _ 20,051 19,583
Debt to support internal chents 3,20 3.240

Global Financing provides financing predeminantly for the company’s
external client assets, as well as for assets under contract by other
IBM units These assets, pnimarily for Global Services, generate
long-term, stable revenue streams similar to the Global Financing
asset portfoho Based on ther attributes, these Global Services
assets are leveraged with the balance of the Global Financing asset
base The debt analysts above 1s further detailed in the Global
Fiancing section on pages 66 and 67

Given the significant leverage, the company presents a debt-to-
capitalization ratio which excludes Global Financing debt and equity
as management beleves this 1s more representative of the company's
core business operations This rabo can vary from period to perod
as the company manages its global cash and debt positions

“Core” debt-to-capitalization ratio {exchuding Global Financing
debt and equity) was 32 0 percent at December 31, 2011 compared
to 22 6 percent at December 31, 2010 The increase was primarily
driven by an increase in non-Global Financing debt of $2,186 million
and by a decrease In non-Global Financing equity of $2,929 milkon
from December 31, 2010 balances

Consolidated debt-to-capitalization ratio at December 31, 2011
was 60 7 percent versus 55 3 percent at Decermber 31, 2010

Equity

Total equity decreased by $2,937 mullion as a resuit of an increase in
treasury stock of $14,803 miflion, driven by common stock repurchases
n 2011, a igher pensicn adustment of $2,448 million reflecting the
impact of pension remeasurements as well as increased foreign
currency translation adjustments of $711 million, partally offset by
an increase in retained earnings of $12,326 millon, and an increase
of $2,711 million in common stock primarily driven by stock option
exercises and stock based compensation
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GAAP Reconciliation

The tables below provide a reconciliation of the company’s income statement results as reported under GAAP to its operating earnings
presentation which 1s a non-GAAP measure The company’s calculation of operating earnings, as presented, may differ from similarly tiled
measures reported by other companies Please refer to the “Operating {(non-GAAP) Earnings” sechion on page 18 for the company’s rationale

for presenting operating earnings information

(% 1n milions excegt per share amaunts)

Acquisition Ratrement
related related Operating

For the year ended Dacember 31, 20H. GAAP Adjusiments Adrasiments {non GAARY
Gross profit $50,138 S 341 S 2 $50,481
Groggprofimangn _ L.869 O3pis _ __00pts _ 472%
SGBA e e e e e o ———02884 5309} S (13 S23272
RODEE 6,258 0 88 &,345
Other incomgjang expensa R L. oy, 25 .. _6o_ . . @5
Total expense and other (income) o 29,135 {324) 74 28,675
Pra-tax income 21,003 675 {72} 24,605
Pra-tax incoma margin . o - - . 196, 06pts Qupts = 202%
Prowvision for income taxes™ _ L . . 55148 S179 S (40 $ 5,267
Effective tax rate B _ 245 0ipts {0 1)pts 24 5%
Netincome e e e U 1.1 - SRR .- SN .~ SO ) |1}
Nat income margin 14 8-, 0 5pts {0 G)pts 15 3%
Diluted earnings per share $ 1306 $0 41 S{0 03) 5 1344

* The tax impact on operating (non-GAAP) pre tax income I calcufated under the same accounting principles appfied to the GAAP pre-tax ncome which employs an annual

effective tax rate method 10 the results

{3 in milhons excep! per shars amounts)

Acquesttion- Retrerment

related related Operating
For the year ended D ber 31, 2010 GAAP Adustments Adjustrments {non-GAAm
Gross profit $46,014 § 260 $ (204) $46.070
Grosgprofitmargn e 46 1% O 3pts ___023pts 48 1%
SGEA $21,837 ${204) $ B4 $21,628
RD&E 6026 0 126 6,152
Other neome) endexpense e SO0 9N
Total expense and other (income) 26,291 (208} 210 26,202
Pre-tax ncome 19.723 558 (414) 19,867
Pra-tax income margin _ . e _ 197% _ _ _ Oépts _ O4)pts __199%
Provision for income taxes® $ 4890 $116 $ {162) $ 4.844
Effective tax rate B R 24 8% @ )pts O3)pts __ 24 4%
Net ncome B . B oL . 514,833 _ $443 $ (253) $15023
Net mcome margin o o 14 9% O4dpts (0 3pts__ 150%
Diluted earnings per share $ 1152 $0 34 $[0 20} § 1167

* The tax mpact on operating {non-GAAP) pre-tax Income i$ calculated under the same accounting principles applied to the GAAP pre-tax income which employs an annual

affective tax rate method 1o the results.
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Consolidated Fourth-Quarter Results

{8 and shares in mullions except per share amounts)

Yr to-Yr
Percent/
Margin
For the fourth quaarter 20n 2010 Change
Revenue $29486  $20019 = 16%
Gross profit margn 49 9% 48 0% 0 89pts
lotalexpenseand otherincome - $ 7,448 $ 727 24%
Tota! expense and other
income-to-revenue ratio 25 3°. 251% 02pts
income before ncometaxes S 7,074 _$ 6986  __ 46%
Provision for sncome taxes 1,784 1,698 51%
Net Income $ 5490 $ 5257 44%
Netincomme margn _ 186%  181%_ __ 05pts
Earnings per share of common stock
Assuming dilution S 462 $ 418 10 5%
Weighted average sharesoutstanding ..
Assuming dilution 11887 12584 {5 5/%

* 14 percent adjusted for currency

The following table provides the company’s cperating (non-GAAP)
earnings for the fourth quarter of 2011 and 2010

(% in milions except per sharm amounts)

Yrtoyr
Percent
For the fourth quarter 2011 2010 Change
Netincome as reported 55,490 §5 257 44%
Non-operating adjustments (netoftax) e e oo o
.. Acquisnion-related charges 119 170 (30 Q)
Non-oparating retirement-related
costs/(income) {12) (74) (840
Operang {(non-GAAP) earnings* S5 597 $5,354 4 5%
Dituted operating (non GAAP)
24arnings par share S4n $ 425 10 8%

.

See page 43 for a more detalled reconciliation of net Incoma to operating earnings

Snapshot
In the fourth quarter of 204, the company grew revenue, expanded
gross, pre-tax and net ncome margins and delivered earnings per
share of $4 62, up 10 5 percent as reported, and $4 71, up 10 8 percent
on an operating (non-GAAP) basis The company generated $71billion
In cash from operations in the quarter enabling shareholder returns of
$4 5 bifion in common stock repurchases and dvidends in the period
The company's performance in the fourth quarter was driven by
several factors The Software segment continued its momentum
with performance reflecting both strong demand for its offerings
and solid sales execution Software revenue increased 8 7 percent
{9 percent adjusted for currency) driven by strong growth in the focus
areas of Smarter Commerce, business analytics and storage solutions
Softwarg pre-tax Income increased 12.5 percent Global Services
delivered strong margin and profit growth, with pre-tax income up
16 9 percent Total Global Services revenue growth was again led

by the growth markets which were up 11 4 percent (13 percert adjusted
for currency) Within Systems and Technology, Power Systems
delivered revenue growth of 6 3 percent {6 percent adjusted for
currency) while continuing to drive competitive displacerments and
extend its share gains n Unix In the fourth quarter, each of the
company’s 16 brands gained or held share, with the exception of
Systemn z, which had the largest revenue growthin 1he last decade
i the fourth quarter of 2010 The company estmates that System 2
lost share in the fourth quarter, primanly to Power Systems

The company’s ongoing focus on productvity together with the
relative strength of the Software business drove strong margin
performance in the fourth quarter of 2011 The consolidated gross
profit margin increased O 9 points versus the fourth quarter of 2010
to 49 9 percent The operating {non-GAAP) gross margin increased
11 points to 50 2 percent The improvement was driven by margin
expanston In both services segments, and an improved segment
mix due to the Software revenue performance

Total expense and other ncome increased 2 4 parcent in the
fourth quarter compared to the prior year Total operating (non-GAAP)
expense and other income increased 21 percent compared to the
fourth quarter of 2010 The year-to-year dnivers for both categones
were approximately

s Acquisitions® 1point
« Base expense 1 point

* Includes ecquisitions complated in prior 12-rmonth period

Pre-tax ncome grew 4 6 percent and the pre-tax margin was
247 percent, an increase of 0 7 points versus the fourth quarter of
2010 Netincome increased 4 4 percent and the net income margn
of 18 6 percent improved O 5 points year to year The effective tax rate
for the fourth quarter was 24 5 percent, compared with 24 4 percent
in the prior year Operating (non-GAAP) pre-tax income grew
5 6 percent and the operating {non-GAAP) pre-tax margin was
251 percent, an increase of 0 9 poirts versus the prior year Cperating
{non-GAAP) earnings increased 4 5 percent and the operating (non-
GAAP) earnings margin of 19 0 percent increased 0 5 points versus
the prior year The operating {(non-GAAP) effective tax rate was
24 4 percent versus 23 7 percant In the fourth quarter of 2010

Diluted earrungs per share improved 10 & percent reflecting the
growthn net ncome and the benefits of the common stock repurchase
program In the fourth quarter, the company repurchased 19 mifion
shares of its comman stock Diduted earnings per share of $4 62
increased $0 44 from the prior year Operating (non-GAAP) diluted
earnings per share of $4 71increased $O 46 versus the fourth guarter
of 2010 driven by the foliowing factors

» Revenue increase at actuairates  $0 07
* Margin expansion $013
+ Common stock repurchases $0 26

Graoss margin expansion drove $019 of operating (non-GAAP)
earnings per share growth, partaily offset by a $0 02 per share
impact from expense and a $0 04 per share impact from the higher
tax rate Overall, margmn expansion contributed $0 13 of improvement
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Segment Details

The following is an anatysis of the fourth quarter of 2011 versus the fourth quarter of 2010 reportable segment external revenue and gross
margin resufts Segment pre-tax income includes transactions between the segments that are intended to reflect an arm’s-length transfer

price and excludes certan unallccated corporate items

{3 1n mulkons)
Yr to-Yr ¥r to ¥r
Percent/  Percent Change
Margin Adjusted for
For the fourth quarter 201 2010 Change Currency
Revenue e Lo ~ _ . . . ~ ~ -
Global Technology Services $10 452 $10 165 28% 28%
JGressmamgn L e .- 366% .345% 2P .
Gtobal Business Services _ o oL . 4877 4758 _25% 1%
Gross margin 28 3% 28 0% 13pts
Software - 7,648 030 BT% _ B%
Gross margin R . L . e . . B98Y% . B896%_ _ ___O2pts
Systerns and Technology 5803 6,277 (7 6)% T 7%
L Grosseargn L. .. __ fes.  436% ___ @upss
Globalfinaneng s 628 (129% ____(126%
Gross margm 49 7%, 51 8% (2 1)pts
U .- RN, -2 BN 3.5 ST K .
Gross margin {11 0)% 103% (21 3)pts
Total consolidated revenug $29,486 $29,.019 1 6% 14%
Total consolidated gross profit 514,722 $14,227 35%
Total consoldated gressmargin 49 9% 49 0% O8pts.
Non-operating adjustments
__Amortzation of acquired mtangible assets 81 82 (12)%
. Acqustion-reiated charges 0 0 00% .
Retrement-related costs/(iIncomea) (1G} (60) (82 9)%
Operating (non-GAAFP) gross profit 514,703 $14,249 38%
Operating {(non-GAAF) gross margin 50 2% 49 1% 11pts

* Reclassified 10 conform with 2011 presentation

Global Services

The Glebal Services segments, Global Technology Services (GTS)
and Global Business Serwices {GBS) delivered $15,329 million of
revenue in the fourth quarter, an increase of 27 percent (2 percent
adjusted for currency) year to year Overall revenue growth in the
quarter was driven by the growth markets with reventue up 114 percent
(13 percent adjusted for currency} wath double-digit constant currency
revenue growth in the outsourcing, fransactional and maintenance
businesses Total outsourcing revenue of $7,210 rmillion increased
3 6 percent {3 percent adjusted for currency) and total transactional
revenue of $6,246 milllon increased 2 9 percent (2 percent adusted
for currency) year over year Total Global Services segment pre-tax
income was $2,771 million, an increase of 16 9 percent year to year
The combined pre-tax margin smproved 2 1 points year to year to
17 5 percent

Global Technology Services ravenue Increased 2 8 percent
(3 percent adjusted for currency} to $10,452 milion in the fourth
guarter versus the samea period in 2010 Adjusted for currency,
the fourth-quarter revenue growth rate was consistent with the
growth rate In the third quarter GTS Qutsourcing revenue increased
3 4 percent (3 percent adjusted for currency) in the fourth quarter
and gained share Integrated Technology Services {ITS) revenue
increased 4 6 percent (4 percent adiusted for currency) n the fourth
quarter ITS had strong performance in the growth markets, driven
by the benefits of geographic expansion in offerings such as Business
Continuity and Restliency Services GTS gross profit Increased
9 0 percent in the fourth quarter compared to the same period In
2010 and the gross profit marginimproved 2 1 points with improvement
in all hnes of business GTS fourth-quarter 2011 pre-tax income
increased 18 O percent to $1,930 miliion with the pre-tax margn
expanding 2 3 points to 18 O percent, versus the prior year, driven
by productivity and cost management, along with a mix into the
higher margin growth markets
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Global Business Services revenue ingreased 2 § percent
{2 percent adjusted for currency) to $4,877 milion in the fourth quarter
of 2011 Application Cutsourcing revenue increased 4 7 percent (4
percent adyiusted for currency), led by strong performance in the
growth markets Consultng and Systems Integration had revenue
growth in the fourth quarter of 19 percent (1 percent adjusted for
currency), an improved constant currency growth rate compared to
the third guarter Overall GBS revenue contnued to be mpacted by
Japan and the Public Sector, total GBS revenue, excluding Japan
and the Public sector, increased 8 1 percent (8 percent adjusted for
currency) in the fourth quarter of 2011 Although, revenue declines
in Japan and the Public Sector continued in the fourth quarter,
performance in the Public Sector improved compared to the prior
two quarters of 2011 GBS gross profit increased 7 2 percent in the
fourth quarter and gross profit margin expanded 1 3 points versus
the prior year GBS segment pre-tax Income Increased 14 4 percent
to $841 million in the fourth quarter of 2011 with pre-tax margin
expanding 18 paints to 16 6 percent

Software

Software revenue increased 8 7 percent (8 percent adjusted for
currency) to $7,648 million in the fourth quarter Key branded
middleware revenue increased 11 3 percent (11 percent adjusted for
currency) year to year This was the fifth consecutive quarter of
double-digit revenue growth in key branded middieware atong with
17 consecutive quarters of share gains as the business continues to
extend its leadership in the middieware market WebSphere revenue
Increased 214 percent (21 percent adjusted for currency) in the
fourth gquarter of 2011 year to year and gained share Each of
WebSphere's five product areas had revenue growth of 10 percent
or higher in the fourth quarter including the Smarter Commerce
offerings, which were up over 25 percent Information Management
revenue Increased 87 percent (9 percent adjusted for currency) in
the fourth quarter year to year and gained share Distrbuted Database
software revenue grew double digits in the fourth quarter, led by
performance from the Netezza offerings which were up nearly 70
percent Revenue from business analytics software offerings, most
of which are part of Information Management, continued to outpace
the market with double-cigit growth in the fourth quarter The
acquisition of Algorithmics in the fourth quarter of 2011 further
strengthens the business analytics and optimization offernings by
providing risk analytics capabihities that belp customers make
informed decisions Tivoll revenue increased 13 7 percent {14 percent
adjusted for currency) year over year in the fourth quarter and gained
share, driven by Storage software growth of 30 percent (30 percent
adjusted for currency) In addsition, Securnty soluttons had revenue
growth of 15 percent (15 percent adjusted for currency) With the
recent acquisition of Q1 Labs, the company can now offer clients a
new level of inteligence arcund security to enable them to better
predict, prevent and detect all types of security threats Rat:onal
revenue Increased 3 7 percent (4 percent adjusted for currency) in
the fourth quarter and gained share, drtven by strang performance
in Telelogic Software gross profit increased 8 9 percent and the

gross profit margin expanded 0 2 points Scftware delivered segment
pre-tax income of $3,710 milion in the fourth quarter, a growth of
12 5 percent compared to the fourth quarter of 2010, with a pre-tax
margin of 437 percent, up 14 pomnts

Systems and Technology

Systermns and Technology revenue decreased 7 6 percent (8 percent
adjusted for currency) to $5,803 million in the fourth quarter versus
the same period In 2010 The year-to-year decline reflects very strong
growth in the fourth quarter of 2010 of over 20 percent, driven by
mainframe growth of neardy 70 percent System z revenue decreased
312 percent (31 percent adjusted for currency) and MIPS (mulions
of instructions per second) shipments decreased 4 percent year 1o
year The decline in revenue was a result of the strong fourth guarter
of 2010 when the company successfully launched its zEnterprise
196 server Power Systams revenue increased 6 3 percent (6 percent
adjusted for currency) and ganed share This reflected 15 consecutive
quarters of share gans in Power Systems In the fourth guarter, the
company had over 350 competitive displacements resulting in over
$350 million of business, approximately 60 percent of this business
was from Hewlett Packard with most of the balance coming from
Oracle/Sun This was the strongest quarter of competitive
displacements since the company started tracking this actity In
2006 System x revenue decreased 2 § percent (3 percent adjusted
for currency) tn the fourth quarter year to year Storage revenue
decreased 12 percent (1 percent adjusted for currency) in the fourth
quarter of 2011 versus the comparable penod in 2010 Total disk
revenue decreased 1 percent (1 percent adjusted for currency) and
tape revenue decreased 4 percent (4 percent adjusted for currency)
in the fourth quarter When combined with the storage software
revenue growth of 30 percent, total storage revenue increased
5 percent in the fourth quarter compared te the prior year Retail
Stores Sclutions revenue increased 8 9 percent (2 percent adjusted
for currency) in the fourth quarter and continued to gain share
Systems and Technology gross margin decreased 31 points versus
the prior year driven primarily by product mix {approximately 2 points)
Systems and Technology's pre-tax income decreased 32 6 percent
to $790 million i the fourth quarter and pre-tax margin decreased
4 8 points to 13 2 percent

Global Financing

Global Financing revenue of $548 milion decreased 12 9 percent
(13 percent adjusted for currency), driven pnmarily by a decrease in
used equipment sales revenue The Global Financing segment
fourth-quarter pre-tax income decreased 91 percent to $514 million
and the pre-tax margin declined 0 8 points to 461 percent

H
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Geographic Revenue

Total geographic revenue increased 19 percent (2 percent adjusted
for currency) to $28,772 muilion in the fourth guarter of 2011 compared
to the prior year Revenue in the major markets increased 0 5 percent
{flat adjusted for currency) in the fourth quarter In North Amenca,
revenue performance was led by Canada which was up 11 6 percent
(13 percent adjusted for currency) The US was up 11 percent
compared to a strong fourth quarter of 2010, which increased
10 percent driven by mainframe performance In Europe, the revenue
growth rate at constant currency improved sequentially compared
to the third quarter of 2011 Germany returned to growth in the
quarter with revenue up 2 9 percent (4 percent adjusted for currency)
Revenue increased in Spain 8 2 percent (9 percent adjusted for
currency) and in the UK 8 4 percent (8 percent adjusted for currency)
This was the fifth and ninth consecutive quarters of constant
currency revenue growth in Span and the UK, respectively Growth
markets revenue increased 71 percent (8 percent adjusted for
currency} In the fourth quarter and outpaced growth in the major
rmarkets by 8 pants on a constant currency basis The growth markets
gained 4 poirts of share in the fourth quarter Revenue performance
was broad based with double-digit constant currency revenue growth
in 40 growth market countries [n the BRIC countries, combined
revenye Increased 9 6 percent (11 percent adjusted for currency)

Expense
(3 in millions)
¥r to-Yr
Percent/
Margin
For the fourth quarter 2011 2010 Change
Total consolidated expense
__and other (income) 87448 %7 271 24%
Non-operating agjustments - ~
Arnortization of acquired
__Intangible assets 72) (75) 42
__Acquision-related charges 03 _ 23} _ 42 8)
Non-operating retirement-related
(costs)income 25 61 58 9
Total operating {(non-GAAP)
expense and other (income) $7 388 $7.235 21%
Total consoldated
gxpense-to-revenus ratic 25 3% 251% 0 2pts

Operating (non-GAAP)

expense-to-revenug ratio 25 1% 24 9% 0 1pts

Total expense and other income increased 2 4 percent y‘ear to
year with an expense-to-revenue-ratio of 25 3 percent compared
to 251 percent in the fourth quarter of 2010 The increase In total
expense and other income was primarily driven by the company’s
acquisibions over the past 12 months (1 point) and higher base
expense (1 point} There was effectively no year-to-year impact
from the combination of currency translation and hedging dynamics
in the fourth quarter Within Selling, general and administrative
expense, accounts recevable provisions increased approximately
$55 million m the fourth quarter of 2011 year to year due to higher
receivables batances and the European credit environment The
accounts recevable reserve coverage at December 31, 201 decreased
30 basis points compared to December 31, 2010, and decreased
20 basis points since September 2011

Cash Flow

The company generated $7,097 million in cash flow from operations,
an increase of $302 million compared to the fourth quarter of 2010,
primarily driven by higher net income Net cash used in investing
activities of $3,505 million decreased $577 million, primarnily due
to less cash used for acquisitions ($1,340 million), partially offset
by a net reduction of $762 million from purchases and sales of
rmarketable secunties and other Investments in 2011 versus 2010 Net
cash used In financing activities of $2,810 mullion increased $950
million compared to the prior year, primarily due to a net decrease
in cash from common stock transactions {$704 milion}

In the fourth quarter, the company repurchased 19 milion shares
of its common stock The weighted-average nurmber of diluted common
shares outstanding in the fourth quarter of 2011 was 1,188 7 million
compared with 1,258 4 million in the fourth quarter of 2010
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The tables below provide a reconcihation of the company's income statement results as reported under GAAP to its operating earnings
presentation which 1s a non-GAAP measure The company's calculation of operating earnings, as presented, may differ from similarly ttled
measures reported by other compantes Please refer to the “Operating (non-GAAP) Earmings” section on page 18 for the company's rationale

for presenting operating earnings information

(3 1in millons)
Acquisiion- Retlrerment-

related retatad Operating
For the fourth quarter 201 GAAP Adjustments Adjustments [non-GAAP)
Gross profit 514,722 s 81 s (10} $14 793
Gross profit margin . 49 9%, _.B3pts 0%pis 50 2%
SG&A R .. o . e 5607 $ B2 s 2 85906
RD&E 1,555 0 23 1,578
Other(ncomelandaxpense | (44]) 2 e 9 (28)
Total expense and other (income) 7,448 (85) 25 7,308
Pre-tax income 7,274 166 {35) 7 405
Pretaxwncomermangn s e e 28T O6pts (O7)pls | 251%
Provision for ncome taxes* 5 1,784 $ 47 S (24) $ 1,808
Effective tax rate o 245% ___Gpts _  (02pts  2d44%
Netwcome . L . e e .. S 5480  S1i9 L5402 $ 6,597
Net income margin 18 6% G dpls (0 Gipts 19 0%
Diluted earrings per share S 462 5010 S0 01) S a4l

" The 1ax impact on operating (non GAAP) pre tax ncoms Is calculated under the same accounting principles applied to the GAAP pre-tax income which employs an annual

effactive tax rate method to the resuits

(S In milligns)
Acguisition- Retirement-

related related Operating
For the fourth quarter 2010+ GAAP Adjustments Adjustments {non-GAAP)
Gross profit $14,227 $ 82 $ (60} $14,249
Gross profit margin e 490% _ ___ O3pts {0 2)pts 49 1%
SG8A $ 5951 $ (95) $ 28 $ 5884
RDSE o o 1578 0 .33 18Nt
Other (income) and expense 42) 2) o (44}
Total expense and other (income) 7,271 98) 51 7 235
Pre-taxincome et e v — oo oo B8S6 B0 _(12Y) o5
Pre-tax mcome margin 24 0% 0 6pts (0 4)pts 24 2%
Provision for Income taxes” $ 1,608 $ 10 $ @47 8§ 1661
Effective tax rate e e e e _.R84% _O5pPIS_ O3PS 237%
Net income $ 5257 $170 g [74) $ 5354
Net mcome margin L N B 181% O6pts_ 03pts _ 18 5%
Diluted earnings per share $ 418 %0 14 ${0 08) $ 425

* The tax impact on opérating (non GAAP) pre tax income g caleulated under the same accounting principles applied to the GAAP pre-tax income which employs an annual

sffective tax rata method to the results
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Prior Year in Review

The “Prior Year in Review” sectiocn provides a summary of the
company's financial performance in 2010 as compared 0 2009
The 2010 and 2009 segment results and performance have been
reclassified to reflect operating earnings, consistent with the
company's current management and measurement system as
described on page 18 For a detalled discussion of prior year
performance, see the 2010 Annuat Report

($ and shares in miiong except per share amounts)

Yr to-Yr
Percent/
Margin
For the year anded Decomber 31 2010 2009 Change
Revenus L $ 99870 $ 95758 43%"
Gross prohit margin 456 1% 45 7% 03pts
Total expense and other ncome. | § 26,291 § 25647 25%
Total expense and other
Income-to-revenue ratio 26 3% 26 8% {0 5)pts
Income before Income taxes $19723 § 18138 87%
Provision for income taxes 4,890 4,713 38%
Net Income $ 14,833 § 13,425 10 5%
Netncome margin 14 9% 14 0% 08pts

Earnings per sharg of cormmon stock
Agsuming dilutton $ 1152 $ 1001 151%
Weighted average shares oulsianding

__Assuming dilution 1,2874 13414 4 0)%
Agsets 5113452  $100,022 _ 41%
Ligbiibes® $00279 S 86,267 47%
Equity™ $ 23,172 § 22,755 18%

* 3 3 percent adjusted for currency
** Al December 31

The following table provides the company's operating (non-GAAP)
earnings for 2010 and 2009

{$ in millons excepl per share amountg)

Yr-to-Yr
Percent
For the year ended December 31 2010 2009 Change
Netmcomeasreported $14.833 813426 = 105%
Non-operating adjustments
{ret of tax) . . .
Acqustton-relatedcharges 443 857 243
Non-operating retrement- retated
costs/incomea) {253} __{330) (235
Operating (non-GAAP) earnings” $15,023 $13 452 11 7%
Diluted operating (non GAAP)
earnings per share $ 1167 $ 1003 16 4%

“ See page 54 for a more detalled reconcliiation of net income to operating earnings.

Snapshot

In 2010, the company delivered strong financial results highlighted
by improved revenue performance, continued margin expansion,
solid cash generation and record levels of net Income and earnings
per share The financial performance continued to be driven by
the strength of the company's global model and the results of the
strategic transformation of the business

For the year, the company delivered $1152 in dituted earnings
per share, an increase of 151 percent year {o year, and $11 67 In
diluted cperating {non-GAAP} earmings per share, an increase of
16 4 percent year to year As reported, this was the eighth consecutive
year of double-digit earnings per share growth In 2007, the compaity
developed a road map for growth with an earrings per share objective
for 2010 of $10 to $11 per share as reported With its performance
In 2010, the company exceeded the low end of its objective by $152
per share and the high end by $0 52 per share The resilience of the
business model enabled the company to exceed its objective even
while managing through the severe global recession

Total revenue for 2010 increased 4 3 percent (3 percent adjusted
for currency) compared to 2009, excluding the divestad Product
Lifecycle Management (PLM) operations, total revenus ncreased
4 9 percent (4 percent adjusted for currency) Revenue from the
growth markets increased 16 G percent {11 percent adjusted for
currency) with performance ted by the BRIC countries of Brazil,
Russia, India and China which increased 18 percent, adjusted for
currency Withun the growth markets, 40 countries grew revenue
at a double-digit rate at constant currency in 2010 compared to
the prior year Segment performance was driven by Systems and
Technology which increased 11 0 percent year to year (11 percent
adjusted for currency) and Software which increased 5 1 percent
(& percent adjusted for currency) Software revenue, excluding PLM,
grew 81 percent (8 percent adjusted for currency) Within Scttware,
performance was led by key branded middleware which increased
10 8 percent (11 percent adjusted for currency) compared to the
prior year Systems and Technology revenue growth was drniven by
new preduct introductions and very strong performance in the
growth markets which increased 20 percent (19 percent adjusted
for currency}

The gross profit margin increased 0 3 points versus 2009 to
461 percent Ths operating (non-GAAP) gross margin increased
0 5 paints to 46 1 percent The margin improvement reflected the
improved business mix, operating leverage and the continued
success of the company's productivity initiatives  This was the
seventh consecutive year of Improvement in the gross profit margin

in 2010, the company continued to invest for innovation and
growth These investments supported the introduction of the new
Systemn z mainframe and POWER? products and the success In the
performance of the growth markets The company also invested
$6 billion to acquire 17 companies, adding signiicant new capabilities
to support its growth iniatives
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Toetal expense and other ncoma iIncreased 2 5 percent in 2010
versus 2009 Total operating (non-GAAP) expense and other income
increased 2 3 percent in 2010 versus 2002 The year-to-year drivers
for both categones were approximately

+ Base expense (2} points
+ Currency” 1 pomnt
+ Acquisitions™ 3 points

* Reflecta impacts of translation and hedging programs
" Includes acquisitions compieted in prior 12-manth period

Pre-tax income grew 8 7 percent and the pre-tax margin was
18 7 percent, an mcrease of 0 8 points versus 2009 Net income
increased 10 5 percent reflecting an improvermnent in the tax rate
The effective tax rate was 24 8 percent compared with 26 0 percent
Inthe prior year Netincome margin improved 0 8 points to 14 9 percent
Operating (non-GAAP) pre-tax income increased 9 6 percent and
the operating (non-GAAP) pre-tax margin was 19 8 percent, an
increase of 10 points versus the prior year Operating (non-GAAP)
earnings increased 117 percent and the operating {(non-GAAP)
earnings margin of 15 0 percent increased 10 points versus the prior
year The operating (non-GAAP) effective tax rate was 24 4 percent
versus 25 8 percent in 20089

Diluted earnings per share improved 151 percent reflecting the
strong growth in net income and the benefits of the common stock
repurchase program In 2010, the company repurchased approximately
118 milion shares of its common stock Diluted earnings per share
of $1152 increased $1 51 from the prior year Operating (non-GAAP)
diluted earnings per share of $11 67 increased $164 versus 2009
driven by the following factors

* Revenue increase at actualrates 30 43
« Margin expansion $0 74
+ Commeoen stock repurchases $0 47

Workforce rabalancing charges were recorded in the first quarter
of 2009 and 2010 The PLM and Geodis divestiture transactions
were recorded In the first quarter of 2010 and the first quarter of
2009, respectively These transactions impacted the year-to-year
segment results for 2010 compared to 2009 Workforce rebalancing
charges were incurred N every segment while the PLM transaction
gain was recorded n Software and the Geodis transaction gain was
recorded in the following segments Global Technology Services
(£81 million), Global Business Services ($46 mulion), Scftware
($106 milhon) and Systems and Technology ($64 milion) In the
following segment analysis and in the Global Financing analysis
on pages 83 and 84, each segment’s pre-tax income and pre-tax
margin for 2010 and 2009 are presented on an as-reported basis
and on & basis normalized for these transactions in both years to
provide a better perspectnae of the underlying operational performance
of the segments
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Segment Details

The following 1s an analysis of the 2010 and 2009 reportable segment results The table below presents each reportable segment's external
revenue and gross margin resulis Segment pre-tax ncome includes transactions between the segments that are intended 1o reflect an
arm's length transfer pnce and excludes certain unaliocated corporate items

{% n millions)
Yr-to Yr Yr-to-Yr
Percent/  Percent Change
Margin Adjusted for
For the year ended December 31 20107 2009" Change Currency
Revenue
Global Technology Services - e e . _.%B5,201 L $37.847 e 23% . 07%
_Grossmargn —— M45% _ _S48%  ©3ps
Global Business Services 18,223 17,653 32% 16%
Grossmargn . o ... 280%___ 2T8% ___03ps
Software 22,485 21,396 51% 4 8%
__ Gross margin " . 87 9% 86 7% 12pts
SystemsandTechnology ... 17,873 16 180 110% 111%
Gross margin 381% 37 5% 0 7pts
Giobal Financing - ~ e e e e e _2_2§§ - _,2 @9,?,_" . 2g% _— (i‘..?)%
__Grossmargin___ 513% _475% 38pts
Other 750 B69 {13 )% (13 8%
Gross margin 8 6)% 17 5% (26 1)pts
Total consoldated revenue $99,870 $85,758 43% 33%
Fotal consolidated gross profit e $46,014 $43,785 51%
Total consolidated gross margin 46 1% 457% 03pts
Non-operating adjustments
Amortzation of acquired intangibles assets 260 204 27 5% .
__Acgusition-retated charges o] - NM
Retremeant-related costs/{income} (204) {258) {21 4%
Operating (non-GAAP) gross profit $46 070 $43,730 54%
Operating (hon-GAAP) gross margin 46 1% 457% 0 5pts

* Reclassified to conform with 2011 presentation
NM = Not meaningful
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Global Services

The Global Services segments, GTS and GBS, delivered combined
revenue of $56,424 milion, an Increase of 2 6 percent (1 percent
adjusted for currency) n 2010 when compared to 2008 Services
revenue performance at constant currency improved over the course
of 2010 led by the transaction businesses In the first and second
quarter, revenue, adjusted for currency, decreased 2 percent
and increased 1 percent, respectively, versus the prior year perods
in the third and fourth quarters, revenue increased 2 percent,
at constant currency, \n each period The estmated Global

Services backlog at actual currency rates was $142 bilion at
December 33, 2010, an increase of $5 billion ($4 billion adusted far
currency) compared to the December 31, 2000 level Backlog for
the outsourcing businesses at actual currency rates was estimated
to be $97 billon at December 31, 2010, an increase of $3 bilhon
{($1 billion adjusted for currency) from December 31, 2008 The
Giobal Services segments delivered a combined pre-tax profit of
$8,044 milion in 2010, a growth of 0 8 percent versus 2009 with &
pre-tax margn of 137 percent, down 0 2 points year to year

{$ n millions)
Yr to-¥r
Yr 1o-¥r  Percert Change
Percent Adjusted for
For thé year ended December 31 2010 2009 Change Currancy
Global Services external revenue 556,424 355,000 2 6% 10%
Global Technology Services $38,201 $37,347 2 3% 07%
Outsourcing 22241 21,620 29 11
integrated Technology SEOVICRS | | | L L en o o e e 874 8ITA_ {0.6) R
Maintenance 7,250 6,956 42 26
Global Business Services $18,223 $17 653 32% 16%
Giobal Technology Services revenue of $38,201 million increased {8 in milions}
2 3 percent (1 percent adjusted for currency) in 2010 versus 2009 ‘F’,’;rg:;,
The rate of year-to-year revenue growth, adjusted for currency, Margin
demonstrated an improving trend over the second haff of 2010 For the yaar endod Docember 31 20" 200" _ Change
In the first half, revenue, adiusted for currency, was flat versus the ~ Globai Services
prior year, and in the second half, revenue increased 1 percent, at Giobal Technology Services | | | L e e e
constant currency, compared to the prior year period GTS Qutsourcing __Extomalgrossproft ______ $13194  $13014  14%
revenue Increased 2 9 percent (1 percent adjusted for currency) in Extarmal gross profit mangin 34 5% 34 8% 0 3)pts
2010 with fairly consistent year-to-year growth, adjusted for currency, _ Preaxwcome . $5499 §5482  03%
throughout the year Revenue growth was fed by performance in the Pre-tax margin 139% 14 2% {0 Apts
growth markets, up 18 4 percent (B percent agjusted for currency), Pre-tax income — normalized™” $ 5771 $ 5516 46%
as the outsoureing offerngs help chents buid out therr IT nfrastructures " Pre-tax margin—normalized 146%  142% ___Odpts
Integrated Technology Services [ITS) revenue decreased 0 6 percent Global Business Services -
{2 percent adjusted for currency) In 2010 versus 2009 ITS revenue e it 108 7
performance, adjusted for currency, improved over the course of 2010 _Externalgrossproft________$5100 Bag02 L 42%
and the growth markets had good year-to-year growth, up 8 percent Exemalgpssproftmargn | 280%  278% _ O3pts
at constant currency, throughout 2010 Marrtenance revenus increased Pre-tax ineome $2546 § 2501 1 8%
42 percent (3 percent adusted for currency) compared to 2009 with Preaxmargn . _134%___135% @ Nek
consistent performance, at constant currency, throughout the year Pre-tax mcome —rormalized $ 2674 $ 2577 37%
Giobal Business Services ravenue mncreased 3 2 percent Prg-tax margin —normalized 14 1% 13 9% 0 2pts

(2 percent adjusted for currency) In 2010 and delvered growth
in outsourcing and 11 the transactional businesses consuiting
and systems integration Revenue growth was strongest in North
America, up 8 5 percent (7 percent adjusted for currency) and was
broad based across the Industry sectors with Financial Services,
Distnibutron, Industrial, Public and General Business each delvering
growth on a constant currency basis GBS had good performance
in its growth inmatives in 2010, with revenue and transactional
signings growth in the growth markets and revenue growth of over
35 percent i business analytics GBS added over 4,000 consultants
In 2010 and had over 7,800 dedicated consultants in its business
analytics practice at the end of 2010

* Rectagsified to confarm with 2011 presentation

** Exclydes $273 milion and $115 million of workiorce rebatancing charges i the first
quarter of 2010 ang 2009 respectively and {$81) million related to 1he Geodis galn
inthe first quarter of 2609

+ Excluges $128 miltion and $123 milhon of workforce rebatancing charges in the first
quarter of 2010 and 2009 raspectively and (546) milion related 1o the Geodls galh
in the first quarier of 2009
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GTS gross profit margin declined G 3 points to 34 5 percent in 2010
Segment pre-tax profit increased to $5,499 million with a pre-tax
margin of 13 8 percent On a normatzed basis, segment pre-tax
income In 2010 increased 4 6 percent and margin expanded 04 points
to 14 & percent reflecting the benefits from workforce rebalancing
and an improved revenue growth trend

GBS gross profit Increased 4 2 percent in 2010, In ine with
revenue growth Gross profit margin of 28 0 percent ingreased
G 3 points year to year Segment pre-tax profit improved 18 percent
to $2,546 mullion with a pre-tax margn decline of 01 points year over
year Ona normalized basis, segment pre-tax income in 2010 increased
3 7 percent with a pre-tax margin of 14 1 percent, an increase of
0 2 points compared to 2009 Throughout 2010, GBS improved
utilization-and delivery excelience, while continuing to invest in globally
integrated capabiiities and skills to support growth intiatives

Software
{$ In milkions)
Yr -to-Yr
Yr to Yr  Percent Change
Percent Adusted for
For the year ended December 31 2010 2009 Change Currency
Software external revenue $22,485 $21,306 51% 4 8%
Middleware N e . R . . 818,444 $17,125 7% _75%
___KeyBrandedMddleware e 13,876 __ 12524 108 _ 107
WebSphere _ R . . . B 208 206
Information Management . - - 86 83
Lotus __ e 3 el
_Twoll . . L - . . e e . I50 151
Rational I 48 48
__Other mddlewarg 4,568 4,602 07 (12
_ Operating systems _ B - o o 2,282 2163 55 _ 49
Qther 1,759 2,108 (16 6) 17Q)

Software revenue of $22,485 million increased 51 percent
(5 percent adjusted for currency} in 2010 compared to 2009 Adjusting
for the divested PLM operations, revenue grew at 81 percent (8 percent
adjusted for currency) in 2010 Software revenue growth continued
to be led by the key branded middleware products with strong
performance In the areas of business commerce, business analyics,
storage management and business integration Overall, the Software
business performed well in 2010, delivering over $9 bilion in segment
pre-tax profit, an increase of 12 percent as reported versus 2009
In addition, the company continued to invest In additional capabiliies
for the software business through both crganic investments and the
completion of 13 acquisitions in 2010

Key branded middleware revenue increased 10 8 percent
(11 percent adjusted for currency) and ganed market share agan in
2010 as the Software business extended its lead n the middleware
market Software revenue continued to mix to the faster growing
branded middleware which accounted for 62 percent of total software
revenue In 2010, an increase of 3 points from 2009 Adjusted for
currency, growth in 2010 was ted by growth in WebSphere and Toll
The Software business continued o benefit from the company’s
growth iniiatives, with business analytics revenue up year over year

WebSphere revenue increased 20 8 percent (21 percent adusted
for currency) in 2010 with strong performance throughout the year
Application Servers software had revenue growth of 12 0 percent

(12 percent adusted for currency} year to year Business Integration
software, which includes the ILOG, Sterling Commerce and Lombard
acqusttions, delivered strong revenue growth in 2010, up 33 6 percent
(33 percent adjusted for currency)

Informatton Management revenue mcreased 8 6 percent
(8 percent adjusted for currency} in 2010 versus the prior year
with revenue growth in both information Management solutions
and infrastructure offerings The software business contirued to
expand its Information Management capabilities through strategic
acquisiions, as the company completed the acquisitions of Netezza,
OpenPages, PSS Systems, Clarity Systems and Initiate Systems

Tivol revenue increased 15 O percent (15 percent adjusted for
currency) in 2010 when compared to 2009, with revenue growth in
each element of the Integrated Service management strategy —
Systems management, Security and Storage management Tivolr
provides clients an integrated approach to service management

Raticnal revenue increased 4 8 percent (5 percent adjusted for
currency) in 2010 versus 2009

Operating systems revenue increased 5 5 percent (5 percent
adjusted for currency) n 2010 compared to 2008, driven by Power
Systemns and System x related products

Other software revenue decreased 16 6 percent (17 percent
adjusted for currency) due primarily to the divestiture of the PLM
operations in the first quarter of 2010
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{8 1n milions)
YrtoYr
Percent/
Marmgin
For the year ended Decermber 31 2010" 2008" Change
Software
Externalgross profit $19,774 _$18,553 . 66%
External gross profit margin 87 9% 86 7% 12pts
... FrE 18X INCOme — L2 9466 & 8319 138%
Pre-tax mangin 37 2% 34 6% 27pis
_ _Pre-tax ncoma-normalized”* $ 8972 § 8229 3 0%
Prg-tax margin— normalized 35 3% 34 2% 11pts

* Reclassified to conform with 2011 presentation

** Excludes $38 mition and $17 million of workforce rebalancing charges in the first
quarter of 2010 and 2009 respectively and $(591) mutlion relatad to the PLM gainin
the first quarter of 2010 and ${106) milion related to the Geodis gain In the first quarter
of 2009

Software gross profit of $19,774 million in 2010 ncreased 6 6 percent
versus 2009, driven primarily by the yaar-to-year growth in software
revenue The improvement in the gross profit margin was pnimarly
driven by the divestiture of the lower gross margin PLM revenue
The Software segment delivered $9,468 million of pre-tax profit in
2010, an increase of $1,147 milicn, or 13 8 percent, versus 2009 The
segment pre-tax profit margin expanded 2 7 ponts to 372 percent
On a normalized basis, segment pre-tax Income increased 9 0 percent
and segment pre-tax margin expanded 11 points to 353 percent

Systems and Technology
{8 n milllons)
Yr to Yr
Yr-to-Yr  Percent Change
Parcent Adjusted for
For the year endod December 31 2010 200G Change Currency
Systems and Technology external revenue $17,673 316,180 110% 111%
_Systernz o L o __164% _ 1T 7%
Power Systemns 84 85
__Systemx 275 268
Storage 76 81
Retail Store Solutions 224 232
__ TomSysems — S -1 SR -1 -
Microelectronics OEM 24 8 247

Systems and Technology revenue Increased 110 percent {11 percent
adjusted for currency) in 2010 versus 2009 Revenue performance
was driven by double-digit growth in System z, System x, Micro-
electronics OEM, Storage disk products and Retail Store Solutions
Systems and Technology had very strong performance in the growth
markets, which grew 20 percent {19 percent adjusted for currency),
driven by the BRIC countnes which increased 29 percent {28 percent
adjusted for currency} The company ganed share in high-end servers,
while total servers and storage held share

System z revenue increased 16 4 percent (18 percent adjusted
for currency) in 2010 versus 2009 The increase in revenue was driven
by the new mainframe product introduced in the third quarter and
strong performance in both the growth markets and major markets
MIPS (milions of Instructions per second) shipments increased
22 percent n 2010 versus 2009 This performance reflected the
value and innovation System 2 delivers to the company's clients The
new z Enterprise 196 server delivers 40 percent more performance
than the prior generation mainframe, driven by the world’s fastest
processor which operates at more than & gigahertz

Power Systems revenue decreased B8 4 percent {8 percent
adjusted for currency) in 2010 versus 2009 Revenue Increased
in the fourth quarter 18 percent (3 percent adjusted for currency)
as the company benefited from new POWERY products which were
introduced late i the third quarter Although revenue declined in
2010, Power Systems gained share and continued to be the market
share leader The decrease in revenue was primarly driven by high-
end servers which dechined 26 percent (27 percent adjusted
for currency), partially offset by increases In midrange systems of
7 percent (7 percent adjusted for currency} and blades 7 percent
(7 percent adjusted for currency) The company had over 1,000
competitive unit displacements in 2010, which drove approximatety
$1 bilkon of business Approximately 60 percent of these wing came
from Qracle/Sur UNIX installed accounts and 30 percent from Hewlett-
Packard installed accounts In addition, the company also drove x86
consolidations to Power Systems, with over 100 competitive wins
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System x revenye increased 27 5 percent (27 percent adjusted
for currency) in 2010 versus 2009 In the growth markets, revenue
increased 30 percent versus the prior year High-end System x revenue
increased 22 parcent {21 percent adjusted for currency) i 2010
versus 2009, while total server revenue Increased 27 percent
(27 percent adjusted for currency) in 2010 versus 2009 System x
blades revenue increased 20 percent (20 percent adjusted for
currency) versus the prior year

Storage revenue increased 7 6 percent (8 percent adjusted for
currency) In 2010 versus the prior year In the growth markets, storage
revenue grew 21 percent year over year (21 percent adjusted for
currency) Total disk revenue increased 13 percent (14 percent
adjusted for currency) in 2010 versus 2008 Theincrease was driven
by strength in enterprise disk products which increased 16 4 percent
(17 percent adjusted for currency) led by XIV and DS8000 Through
December 2010, XIV added over 975 new customers since the
acquisition i the fourth quarter of 2007 Tape revenue declined
6 percent in 2010 versus 2009

Microelectronics OEM revenue increased 24 8 percent (25 percent
adjusted for currency)in 2010 versus 2009 The company had strong
revenue growth from 1ts OEM customers in networking, game
consoles and wireless communications

Retail Stores Solutions revenue increased 22 4 percent {23 percent
adjusted for currency) In 2010 versus 2009 as the company extended
1ts leadership position as a point of sale provider

Geographic Revenue

{8 n millions}
Yr-to ¥r
Percent/
Margin
For the year ended Decermnber 31 2010° 2009" Change
Systems and Technology
External gross profit _ 86856  $6,089 _ 130%
External gross profit margin 38 1% 37 5% 0 7pts
.. Pre:tax ncome _ S1e%s ;208 121%
Pre-tax margin o _T8% ___ 76% __02ps
Pre-tax income— normatized** $1,513 $1,238 222%
Pre-tax margin—normalized 81% 7 2% O Bpts

N

Reclassified ta conform with 2011 presentation

**Excludes $57 mitlion and $4 million of workforce rebalancing charges in the first
quarter of 2010 and 2009 respectively and ${64) milion refated to the Geodis gan
In the first quarter of 2009

The increase n external gross profit for 2010 versus 2009 was due
to improved operating leverage driven by higher revenue

Crverall gross margin ncreased 0 7 points in 2010 versus the prior
year The increase was primarily driven by improved margins in Micro-
elecironics (16 points), System x {0 8 ponts) and Storage (0 3 points),
partally offset by a decline due to revenue mix (09 points) and lower
margins In Power Systems (0 B potnts) and System z (0 5 points)

Systems and Technology's pre-tax income increased 22 2 percent
in 2010 on a normalized basis when compared to the prior year
Pre-tax margin increased 0 8 points n 2010 on a normalized basis
versus 2009

Global Financing
See pages 63 through 67 for an analysis of Global Financing’s

segment results.

In additron to the revenue presentation by reportable segment, the company also measures revenue perforrmance on a geographic basis
The following geographic, regional and country-specific revenue performance excludes OEM reverue, which is discussed separately below

($ In milions)

Yr-to ¥Yr

Yr 10-Yr  Percent Change

Percen Adwusted for

For tha year ended December 31 2010 2002 Change Curency
Total revenue $99 870 $95,758 43% 33%
Geographles - .. 597,080 $93,477 38% 28%

__Amencas - 42,044 40,184 48 35

Europe/Middle East/Africa . 31,866 32,583 (22) 08

AsaPaclic 23080 20710 e 47
Majormarkets . L e e e i . o 11% _a0%
Growthrmarkets . —_— . _160% 109%
228% 184%

BRIC countries

Total geographic revenue increased 3 B percent {3 percent adjusted for currency) to $97,060 mulian in 2010 when compared to 2009, with
constant currency growth n each of the geographic areas and markets Overall performance was driven by the growth marksts
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Revenue from the major markets increased 11 percent (1 percent
agusted for currency) and was led by growthinthe US , the UK
and France Performance in the major markets improved in the
second half of 2010 The major markets grew 0 3 percent (decined
1 percent adjusted for currency) in the first half and increased
17 percent (3 percent adjusted for currency) in the second haif
Revenue from the growth markets increased 16 0 percent (11 percent
adjusted for currency) The growth markets performance, adjusted
for currency, outpaced the more established major markets by
10 paints in 2010 and geographic revenue contribution Increased to
21 percent, 2 points higher versus 2009 The combined revenue m
the BRIC countries, which represented approximately 40 percent of
the growth markets in 2010, increased 22 8 percent (18 percent
adjusted for currency) with growth in each of the four countries
and strong growth in China and Russia The company continued to
make investments in these markets to drive market expansicn
and infrastructure development The growth markets performance
overall was broad based with double-digit growth at constant
currency In a total of 40 growth market countries

Arnencas revenue increased 4 & percent {3 percent adjusted for
currency) in 2090 Within the major market countries, the U S increased
27 percent and Canada increased 10 4 percent (flat adjusted for
currency} Revenue in the Latin Amenca growth markets increased
15 4 percent {14 percent adiusted for currency) led by Brazil with
growth of 20 4 percent (12 percent adjusted for currency}

Europe/Middle East/Afnca (EMEA) revenue decreased 2 2 percert
{increased 1 percent adjusted for currency) in 2010 compared to
2009 In the major market countrigs, revenue increased in the UK
45 percent (6 percent adjusted for currency), white revenue declined
n Spain 5 8 percent (1 percent adjusted for currency), Germany
77 percent (3 percent adjusted for currency) and ltaly 8 7 percent
(4 percent adjusted for currency) In France, revenue declined 18 percent
as repaorted, but increased 4 percer at constant currency Russia
revenue ncreased 49 O percent (48 percent adjusted for currency)

Asia Pacific revenue increased 11 8 percent (5 percent adjusted
for currency) year over year Asia Pacific growth market countries
increased 18 3 percent (11 percent adjusted for currency), led by
growth in China and india China revenue increased 23 4 percent
(23 percent adjusted for currency) and India revenue increased
19 2 percent (13 percent adjusted for currency) Japan revenue
increased 5 0 percent as reported but declined 2 percent adjusted
for currency 1IN 2010 compared to the pricr year

OEM revenue of $2,811 millicn in 2010 increased 23 3 percent
{23 percent adjusted for currency) compared to 2009 driven by
growth in the Microglectronics OEM business

Total Expense and Other Income

{$ in mullions)
¥r -to-Yr
Percent/
Margin
For the year ended December 31 2010 2009 Change
Total consolidated expense
__andother(income) 8526201 $265647 = 25%
Non-oparating adjustments
Amortization of acquired
. intangible assets (253) {285) {113
Acquismion-related charges 46} )] NM
Non-operating retrement-refated
{costs)Incoma 210 250 (15 9)
Total operating {non-GAAP)
expense and other (income) $26,202 gs,e.oa 2 3%
Total consolidated
expense-to-ravenue ralic 26 3% 26 8% {0 S)pts
Operating (non-GAAF)
expense-to-revenug ratio 26 2% 26 7% [0 Spts

NM—Not meaningful

Total expense and other (income} increased 2 5 percent in 2010
comnpared to the prior year Total operating (non-GAAP) expense
and other (fncome) Increased 2 3 percent in 2010 versus 2009 The
key drivers of the year-to-year change in total expense and other
{income) for both expense presentations were approximately

s Acquisiions®* 3 points
o Currency"” 1 pont
+ Base expense (2) ponts

* Includes acquisitions completed in prior 12 month period
“* Reflects impacts of tranlation and hedging programs

The compary's expense-to-revenue rato mproved in both presentations
N 2010 versus 2009 The increase In total expense and other ncorme
was primarily driven by the company’s acquisitions and the effects
of currency

Base expense improved approximately 2 points 1in both
presertations in 2010 when compared to the prior year The company
has had an ongong focus on increasing efficiency and driving
productivity across the business Sawvings from productivity intiatives
result in improved profitability and enables continued investments
i innovation and key growth initatives

Examples of the company's iInvestments in 2010 include

* Industry sales skills to support Smarter Planet

+ Sales capabilties for business anaiytics, including
the establishment of exght analytics solution centers

* Developrent, sales and marketing to support new high-end
technolegy solutions 1N manframes and POWER7?

+ Sales resources and sales enablement to dnve growth
market performance

s Acquisition of 17 companies adding sigrificant capabilites

For additional information regarding total expense and other Income,
see the followang analyses by category
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Selling, General and Administrative

Other {Income) and Expense

{8 n milhons) {$ 1n mihons)
YrtoYr Yr-to Yr
Percent Percent
For the year ended December 3t 2010 2003 Change For the year ended D her 31 2010 2009 Change
Selling, general and administrative Other {income) and expense e e e e
expense Foreign currency transaction
Selling, general and dossesdgains) . 8303 8 () ____NM
..adminstatve-——other $18585  $178r2  40% cangsosseson
Adveritising and promotional expense 1,337 1,255 66 dervaive instruments {239 (12) NM
Workiorce rebalancing charges LG4 4Ta 3883 Interestincome . . . @) 89 ____ (23I%
Retirement-related COsts,  _ . 494 . 503 an Net {gansplosses from securities
Amortization of acquired and investment assets AN 112 721)
__Intangibles assets _— 253 285 (113 Other (780} (357) 1212
Stock-ased compengation _ 488 417 169  Total consolidated other
Bad dabt expanse 40 147 725 {income) and expense $@787) $(351) 124 5%
Total consolidated selling, general Mon-operating adustment ___ - P
and administrative expense $21,837 $20,952 42% Acquisition-related charges (4) (1) 2774
Non-gperating adjustments Cperating {(non-GAAP) other
Amortization of acquired (income) and expense 3791} $(352) 125 0%
intangble assats {253) (285} (13 NM —Not mearungtul
Acquisition-related charges (413 (8) NM
Non-operating retirement-retated Qther (income) and expense was income of $787 million in 2010, an
{costsyincome 84 127 (338) increase in income of $436 million year to year The ncrease n
Operating (non-GAAP) Income was primarily driven by several key factors refiected in Other
selllr.lg.. general and In the table above the net gain from the PLM transaction in the first
acmy SXpENse $21628 _ $20.787 A0%  quarter of 2010 ($591 million), a net gain associated with the disposition

NM—Not meaningful

Total seling, general and admin:strative (SG8A) expense increased
4 2 percent (3 percent adjusted for currency} in 2010 versus 2009
Overall, the increase was drniven by acquisition-related spending
(3 points) and currency impacts (1 point), while base expense was
essentially flat Workforce reductions expense ncreased $167 million
due primarily to actions taken in the first quarter of 2010, with the
majorty of the spending in Europe and Asia Pacrfic Bad debt expense
decreased $107 mition reflecting the improved credit environment
The allowance for credit losses coverage rate at December 31, 2010
was 18 percent, a decrease of 20 basis points from year-end 2009
Operating (non-GAAP) SG&A expense Increased 4 0 percent
(3 percent adjusted for currency) primarily driven by the same factors

of a joint venture in third quarter of 2010 ($57 million) versus a gan
trom the divestiture of the core logistics operations to Geodis in the
first quarter of 2009 {$298 millony, and a provision for losses related
to a joint venture investment ($119 million} recorded in the second
quarter of 2009 [n addiion, foreign currency rate volatility drove higher
foresgn currency transaction losses ($304 milion) and increased gains
on dernvatve Instruments ($227 millon) Operating (non-GAAP) other
income) and expense reflected increased income of $439 milion In
2010 compared to 2009 driven by the same factors

Research, Development and Engineering

(8 In mitligns)
Yr-to-Yr
Percent
For the year ended Docomber 3t 2010 2009 Charge
Total consolidated research,
development and engineenng $6,026  _ $5820 35%
Non-operaungadjustment .. -
Non-operating retirement-related
{costs)¥income 126 123 26
Operating (non-GAAP) research,
development and engineenng $6 152 $5 943 3 5%

The company continued to Invest in research and development,
focusing tts Investments on high-value, high-growth opportunities
and to extend its technology leadership Total research, development
and engineerning (RD&E) expense increased 3 5 percent in 2010
versus 2009, primarily driven by acquisitions {up 2 points) and
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currency impacts (up 1 point) RD&E investments represented
6 0 percent of total revenue in 2010, compared to 61 percent in 2009
Operating (non-GAAP) RD&E expense increased 3 5 percent in 2010
compared to the pnor year driven by the same factors

Intellectual Property and Custorn Development Income

% n minons)
Ye to-¥r
Percent
For the year ended December 31 2010 2009 Changa
Sales and other transfers of
intellectual property $ 203 $ 228 {10 8)%
Liensng/royalty-basedfees 312 370 {156)
Customn developrment income 638 579 103
Total $1,154 $1.177 (1 9%

The timing and amount of sales and other transfers of IP may
vary significantly from penod to peried depending upon timing of
divestitures, Industry consolidation, economic conditions and the
tirming of new patents and know-how development There were no
significant individual IP transachons in 2010 or 2009

Interest Expense

{$ n miliong)
Yr to Yr
Percent
Fer the year ended December 31 2010 2009 Change
Interest expanse
Total $368 $402 (85%

The decrease in mterest expense was pnmanty due 1o lower average
interest rates in 2010 versus 2009, partially offset by higher average
debt balances in 2010 versus 2009 Total debt at December 31, 2010
was $28 6 biion, an increase of $2 5 billion from the prior year-end
position Interest expense 1s presented in cost of financing in the
Consoclidated Statemnent of Earnings if the refated external borrowings
are to support the Global Financing external business Overall interest
expense for 2010 was $923 million, a decrease of $185 million
versus 2009

Income Taxes

The effective tax rate for 2010 was 24 8 percent, compared with
26 Q percent 1n 2009 The cperating (non-GAAP) tax rate for 2010
was 24 4 percent compared to 25 8 percent in 2009 The 12 point
decrease in the as-reported effective tax rate was primarily driven
by a more favorable geographic mix of pre-tax income and incentives
(2 5 peints}), the increased utiization of foreign tax credits {4 1 points)
and the completion in 2010 of the U S federal incorme tax examination
for the years 2006 and 2007 including the assoctated reserva
redeterrinations (6 4 points) These benefits were partially offset by
tax charges related to certain intercompany payments made by foreign
subsidianies (6 6 points), the tax mpact of certain business restructunng
transactions (2 7 pointg) and the tax costs associated with the
iMercompany lieensing of certan intetlectual property (2 9 points)
The remaning items were individually iInsignificant

Financial Position
Key drivers in the company's balance sheet and total cash flows in
2010 compared to 2009 are highlighted below

Total assets increased $4,430 million {$3,609 millon adiusted
for currency) from December 31, 2009, dniven by

« Increased goodwill ($4,946 million) and intangible assets
{5975 million) driven by 2010 acquisitions,

» Higher level of total recevables ($1,337 milion) and increased
total other assets (3679 million), partally offset by
Decreases in cash and cash equivalents ($1,522 milhon)
and marketable secunties ($800 million), and
Lower total deferred taxes ($1,140 million)

Total habihties increased $4,012 million ($3,672 million adjusted for
currency) from December 31, 2009 driven by

» Higher total debt ($2,525 milion),
s Increase in deferred ncome ($839 million), and an
« Increase in compensaton and benefits ($523 mitlion)

Total equity of $23,172 million increased $418 miflion from the prior
year-end balance as a result of

+« Higher retained earnings ($11.632 million),

» Increase mn common stock {$3,608 milion),

» Increase tn foreign currency translation adjustments
($643 milhon), and an

+ Increase in net unrealized gains on hedge of cash flow
dervatives ($385 million), partally offset by an

« Increase in treasury stock {$14,918 milion}, and

» Decrease in retirement-related tems ($992 mullion)

The company generated $19,549 milion in cash fliow from operations,
adecrease of $1,224 million, compared to 2009, pnmanly driven by
a decrease In cash from total receivables ($2,620 million), partally
offset by the increase in net income ($1,408 milion) Net cash used
In investing activities of $8,507 milion was $1,778 mulfion higher than
2009, pnmarly due to ncreased acqusitions ($4,728 mullion),
decreased cash from divestitures {$345 million) and increased net
capitat spending ($299 million), partally offset by the year-to-year
net irnpacts related to marketable secunties and other investments
($3,753 milhon)

Net cash used i financing activities of $12,429 million was
$2.271 milhon lower versus 2009, primarily due to the net benefit
from debt ($9,812 million) and an increase in cash from other
common stock transactions {$722 million), partially offset by higher
common stock repurchases ($7,946 million)
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GAAP Reconciliation

The tables below provide a reconciiation of the company's iIncome statement results as reported under GAAP to 1ts operatng earnings
presentation which is a non-GAAP measure The company’s calculation of operating earnings, as presented, may differ from smilarly titled
measures reported by other companies Please refer to the “Operating (non-GAAP) Earnings” section on page 18 for the company’s rationale

for presenting operating earnings information

{5 1In milions except per share amounts)

Acquisition- Retrement

related related Operating
For the year ended December 31, 2010- GAAP Adjustments Adyustments non GAAP)
Gross profit $46,014 $ 260 $ (204) $46,070
Gross profit margin . L o i 46 1% _ Q3pts _  (02pts _ _ 461%
SG8A . - . $21,837 $(294) 5 84 $21 628
RD&E 6,026 0 126 _ 6152
Otherincome}andexpense o e o L (TBD) @ . a (791}
Total expense and other (income) _ — 26,291 e t298) .20 26202
Pre-tax ncome 18,723 558 814 19,867
Pre-tax income margin R . . . o L. I 19 7% ..D6pts {0 9pts _199%
Provision for ncorme taxes” $ 4,890 $116 _$0162) % 4844
Effective tax rate _ . . . o - 24 8% ©O1)pts 0 3)pts . 244%
Net Income._ L o o . $14,833 $443 $(253) $15,023
Net income margin 14 9% O4pts O 3pts 15 (0%
Diluted earnings per share $ 1152 $0 34 $(0 20} $ 1167

* The tax Impact on operatng (hon GAAP) pre-tax income Is calculated under the sama accounting prineiples applied to the GAAP pre-tax income which employs an annua!

effective tax rate method to the results

{3 in milions except per share amounts)

Acquisition- Retirerment-

relatedt related Cperating
For the year ended D M, 2009 GAAP Adjustments Adjustments {(non-GAAP)
Gross profit $43,785 $204 $ (259) $43,730
Grossproftmargn | | . - I - L457% O2pts _  (03pls _ 457%
SGRA $20,952 $(293) $ 127 $20,787
RD&E R . . . o .. ...58B20 .0 123 . _5943
Other (income} and expense oL - B . 851} R )] 0 ~ {352)
Total expense and other income) 25,647 (294) 250 25,603
Pre-tax income _ . . R . LJdg1ss 498 R (509) _18,126
Pre-tax mcome margin______ - - A 189% DOS5pts _ _(O5pts _ 189%
Provision for income taxes” $4713 $141 807§ 45676
Effective tax rate - 26 0% 0 1pts (0 3)pts 258%
Net ncome $13,425 $ 357 B30 _$13452
Net income margin . I . 14 0% O4pts O3)pts 140%
Diluted earnings per share $ 1001 $0 27 $(0 25) $ 1003

* The tax impact on operating (non-GAAP) pre-tax income s calculated under the same accounting principles applied to the GAAP pre tax income which empioys an annual

effective tax rate method to the results
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Other Information

Locking Forward
In 2011, the company delivered revenue of $106 9 billion, a year-to-
year increase of 71 percent (3 percent adjusted for currency), net
income of $15 9 bilkion, up 6 9 percent and earnings per share of
$13 08, an ncrease of 13 4 percent compared to 2010 Cperating
{non-GAAP) earnings per share was $13 44, an increase of 15 2 percent
versus the prior year The 201 results put the company well on track
1o 1ts 2015 operating earmings per share road map objective

The company measures the success of its business model over
the long term, not any individual quarter or year The company’s
strategies, investments and actions are all taken with an objective
of optimizing long-term performance

In May 2010, the company met with investors and intreduced a
new road map for earnings per share in 2015 The objective of the
new road map for growth i1s to achieve at least $20 of operating
(non-GAAP) earrungs per diluted share in 2015 Consistent with
the prior road map, the company has identified the major drivers
of fimancial performance revenue growth, margin expansion and
common stock share repurchase The revenue growth will corne
from a combination of base revenue growth, a shift to faster
growing businesses and from acquisitions closed between 2010
and 2015 The contnbution from margin expansion will be driven
by the mix of hugher margin businesses and enterprise productivity
The company will also continue to return value to its shareholders,
with approximately $50 billion of share repurchase and $20 billion
of drvidends expected during the road map period Overall, the
company expects farly balanced contnibution frorm revenue growth,
margin expanston and share repurchase

Looking forward, the company expects continued opportunity
in the growth markets and in the higher value solutions, including
business analytics, Smarter Planet and cloud computing, where the
company beleves its enterpnse chents will continue to focus The
company is confident 1n its ability to continue to leverage s business
rodel to expand rmargn, grow profit, generate cash and return value
to shareholders In January 2012, the company disclosed that it s
expecting GAAP earnings of at least $14 16 and operating (non-
GAAP) earnings of at least $14 85 per diuted share for the full year
2012 The operating (non-GAAP) earnings per share expectation
excludes acquisition-related charges of $0 43 per share and non-
operating retirement-related costs of $0 26 per share This
expectation results in an increase year to year of 8 percent n GAAP
earnings per share and an increase of 10 percent year to year In
operating (non-GAAP) earnings per share which keeps the company
on track to its 2015 objective

From a segment perspective, the Software business delivered
excellent results In 2011 and goes into 2012 with momentum and a
strong set of opportuniies The company’s acquisitions in both 2010
and in 2011 performed well in 2011 and contrbuted to the Software
business performance The company expects the Software business
1o generate double-digit pre-tax iIncome growth in 2012 Within Global
Services, the company expects approximately 3 percent revenue
growth from the backlog and this wouid represent approxmately
70 percent of the services revenue for the full year The balance of
the revenue would come from new signings and base growth Whie

not expected, even If new signings and base growth were flat in
2012, then 70 percent of the 3 percent wouid generate 2 points of
revenue growih in total Services The company demonstrated in
2011 that it could delver double-cigit pre-tax income growth on that
revenue base and expects in 2012 to execute a simtlar strateqy
to drive for double-digit profit growth again in the Services
business The Systems and Technology business wilt face a tough
comparison in the first half of 2012 driven primarnily by the System z
mainframe product cycle performance in the first half of 2011 With
new product announcements expected in 2012, by the second half
of the year, the company expects Systems and Technology to return
1o mid single-digrt revenue growth and double-digit profit growth

Within its EPS expectation for 2012, the company expects profit
growth to be slightly skewed —cne to two points—in the second
half of the year comipared 10 the first half This differentiation s driven
by the expectations for the Systems and Technology business
discussed above Qverall, the company's expectation for 2012
ts consistent with its business model revenue growth, margin
expansion driven by a mix to software and continued productivity
and prudent use of cash to drive investments, acquisitions and share
repurchase The company will continue to /mprove its portfolio
through acquisitions and divestitures and wili continue to invest in
market epportunities and drive productivity The company will
continue to rebalance its workforce to opportunties and skills aligned
with its key investrments and hire resources to drive growth iniatives
The company expects a higher leve! of workforce rebalancing
chargesin 2012, similar to the amount incurred In 2010 The company
expects to offset this expense within net income consistent with its
earrings expectation for 2012

The economy could iImpact the credit quality of the company’s
recenables, and therefore the allowance for credit losses The
company will continue to apply its rigorous credit policies and analysis,
and will also contrue to monitor the current econormic environment,
particularly in Europe At December 31, 201, total recevables In
Portugal, ltaly, Irefand, Greece and Spain were approximatefy $2 6
bithon, net of allowances, and represented approxmately 7 percent of
total net trade and financing accounts recevables In the fourth quarter
of 2011, the company increased its alfowance for credit tosses and will
continue to monitor potential exposures In these countries In
conjunction with the application of its credit policies

The company expects 2012 pre-tax retrement-related plan
cost to be approximately $2 3 bilion, an increase of approximately
$500 million compared to 201 This estimate reflects current pension
plan assumptions at December 31, 2011 Within total retwement-
related plan cost, cperating retirement-related plan cost 1s expected
to be approximately $1 9 billion, approximately flat versus 2011
Non-operating retirement-related plan cost 1s expected to be
approximately $0 4 billion versus income of $0 1 billion in 2011
See note S, "Retirement-Related Benefits” on pages 121 to 135 for
additional information ’

Effective January 1, 2012, the company willimplement a new
accounting standard issued by the Financial Accounting Standards
Board which amends existing guidance and disclosure for far value
measurements The company has evaluated the new guidance and
does not expect a matenal iImpact on the consolidated financial results

See note B, “Accounting Changes,” on page 87 for addtional information
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Liquidity and Capital Resources

The company has consistently generated strong cash flow from
operations, providing a source of funds ranging between $16 1 bilion
and $20 8 billion per year over the past five years The company
provides for additional hquidity threugh several sources mantaining
an adequate cash balance, access to glebal funding sources, a
committed global credit faciity and other committed and uncommitted
ines of credit worldwide The followsng tabie provides a summary of
the major sources of liquidity for the years ended December 31, 2007
through 2017

Cash Flow and Liquidity Trends

($1n billons)

201 2010 2009 2008 2007

Net cash from

_operating activitigs $1898 §$195 $208 $188 §161
Cash and short-term
marketable securities §118  $117 $140  §129 $161
Committed global
credit faciites S100_ $100 3100 $100 $100

The major rating agencies’ ratings on the company’s debt securities
at December 31, 2011 appear in the following table and rermain
unchanged from December 31, 2010 The company's debt securties
do not contain any acceleration clauses which could change the
scheduled maturiiies of the obligation In addition, the company does
not have “ratings trigger” provisions in its debt covenants or
documentation, which would allow the holders to declare an event
of default and seek to accelerate payments thereunder in the event
of a change In credit rating The company’s contractual agreements
governing denvative instruments contam standard market clauses
which can tngger the termination of the agreement if the company's
cradit ratng were 1o fall helow nvestment grade At December 31, 201,
the fair value of those instruments that were in a lability posttion was
$531 million, before any applicable netting, and this position is subject
to fluctuations in fair vaiue penod to period based on the level of the
company's outstanding mstruments and market conditions The
company has no other contractual arrangements that, in the event
of a change in credit rating, would result in a material adverse effect
on its financial posion or hquidity

Moody's
Standard Investors Fitch
& Poor's Service Ratngs
Senior long-term debt At Aal At
Commercial paper A-1 Prme-1 F1

The company prepares its Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
in accordance with applicable accounting standards for cash flow
presentation on page 73 and highlights causes and events underlying
sources and uses of cash in that format on page 36 For purposes
of running s business, the company manages, monitors and analyzes
cash flows in a dfferent format

Management uses a free cash flow measure to evaluate the
company’s operating results, plan share repurchase levels, evaluate
strategic investments and assess the company's ability and need
to incur and service debt Free cash flow 15 not a defined term under
GAAP and 1t should not be inferred that the entire free cash flow
amount 1s avaitable for chscretionary expenditures The company
defines free cash flow as net cash from cperating activities less the
change in Global Financing recenvables and net capital expenditures,
including the nvestrment in software As discussed on page 24, a
key objectve of the Global Financing business 1s to generate strong
returns on equity Increasing recervables is the basis for growth ina
financing business Accordingly, management considers Global
Financing recenables as a profit-generating investment, not as working
capital that should be minmized for efficiency After considering
Global Financing receivables as an investment, the remaining net
operational cash flow less net capital expenditures 1s viewed by the
company as free cash flow

From the perspective of how management views cash flow, In
2011, free cash flow was $16 6 billion, an increase of $0 3 billion
compared to 2010, excluding the impact of hugher net income tax
payments driven by audit settlements in 2011, compared to the prior
year, free cash flow would have increased year to year by approxmately
11 billon, which approximates the company’s net ncome growth
for 2011

Over the past five years, the company generated over $74 billion
In free cash flow Durtng that penod, the company invested over
$16 bilion in strategic acquistions and returned over $8t billion to
shareholders through dvidends and share repurchases The amourt
of prospective returns to shareholders in the form of dividends and
share repurchases will vary based upon several factors including
each year’s operating results, capital expenditure requirements,
research and development investments and acguisitons, as welt as
the factors discussed below

The company’s Board of Directors meets quarteriy to consider
the dvidend payment In the second quarter of 2011, the Board of
Drrectors increased the company’s quarterly common stock dvidenc
from $0 65 to $0 75 per share




Management Discussion

International Business Machines Corporation and Subsidiary Companies

The table below represents the way n which management reviews cash flow as described above

{3 n oillons)
For the yoar ended D 31 2011 2010 2008 2008 2007
MNet cashfrom operating actvitesper GAAR ¢ 5198 3195 8208 £188 $161
Less the change in Global Financing receivablas {0 8} 07 19 {00 {13
Net cash from operating actmtes, exctuding Global Financing recenvables 207 2083 189 88 174
Capital expenditures net (4 1) 4 0) 37 {4 5) 50
Free cash flow 16 6 163 151 143 i24
_hegusons 0B B9 02 B3 .. .00
Dwvestitures 00 01 04 01 03
. Sherrepurchese Lo 59 A D (1) (88
Dwvidends o L {35 _ 32 29 {2 6) 1)
Non-Globzl Financing debt 17 23 47 32) 109
Other (ncludes Global Financing recavables and Global Financing debt) 23 35 17 50 38
Change in cash, cash equivalents and short-term marketable securities 5 03 $23 $11 $32) $ 55

Events that could temporarly change the historical cash flow
dynamics discussed above include significant changes in operating
results, matenal changes in geographic sources of cash, unexpected
adverse impacts from tigation, future pension funding requirements
during periods of severe downturn in the capital markets or the
tirming of tax payments Whether any Iitigation has such an adverse
impact will depend on a number of varlables, which are more
completely descnibed in note M, *Contingencies and Commitments,”
on pages 112 to 114 With respect to pension funding, in 2011, the
company contributed $798 millon 10 its non-U S defined benefit
pians, versus $865 milion in 2010 As highlighted in the Contractual
Oblgations table on page 58, the company expects to make legally
mandated pension plan contributions to certain non-U S plans of
approximately $3 9 billon in the next five years The 2012 contributions
are currently expectad to be approximately $800 millon Financial
market performance and/or further weakening in the European
sovereign debt credit environment in 2012 could increase the legally
mandated minimum contributions in certain non-U S countnes that
require more frequent remeasurement of the funded status The
company Is not quantifying any further mpact from pension funding
because it 1s not possible to predict future movements in the caprtal
markets or pension plan funding regulations

The Pension Protection Act of 2006 was enacted Into law n 2006,
and, among other things, increases the funding requirements for certain
US defined benefit plans beginning after December 31, 2007 No
mandatory contribution 1s required for the U S defined benefit plan
In 2012 as of December 31, 2011

The company's U S cash flows continue te be sufficient to fund
its current domestic operations and obligations, including investing
and financing actvtes such as dvdends and debt service The
company's U S operations generate substantial cash flows, and,
in those crrcumstances where the company has additional cash
reqguirements in the U S, the company has several iquidity options
avallable These options include the abiity to borrow funds at
reasonable interest rates, utilzing its committed global credit facility,
repatriating certan foreign earnings and calling mtercormpany loans
that are tn place with certain foreign subsidiaries

The company does earn a significant amount of its pre-tax
income outside the US The company’s policy 1s to indefinitely
reirnvest the undistributed earrings of its foreign subsidianes, and
accordingly, no provision for federal mcome taxes has been made
on accumulated earnings of foreign subsidiaries The company
periodically repatriates a portion of these earnings to the extent that
it does not incur an addiional U S tax sability Quantification of the
deferred tax hability, if any, associated with ndefinitely reinvested
earnings I1s not practicable While the company currently does not
have a need to repatnate funds held by its foreign subsidiaries, if
these funds are needed for operations and obligations in the US,
the company could elect to repatrate these funds which could result
in a reassessment of the company's policy and increased tax expense
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Contractual Obligations

(% In milhons)
Totai Contractual Payments Bue In
Payment Stream 2012 2013-14 2015 16 After 2016
Long-term debt obligations $26616 $4 292 $ 9.217 $3185 _§ g8
Interesi on long-tarmdebtobigations . 10585 1,128 1,711 1,362 6,384
Capntal (finance) lease obligations 86 19 41 21 5
Operating lease obligations 5,631 1,562 2,324 e 1332 613
Purchase obligations _ ~ e . R . 2207 1,388 .o.586 _ 200 . B2
GCther lang-term labllities o I —
_Minmum pension funding (mandated)” - 8,800 8OO 1800 1800 =
. Execuivecompensavon . 14 89 @4 214 944
Long-term fermmnation benefits 1,374 132 163 141 938
_Taxreserves™: e L LlJBT2B 3B — L T -
Other 1,250 64 88 86 1011
Total $56.817 $9,5692 $15,824 $7,942 $19 868

* Represenis future pension contnbutions that are mandated by local regulations or statute, all associated with non-U S quatified defined penefit and mulb-employer pension
plans See nota 5, "Retremant-Related Banefits” on pages 121 to 135 for addional information onthe non-U S plans investmant strategies ang expested contnbutions and for
Infermation regarding the company's total underfunded penslon plans of $19 232 million at Decemizer 31 2011 As the fundad status on the plans will vary obhigations for mandated

runimum pension payments atter 2016 could not be reasonably estimated

**These amounts represent the liabllity for urrecognized tax beneflts The company estimates that approximately $138 midlion of the liatility 1s expected to be seitled within the next
12 months The settiement perrod for the noncurrent portion of theincome tax llabitity cennot be reasonably estmated as the timing of the payments will depend on the progress
of tax exarminations with the various tax authornies however 1t is not expected to be due withun the next 12 months

Total contractual obligations are reported in the table above excluding
the effects of time value and therafore, may not equal the amounts
reported in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

Purchase obligations include all commitments to purchase goods
or services of either a fixed or minimurn quantity that meet any of
the following criteria (1) they are noncancelable, (2) the company
would incur a penalty If the agreement was canceled, or (3) the
company must make specified minimum payments even If 1t does
not take delivery of the contracted products or services (take-or-pay)
If the obligation to purchase goods or services Is noncancelable, the
entire value of the contract 1s included n the table above If the
obligation 1s cancelable, but the company would Incur a penalty if
canceled, the dollar amount of the penalty 1s ncluded as a purchase
obhgation Centracted mintmum amounts specified in take-or-pay
contracts are also included in the table as they represent the portion
of each contract that 1s a firm commitment

In the ordinary course of busmess, the company enters into
contracts that specify that the company will purchase all or a porticn
of its requirements of a specific product, commodity or service from
a supplier or vendor These contracts are generally entered into in
order fo secure pricing or other negotiated terms They do not specity
fixed or minimum quantities to be purchased and, therefore, the
company doas not consider them to be purchase obligations

Interest on floating-rate debt obligations 1s calculated using the
effective interest rate at Decemnber 31, 2011, plus the interest rate
spread associated with that debt, if any

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

From time to time, the company may enter into off-balance sheet
arrangements as defined by the SEC Financial Reporting Release
67 (FRR-67), “Disclosure in Management'’s Discussion and Analysis
about Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements and Aggregate Contractual
Cbhgations”

At December 3t, 2011, the company had no off-balance sheet
arrangements that have, or are reascnably likely to have, a matenal
current or future etffect on financial condition, changes in financial
condition, revenues or expenses, results of operations, liquidity,
capital expenditures or capital resources See the table above for
the company’s contractual obligations and note M, “Contingencies
and Commitments,” on pages 114 and 115, for detaled information
about the company’s guarantees, financial commitments and
indemnification arrangements The company does not have retained
interests in assets transferred to unconsglidated entities or other
material off-balance sheet interests or instruments

Critical Accounting Estimates

The application of GAAP requires the company to make estimates
and assumptions about certan items and future events that directly
affect its reported financial condition The accounting estmates and
assumptions discussed 1n this section are those that the company
considers to be the most critical to its financial statements An
accounting estimate I1s considered critical If both (a) the nature of
the estimate or assumption s matenal due to the levels of subjectty
and judgment involved, and (b) the impact within a reasonable range
of outcomes of the estimate and assumption 1s material to the
company’s financiat condition Senior management has discussed
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the developrnant, selection and disclosure of these estimates with
the Audit Committee of the company's Board of Directors The
company's significant accounting policies are described in note A,
"Significant Accounting Policies,” on pages 76 to 86

A quantitative sensitmty analysts s provided where that information
15 reasonably avarlable, can be reftably estimated and provides matenal
information to INvestors The amounts used to assess sensitivity
(e g. 1percent, 10 percent, etc } are included to allow users of the
Annual Report to understand a general directon cause and effect
of changes in the estimates and do not represent management's
predictions of vanability For all of these estimates, it shoutd be noted
that future events rarely devalop exactly as forecasted, and estimates
require regular review and adjustment

Pension Assumptions
For the company's defined benefit pension plans, the measurement
of the benefit obligation 1o employees and net perodic pension
{cost/income) requires the use of certain assumptions, including,
among others, estimates of discount rates and expected return
on plan assets

Changes in the discount rate assumptions will impact the {gain)/
loss amortization and interest cost compenents of the net peniodic
penston cost/(income) calculation (see page 127 for information
regarding the discount rate assurnptions) and the projected benefit
obligation (PBO) As presented on page 127, the company decreased
the discount rate assumption for the IBM Personal Pension Plan
(PPP), a U S -based defined benefit plan, by 80 basis points to
4 20 percent on December 31, 2011 This change will increase pre-
tax cost and expense recognized in 2012 by an estimated $250 million
If the discount rate assumption for the PPP increased by B0 basis
points on December 31, 2011, pre-tax cost and expense recognized
in 2012 would have decreased by an estimated $265 millon Changes
in the discount rate assumptions will impact the PBO which, in turn,
may impact the company's funding decrsions if the PBO exceeds
plan assets Each 25 basis point increase or decrease in the
discount rate will cause a corresponding decrease or Increase,
respectively, in the PPP’s PBO of an estimated $14 bilion based
upon December 31, 2011 data The PPP’s PBO (after the decrease
in discount rate presented on page 127) and plan assets as of
December 31, 2011 are presented on page 125

The expected long-term return on plan assets I1s used in
calculating the net periodic pension income)/cast See page 128
for information regarding the expected long-term return on plan
assets assumption Expected returns on plan assets are calculated
based on the market-related value of plan assets, which recognizes
changes m the fair value of plan assets systematically over a five-year
period In the expected return on plan assets ine In net periodic
(income)/cost The differences between the actual return on plan
assets and expacted return on plan assets are recognized as
a compenent of actuarial gains/losses, which are recognized In
net periodic {income)/cost over the service lives of the employees
n the plan, provided such amounts exceed thresholds based
upon the obligation or the value of plan assets, as provided by
accounting standards

.

To the extent the outlook for long-term returns changes such
that management changes Its expected iong-term return on plan
assets assumption, each 50 basis point increase or decrease in the
expected long-term return on PPP ptan assets assumption will have
an estimated increase or decrease, respectively, of $253 milicn
on the following year's pre-tax net periodic pension (income)/
cost {(based upon the PPP's plan assets at December 31, 2011
and assuming no contributions are made in 2012)

The company may voluntanly make contributions or be required,
by law, to make contributions to its pension plans Actual results that
differ from the estimates may result In more or less future company
funding into the pension plans than 1s planned by management
Impacts of these types of changes on the company's pension plans
In other countries worldwide will vary depending upon the status of
each respective plan

Revenue Recognition
Application of the various accounting prnciples in GAAP refated to
the measurement and recogrition of revenue requires the company
o make Judgments and estimates Specifically, cornplex arrangements
with nonstandard terms and conditions may require sigruficant
contract interpretation to determine the appropnate accounting,
including whether the deliverables specified in a multiple element
arrangement should be treated as separate units of accounting
Other significant judgments inciude determining whether IBM or a
reseller 1s acting as the principal in a transaction and whether
separate contracts are constdered part of one arrangement
Revenue recogrition I1s also iImpacted by the compary’s ability
to estimate sales incentives, expected returns and collectibility The
company considers various factors, including a review of specific
transactions, the creditworthiness of the customers, historical
expertence and market and economic conditions when calculating
these provisions and allowances Evaluations are conducted each
quarter to assess the adequacy of the estimates If these estrmates
were changed by 10 percent in 2011, net ncome would have been
impacted by $85 million {excluding Global Financing receivables
reserves discussed on page 65)

Costs to Complete Service Contracts

The company enters intc numerous service contracts through its
(TS and GBS businesses Durning the contractual period, revenue,
cost and profits may be impacted by estimates of the ultimate
profrlability of each contract, especially contracts for which the
company uses the percentage-of-completion {(PQC) method of
accounting [f at any time these estimates indicate the POC contract
will be unprofitable, the entire estimated loss for the remander of
the contract 1s recorded immediately in cost The company performs
ongoing profitabihty analyses of its services contracts in order to
determine whether the latest estimates require updating Key factors
reviewed by the company to estmate the future costs to complete
each contract are future labor costs, future product costs and
expected productivity efficiencies Contract loss provisions recorded
as a component of other accrued expenses and irabilities were
approximately $52 milion and $23 milion at December 31, 2011 and
2010, respectively
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income Taxes
The company Is subject 1o Income taxes n the US and numerous
foreign junsdictions Significant judgments are required in determining
the consolidated provision for income taxes

During the ordinary course of business, there are many
transactions and calcutations for which the uitmate tax determination
1s uncertan As aresult, the company recognizes tax liabilities based
on estimates of whether additional taxes and interest will be due
These tax labilities are recognized when, despite the company's
belief that its tax return positions are supportable, the company
believes that certain positions may not be fully sustained upon review
by tax authorities The company believes that its accruals for tax
llabilities are adequate for all open audit vears based on its assessmert
of many factors, including past expenence and interpretations of tax
law This assessment relies on estimates and assumptions and may
mvolve a senes of complex judgments about future events To the
extent that new information becomes available which causes the
company to change its judgment regarding the adequacy of existing
tax labilities, such changes to tax labihties will impact income tax
expense In the penod in which such deterrmination 1s made

Significant judgment Is also required in determining any valuation
allowance recorded agamnst deferred tax assets In assessing the
need for a valuation allowance, management considers all avalable
evidence for each junsdiction including past operating results,
estimates of future taxable Income and the feasibility of ongoing tax
planmng strategies In the event that the company changes its
determuination as to the amount of deferred tax assets that can be
realized, the company will adjust its valuation allowance with a
corresponding impact to ncome tax expense in the penod in which
such determination s made

The consolidated provision for mcome taxes will change penod-
to-period based on nonrecurnng events, such as the settiement of
income tax audits and changes in tax laws, as well as recurnng
factors including the geographic mix of Income befora taxes, the
timing and amount of foreign dvidend repatriation, state and local
taxes and the effects of various global Income tax strategies

To the extent that the provision for sncome taxes increases/
decreases by 1 percent of ncome before income taxes, consokdated
net income would have improved/decreased by $210 milion in 2011

Valuation of Assets

The application of business combmation and mpairment accounting
requires the use of significant estmates and assumptions The
acquisition method of accounting for business combnations requires
the company to estimate the fair value of assets acquired, ilabiities
assumed, and any non-controling interest in the acquiree to properly
allocate purchase price consideration between assets that are
depreciated and amortized from goodwill Imparrment testing for
assets, other than goodwill, requires the aflocation of cash fiows to
those assets or group of assets and If required, an estimate of fair
value for the assets or group of assets The compary’s estimates
are based upon assumptions believed to be reasonable, but which
are inherently uncertan and unpredictable These valuations require
the use of management's assumptions, which would not reflect
unanticipated events and circumstances that may occur

Valuation of Goodwill
The cormparny revews goodwil for imparment annually and whenever
events or changes in circumstances indicate the carrying value of
goodwill may not be recoverable In the fourth quarter of 2011, the
company early adopted new Financial Accounting Standards Board
guidance that simplifies how an entity tests goodwill for irmpairment
It provides an option to first assess qualitative factors to determing
whether it1s more likely than not that the far value of a reporting unit
15 less than its carrying amount

The company assesses quahtative factors in each of its
reporting units that carry goodwill Among other refevant events
and circumstances that affect the fair value of reporting units,
the company assesses individuatl factors such as

* Asignificant adverse change in legal factors
or the business cimate

* An adverse action or assessment by a regulator

*  Unanticipated competition

* Aloss of key personnel

+ A more-kkely-than-not expectation that a reporting
unit or a sigmficant portion of a reporting urit will be sold
or otherwise disposed of

The company assesses these qualitative factors to determine
whether # 1s necessary to perform the two-step quantitative goodwill
impairment test Under the new guidance, thus quantitative test
15 required only if the company concludes that it 1s more likely than
not that a reporting unit’s far value s less than its carrying amount
After performing the annual goodwill impairment qualitative analysis
dunng the fourth quarter of 2011, the company determined it was
not necessary to perform the two-step goodwill mpairment test

Loss Contingencies

The company 1s currently involved in various claims and legal
proceedings Quarterly, the company reviews the status of each
sigrificant matter and assesses its potential financial exposure If
the potential loss from any claim or legal proceeding 1s considered
probable and the amount can be reasonably estimated, the company
accrues a habiity for the estimated toss Significant judgment 1s
required in both the determination of probability and the determination
as to whether an exposure is reasonably estimable Because of
uncertamties related to these matters, accruals are based only on
the best information available at the time As additional information
becomes available, the company reassesses the potential iability
related to 1ts pending clams and litigation and may revise its
estimates These revisions In the estimates of the potential habilities
could have a matenal impact on the company’s results of operations
and financial positron

Global Financing Receivables Allowance for Credit Losses
The Global Financing business reviews its financing recewables
pertfolic at least guarterly in order to assess collectibility A
description of the methods used by management to estimate the
amount of uncollectible recevables 1s included in note A, “Significant
Accouniing Policies,” on pages 85 and 86 Factors that could resutt
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n actual receivable losses that are matenally different frorm the estim-
ated reserve include sharp changes in the economy, or a significant
change in the economic health of a particular client that represents
a concentration in Globat Financing's recevables portfolio

To the extent that actual collectibiity differs from management's
estimates currently provided for by 10 percent, Global Financing's
segment pre-tax incorme and the company’s consolidated income
before Income taxes would be higher or lower by an estimated
$35 mulion (using 2011 data), depending upon whether the actual
collectibilty was better or worse, respectively, than the estimates

Residual Value
Residual value represents the estimated farr value of equipment
under lease as of the end of the lease Residual value estimates
impact the determination of whether a lease 1s classified as operating
or capital Global Financing estimates the future far value of leased
eguipment by using histonical models, analyzing the current market
for new and used equipment and obtaining forward-looking product
information such as marketing plans and technological nnovations
Residual value estimates are penodically reviewed and “other than
temporary” declines in estimated future residual values are recognized
upon identification Anticipated increases m future residual values
are not recognized untl the equipment is remarketed Factors that
could cause actual results to matenally differ from the estimates
include significant changes in the used-equipment market brought
on by unforeseen changes in technology innovations and any
resulting changes in the useful Ives of used equipment

To the extent that actual residual value recovery is lower than
management’s estmates by 10 percent, Global Financing's segment
pre-tax income and the company's consolidated income before
Income taxes for 2011 would have been lower by an estimated
$104 million If the actual residual value recovery 15 higher than
management’s estimates, the increase in income will be realized at
the end of lease when the equipment i1s remarketed

Currency Rate Fluctuations
Changes in the relative values of non-U S currencies to the US
dollar affect the company's financial results and financial postion
At December 31, 2011, currency changes resulted in assets and
labilitres denominated in local currencies being translated into fewer
dollars than at year-end 2010 The company uses financial hedging
instruments to imit specific currency risks related to financing
transactions and other foreign currency-based transactions Further
discussion of currency and hadging appears in note D, “Financial
Instruments,” on pages 9€ to 100

Foreign currency fluctuations often drive operational responses
that mitigate the simpte mechanical translation of earnings During
periods of sustained movements in currency, the marketplace and
competition adjust to the changing rates For example, when pricing
offenings in the marketplace, the company may use some of the
advantage from a weakening U S dollar to improve 1ts position
competitively, and price more aggressively to win the business,
essentally passing on a parton of the currency advantage to
ts customers Competition will frequently take the same action
Consequently, the company bel:eves that some of the currency-

based changes in cost impact the prnices charged to clients The
company also maintains currency hedging programs for cash
management purposes which mitigate, but do not eliminate, the
volatility of currency impacts on the company’s financial results

The company translates revenue, cost and expense In its non-
U S operations at current exchange rates i the reported penod
References to “adjusted for currency” or “constant currency” reflect
adiustments based upon a simple constant currency mathematical
translation of local currency results using the comparable prior
period's currency conversion rate However, this constant currency
methodclogy that the company utilizes to disclose this information
does not incorporate any operationat actons that management may
take nreaction o fluctuating currency rates Based on the currency
rate movements in 2011, total revenue increased 71 percent as
reported and 3 4 percent at constant currency versus 2010 Ona
pre-tax iIncome basis, these transtation Impacts offset by the net
impact of hedging activities resulted in a theoretical maximum
{assuming no pricing or sourcing actions) increase of approximately
$600 million In 2011 The same mathematical exercise resulted in a
decrease of approximately $225 million in 2010 The company views
these amounts as a theoretical maximum impact to its as-reported
financial results Considening the operatonal responses mentioned
above, movements of exchange rates, and the nature and timing of
hedging instruments, it1s difficult to predict future currency impacts
on any particular perrod, but the company believes it could be
substantially less than the theoretical maximum given the competitive
pressure in the marketplace

For non-U S subsidiaries and branches that operate in U S
dollars or whose economic environment 1s highly inflatronary,
translation adustments are reflected in results of operations Generally,
the company manages currency nsk in these entities by hnking prices
and contracts to US dollars The company continues to monitor
the economic conditions In Venezuela On December 30, 2010, the
official rate for essential goods was eliminated, with no change to
the SITME rate The SITME rate remaned constant throughout 2011
Future gains or losses from devaluation of the SITME rate are not
expected to have a matenal impact given the size of the company s
operations In Venezuela (less than 1 percent of total 2010 and
2011 revenue)

Market Risk

{n the normal course of business, the financial position of the
company is routinely subject to a vanety of nsks In additon to the
market nsk associated with interest rate and currency movements
on outstanding debt and non-U S dollar denominated assets and
habilities, other examples of risk include collectibility of accounts
recevable and recoverabilty of residual values on leased assets

The company regularly assesses these risks and has established
policies and business prachces to protect against the adverse effects
of these and other potential exposures As a result, the company
does not anticipate any matenal losses from these rnisks

The company's debt, iIn support of the Global Financing business
and the geographic breadth of the company's operations, contains
an element of market risk from changes m interest ana currency
rates The company manages this nsk, n part, through the use ofa

&1
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variety of financtal instruments including denvatives, as explamed in
note D, “Financial Instruments,” on pages 96 to 100

To meet disclosure requirements, the company performs a
sensivity analysis to determine the effects that market nsk exposures
may have on the far values of the company’s debt and cther financial
nstruments

The financial instruments that are included in the sensitivity
analysis compnse all of the company’s cash and cash equivalents,
marketable securities, short-term and jong-term loans, commercial
financing and installment payment recaivables, nvestments, long-
term and short-term debt and all derivative financial instruments
The company’s dervative financial instruments generally include
interest rate swaps, foregn currency swaps and forward contracts

To perform the sensitivity analysis, the company assesses the
risk of loss in far values from the effect of hypothetical changes in
interest rates and foreign currency exchange rates on market-
sensitive Instruments The market values for interest and foreign
currency exchange risk are computed based on the present value
of future cash flows as affected by the changes in rates that
are atinbutable to the market nsk being measured The discount
rates used for the present value computations were selected
based on market interest and foreign currency exchange rates in
effect at December 31, 2011 and 2010 The differences in this
comparisen are the hypothetical gains or iosses associated with
each type of nsk

Information provided by the sensitvty analysis does not necessanly
represent the actual changes in farr value that the company would
incur under normal market conditions because, due to practical
lrmitations, all vanables other than the specific market nsk factor are
held constant In addition, the results of the model are constrained
by the fact that certain items are spectiically excluded from the
analysis, while the financial Instruments relating to the financing or
hedging of those items are included by definiton Excluded items
include short-term and long-term recervables from sales-type and
direct financing leases, forecasted foreign currency cash flows and
the company's net investrment in foreign operations. As a consequence,
reported changes in the values of some of the financial nstruments
impacting the resutts of the sensitvity analysis are not matched with
the offsetting changes in the values of the tems that those instruments
are designed to finance or hedge

The results of the sensitivity analysis at December 31, 2011, and
2010, are as follows

Interest Rate Risk

At December 31, 2011, a 10 percent decrease in the levels of interest
rates with alt other vaniables held constant wouid result in a decrease
In the fair market value of the company's financial instruments of
$310 milion as compared with a decrease of $341 million at
December 31, 2010 A 10 percent increase in the levels of interest
rates with all other variables held constant would result In an increase
in the farr value of the company’s financial instruments of $280 million
as compared to an increass of $315 miliion at December 31, 2010
Changes in the relative sensitivity of the fair value of the company's
financial instrument portfoho for these theoretical changes in the
level of interest rates are prirmanty driven by changes in the company's
debt maturites, interest rate profile and amount

Foreign Currency Exchange Rate Risk

At December 31, 2011, a 10 percent weaker U S doliar agamst foreign
currencigs, with ail other vanables held constant, would result in an
ncrease in the far value of the company's financial instruments of
$1,303 millon as cornpared with an increase of $546 milion at
December 31, 2010 Conversely, a 10 percent stronger U S. dollar against
foreign currencies, with all cther vaniables held constant, would result
In a decrease in the farr value of the company’s financial Instruments
of $1,303 milion compared with a decrease of $546 million at
December 31, 2010 The change in impact from 2010 to 2011 was
cormpnsed of assets ($341 million), debt ($211 million) and denvatives
($205 millicn)

Financing Risks

See the “Description of Business” on page 24 for a discussion of the
financing nsks associated with the Global Financing business and
management’s actions to mitigate such risks

Cybersecurity
While neither a business segment nor a woridwide organization, the
company’s approach on cybersecurity demonstrates its ability to
adapt to a changing environment, as well as the depth and breadth
of its global capabilibes IBM has leveraged its extensive knowledge
and expenence on cybersecunty matters to help its customers The
company has a suite of software solutions that showcase IBM's
broad capabilities in identity and access management, data security,
apphcation secunty, network security and endpoint secunty [BM's
software solutions include a security inteligence dashboard that
can collect information on customer IT security events and provide
detaled mformation to custorners about potentiat threats and security
posture The company's services busiesses offer professional
solutions for security from assessment to deployment In addition,
the company offers managed and outsourced secunty solutions
from multiple secunty operations centers around the world Finally,
security 1Is embedded in a multitude of IBM offerings through secure
engingering processes and by cnbical functions {encryption, access
control, etc ) in servers, storage, software, services and other solutions
From an enterprise perspective, IBM has implemented a mulh-
faceted approach mnvolving people, tools, and processes to identify
and address cybersecunity risks The company has established
pelictes and procedures that provide the foundation by which IBM's
infrastructure and data are managed, which help protect IBM and
chent data In addition, the company utiizes a combination of onhine
education, Web articles and other awareness mnitiatives to enable
its workforce to be knowledgeable about cybersecurity threats and
their responsibilities to identdy and mitigate these nisks 1BM performs
ongoing assessments regarding its technical controls and its
methods for iIdentifying emerging risks related to cybersecurity The
company uses a layered approach with overlapping contrgls to
defend against cybersecurity attacks on networks, end-user devices,
data centers, and apphcations
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Employees and Related Workforce

Yr to ¥r Change

For the year ended Decomber 31 2011 2010 2000 2011 10 2010-08
IBM/whoily owned subsidanas 433,362 426,751 393,409 15% 6 8%
Less:thap-wholly owned subsicianes i . 7239304 11421 _(194) {183
Complementary 25,500 27,784 26,946 B82) 31

As a globally integrated enterprise, the company operates in over
170 countnes and 1s continuing to shift its business to the higher
value segments of enterpnse computing The company continually
assesses Its resource needs with the objective of balancing its
workforce globally to improve the company’s global reach and
competitiveness In 2071, total employees at IBM and its wholly owned
subsidianes increased more than 6,500 compared to the prior year

The complementary workforce I1s an approximation of equivalent
fuli-time ernployees hired under temporary, part-time and limited
term employment arrangements to meet specific business needs
In a flexible and cost-effective manner

Global Financing

Global Financing 1s a reportable segment that s measured as a
stand-alone entity

In 201, as the glebal economy continued to face a challenging
credd ervironment, the Global Financing busmess remamed focused
on Its core competencies—providing [T financing to the company’s
clierts and business partners For the year, Global Financing increased
total revenue by 2 8 percent and improved total gross margin by
12 points, while the pre-tax ncome margin was essentially flat year
1o year Total pre-tax income of $2,011 rillion increased 2 8 percent
compared to 2010

In addition to the overall health of the economy and its impact
on corporate IT budgets, key dnivers of Global Financing’s results
are interest rates and originations Interest rates directly impact Global
Fmancing’s business by increasing or decreastng both financing
revenue and the associated borrowing costs Onginations, which
determine the asset base of Global Financing’s annuity-iike business,
are impacted by IBM's non-Global Financing sales and services
volumes and Global Financing's partcipation rates Participation
rates are the propensity of IBM's chents to finance ther transactions
through Glohal Financing i lieu of paying IBM up-front cash or
financing through a third party

Results of Operations

{3 1n milfons)

For the year anded December 21 2011 200* 008"
External revenueg S2 102 $2,238 $2,302
Internal revenug 2,092 1,842 1,774
Total revenue 4185 4080 4,076
Cost 1 467 1,474 1,685
Gross profit $2.728  $2.606 $2 520
Grogsprofitmargn e 850°% _ B3O%  618%
Pre-tax income $2011 $1 956 $1.724
After-tax Income"” $1,338 $1,292 $1,132
Return on eguity** 40 7% 41 1% 34 2%

* Reclassiflad to conforrm with 2011 presentation
** Ses page 67 for the detalls of the after-tax ncome and retumn on equity calculation.

Total revenue in 2011 increased $115 milhon versus 2010 as a result of

« Anncrease In internal revenue of 13 6 percent primarily
dnven by an increase in used equipment sales revenue
{up 197 percent to $1,528 million), partially offset by

* Adecine in external revenue of 6 1 percent (9 percent
adjusted for currency) driven by a decrease in used equipment
sales revenue (down 25 5 percent to $490 milion), partally
offset by an increase in financing revenue (up 2 0 percent to
$1,612 million)

The increase in external financing revenue was due to higher average
asset balance and an increase In remarketing lease revenue

Global Financing gross profit ncreased 4 7 percent compared
to 2010 duse to higher used equipment sales and financing gross
profit Gross margin increased 12 points primarily due to a higher
used equipment sales margin
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Total revenue in 2010 increased $4 milion versus 2009 as a result of

« Anncrease in mternal revenue of 3 8 percent driven by
an Increase N used equipment sales revenue (up 70 percent
to $1,277 rmion), parnatly offset by a decrease n financing
revenue (down 2 6 percent to $565 million), offset by

s Adecline n external revenue of 2 8 percent {4 percent
adjusted for currency), due to a decrease in financing revenue
{down 79 percent to $1,580 milion), partially offset by an
Increase in used equipment sales revenue (up 121 percent
to $659 millon)

The decreases in external and internal financing revenue were due
to lower average asset balances and lower asset yields

Global Financing gross profit ncreased 3 4 percent compared to
2009 pnmanly due to higher used equipment sales gross profit Gross
margin increased 2 0 ponts prmartly due to a higher financing margin

Global Financing pre-tax income increasad 2 8 percent in 2011
versus 2010, following an increase of 13 5 percent mn 2010 versus
2009 The increase in 2011 was drven by the increase in gross profit
of $122 miliion, partially offset by increases in financing receivables
provisions of $51 million and SG&A expenses of $13 million
Normahzing for $2 milon of workforce rebalancing charges in 2011
and 2010, respectnely, pre-tax income ncreased 2 8 percent versus
2010 The increase in 2010 was prnimarily driven by a decrease in
financing receivables provisions of $152 million and the increase In
gross profit of $85 million The increase In financing receivables
provisions in 2011 was primarly due to the current economic
environment n Europe The overall allowance for credit losses
coverage rate 1s 13 percent, a decrease of 0 2 points versus 2010

The decrease n return on equity from 2010 to 2011 was driven
by a higher average equity balance, and the increase n return on
equity from 20089 to 2010 was dnven by higher after-tax income and
a lower average equity balance

Financial Condition
Balance Sheet

(8 In millions}

At Dacembar 31. 204 2010
Cash and cash equivalents 5 1,308 $ 1,353
Nat investment in sales-type

anddrecttinancingleases 9208 9370
Equipment under operating leases

__Externalclents® 1667 _ 1827
_ _Internal clentg® . vg 500
Chent loans 11,363 10,630
Total clent financing assets . - 22,358 = 22326
Commercial financing recevables 71430 6,819
Intercompany financing recelvables & 4,586 4,204
Otherrecelvables .. _ . __ _. . .3 __ 32
Other assets 712 790
Total assets 536,427 $35,813
Intercompany payables® R ..56213  §$8717
Cebte 23332 22,823
Other labiites 3633 3,016
Total kabiliies 33,178 32,557
Total equity 3 249 3,256
Total llabilities and equity 536 427 $35,813

W Includesimtercompany mark up priced on an arm's-length basis on peoxucts purchased
from the company s praduct divisions which i1s eliminated w1 IBM s consolidated
rasulls

® Entire amount eliminated far purposes of [BM's consclidated resutts and tharafora
does not appear on page 72

© Thase assets along with all other financing assets in this table are leveraged at the
value in the table using Globel Financing debt

1 Global Financing debt s comprised of intercompany oans and external debt
A portion of Global Financing debtis in support of the company's internal busmess,
or related to intercompany mark up embadded in the Global Financing asseis See

table on page 67

Sources and Uses of Funds

The primary use of funds in Global Financing 1s to ongihate client
and commercial financing assets Clent financing assets for end
users consist pnmarily of IBM systems, software and services, but
also include non-1BM eguipment, software and services to meet
18M clients' total sclutions requirements Client financing assets are
primarily sales-type, direct financing and operating leases for systems
products as well as loans for systems, software and services with
terms generally from one to seven years Global Financing’s client
loans are primarily for software and services and are unsecured
These lcans are subjected to additional credit analysis to evaluate
the associated nsk and, when deemed necessary, actions are
taken to mitigate risks in the loan agreements which include
covenants to protect against credit detenoration durning the life of
the obligation Chent financing also includes internal activity as
described on page 24
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Commercial financing recewvables anse primanly from inventory
and accounts recevable financing for dealers and remarketers of
IBM and non-IBM products Payment terms for inventory financing
and accounts recenvable financing generally range from 30 1o 90 days
These short-term recewables are primarily unsecured and are also
subjected to addional credit analysis in order to evaluate the
assoctated risk

At December 31, 20, substantially all financing assets are (T
related assets, and approximately 63 percent of the external portfolio
15 with investment grade clients with no direct exposure to consumers
or mortgage assets

Onginations
The following are total external financing and internal lease financing
ariginations

(8 In millions)
For the year ended [ n 2011 2010 2009
Client financing
External .. S14390_ $12632 _§11760
Internal - 116 755
Commercial financing 35,2032 32 366 27,126
Total 540.673 $45,113 $39 641

In 2011, new financing onginations exceeded cash collections for
both client and commercial financing This resulted in a net Increase
in total financing assets from December 31, 2010 The increase In
onginations in both 2011 versus 2010 and 2010 versus 2009 was due
to improwng external volumes in both client and commercial financing
Internal loan financing wath Global Services is executed under a loan
faciity and 1s not considered originations

Cash generated by Global Financing in 2011 was pnmariy deployed
to pay the intercompany payables and dwvidends 10 IBM

Global Financing Receivables and Allowances
The following table pregents external financing recevables excluding
residual values, and the allowance for credit losses

(% in millions)

At December 31 201 200
Gross financing receivables 527,368 $26,565
Specific allowance for credit ksses 226 305
Unallocated allowance for credit losses 124 26
Total allowance for credit losses 350 401
Net financing recetvables 327 016 $26,164

Allowance for credit losses coverage 1 3% 15%

Roll Forward of Global Financing Receivables
Allowance for Credit Losses

{3 in millicns)

Allowance  Additions/ Decermber 31
Janyary 1 201 Used" [Reductions) Other** 2011
5401 5(87) $a2 SiTl $350

* Reprasents reserved receivables net of recoveries that were disposed of during the
peried
** Primarily represents translation adjustments

The percentage of Global Financing recevables reserved
decreased from 15 percent at December 31, 2010 to 13 percent at
Decernber 31, 2011 primanly due to the disposition of receivables
previously reserved, and the increase in gross financing recevables
Specific reserves decreased 25 9 percent from $305 milhion at
Decernber 31, 2010 to $226 million at December 31, 2011 Unallocated
resenves increased 29 2 percent from $98 milion at December 31, 2010,
to $124 millon at December 31, 2011 Global Financing’s bad debt
expense was an increase of $42 mitlion for 2011, compared to
a decrease of $3 million for 2010 The year-to-year increase was
primanly attnbuted to the current economic environment in Eurcpe

Residual Value
Residual value is a risk unique to the financing business and
management of this nsk 1s dependant upon the ability to accurately
project future equipment values at lease inception Global Financing
has insight into product plans and cycles for the IBM products under
tease Based upon this product nformation, Global Financing
continually monitors projections of future equipment values and
compares them with the residual values refiected in the portfolio
See note A, “Signticant Accounting Policies” on page 86 for the
company's accounting pchcy for residual values

Global Financing optimizes the recovery of residual values by
seling assets sourced from end of lease, lsasing used eguipment
to new clients, or extending lease arrangements with current clients
Sales of equipment, which are primarily sourced from equipment
returned at the end of a leass, repregsented 48 1 percent of Global
Financing's revenue in 2011 and 474 percent in 2010 The gross
margins on these sales were 54 B percent and 52 8 percent in 201
and 2010, respectively The increase was primarily driven by an
increase in the nternal sales margin

65
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The table below presents the recorded amount of unguaranteed
residual value for sales-type, direct financing and operating leases
at December 31, 2010 and 2011 In addition, the table presents the
residual value as a percentage of the related onginal amount financed
and a run cut of when the unguaranteed residual value assigned to
equipment on lease at December 31, 2011 15 expected 1o be
returned to the company In addition to the unguaranteed restdual
value, on a imited basis, Global Financing wili obtain guarantees of
the future value of the equipment to be returned at end of lease
While primarily focused on IBM products, guarantees are also
obtained for certain OEM products These third-party guarantees
are Included in minimum lease payments as provided for by accounting
standards in the deterrmunation of lease classifications for the covered
equipment and provide protection aganst nsk of loss ansing from
declines In equipment values for these assets

Unguaranteed Residual Value

The residual value guaraniee Increases the minimum lease
payments that are utiized in determining the ¢lassification of a lease
as a sales-type lease, direct financing lease or operating tease The
aggregate asset values associated with the guarantees for sales-type
leases were $821 milion and $714 milion for the financing transactions
criginated during the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010,
respectively In 2011, the residual value guarantee program resulted
In the company recognizing approximately $532 million of revenue
that would otherwise have been recognized in future penods as
operating lease revenue |f the company had chosen to not participate
n aresidual value guarantee program in 201 and prior years, the
201 mpact would be substantally mitigated by the effect of prior-
year asset values being recognized as operating lease revenue in
the current year The associated aggregate guaranteed future values
at the scheduled end of lease was $43 rmuillion for the financing
transactions onginated during 2011and 2010, respectively The cost
of guarantees was $4 milon for the year ended December 31, 2011
and $5 rmullion for the year ended December 31, 2010

{$ In mithons)
Total Estimated Bun Out of 2011 Balance
2015 and
2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 Beyond
Sales-typeanddrrect financingleases % &7 _ S 745 8177, ~Bes R4 8132
Operating | 328 296 121 or 64 14
Total unguaranteed residual value $ 1199 8 1049 $208 $201 $305 $146
Related original amount financed $20,412 518,635
Percentage 59% 5 6%
Debt Global Financing provides funding predorminantly for the company's
external clients assets, as well as for assets under contract by other
At December 31 200 2010 IBM units As previously stated, the company measures Global
Debi-to-equity ratio 72x 70x Financing as a stand-alone entity, and accordingly, interest expense

The cempany funds Global Financing through borrowings using a
debt-to-equity ratio target of approximately 7 to 1 The debt used to
fund Global Financing assets 1s composed of intercompany loans
and external debt The terms of the intercompany loans are set by
the company to substantralty match the term and currency underiying
the financing recervable and are based cn arm’s-length pricing Both
assets and debt are presented in the Global Financing Balance Shest

on paqge 64

relating to debt supporting Global Financing’s external client and
internat business 1s Included in the “Global Financing Results of
Operations” on pages 63 and 84 and in note T, “Segment Infor-
mation,” on pages 135 to 138

In the company’s Consolidated Statement of Earnings on page
70, however, the external debt-related interest expense supporting
Global Financing’s tnternal financing to the company 1s reclassified
from cost of financing to iNterest expense
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The following table provides additional iInformation on total company deit In this table, ntercompany activity includes internal loans and
leases at arm's-length pricing in support of Global Services' long-term contracts and other internal activity The company beheves these
assets should be appropriately leveraged m ine with the overall Globa! Financing business model

{% in millions)
December 31 2011 December 3t 2010
Global FinancingSegment L e i o e L5233 L L L BR2s23
__ Debit 1o support external clients $20,0561 $19,583 -
Debt o support internal cllents 3 281 3,240
Non-Global Financing Segments 7,987 5801
Debt supporting operations 11,269 8,041
Intercompany actraty {3,281} (3 240)
Total company debt 531,320 $28 624

Liguidity and Capital Resources

Global Financing 1s a segment of the company and therefore, 1s
supported by the company's overall iquidity position and access to
caprtal markets Cash generated by Global Financing was primarily
deployed to pay intercompany payables and dividends to the
company In order to maintain an appropriate debt-to-equity ratio

Return on Equity
{3 In millions)
At December 1 201 20107
Numerator _ . . . . .
Global Financing after-tax Incomak"* $1.338 $1,292

Denominator

_Average Gobal Francingequity™ | 832868 $3,145
Global Financing return on equity™ 40 7°, 41 1%

* Reclassifiad to conform with 2011 presentation

"* Calculated based upon an estimated tax rate pnncipally based on Global Financing s
geographic mix of earmings as IBM's provision for incoma taxes is determined on a
consgidated bagls

* Average of the ending equity for Global Financing for tha last flve quarters

Looking Forward
Global Financing's financial posttion provides flexibility and funding
capacity which enables the company to be well positioned in the
current environment Global Financing's assets and new financing
volumes are primarily IBM products and services financed to the
company’s clients and business partners, and substantially all financing
assets are IT related assets which provide a stable base of business
for future growth Giobal Financing's offerings are competitive and
available to clents as a result of the company's berrowing cost and
access o the capital markets Overall, Global Financing’s onginations
will be dependent upon the demand for IT products and services
as well as client participation rates

IBM continues to access both the short-term commercial paper
market and the medwim- and long-term debt markets A protracted
penod where IBM could not access the capital markets would likely
lead to a slowdown in onginations

Interest rates and the overall economy (Including currency
fluctuations) will have an effect on both revenue and gross profit
The company's interest rate nsk management policy, however,
combined with the Global Financing pricing strategy should mitigate
gross margin erosion due to changes in interest rates

The econemy could impact the credit quality of the Globai
Financing receivables portfolic and therefore the level of provision
tor credit losses Global Financing will continue to apply rigorous
credit policies in both the ongination of new business and the
evaluation of the existing portfolio

As discussed on pages 65 and 66, Global Financing has
hustorically been able to manage residual value risk both through
insight into the company's product cycles, as well as through its
remarketing business

Global Financing has policies In place o manage each of the
key risks irvolved in financing These policies, combined with product
and client knowledge, should allow for the prudent management of
the business going forward, even during periods of uncertainty with
respect 1o the global economy
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Management Responsibility

for Financial Information

Responsibility for the integnty and objectivity of the financial information
presented in this Annual Report rests with IBM management The
accompanying financial staterments have been prepared in accordance
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States
of America, applying certain estmates and judgments as reGuired

IBM maintains an effective internal control structure It consists,
n part, of organizational arrangements with clearly defined ines of
responsibility and delegatron of authority, and comprehensgive
systems and control procedures An important glement of the control
environment Is an ongeing Internal audit program Our system also
contams self-monitoring machanisms, and actions are taken to correct
deficiencies as they are identified

To assure the effective administratton of internal controls, we
carefully select and tran our empioyees, develop and disseminate
written policies and procedures, provide appropriate communmcaton
channels and foster an environment conducive to the effective
functioning of controls We believe that it 1s essential for the company
to conduct its business atfairs in accordance with the highest ethical
standards, as set forth in the IBM Business Conduct Guidelines
These guidelines, translated inte numerous languages, are distnbuted
to employees throughout the world, and re-emphasized through
internal programs to assure that they are understood and followed

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an independent regrstered public
accounting firm, 1s retained to audit IBM's Consolidated Financial
Statements and the effectiveness of the internal control over financial
reporting [ts accompanying report is based on audits conducted
m accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting
Qversight Board (United States)

The Audit Committee of the Board of Directors 1s composed
solely of mdependent, non-management directors, and 1s responsible
for recommencding to the Board the independent registered public
accounting firm to be retaned for the coming year, subject to
stockholder ratificatton The Audit Committee meets penodically
and privately with the independent registered public accounting firm,
with the company’s mternal audttors, as well as with IBM management,
1o review accounting, auditing, iInternat control structure and financial
reporting matters

Management’s Report on Internal Control
Over Financial Reporting
Management 15 responsible for establishing and maintaining
adequate imternal control over financial reporting of the company
Intarmal control over financial reporting 1s a process designed to
provide reascnable assurance regarding the rebability of financial
reporting and the preparation of financial staterments for external
purposes in accordance with accounting pnnciples generally accepted
in the United States of Amenica

The company's internal control over financial reporting ncludes
those policies and procedures that () pertain to the maintenance
of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and farrly reflect the
transactions and dispostions of the assets of the company,
{1) prowide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded
as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America, and that receipts and expenditures of the
company are being made only n accordance with authonzations of
management and drectors of the company, and {in) provide reasonabie
assurance regarding prevention or trmely detection of unauthorized
acquisition, use, or disposttion of the company’s assets that could
have a material effect on the financial statements

Because of its inherent imitations, internal control over financial
reporting may not prevent or detect misstaternents Also, projections
of any evaluation of effectiveness to future penods are subject to
the nisk that controls may become inadequate because of changes
in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or
procedures may deterorate

Management conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of
internal control aver financial reporting based on the framework mn
Internal Control— Integrated Framework issued by the Committea
of Sponsering Crganmizaticns of the Treadway Commission (COSO)
Based on this evaluation, management concluded that the
company's internal control over financial reporting was effective
as of December 31, 2011

Mmm%

Virgimia M Rometty
President and Chief Executive Officer
February 28, 2012

Mark Loughridge

Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer,
Finance and Enterpnse Transformation

February 28, 2012




Report of Independent Registered Fublic. Accournting Fam

International Business Machines Corporation and Subsichary Companies

To the Stockholders and Board of

Directors of International Business

Machines Corporation:

In our opirvon, the accompanying Consobdated Financial Statements
appearing on pages 70 through 139 present farrly, in all materiat
respects, the financia position of International Business Machines
Corporation and its subsidianies at December 31, 2011 and 2010
and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of
the three years in the period ended December 31, 2011 In conformity
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States
of America Alsc in cur opinion, the Company maintained, in all
matenal respects, effective mternal control over financial reporting
as of December 31, 2011, based on ¢riteria estabhshed in internal
Control—Integrated Framework 1ssued by the Committee of
Spensonng Organizations of the Treadway Commussion {COSO)

The Company's management 1s responsible for these financial
statements, for mamntaining effective internal control over financial
reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal
control over financial reporting, included in the accompanying
Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting
appearng on page 68 Our responsibiiity 1s fo express opinions on
these financial staternents and on the Company’s Intermal control
over financial reporting based on our integrated audits We conducted
our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company
Accounting Oversight Board (United States) Those standards require
that we plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether the financial statements are free of matenal misstatement
and whether effective internal control over financial reporting was
mairtained in all matenal respects. Our audits of the financial statements
Inciuded examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts
and disclosures in the financial statemnents, assessing the accounting
principles used and significant esumates made by management,
and evaluating the overali financial statement presentation Qur audit
of internal control over financral reporting included obtaining an
understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing

the risk that a maternial weakness exists, and testing and evaluating
the design and operating effectveness of internal control based on
the assessed nsk Our audits also included performing such other
procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances We
believe that our audits prowide a reasonable basis for our opinions

Acomparny's internal control over financial reporting 1s a process
designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability
of financial reportung and the preparation of financial statementis
for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles A company's internal control over financial
reporting iNncludes those policies and procedures that {I) pertain to
the mamntenance of records that, in reasonable detall, accurately
and farrly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of
the company, (1) provide reasonable assurance that transactions
are recorded as necessary fo permit preparation of financial
siatements in accordance with generally accepted accounting
princtples, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are
being made only in accordance with authorizations of managerment
and drectors of the company, and (1) prowide reasonable assurance
regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition,
use, or disposition of the company's assets that could have a
matenal effect on the financial statements

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial
reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements Also, projections
of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to
the rnisk that controls may become inadequate because of changes
In conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or
procedures may detenorate

&MM a2 P

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
New York, New York
February 28, 2012




70

Consolidated Statement of Earnings

International Business Machines Corporation and Subsidiary Companies

{$ n millons excep! per share amounts)

For the year ended Decernber 31 Notes 201 2010 2009
Revenue
Services o o 3 60,721 $56.,868 $55,128
BB e e e e e e e o SO0 40736 38,300
Financing 2,132 2 267 23
Total revenue 106,16 99,870 95 758
Cost
Services - - . . . oo . 40,740 38383 37146
Sales 14,973 14,374 13,606
Financing 1,065 1,100 1220
Total cost 56,778 53,857 51,973
Gross profit 50,138 45014 43,785
Expense and other income
Seling, general and admmistrative 23,594 21.837 20,852
__Research developmentandengneenng __ ___ _ . __ _.__ O 85258 6026 5,820
Intellectual property and custom development ncome e e e e e 108y 0B4) (17T
Other (income) and expense (20} {787) (351)
Interest expense D&J 411 368 402
Total expense and other Income 29,135 26 2 25647
Income before income taxes 21,003 19,723 18,138
Prowvisicn for income taxes N 5,148 4,890 4713
Net income $ 15,855 $14 833 $13 425
Earnings per share of common stock
LJAssumnggivton P s.1306___ S115 _  $100t
Basic P $ 1325 $ 1169 31012

Weighted-average number of common shares outstanding
__ Assuming dilution
Basic

____1,218,767,985 1,287,355,388 1,341,352,754

1,196,951 006 1 268 789,202 1,327,157,410

Amounts may not add due to rounding
The accompanying notes on pages 76 through 139 are an integral part of the financial staterments




Consohdated Statement of Comprehensive income
International Business Machines Corporation and Subsidiary Companies

{$ i mifions)
For the year ended December 31 Notes 2011 2010 2009
Net income £15,855 $14 833 $13 425
Other comprehensive income/foss), betfore tax
__Foreign currency translation adjustments _— L {693) 712 1,675
Net changes related to available-for-sale securities L
Unreahzed gains/(losses) arising dunng the period {14} 70 118
_. Beclassification of (gansplossesto netincome s e 23O B2
Subseguent changes in previously impaired securittes ansing during the penod 4 8 -
Total net changes rejated to available-for-sale securities (241) 78 182
Unrealized gains/{losses) on cash flow hedges L
Unrealized gaing/{losses) ansing dunng the penod (266) N {718)
Reclassification of (gans)losses 1o net income 511 203 Q4)
Total unrealized gains/{losses) on cash flow hedges 245 573 {812)
Retirement-related henefit plans L
— ..Pror service costs/(credts) _ o - e f2B)_ 28375
. .Net(ossesygams adsingdunngthepenod . _ .. _..___ ... __..__[6863_____ @728 _ __1433
Curtallments and settliements 11 10 (125)
_____Amortzation of priof service (credrsycost e {157) (183) . __ {162
Amartizauon of nat gans/josses) 1,847 1,249 1,105
Total retirement-related benefit plans {3,790} {1 624) 2,626
Other comprehensive income/{loss), before tax B . . L (4479 _ (260) 3,671
Income tax {expense)/benefit related to items of other comprehensive income L 1,339 348 {656}
Other comprehensive Income/{loss) L _ {3143 87 3.015
Total comprehensive Income §12,713 $14 920 $16,440

Armounis may not add due to rounding

The accompanying notes on pages 78 through 139 are an integral part of the financial staterngnts.
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Consoldaled Statement of Financial Position
International Business Machines Corporation and Subsidiary Comparies

[$ 1in millions except per share amounts)

At December 31 2010
Assets
Current assets
_Lashandcashequvalents e e e .5 10661
Marketable secuntes . . . 990
Notes and accounts recenabie —trade [net of allowances of $256 in 2011 and $324 1n 2010) 10,834
_. Short-term financing recenables (net of allowances of $3111n 201 and $342 10 2010) 16,257
Other accounis racenvable {net of aflowances of 81111 201 and $10 0 2010) 1134
Inventones 2,450
Deferred taxes . . L. . o L1564
Prepaid eaxpenses and other current assets 4,226
Total current assets 48,116
Property plantandequipment 40,289

Less Accumulated depreciation 26,193
Property, plant and equipment —net 14,096
Long:term financing recenvables (net of atiowances of $38 in 2011 and $58 n 2070) 10,548
Prepad pension assels 3,068
Deferred taxes _ e s et e s e o A < e et e 3220
Goodwill 25,136
Intangible assets —net 3,488
investments and sundry it 5778
Total assets $113,452
Liabilities and equity
Qurentlebites ) e

Taxes $ 4216
__Short-termdebt e e . _._B778

Agcounts payabls e e meem e e e e - . 7.804

Compensation and benefits 5,028
_.Deferedncome - S 11,580

Other accrued expenses and labilities 5,156
Total current habiites 40,562
Long-term debt e e 21,846
Retirement and nonpension postretirament benefit obigations 15,978
Defared NCOme e e e _..3666
Other labilities 8226
Total liabilitles 90 279
Contingencies and commitments e .
EQUITY i eeeee mm me e o o e e o e e 4 ot oo e = e i s T O
[BMstockholders'equity . _ _ ...

Common stock, par value $ 20 per share and additional paid-in capital R 45,418

Shares authorized 4 687 500,000
Shares issued {2011—2 182,469,838, 2010—2,161,800,054)

_Betanedearnngs ____ _ . _ ... [ — J— . 82532
Treasury stock, at cost (shares 2011—1,019,287,274, 2010 —933,805,510) (96,161)
Accumulated other comprehensive INCOmMe/{loss) (18,743)

..JotalIBM stocknolders equity - e e . .23046

Noncontrolling nterests 126

Total equity 23172
$113 452

Total Babilties and equity

Amounts may not add due to rounding

The accompanying notes on pages 76 through 139 are an integral part of the financial statements




Consohdated Statement of Cash Flows
International Business Machines Corporation and Subsidiary Companies

& in milhons)
For the year ended December 31 2011 2010 2009
Cash flows from operating activities
Net income £ 15,855 $ 14,833 $13425
Adustments 10 reconcile net ncome
to cash prowided by operating actrviies - . ~ .. e B . e
Depreciation 3,589 3,657 3,773
Amortzation of mangibles o B . _ R L 1,226 1,174 1221
_Stock-based gompensation __ - o - e 697 629 558
Deferred taxes 1.212 1,294 1,773
Net (gan)/loss on asset sales and other .~ o . . (342) (801} (395)
Change in operating assets and liabiliies, net of acquistions/divestitures
Recenables (including financing recevables) o R {1,279} (489) 2,131
Retirement related ; o R {1,371} (1,963) . 2.465)
Inventories DR, 1.1:<)] 22 263
_ _Other assets/other latiities e . e,y 948 ___319
Accounts payable 451 174 170
Net cash provided by operating activities 19846 19,549 20,773
Cash flows from investing activities
Payments for property, plant and equipment . R . B {4,108 (4185 _ . (3447)
Proceeds from disposition of property, plant and eguipment Y ... _bO0s8 770 330
rwestrentwsoftwere . . (559} (569) (630)
Purchases of marketable securities and other investments £1,594) 6,129) (5,604)
Proceeds from disposson of marketable secunties and other investments . 3,345 7877 3,598
Nen-operating finance recenvables—net o L L _{@07) _ (408). _(184)
Acguisition of busir , net of cash acquired (1.811) (5 922) {1,194)
Drestiture of businesses, net of cash transferred 14 55 400
Net cash used in mvesting activities (4,396) (8 507) {6 729)
Cash flows from financing actities
Proceeds from new debt L . L R 9.996 _ 8055 6,683
Payments to settle debt R R ~ o o R .. (8BaT) (6,522) (13,495)
Short-term borrgwings/(repayments) less than 90 days—net 1,321 817 (651}
Common stock repurchases o (15,046) (15375 (7 429)
Comimon stock transactions —other 2453 3,774 3052
Cash dwvidends paid (3,473} 87N {2,860)
Net cash used in financing activities {13,696} (12429 {14 700
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivaients {493) {135) 98
Net change in cash and cash equivalents . _ 1,262 (1,622) (558
Cash and cash eqgunvalents at January t 10,661 12183 12 741
Cash and cash equivalents at December 31 511,922 $ 10,661 $ 12,183
Supplemental data o o L. oL L . o
Income taxes paid —net of refunds receved o § 4168 $ 3288 5 1567
(nerestpadondebt —_ $..956 g 951 .8 1240
Capital lease obligations S 39 $ 30 $ 15

Amounts may not add due 10 rounding

The accompanying notes on pages 76 through 139 are an Integral part of the financial statements




74

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
International Business Machines Corporation and Subsidiary Companies

{§ in mulions)
Common Accumulated
Stock and Other Total IBM Non
Additional Retained Treasury Comprehensnve  Stockholders Controling Totat
Pad-In Capttal Eamngs Siock Income/{Loss) Equity Interests Equity
2009

Equity January 1, 2009 $39,129 $70,353

Net income plus other comprehensve

$74,171)  $21.845  $13,465

5118 $13,584

income/(loss) oL . ~ - . . B ~ .
Net income . - _ 13,425 - o 13425 13,425
Other comprehensive Income/{loss) . 3,015 3,015 3015
Total comprehensive Income/A{loss) - $186,440 $16 440
Cash dwidends declared —commonstock {2,860) @860 ....12860)
Common stock 1ssued under
employee plans (30,034,808 shares) _30m . 3,011 3,01
Purchases (1,550,846 shares) and
sales (6,408 265 shares) of treasury
_ stock under employee plans—net o ~ (19 482 - 443 B 443
Qther treasury shares purchased,
not retirad (68,650,727 shares) (7,634) (7.534) {7,534)
Changes 1n other equity . (330) i . _(330) . _{330)
Changes i noncontroling interests {1 {1)
Equity, December 31, 2009 $41,810 $80,900 ${81,243) ${18,830) $22,637 $118 $22,755

Amounts may not add due to rounding

The accompanying notes on pages 76 through 33 are an integrai part of the financial statements

($ in mulions)
Common Accumuiated
Stock and Other Total IBM Non
Additional Retained Treasury Comprehensve  Stockholders' Controling Total
Paid-In Capital Earrings Stock  Income/{Loss) Equity imerests Equity
2010

Equity, January 1, 2010 $41,810_ $80,900

Net income plus other comprehensive

$(81,243)  $(18,830) $22,67

$118 $22,755

_ _income/(loss) —— [
Netincome _ ol B 14,833 R 14833 _ 14,833
Other comprehensive income/joss) . - o [ - A - LA 87

Total comprehensive ncome/{foss) $ 14,920 $14 920

Cash dvidends declared —common stock (3177) 3177 (3177}

Common stock issued under

employee plans (34,783,386 shares) 3579 3.57¢ * 3,579

Purchases (2,334,932 shares) and

sales {7,929,318 shares) of treasury
_ stockunderemployeeplans—net 24) 501 477 _ T
Other treasury shares purchased,

not retired (117,721,650 shares) . . ~ (15419) _ _ (15,418) (15,419)

Changes notherequity 28 28 2

Changes n noncontrofling interests 8 8

Equity, December 31, 2010 $45,418 $92,532 $(96,161) ${18,743) $ 23,046 $126 $ 23,172

Amounts may not add due to rounding
The accompanying notes on pages 76 through 139 are anintegra! part of the financial statements




Consolidated Statement of Changes m Equity
International Business Machines Corporation and Subsidiary Companies

(5 in mibons)
Cormmon Accurmutated
Swock ane Other Total IBM Non-
Additonal Ratained Treasury Comprehensive  Stockholders’ Controlling Total
Pad In Capital Earnings Stock  Income/(Loss) Equity Interests Equity
20m
Equity, January 1, 201 e . . .. _ %548 $02532  $@6161)  $18743) _ $23046  _  $126  $23172
Nat incoma plug other comprehensive
_Incomedless) — - — e e e e
. Netincome S J1sess —— e 15886 15855
Qther comprehensive income/{loss) (3,142) 3142} — _{3,142)
Total corprahensive Incomedlossy . oo$12ns .. _.312713
Cash dwidends declared — common stock (3.473) {3.473) (3.473)
Common stock issued under
employee plans {20 663,785 shares) R . 234 B} _ . 2394 . _ 2304
Purchases (1,717.246 shares) and
sales (4,920,198 shares) of treasury
.. Slockunderemployeeplans—net . B ) << R k£ S 175
Other treasury shares purchased,
not retired (88,683,716 shares) {15,034) {15 034} (15,034}
Changesmnotherequty 317 . S - 317 37
Changes In noncontrolling interests (29) (29
Equity, D 31,2011 548,129 $104,857  5{110,963) ${21,885] $20,138 $ 97 $ 20,236

Amounts may not add dus to rounding
Tha accompanying nates on pages 76 through 139 are an integral part of the financial statements
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

International Business Machines Corporation and Subsidiary Companies

Note .A.

Seateoat ot g s
Basis of Presentation
The accompanying Consohdated Financial Statements and footnotes
of the International Business Machines Corporation (IBM or the
company) have been prepared In accordance with accounting
principies generally accepted in the United States of Amenca (BAAP)

within the finanoial statements and tables presentad, certain
columns and rows may not add due to the use of rounded numbers
for disclosure purposes Percentages presented are calculated from
the underlying whole-dollar amounts Certan pnor year amounts
have been reclassified to conform to the current year presentation
This 1s annctated where applicable

Noncontroling interest amounts in ncome of $8 million, $9 milion
and $5 miliion, net of tax, for the years ended December 31, 2011, 2010
and 2009, respectively, are included in the Consolidated Statement
of Earrings within the other (income) and expense line e Additionalty,
changes to noncentrolling interests in the Consolidated Statement
of Changes in Equity were $(29) rdlion, $8 millicn and ${1) mitlion
for the years ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009, respectively

Principles of Consolidation

The Consoclidated Financial Statements include the accounts of IBM
and its controlled subsidianies, which are generally majonty owned
Any noncentroling interest in the equity of a subsidiary 1s reported
in Equity in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position Net
income and losses attributabte to the noncontrolling mterest 1s
reported as described above in the Consclidated Statement of
Earnings The accounts of variable interest entriies (VIEs) are included
in the Consoldated Financial Statements, if requred Investrments in
business entities in which the company does not have control, but
has the ability to exercise significant influence over operating and
financial policies, are accounted for using the equity method and the
company's proportionate share of ncome or loss 1s recorded m other
{income} and expense The accounting policy for other investments
1n eguity secunties 1s descnbed on page 85 within “Marketable
Secunties " Equity iInvestments in non-publicty traded enbities are
prnimarily accounted for using the cost method All intercompany
transactions and accounts have been eminated in consohdation

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP
requires management to make estimates and assumptions that
affect the amounts of agsets, habilities, revenue, costs, expenses
and other comprehensive income/(loss) that are reported in the
Consohdated Finanoial Statements and accompanying disclosures
These esttmates are based on management’s best knowledge of
current events, historical experience, actions that the company may
undertake in the future and on varous other assumptions that are
beleved o be reasonable under the circumstances As a result, actual
results may be different from these estimates See “Cntical Accounting
Estimates” on pages 58 to 61 for a discussion of the company's
cntical accounting estimates

Revenue
The company recognizes revenue when it s realized or realizable
and earned The company considers revenue reahzed or realizable
and earned when 1t has persuasive evidence of an arrangement,
delivery has occurred, the sales price 1s fixed or deterrminable and
collectibiity 1s reasonably assured Delivery does not ocour until
products have been shipped or services have been provided to the
client, nsk of loss has transferred to the client, and either client
acceptance has been obtained, client acceptance provisions have
lapsed, or the company has cbjective evidence that the criteria
specified Iin the client acceptance provisions have been satishied
The sales price 1s not considered 1o be fixed or determinable until
all contingencies related to the sale have been resolved

The company recognizes revenue on sales to solution providers,
resellers and distributors (heren referred to as “reseflers™ when the
resefler has economic substance apart from the company, credit rigk,
title and rnisk of loss to the mventory, the fee to the company is not
contingent upon resale or payment by the end user, the company
has no further obligations related to bringing about resale or delivery
and all other revenue recognition critenia have been met

The company reduces revenue for estimated client returns, stock
rotation, price protection, rebates and other smilar allowances (See
Schedule il, “Valuation and Qualfying Accounts and Reserves”
included in the company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K) Revenue
is recognized only if these estimates can be reasonably and reliably
determined The company bases its estimates on histoncal resulis
taking into consideration the type of client, the type of transaction
and the specifics of each arrangement Payments made under
cooperative marketing programs are recognized as an expense only
if the company recenes from the chent an identifiable beneft sufficiertly
separable from the product sale whose fair value can be reasonably
and reliably estimated If the company does not receve an identifiable
benefit sufficiently separable from the product sale whose far value
can be reasonably estimated, such payments are recorded as a
reduction of revenue

Revenue from sales of third-party vendor products or services
1s recorded net of costs when the company 1s acting as an agent
between the client and the vendor and gross when the company
1s a principal to the transaction Several factors are considered to
determine whether the company s an agent or prnincipal, most
notabty whether the company is the primary obligor to the chient,
or has inventory sk Consideration is alse given to whether the
company adds meaningful value to the vendor's product or service,
was mvolved in the selection of the vendor's product or service, has
latitude mn establishing the sales price or has credit risk

The company reports revenue net of any revenus-based taxes
assessed by governmental authorities that are Imposed on and
concurrent with specific revenue-producing transactions In addition
to the aforementioned general policies, the following are the specific
revenue recogniton policies for multiple-deliverable arrangements
and for each major category of revenue




Notes to Consolidaled Hnancial Statements

international Business Machines Corporation and Subsidiary Companies

Multiple-Deliverable Arrangements

The company enters into revenue arrangements that may consist
of multiple deliverables of its products and services based on the
needs of ts clients These arrangements may Include any combination
of services, software, hardware and/or financing For example, a
clent may purchase a server that includes cperating systern software
In addition, the arrangement may include post-contract support for
the software and a contract for post-warranty mamntenance service
for the hardware These types of arrangements can also include
financing prowided by the company These arrangements consist of
multiple deliverables, with the hardware and software dehvered in
one reporting period and the software support and hardware
maintenance services delivered across multiple reporting peniods
In another example, a client may outsource the running of its data-
center operations to the company on a long-term, multiple-year
basis and periodically purchase servers ang/or software products
from the company to upgrade or expand its faciity The outsourcing
services are provided on a continugus basis across multiple
reporting penods and the hardware and software products are
delivered in one reporting period To the extent that a deliverable in
a multiple-dehverable arrangement 1s subject to specific guidance
that deliverable 1s accounted for in accordance with such specific
gudance Examples of such arrangements may include leased
hardware which is subject to specific leasing guidance or software
which 15 subject to specific software revenue recognition guidance
(see "Software" on page 78) on whether and/or how to separate
muitiple-detverable arrangemenits into separate units of accounting
(separability) and how to aliocate the arrangement consideration
among those separate units of accounting {allocation) For all other
deliverables i mulliple-deliverable arrangemerits, the guidance
below i1s applied for separability and allocation A multiple-deliverable
arrangement is separated 1Nt more than one unit of accounting if
the following cnitena are met

* The delivered item(s) has value to the client on a stand-atone
basis, and

» Ifthe arrangement includes a general nght of retum retative
to the delivered teml(s}, delivery ar perforrnance of the
undelvered tern(s) 1s considered probable and substantally
in the control of the company

If these criteria are not met, the arrangement 1s accounted for as
one unit of accounting which would resuft In revenue being recognized
ratably over the contract term or being deferred until the earfier of when
such critena are met or when the last undelivered element 1s delivered
If these critena are met for each element and there I1s a refative selling
price for alf units of accounting in an arrangement, the arrangement
consideration s allocated to the separate units of accounting based
on sach unit’s refative selling price  The following revenue policies
are then apphed to each unit of accounting, as applicable

Revenue from the company’s business analytics, smarter planet
and cloud offenings follow the specific revenue recognition policies
for multiple deliverable arrangements and for each major category
of revenue depending on the type of offenng which can be comprised
of services, hardware and/or software

Services
The company’s primary services offerings mclude information
technology (IT) datacenter and business process outsourcing,
application management services, consulting and systems integration,
technology mfrastructure and system maintenance, Web hosting
and the design and development of complex IT systems to a client's
specifications (design and build) These services are provided on
a time-and-matertal basis, as a fixed-price contract or as a fixed-
price per measure of output contract and the contract terms range
from less than one year to over 10 years

Revenue from IT datacentsr and business process outsourcing
contracts 1s recognized in the penod the services are provided using
either an objectve measure of output or on a straight-line basis
over the term of the contract Under the output method, the amount
of revenue recognized Is based on the services delivered in the penocd

Revenue from application management services, technology
infrastructure and system maintenance and Web hosting contracts
15 recognized on a straight-line basis over the terms of the contracts
Revenue from time-and-matenal contracts 1s recognized as labor
hours are delivered and direct expenses are iIncurred Revenue
related to extended warranty and product maintenance contracts
15 recognized on a straight-line basis over the delivery penod

Revenue from fixed-price design and bulld contracts is recognized
under the percentage-of-completion (POC) method Under the POC
method, revenue Is recognized based on the labor costs incurred
to date as a percentage of the total estimated labor costs to fulfill
the contract If circumstances anse that change the onginal estmates
of revenues, costs, or extent of progress toward completion, revisions
to the estimates are made These revisions may result In increases
or decreases in estimated revenues or costs, and such revisions
are reflected in income in the period In which the circumstances
that gave nise to the revision become known by management

The company performs ongoing profitability analyses of its
services contracts accounted for under the POC method in order
to determine whether the latest estimates of revenue, costs and
profits require updating If at any ime these estimates indicate that
the contract will be unprofitable, the entire estimated loss for the
remamder of the contract 1s recorded wmediately For non-POC
methoed service contracts, any losses are recorded as incurred

in some services contracts, the company bilis the client prior to
recognizing revenue from performing the services Deferred income
of $7,363 milion and $7,195 milion at December 31, 2011 and 2010,
respectively, is included in the Consolidated Statement of Financial
Position in other serwices contracts, the company performs the
services prior to biling the client Unbilled accounts recevable of
$2.186 million and $2,244 million at December 31, 2011 and 2010,
respectively, 1s Included in notes and accounts recevable-trade In
the Consolidated Statement of Financial Fosttion

Billings usually occur in the month after the company performs
the services or in accordance with specific contractual prowisions
Unbilled receivables are expected to be billed within four months
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Hardware
The company's hardwara offerings inciude the sale or lease of systerm
servers, storage solutions, retail store systems and the sale of
semiconductors The company also offers installation services for
its more complex products

Revenue from hardware sales and sales-type leases 1s recognized
when sk of loss has transfermed to the client and there are no unfuliiled
company obligations that affect the client’s final acceptance of the
arrangement Any cost of standard warranties and remaning obhgations
that are mnconsequential or perfunctory are accrued when the
corresponding revenue 1s recognized Revenue from rentals and
operating leases 1s recognized on a straight-line bas:s over the term
of the rental orlease

Software
Revenue from perpetual (one-time charge) license software i1s
recognized at the inception of the license term if all revenue recognition
critena have been met Revenue from term (recurring license charge)
license software 1s recognized on a subscription basis over the
period that the client 1s entitled to use the license Revenue from
subscription and suppert, which includes unspecified upgrades on
a when-and-if-avatlable basis, 1s recognized on a straight-ine basis
over the penod such items are delivered In multiple-deliverable
arrangements that nclude software that 1s more than incidentat to
the products or services as a whole (software muttiple-deliverable
arrangements), software and software-related elemeants are
accounted for n accordance with software revenue recognition
guidance Software-related elements include software products
and serwices for which a software deliverable 1s essential to its
functionality Tangible products containing software components
and non-software components that function tegether to deliver the
tangible product’s essential funchonality are not within the scope of
software revenue recognition guidlance and are accounted for based
on other applicable revenue recognititon guidance

A software multiple-deliverable arrangement 1s separated into
more than one unit of accounting if all of the following criteria are met

+ The functionality of the delivered element{s}is not dependent
on the undelivered element(s),

« There s venrdor-gpecific chiective evidence {VSOE) of far
value of the undelivered element(s) VSOE of farr value 1s
based on the price charged when the delivarable 1s sold
separately by the company on a regular basis and not
as part of the multiple-deliverable arrangement, and

« Delivery of the delvered element(s} represents the culmination
of the earrmings process for that element(s}

If any one of these criena are not met, the arrangement 1s accounted
far as one unit of accounting which would result In revenue being
recognized ratably over the contract term or being deferred until the
earher of when such cnteria are met or when the last undelivered
element 1s delivered If these critena are met for each element
and there 15 VSOE of fair value for all units of accounting in an
arrangement, the arrangement consideration 1s allocated to the
separate umts of accounting based on each unit’s relative VSOE of
far value There may be cases, however, In which therg 15 VSOE of
fair value of the undehvered item(s) but no such evidence for the
delivered item(s) In these cases, the residual method 1s used to
allocate the arrangerment consideration Under the residual method,
the amount of consideration allocated to the delivered tem(s) equals
the total arrangement consideration less the aggregate VSOE of far
value of the undelvered elements

The company’s muliple-deliverable arrangements may have a
stand-alone software deliverable that 1s subject to the existing
software revenue recegrution guidance The revenue for these
multiple-deliverable arrangements 1s allocated to the software
deliverable and the non-software deliverables based on the relative
selling prices of all of the deliverables i the arrangement using
the herarchy VSOE, third-party evidence (TPE) or best estmate of
seling pnee (BESP) In the lmited circumstances where the company
cannot determine VSOE or TPE of the selling price for all of the
delverables in the arrangement, including the software defiverable,
BESP 1s used for the purpeose of performing this aliocation

Financing

Financing income attrnibutable to sales-type leases, direct financing
leases and loans 1s recogruzed on the accrual basis using the
effective interest method Operating lease income is recognized on
a straight-iine basis over the term of the lease

Best Estimate of Selling Price
In certain imited instances, the company 1s not able to establish
VSOE for all elements in a multiple-deliverable arrangement When
VSOE cannot be established, the company attempts to establish
the sefling price of each element based on TPE TPE 15 determined
based on competitor pnces for similar deliverables when sold separately
When the company 1s unable tc establish selling price using
VSCE or TPE, the company uses BESP in its allocation of arrangement
consideration The objective of BESP is to deterrmine the price at
which the company would transact a sale If the product or service
were scld on a stand-alone basts Due to the fact that the company
sells its products and services on a stand-alone basis, and therefore
has established VSOE for its products and services offerings, the
company uses BESP to determune the relative seling price for a
product or service in a multiple-deliverable arrangement on an
infrequent basis An example of when BESP would be used 1s when
the company sells a new product, for which VSOE and TPE does
not yet exist, In a multiple-deliverable arrangement prior to selling
the new product on a stand-aione basis
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The company deterrmines BESP by considering muitiple factors
including, but not imited to, overall market conditions, including
geographic or regional specific factors, competitive positioning,
competitor actions, internal costs, profit objectives and pricing
practices The determination of BESP 1s a formal process that
includes review and approval by the company's management In
addition, the company regularly reviews VSOE and TPE for its
products and services, in addition {o BESP

Services Costs
Recurrng operating costs for services contracts, ncluding costs
related to bid and proposal activities, are recognized as incurred
For fixed-price design and build contracts, the costs of external
hardware and software accounted for under the POC method are
deferred and recogmzed based on the labor costs incurred to date,
as a percentage cof the total estimated labor costs to fulfll the
contract Certan ehgible, nonrecurnng ¢osts ncurred in the initial
phases of outsourcing contracts are deferred and subsequently
amortized These costs consist of transition and setup costs related
to the installation of systems and processes and are amortized on
a straight-line basts over the expected period of benefit, not to exceed
the term of the contract Additionally, fixed assets associated with
outsourcing contracts are capitalized and depreciated on a straight-
line basis over the expected useful ife of the asset If an asset 1s
contract specific, then the depreciation period s the shorter of the
useful life of the asset or the contract term Amounts pad to clhients
In excess of the fair value of acquired assets used in cutsourcing
arrangements are deferred and amortized on a straight-line basis
as a reduction of revenue over the expected penod of benefit not to
exceed the term of the contract The company performs penodic
reviews to assess the recoverability of deferred contract transition
and setup costs This review 1$ done by companng the estmated
minimum remaining undiscounted cash flows of a contract to the
unamortized contract costs If such minimum undiscounted cash flows
are not sufficient to recover the unamortized costs, aloss 1S recognized
Deferred services transition and setup costs were $2,586 million
and $2,614 million at December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively
Amortization expense of deferred services transition and setup
costs is estimated at December 31, 2011 to be $844 million in 2012,
$652 million in 2013, $477 milion in 2014, $314 milfion in 2015 and
$302 million thereafter

Deferred amounts paid to chents in excess of the far value of
acqurred assets used In outsourcing arrangements were $65 million
and $78 milion at Decemnber 31, 2011 and 2010, raspectively
Amortizaton of deferred amounts paid to chents in excess of the far
value of acquired assets 1s recorded as an offset of revenue and is
estimated at December 31, 2011 to be $25 mullion in 2012, $18 million
in 2013, $16 milionin 2014, $5 million In 2015 and $1 milhon thereafter
In situations in which an outsourcing contract 1s terminated, the
terms of the contract may require the client to reimburse the company
for the recovery of unbiled accounts recevable, unamortized
deferred costs incurred to purchase specific assets utihized in the
delivery of services and to pay any additional costs incurred by the
company to transition the services

Software Costs
Costs that are related to the conceptual formulation and design of
hcensed software programs are expensed as incurred to research,
development and engineenng expense, costs that are incurred to
produce the fimshed product after technological feasibility has been
established are capitalized as an intangible asset Capitalized
amounts are amortized on a straight-line basis over penods ranging
up to three years The company performs periodic reviews to ensure
that unamortized program costs remain recoverable from future
revenue Costs 1o support or service licensed programs are charged
to software cost as ncurred

The company capitalizes certain costs that are incurred to
purchase or tc create and mplement internal-use software programs,
including software coding, nstallation, testing and certain data
corwersions These capitalized costs are amortized on a straight-
line basis over penods up to two years and are recarded in seling,
general and administrative expense See note |, “Intangible Assets
Including Goodwill,” on pages 105 and 106

Product Warranties

The company offers warranties for its hardware products that
generally range up 1o three years, with the majorty being either one
or three years Estimated costs for warranty terms standard to the
deliverable are recognized when revenus 1s recorded for the related
deliverable The company estirnates s warranty costs standard to
the deliverable based on histonical warranty claim experience and
applies this estimate to the revenue stream for products under
warranty Estimated future costs for warranties applicable to revenue
recognized in the current peniod are charged to cost of revenue
The warranty lability 1s reviewad quarterly to vernfy that it properly
reflects the remaining obligation based on the anticipated expenditures
over the balance of the obhigation period Adjustments are made
when actual warranty claim experience differs from estimates Costs
from fixed-pnce suppert or maintenance contracts, including extended
warranty contracts, are recognized as ncurred
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Revenue from separately priced extended warranty contracts Is
recorded as deferred income and subsequently recognized on a
straight-line basis over the delivery penod Changes in the company’s
deferred income for extended warranty contracts and warranty
hability for standard warranties, which are included in other accrued
expenses and kabilities and other iabtlities m the Consocidated
Staterment of Financial Position, are presented in the following tables

Standard Warranty Liabiity

($ 11 muliions)

Z0il 2010
Balance at January 1 o aTh $316
Current penod accruals 415 407
Accrual adjustments to reflect actual expariance b €9
Charges incurred [T (418)
Balance at December 31 5 497 $375

Extended Warranty Liability {Deferred Income)

{3 1In mulions}
2011 2010
Balance at January 1 $€70 $ 665
Revenue deferred for new extended
warranty contracts 514 329
Amortzaton of deferred revere__ [Bagr (801)
Other* {19} {22)
Balance at December 31 5 646 $670
Qurrentporton o ... 2300 8315
Noncurrent portion 335 355
Balance at D ber 31 £ 636 $670

* Other consists primarily of farelgn currency translation adjustments

Shipping and Handling
Costs related to shipping and handling are recognized as incurred
and included in costin the Consolidated Statement of Earnings

Expense and Other income

Selling, General and Administrative

Selling, general and administrative (SG&A) expense 1s charged to
income as incurred Expenses of promoting and selling products
and services are classified as selling expense and include such tems
as compensation, advertising, sales commissions and travel General
and adminsstrative expense includes such items as compensation,
office supplies, non-income taxes, Insurance and office rental In
additron, general and adrunistrative expense Includes other operating
itemns such as an allowance for credit losses, werkforce rebalancing
accruals for contractually obligated paymerts o employees terminated
In the ongoing course of business, acquisition costs related to
business combinations, amortization of certan intangible assets
and environmental remediation costs

Advertising and Promotional Expense

The company expenses advertiging and promotional costs when
incurred Cooperative advertising reimbursements from vendors are
recorded net of advertising and promotional expense in the penod
in which the related advertising and promotional expense is incurred
Advertising and promotional expense, whnich includes media,
agency and promotional expense, was $1,373 milion, $1.337 milion
and $1,255 milion in 2011, 2010 and 2009, respectively, and 1s
recorded in SG&A expense In the Consolidated Statement of Earrings

Research, Development and Engineernng

Research, development and engineenng {RD&E) costs are expensed
as incurred Software costs that are incurred to produce the fiished
product after technological feasibility has been estabhished are
capitalized as an intangible asset. See “Software Costs” on page 79

Intellectual Property and Custom Development income

The company licenses and sells the rights to certain of its intellectual
property {IP) Inciuding internally developed patents, trade secrets
and technological know-how Certain IP iransactions to third partes
are licensing/royalty-based and others are transaction-based sales
and other transfers Licensing/royalty-based fees involve transfers
inwhich the cormpany earns the income over time, or the amount of
Income 1s not fixed or determinable until the licensee sells future
related products {i e, vanable royalty, based upon licensee’s revenue)
Sales and other transfers typlcally include transfers of IP whereby
the company has fulfilled its obligations and the fee received 1s
fixed or deterrminabile at the transfer date The company aiso enters
into cross-hcensing arrangements of patents, and income from
these arrangements 1s recorded only to the extent cash s receved
Furthermore, the company earns income from certain custom
development projects for strategic technology partners and specific
clents The company records the Income from these projects when
the fee 1s reahized or realizable and earned, s not refundable and
1s not dependent upon the success of the project

Other {Income) and Expense

Other {ncome) and expense includes interest ncome (other than
from Global Financing external busmess transactions}, gans and
losses on certain derwvative instruments, gans and losses from
securnties and other investments, gains and losses from certan reat
estate transactions, foreign currency transaction gains and fosses,
gamns and losses from the sale of businesses and amounts related
to accretion of asset retirement obhgations
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Business Combinations and

Intangible Assets Including Goodwill

The company accounts for business combinations using the
acquesition methed and accordingly, the identifiable assets acquired,
the liabilities assumed, and any noncontrofing interest In the acquree
are recorded at their acquisition date fair values Goodwill represents
the excess of the purchase price over the farr value of net assets,
including the amount assigned to identifiable intangible assets The
primary drivers that generate goodwill are the value of synergies
between the acquired entities and the company and the acquired
assembled workforce, neither of which qualfies as an identifiable
Intangible asset 1dentitiable ntangible assets with finite lives are
amortized over therr useful lives Amortization of completed technology
15 recorded n cost, and amortization of &t other intangible assets is
recorded in SG&A expense See note C, “Acquisitions/Divestitures,”
on pades 89 to 83 and note | "Intanglhle Assets Inchuding Goodwill,!

on pages 105 and 106, for additional information Acquisiton-related
costs, Including adwsory, legal, accounting, valuation and other costs,
are expensed In the penods in which the costs are iIncurred The
results of operations of acquired businesses are included in the
Consolidated Financial Statements from the acquisition date

impairment

L.ong-lived assets, other than goodwilh, are tested for imparment
based on undiscounted cash flows and, if impaired, written down to
farr valug based on erther discounted cash flows or appraised values
Goodwill 1s tested annually, in the fourth quarter, for impairment, or
sooner when circurmnstances indicate an mmparment may exst, using
aqualitative analysis at the reporiing unit level A reporting unit 1s the
operating segment, or a business, which is one level betow that
operating segment (the “component” level) if discrete financial
information 1s prepared and regularly reviewed by management at
the segrment level Components are aggregated as a single reporing
urit if they have similar economic charactenstics

Depreciation and Amortization
Property, plant and equipment are carried at cost and depreciated
over therr gstmated useful Iives using the straight-hne method The
estimated useful Ives of certa:n depreciable assels are as follows
buildings, 30 to 50 years, bulding equipment, 10 to 20 years, land
improvements, 20 years, plant, laboratary and office equipment,
2 to 20 years, and computer equipment, 15 to 5 years Leasehold
improvements are amortized over the shorter of therr estimated
useful lives or the related lease term, rarely exceeding 25 years
Capttalized software costs ncurred or acquired after technological
feasibiity has been established are amortized over perods rangmg
upto 3 years Capialized costs for internal-use software are amortized
on a straight-hne basis over periods up to 2 years (See “Software
Costs” on page 79 for addtional information) Other intangible assets
are amortized over periods between 1and 7 years

Environmental

The cost of Internal environmental protection programs that are
preventative i nature are expensed as incurrad When a cleanup
program becomes likely, and 1t 1s probable that the company will
incur cleanup costs and those costs can be reascnably eshimated,
the company accrugs remediation costs for known environmental
iabilities The company's maximum exposure for all environmental
habihties cannot be estimated and no amounts are recorded for
environmental iabilities that are not probable or estimable

Asset Retirement Obligations

Asset retirement obligations (ARQ) are legal obligabons associated
waith the retirement of long-lived assets These habilities are inthally
recorded at far value and the related asset retirement costs are
capitalized by increasing the carrying amount of the related assets
by the same amount as the hability Asset retirernent costs are
subsequently depreciated over the useful lives of the related assets
Subsequent to initial recogrition, the company records penod-to-
period changes 1n the ARC hability resulting from the passage of
time i interest expense and revisions {o either the timing of the
amount of the oniginal expected cash flows to the related assets

Defined Benefit Pension and
Nonpension Postretirement Benefit Plans
The funded status of the company's defined benefit pension plans
and nonpension postretirement benefit plans {retrement-related
benefit plans) 1s recogmzed in the Consolidated Statement of
Financial Postion The funded status s measured as the difference
between the farr value of plan assets and the benefit obligation at
December 31, the measurement date For defined benefit pension
plans, the benefit obligation ts the proected benefit obligation {(PBO),
which represents the actuanal present value of benefits expected
to be paid upon retirement based on employee services already
rendered and estimated future compensation levels For the
nonpension postretirement benefit plans, the benefit ocbligation 1s
the accumulated postretirement benefit obligation (APBO), which
represents the actuarial present value of postretirement benefits
attnbuted to employee services already rendered The farr value
of plan assets represents the current market value of cumulative
company and participant contributions mace to anrrevocable trust
fund, held for the scle banefit of participants, which are invested by
the trust fund Overfunded plans, with the fair value of plan assets
exceeding the benefit obligation, are aggregated and recorded as
a prepaid pension asset equal to this excess Underfunded plans,
with the benefit obligation exceeding the fair value of ptan assets,
are aggregated and recorded as a retirement and nonpension
postretirement benefit obligation equal to this excess

The current portion of the retirement and nonpensron post-
retirement benefit obligations represents the actuanal present value
ot benefits payable in the next 12 months exceeding the far value of
plan assets, measured on a plan-by-plan basis This obligation is
recorded in compensation and berefits in the Consolidated Statement
of Financial Position

B1
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Net periodic penston and nonpension postretirement benefit
cost/(income) is recorded in the Consclidated Statement of Earmings
and includes service cost, Interest cost, expected return on plan
assets, amortization of pnior service costs/(credits) and (gans)/losses
previously recognized as a component of other comprehensive
income/(loss) and amortization of the net transnion asset remaining
" accumulated other comprehensive income/(loss) Service cost
represents the actuarial present value of participant benefits earned
n the current year Interest cost represents the ime value of money
cost associated with the passage of ime Certain events, such as
changes in the employee base, plan amendments and changes in
actuarial assumptions, result in a change In the benefit obiigation
and the corresponding change m other comprehensive income/
(loss) The result of these events 1s amortized as a component of
net penodic cost/(income) over the service lives or Iife expectancy
of the participants, depending on the plan, provided such amounts
exceed thresholds which are based upon the benefit obligation or
the vaiue of plan assets Net penodic cost/(income) is recorded In
cost, SG&A and RD&E in the Consolidated Statement of Earnings
based on the employees’ respective function

(Gans)/losses and prior service costs/{credits) not recognized
as a component of net penodic cost/{income) in the Consolidated
Statement of Earmuings as they anse are recognized as a component
of ather comprehensive income in the Consoldated Statement of
Comprehensive Income Those (gans)/losses and prior serice costs/
{credits) are subsequentty recognized as a component of net periodic
cost/income) pursuant 1o the recognition and amortization provisions
of applicable accounting guidance (Gains)/losses anse as a result
of differences between actual experience and assumptionsoras a
result of changes in actuanal assumptions Prior sarvice costs/(cradits)
represent the cost of benefit changes attributable to prior service
granted in plan amendments

The measurement of benefit obligations and net perodic cost/
{income} 1s based on estimates and assumptions approved by the
company's management These valuations reflect the terms of the
plans and use participant-specific mformation such as compensation,
age and years of service, as well as certan assumptions, including
estimates of discount rates, expected return on plan assets, rate of
compensaton increases, INterest crediting rates and mortality rates

Defined Contribution Plans

The company's contribution for defined contribution plans is recorded
when the employee renders service to the company, essentially
coinciding with the cash contributions to the ptans The charge 1s
recorded In cost, SG&A and RDAE in the Consclidated Statement
of Earnings based on the employees’ respective function

Stock-Based Compensation
Stock-based compensation represents the cost related to stock-
based awards granted to employees The company measures stock-
based compensation cost at the grant date, based on the estimated
far value of the award and recognizes the cost on a straight-line
basts (net of estimated forfeitures) over the employee requisite
service period The company estimates the farr value of stock
options using a Black-Scholes valuation model The company also
grants its employees Restricted Stock Units {RSUs), mcluding
Retention Restricted Stock Units (RRSUs), and Performance Share
Units (PSUs) RSUs are stock awards granted to employges that
entitte the holder to shares of common stock as the award vests,
typically aver a one- to five-year period The farr vatue of the awards
15 determined and fixed on the grant date based on the company’s
stock price, adjusted for the exclusion of dividend equivalents All
stock-based compensation cost 1s recorded in cost, SG&A, and
RD&E in the Consolidated Statement of Earnings based on the
employees' respective function

The company records deferred tax assets for awards that result
in deductions on the company's Income tax returns, based on the
amount of compensation cost recognized and the statutory tax rate
in the junsdiction in which 1t will receive a deduction Differences
between the deferred tax assets recognized for financial reporting
purposes and the actual tax deduction reported on the Income tax
return are recorded in addiional pad-in capital (if the tax deduction
exceeds the deferred tax asset) or in the Consolidated Statement
of Earmings (f the deferred tax asset exceeds the tax deduction
and no additional pard-m capital exists from previous awards) See
nota R, “Stock-Based Compensation,” on pages 118 to 121 for
additional information

Income Taxes
Income tax expense Is based on reported ncome before ncome
taxes Deferred ncome taxes reflect the tax effect of temporary
differences between asset and liability amounts that are recognized
for financial reporting purpases and the amounts that are recognized
for income tax purpeses These deferred taxes are measured by
applying currently enacted tax laws Valuation allowances are
recognized to reduce deferred tax assets 10 the amount that witt
more likely than not be realized In assessing the need for a valuation
allowance, management considers all available evidence for each
junsdiction including past operating results, estimates of fuiure
taxable income and the feasibility of ongoing tax planning strategies
When the company changes its determination as 1o the armount of
deferred tax assets that can be realized, the valuation aliowance 1s
adjusted with a corresponding iImpact to Income tax expense In the
peried in which such determination 1s made

The company recognizes tax habities when, despite the company's
belef that its tax return positions are supportable, the company
believes that certan positions may not be fully sustained upon review
by tax authonities Benefits from tax positions are measured at the
largest amount of beneiit that is greater than 50 percent hkely of
being realized upon settlement The current portion of tax liabilities
1s Included In taxes and the nongurrent portion of tax liabilities 1s
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included in other liabilities in the Consolidated Statement of Financial
Posttion To the extent that new information becomes avallable which
causes the company to change s judgment regarding the adequacy
of existing tax hiabilities, such changes to tax habilities will impact
income tax expense in the period in which such determination 1s
made Interest and penatties, if any, related to accrued habilities for
potential tax assessments are Included in ncome tax expense

Translation of Non-U.S. Currency Amounts
Assets and lizbilties of non-US subsidianes that have a local
functional currency are transiated to United States (U S) doliars at
year-end exchange rates Translation adjustments are recorded in
ather comprehensive income. Income and expense tems are translated
at weighted-average rates of exchange prevailing during the year

Inventories, property, plant and equipment —net and other non-
monetary assets and habilities of non-U S subsidianes and branches
that operate InU S dollars are translated at the approximate exchange
rates prevaling when the company acquired the assets or liabilites
All other assets and habilities denominated in a currency other than
US dollars are translated at year-end exchange rates wrth the
transaction gan or loss recognized in other (income) and expense
Cost of sales and depreciaton are translated at historical exchange
rates All other ncome and expense items are transiated at the
weighted-average rates of exchange prevaiing during the year These
translahon gains and losses are included In net Income for the period
in which exchange rates change

Derivative Financial Instruments

All derwvatives are recognized in the Consohdated Statermnent of
Financial Position at fair value and are reported in prepaid expenses
and other current assets, mvestments and sundry assets, other
accrued expenses and labilities or other labihties Classification of
each dernvative as current or noncurrent s based upon whether the
matunty of the instrument 1s less than or greater than 12 months To
qualfy for hedge accounting, the company requires that the instruments
be effective in reducing the nisk exposure that they are designated
to hedge For instruments that hedge cash flows, hedge designation
critena also require that it be probable that the underlying transaction
will occur Instruments that meet established accounting critena are
formally designated as hedges These criterta demonstrate that the
dervative 1s expected o be highly effective at offsetting changes in
fair value or cash flows of the underlying exposure both at Inception
of the hedging relationship and on an ongoing basts The method of
assessing hedge effectiveness and measunng hedge neffectiveness
15 formally documented at hedge nception The company assesses
hedge effectiveness and measures hedge ineffectiveness at least
guarterly throughout the designated hedge period

Where the company applies hedge accounting, the company
designates each derwvative as a hedge of (1) the fair value of a
recognized financial asset or iabiity or of an unrecognized firm
commitment (farr value hedge attributable 10 interest rate or foreign
cumency nsk), (2) the vanability of anticipated cash flows of a forecasted
transaction or the cash flows 0 be receved or paid related o a
recognized financial asset or lability {cash flow hedge attnbutable
to interest rate of foreign currency nsk), or (3) a hedge of a long-term
investment {net Investrnent hedge) in a foreign operation In addition,
the company may enter irto derwvative contracts that economically
hedge certain of its risks, even though hedge accounting does not
apply or the company elects not to apply hedge accounting Inthese
cases, there exists a natural hedging retationship in which changes
in the farr value of the dervative, which are recognized currently in
net Income, act as an economic offset to changes in the far value
of the underiying hedged item(s}

Changes in the farr value of a denvative that 1s designated as a
fair value hedge, along with offsetting changes in the fair value of the
underiying hedged exposure, are recorded in earnings each peniod
For hedges of interest rate nsk, the far value adjustments are
recorded as adjustments to interest expsense and cost of financing
in the Consolidated Statement of Earnings For hedges of currency
nsk associated with recorded financial assets or fiabiliies, dervative
farr value adjustments are recognized in other (income) and expense
in the Consolidated Statement of Earmings Changes in the fair value
of a dernivative that 1s designated as a cash flow hedge are recorded,
net of apphcable taxes, iIn other comprehensive iIncome, in the
Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive income When net
income Is affected by the vanability of the underlying cash flow, the
applicabie offsetung amount of the gain or 1oss from the derivative
that 1s deferred in equity 1s released to net income and reported
In interest expense, cost, SGRA expense or other (income) and
expense in the Consolidated Statement of Earnings based on the
nature of the underlying cash flow hedged Effectiveness for net
investment hedging denvatives 1s measured on a spot-to-spot basis
The effective portion of changes in the fair value of net investment
hedging dernvatives and other non-dervative financial instruments
designated as net investment hedges are recorded as foreign
currency translation adjustments in other comprehensive INncome
Changes in the farr value of the portion of a net investment hedging
denvative excluded from the effectiveness assessment are recorded
ininterest expense If the underlying hedged item i a farr value hedge
ceases to extst, all changes in the farr value of the derivative are
included In net income each penod untl the instrument matures
When the dervative transaction ceases to exist, @ hedged asset or
habilty 1s no longer adjusted for changes in its farr value except as
required under other relevant accounting standards Derivatives that
are not designated as hedges, as well as changes in the farr value of
dervatives that do not effectively offset changes in the farr value of
the underlying hedged rtem throughout the desrgnated hedge period
(collectively, “ineffectiveness”}, are recorded in net income each
pernod and are reported in other (income) and expense When a
cash flow hedging relationship 1s discontinued, the net gain or loss
In accumulated other comprehensive income must generally remain
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In accumulated ather comprehensive Income/{loss} in the Consclidated
Statement of Changes in Equity until the tem that was hedged affects
earnings However, when it (s probable that a forecasted transaction
will not occur by the end of the onginally specified time penod or
within an additional two-month penod thereafier, the net gain or loss
in accumulated other comprehensive income must be reclassified
into earnings iImmediately The company reports cash flows ansing
from derivative financial instruments designated as farr value or
cash flow hedges consistent with the classification of cash flows
from the underiying hedged items that these denvatives are hedging
Accordingly, the cash flows associated with dervatives designated
as farr value or cash flow hedges are classified in cash flows from
operating activities In the Consoclidated Statement of Cash Flows
Cash flows from dervatves designated as net nvestment hedges
and denvatives that do not qualfy as hedges are reported in cash
flows from investing activities For currency swaps designated as
hedges of foreign currency denominated debt (included in the
company’s debt nsk management program as addressed in note D,
“Financial Instruments.” on pages 96 to 100), cash flows directly
associated with the settlement of the principal element of these
swaps are reported in payments to settle debt in cash flows from
financing actmties in the Congolidated Statement of Cash Flows

Financial instruments

In determining the farr value of its financial instruments, the company
uses a variety of methods and assumptions that are based on market
conditions and risks existing at each balance sheet date Refer 1o
note D, “Financial Instruments,” on pages 93 tc 96 for further
information All metheds of assessing far value result in a general
approximation of value, and such value may never actually be realized

Fair Value Measurement

Accounting guidance defines fair value as the price that would be
received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a hability in an orderly
transactton between market participants at the measuremnent date
Under this guidance, the company 1s required to classify certain
assets and habihties based on the following fair value hwerarchy

+ Level 1—Quoted prices in active markets that are
unadjusted and accessible at the measurement date
for identical, unrestricted assets or labilies,

= | evel 2—Quoted prices for identical assets and liabilities
in markets that are not active, quoted prices for similar
assets and Iiabilities in active markets or financial instruments
for which significant inputs are observable, either directly
or indirectly, and

+ Level 3—Prices or valuations that require inputs that are
both significant to the fair value measurement and
unobservable, ncluding the company’s own assumptions
in determining fair vaiue

The guidance requires the use of observable market data if such
data 1s avallable without undue cost and effort

When available, the company uses unadjusted quoted market
prices to measure the fair value and classifies such items within
Level 1 If quoted market prices are not available, far value 1s based
upon internally developed models that use current market-based
or Independently sourced market parameters such as interest rates
and currency rates items valued using intemally generated models
are classified according to the lowest level input ar value driver that
15 significant to the valuation

The deterrmination of fair value considers various factors including
Interest rate yield curves and time value underlying the financial
nstruments For dervatives and debt secunties, the company uses
a discounted cash flow analysis using discount rates commensurate
with the duration of the instrument

In determining the far value of financial Instruments, the company
considers certain market valuation adjustments to the *base valuations™
calculated using the methodologies described below for several
parameters that market participants would consider in determining
far value

» Counterparty credit nsk adustmerts are applied o
financial nstruments, taking into account the actual credit risk
of a counterparty as observed in the credt default swap
market to determing the true far value of such an instrument
« Credt risk adjustments are apphed to reflect the company’s
own credit risk when valuing all labilties measured at
fair vatue The methodology Is consistent with that applied
n developing counterparty credit nsk adjustments, but
incorperates the company's own credit nsk as observed
In the credit default swap market

As an example, the fair value of dervatives 1s derved by a discounted
cash flow model using observable market inputs such as known
notional value amounts, yield curves, spot and forward exchange
rates as well as discount rates These inputs relate to Iiguid, heavity
traded currencies with active markets which are available for the
full term of the derwvative

Certain financial assets are measured at farr value on a nonrecurnng
basis These assets include equity method investments that are
recognized at farr value at the end of the period to the extent that
they are deerned to be other-than-temporarily impaired Certain
assets that are measured at far value on a recurning basis can be
subject to nonrecurnng fair value measurements These assets
include public cost method investments that are deemed to be othar-
than-temporarily mpared In the event of an other-than-temporary
impairment of a financial Instrument, farr valug 1s measured using a
model described above

Accounting gutdance permits the measurement of eligible
financial assets, financial kabilities and firm comraitrments at farr value,
on an Instrument-by-Instrument bass, that are otherwise not permitted
to be accounted for at fair value under other accounting standards
This election 1s irrevocable The company does not apply the far
value option to any eligible assets or habilities
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Cash Equivalents
Alt ighly hquid investments with maturities of three months or less at
the date of purchase are considered to be cash equivalents

Marketable Securities
Debt securties included in current assets represent secunties that
are expected o be realized in cash within one year of the balance
sheet date Long-term debt secunties that are not expected to be
reahzed in cash within one year and allance equity secunties are
included m investments and sundry assets Debt and marketable
equity securities are considered avallable for sale and are reported
at fair value with unrealized gams and losses, net of applicable taxes,
recorded in other camprehensive income/{loss) The realized gains
and losses for avallable-for-sale securities are included in other
{income} and expense In the Consolidated Statement of Earnings
Realized gans and losses are calculated based on the specific
identification method

In deterrmning whether an other-than-temporary dacline in market
value has occurred, the company considers the duration that, and
extent to which, the farr value of the investment is below its cost, the
financial condrtion and near-term prospects of the Issuer or underiying
collateral of a secunty, and the company's intent and ability to retan
the security in order to allow for an anticipated recovery in farr value
Cther-than-temporary declines in fair value from amortized cost for
avallable-for-sale equity and debt secunties that the company intends
to sell or would more-likely-than-not be required to sell befors the
expected recovery of the amortized cost basis are charged to other
{income) and expense in the period in which the loss occurs For
debt securities that the company has no intent to sell and believes
that it more-likely-than-not will not be required to sell prior to recovery,
only the credit loss component of the imparment 1s recognized in
other (income) and expense, while tha remaining loss Is recognized
In other comprehensive Income/(loss) The credit loss component
recognized In other (ncome) and expense 1s iIdentified as the amount
of the principal cash flows not expected to be receved over the
rernairing term of the debt security as projected using the company’s
cash flow projections

Inventones

Raw matenals, work In process and finished goods are stated at the
lower of average cost or market Cash flows related to the sale of
inventories are reflected in net cash from operating actvities in the
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

Allowance for Credit Losses

Recevables are recorded concurrent with biling and shipment of a
product and/or delivery of a service to customers A reasonable
estimate of probable net losses on the value of customer recervables
15 recognized by establishing an allowance for credit losses

Notes and Accounts Receivable~Trade

An allowance for uncollectible trade receivables i1s estimated based
on a combination of write-off history, aging analysis and any specific,
known troubled accounts

Financing Receivables
Financing recevables include sales-type leases, direct financing
leases and loans Leases are accounted for n accardance with lease
accounting standards Loan recevables are financial assets recorded
at amortized cost which approximates fair value The company
determines its allowances for credit losses on financing receivables
based on two portfolio segments lease receivables and loan
recevables (see note F_“Financing Recevables,” on pages 101 fo
104} The company further segments the portfolio via two classes
major markets anag growth markets

When calculating the allowances, the company considers its
ability to mitigate a potential loss by repossessing leased equipment
and by considening the current far market value of any other collateral
The value of the equipment is the net realizable value The allowance
for credit lossas for capital leases, installment sales and customer
loans includes an assessment of the entire balance of the capital
lease or loan, ncluding amounts not yet due The methodologies that
the company uses to calculate its recevables reserves, which are
applied consistently to its different portfolios, are as follows

Individually Evaluated—The company reviews all financing
recevables considered at sk on a quarterly basis The review primanly
consists of an analysis based upon current information avatlable
about the customer, such as financral statements, news reports,
published credit ratings, current market-implied credit analysis, as
well as the current ecoencmic environmeant, coliateral net of
repossession cost and prior collection history For loans that are
collateral dependent, imparrment is measured using the fair value of
the collateral when foreclosure 1s probable Using this information, the
company determines the expected cash flow for the recevable and
calculates an estmate of the potential loss and the probability of loss
For those accounts in which the loss is probable, the company
records a specific reserve
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Coilectively Evaluated—The company records an unallocated
reserve that 1$ calculated by applying a reserve rate to its different
portfolios, excluding accounts that have been specifically reserved
This reserve rate 1s based upon credit rating, probability of default,
term, charactenstics (lease/loan), and loss history Factors that could
result In actual recevable losses that are matenally different from the
astimated reserve include sharp changes in the economy, or a significant
change in the econamic health of a particular customer that represents
a concentration in the company's recenvables portfolic

Other Credit Related Policies

Non-Accrual—Certain recewvables for which the company has
recorded a specific reserve may also be placed on non-accrual
status Non-accrual assets are those recelvables (impaired icans or
nonperforming leases) with specific reserves and other accounts for
which it 15 ikely that the compary will be unable to collect afl amounts
due accordng to origina! terms of the lease or loan agreement Income
recognition 1s discontinued on these receivables Cash collections
are first applied as a reduction to principal outstanding Any cash
receved In excess of principal payments outstanding I1s recognized
as nterest ncome Recewables may be removed from non-accrual
status, If appropriate, based upon changes in client circumstances

Write Off—Recetvable losses are charged against the allowance
when management befieves the uncollectibiiity of the recevable 1s
confirmed Subsequent recovenes, If any, are credted to the allowance

Past Due—The company views receivables as past due when
payment has not been received after S0 days, measured from the
ornginal biling date

tmpared Loans—As stated above, the company evaluates all financing
recevables considered at-nsk, including loans, for impairment on a
quarterly basis The cormpany considers any loan with an indwvidually
evaluated reserve as an imparred loan Depending on the level of
impairment, loans will also be placed on non-accrual status as
appropriate Client loans are primarily for software and services and
are unsecured These loans are subjected to credit anatysis 1 evaluate
the associated risk and, when deemed necessary, actions are taken
to mitigate rnisks in the loan agreements which include covenants to
protect aganst credit detenoration during the hife of the obligation

Estimated Residual Values of Lease Assets
The recorded residual values of lease assets are estimated at the
mnception of the lease to be the expected far value of the assets at
the end of the lease term The company periodically reassesses the
realizable value of its lease residual values Any anticipated increases
In specific future residual values are not recogmized before realization
through remarketing efforts Anbcipated decreases In specific future
residual values that are considered to be other-than-temporary are
recogmized immediately upon identification and are recorded as an
adjustment to the residual value estimate For sales-type and direct-
financing leases, this reduction lowers the recordad net investment
and 1s recogruzed as a loss charged 10 financing income in the period
in which the estrmate 1s changed, as well as an adjustment to
unearned income to reduce future-penod financing iIncome

Common Stock

Common stock refers to the $ 20 par value per share capital stock
as designated in the company's Certificate of Incorporation Treasury
stock is accounted for using the cost method When treasury stock
15 reissued, the value 1s computed and recorded usmng a weighted-
average basis

Earnings Per Share of Common Stock

Earmings per share (EPS) 1s computed using the two-class method
The two-class method determines EPS for each class of common
stock and participating secunties according to dividends and
dwvidend equivalents and therr respective participation rights in
undistributed earnings Basic EPS of common stock is computed by
divding net income by the weighted-average number of common
shares outstanding for the pernod Diluted EPS of common stockis
computed on the basis of the weighted-average number of shares of
common stock plus the effect of dilutive potential common shares
outstanding during the pencd using the treasury stock method Dilutve
potential common shares include outstanding stock options, stock
awards and convertible notes See note P, “Earnings Per Share of
Common Stock,” on page 117 for additional information

Note B.
Accounting Changes

New Standards to be Implemented

In May 2011, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB)
1ssued amended guidance and disclosure requirements for fair
value measurements These amendments are not expected to have
a materal impact on the consolidated financial results These
changes were effective January 1, 2012 on a prospective basis

Standards Implemented
In September 20M, the FASB issued additicnal disclosure requirerments
for entities which participate in multi-employer pension plans The
purpose of the new disclosures is to provide financial statement
users with information about an employer's level of participation n
these plans and the financiat health of significant plans The new
disclosures are effective for the full year 2011 financial statements
The company does not participate in any material multi-employer
plans There was no impact in the consolidated financial results as
the changes relate only to additional disclosures

In September 2011, the FASB issued amended guidance that
smplified how entities test goodwill for mpairment After an
assessment of certain qualitative factors, if it 1s determined to be
more likely than not that the fair value of a reporting unit 1s less than
s carrying amount, entities must perform the quantitative analysis
of the goodwill impairment test Otherwise, the quantitative test{s)
become optional The gudance was effective January 1, 2012 with
early adoption permitted The company elected ic adopt this
guidance for the 2011 goocdwil impairment test performed in the
fourth quarter There was no impact in the consolidated financial
results
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In June 201, the FASB 1ssued amended disclosure requirements
for the presemtation of other comprehensive income {OC!) and
accumulated other comprehensive iIncome (AQCH OCHis comprised
of costs, expenses, gans and Iosses that are mciuded in comprehensive
mncome but excluded from net income, and AQCI compnises the
aggregated balances of OCln equity The amended guidance
eliminated the option to present perod changes (OCH) as part of
the Staterment of Changes in Equity Under the amended guidance,
all period changes {OCH) are to be presented either in a single
continuous statement of cormprehensive income, or IN two separate
but consecutive financial stateaments Only summary totals are to be
Included in the AOCH section of the Statement of Changes in Equity
In December 2011, the FASB deferred the requirement to present
reclassifications from AOCH on the face of the Consolidated Statement
of Eamings The changes were effective January 1, 2012 with early
adoption permitted The company elected to early adopt the two-
statemert approach effective with its full year 2011 financial statements
There was no impact in the consolidated financial results as the
amendments related only to changes in financial statement presentation
See note L, "Equity Actmity,” on pages 110 and 112 for tax impacts
related to individual items of OCl and a detalled presentation of the
components of AQCIincluded in the Statement of Changes in Equity

InDecember 2010, the FASB 1ssued amended guidance to clarify
the acquisition date that should be used for reporting pro-forma
financial information for business combinations If comparative
financial statements are presented, the pro-forma revenue and
earnings of the combined entity for the comparable prior reporting
period should be reported as though the acquisition date for all
business combinations that occurred during the current year had
been completed as of the beginning of the comparable prior annual
reporting penod The amendments in this guidance became effective
prospectively for business combinations for which the acquisition
date was on or after January 1, 2011 There was no iImpact in the
consolidated financial results as the amendments relate only to
additional disclosures Inaddition, the company had ne acquisitions
which required pro-forma financial information

In December 2010, the FASB 1ssued amendments to the guidance
on goodwill impairment testing The amendments modify step 1 of
the goodwillimpairment test for reporting units with zero or negative
carryingamounts For those reporting units, an entity s required to
perform step 2 of the goodwill impairment test If it 1s more likely than
not that a goodwill mparrment exists In making that determination,
an entity should consider whether there are any adverse qualitative
factors indicating that imparment may exist The amendments were
effecte January 1, 2011 and did net have an impact in the Consolidated
Financial Statements

In July 2010, the FASB 1ssued amendments to the disclosure
requirements about the credit quality of financing receivables and
the allowance for credit fosses The purpose of the additional
disclosures 1s to enable users of financial statements to better
understand the nature of credit nsk inherent in an entity’s portiolio
of financing recevables and how that sk 1s analyzed For end-of-
penod balances, the new disclosures were required to be made Iin
atlinternim and annual penods ending on or after December 15, 2010

For actvity during a reporting penod, the disclosures were required
to be included in ali Interim and annual penods after January 1, 2011
In January 2011, the FASB temporarily deferred the disclosures
regarding troubled debt restructurings which were included in the
disclosure requirements of this amendment In Apnl 2011, the FASB
issued addittonal guidance and clarfications to help creditors in
determining whether a creditor has granted a concession, and
whether a debtor 1s experiencing financial dfficutties for purposes
of determining whether a restructuning constitutes a troubled debt
restructuang The new guidance and the previously deferred disclosures
becarme effective July 1, 201t apphed retrospectively to January 1, 2011
Prospective application was required for any new iImpairments
identified as a result of this guidance These changes did not have
a material iImpact in the Consolidated Financial Statements

In January 2010, the FASB 1ssued additional disclosure
requirements for fair value measurements According to the guidance,
the farr value hierarchy disclosures should be disaggregated by
class of assets and habilities A class 18 often a subset of assets or
labilibies within a ine item 1n the statement of financial position In
addition, signficant transfers between Levels 1and 2 of the farr value
hierarchy are required to be disclosed These additional requrements
became effective January 1, 2010 for guarterly and annual reportng
These amendments did not have an impact in the consolidated
financial results as this gurdance refates only to addional disclosures
Certain disclosure requirements relating to fair value measurerments
using significant unobservable inputs (Levet 3) were deferred until
January 1, 2011 These additional requirements did not have an
impact In the consolidated financiat results as they related only to
additional disclosures

In October 2009, the FASB 1ssued amended revenue recogrition
gudance for arrangements with multiple deliverables The new
guidance requtres the use of management’s best estimate of selling
price (BESP) for the deliverables in an arrangement when VSOE,
vendor objective evidence (VOE) or TPE of the selling price 1s not
avalable Inaddition, excluding specific software revenue recognition
guidance, the residual method of allocating arrangement consideration
1s no longer permitted, and an entity is required to allocate arrangement
consideration using the relative seling price method In accordance
with the guidance, the compary elected to early adopt its provisions
as of January 1, 2010 on a prospective basis for all new or matenally
modified arrangements entered into on or after that date The adoption
of this guidance did not have a miatertal impact in the Consolidated
Financial Statements

Alsa, in October 2009, the FASB 1ssued guidance which
amended the scope of existing software revenue recognition
gudance Tangible products containing software components and
non-software components that function together to deliver the
tangible product’s essential functionality are no longer within the
scope of software revenue recognition guidance and are accounted
for based on other applicable revenue recognition guidance in
addition, the amendments require that hardware components of a
tangible product containing software components are always
excluded from the scftware revenue recognition gurdance This
guidance had to be adopted in the same period that the company

B7




Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

tnternational Business Machines Corporation and Subsidiary Companies

adopted the amended gudance for arrangements with multiple
deliverables described in the preceding paragraph Therefore, the
company elected 1o early adopt this guidance as of January 1, 2010
on a prospective basis for all new or materially modified arrangements
entered intg on or after that date The adoption of this guidance did
not have a material impact in the Consolidated Financial Statements

For transactions entered into prior to January 1, 2010, the company
recognized revenue based on established revenue recognition
guidance as It related to the elements within the arrangement For
the vast majority of the company's arrangements involving multiple
deliverables, the fee from the arrangement was allocated to each
respective element based on its relative far value, using VSOE In
the Imited circumstances when the company was not able to
determine VSOE for all of the elernents of the arrangement, but was
able to cbtain VSOE for any undelvered elements, revenue was
allocated using the residual method Under the residual method,
the amount of revenue aliocated to delivered elements equaled
the total arrangement consideration less the aggregate far value
of any undelivered elements, and no revenue was recognized until
all elements without VSOE had been delivered If VSOE of any
undetivered items did not exist, revenue from the entire arrangement
was initally deferred and recognized at the earlier of () delivery of
those elements for which VSOE did not exist or (n) when VSOE was
established The residual method and recogniion of revenue ona
ratable basis were generally used in circumstances where VSOE,
as apphcable, was unavaillable

In June 2009, the FASB 1ssued amendments to the accounting
rules for variable interest entities (VIEs) The new guidance eliminates
the quantitative approach previously required for determining the
pnmary beneficiary of a vaniable mterest entity and requires ongoing
qualitative reassessments of whether an enterprise is the pnmary
beneficiary The company adopted these amendments for the mtenm
and annual reporting penods beginmng on January 1, 2010 The
adoption of these amendments did not have a matertal impact in
the Consoldated Financial Statements

In September 2008, the FASB 1ssued amended gudance
concerning far value measurements of investments in certain entities
that calculate net asset value per share (or 1ts equivalent) If fair value
1s not readily determinable, the amended guidance permits, as a
practical expedient, a reporting entity to measure the fair value of
an investment using the net asset value per share (or its equivalent)
provided by the investee without further adjustment In accordance
with the guidance, the company adopted these amendments for the
year ended December 31, 2009 There was nc materal impact in
the Consolidated Financral Statements

In May 2009, the FASB 1ssued guidelines on subseguent event
accounting which sets forth 1) the penod after the balance sheet date
duning which management of a reporting entity should evaluate events
or transactions that may cceur for potential recognition or disclosure
in the financial statements, 2} the circumstances under which an entity
shoufd recognize events or transactions occurning after the balance
sheet date in its financial statements, and 3) the disclosures that an
entity should make about events or transactions that occurred after
the balance sheet date These guidehnes were effective for Interm
and annual periods ending after June 15, 2009, and the company
adopted them in the quarter ended June 30, 2009 In February 2010,
the gurdance was amended 1o remove the reguirement to disclose
the date through which subsequent events were evaluated There
was no impact in the consolidated financial results

OnJanuary 1, 2009, the company adopted the revised FASB
guidance regarding business combinations which was required to
be appled to business combinations on a prospective basts The
revised guidance required that the acquisition method of accounting
be appled to a broader set of business combinations, amended
the definition of a business combination, provided a definition of a
business, reguired an acquirer to recognize an acquired business
at its far value at the acquisition date, and required the assets and
liabilites assumed 1n a business combination to be measured and
recognized at their farr values as of the acquisition date (with imited
exceptions) There was no impact upon adoption and the effects of
this guidance depend on the nature and significance of business
combinations occurnng after the effective date

In April 2008, the FASB issued an amendment to the revised
business combination guidance regarding the accounting for assets
acquired and liabilities assumed in a business combimation that anse
from contingencies The requirements of this amended guidance carry
forward without significant revision the gurdance on contingencies
which existed pror to January 1, 2009 Assets acquired and habiities
assumed in a business combination that arse from contingencies
are recognized at farr value if far value can be reasonably estmated
if fair value cannot be reasonably estimated, the asset or kability
would generally be recognized in accordance with the Accounting
Standards Codificatton (ASC) Topic 450 on contingencies There
was ho rmpact upon adoption
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Note C

AT PR B it

Acquisitions

201

In 2091, the company completed five acquisitions of privately hefd
companies at an aggregate cost of 1,845 milion

These acquisittons were completed as follows 1n the second
qguarter, TRIRIGA, Inc {TRIRIGA), and In the fourth quarter, 12,
Algorithmics, Inc (Algorithmics), Q1 Labs and Curam Software Ltd
{Curam Software) TRIRIGA was integrated mto the Software
and Global Business Services {(GBS) segments upon acguisitton
All other acgquisitions were integrated into the Software segment
upon acquisition All acquisitions reflected 100 percent ownership
of the acquired companies

The table below reflects the purchase price related to these acquisitions and the resulting purchase price allocations as of Decemiper 31, 2011

2011 Acquisitions
{$ In millons)
Amortization Total
Life (In Years) Acquisitions
U BN At L e e e e e e e i e
Foed assets/noncurrent assets P
Intangibla assets
Goodwil . ~ . L o o R S e o T
Completed technology - 3
_Chent relationships __ e : i
Patents/tradermnarks 110" T4
Total assets acquired 21an
Gurem babities e e e {2
Noncurrent krabiities LR
Total habilues assumed 391)
Total purchase price L1 pdt

N/A—No1 applicable

TRIRIGA s a provider of facility and real estate management sottware
solutrons, which help clients make strategic decisions regarding
space usage, evaluate alternative real estate intiatives, generate
higher returns from capital projects and assess environmental impact
rvestments The acquisition adds advanced real estate intelligence
to the company’s smarter buldings inibative 12 expands the company’s
big data analytics software for smarter cities by helping both public
and private entities in government, law enforcement, retail, insurance
and other industries access and analyze information they need to
address cnime, fraud and secunty threats Algonthmics provides
software and services for improved business insights at financial
and insurance institutions to assess nsk and address regulatory
challenges Qi Labs 1s a provider of secunty intelligence software
and will accelerate efforts to hetp clients more intefigently secure
therr enterprises by applying analytics to correlate information from
key security domains and creating security dashboards for their
organizations Curam Software s a prowder of software and services
which help governments improve the efficiency, effectiveness and
accessibility of social programs for smarter citres

Purchase price consideration for all acquisttions as reflected m
the table above, 1s paid primanly In cash All acquisiions are reported
in the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows net of acquired cash
and cash equivalents The overall weighted-average hfe of the
tdentfied intangible assets acquired 1s 6 9 years These identified
intangible assets will be amortized on a straight-ine basis over
ther useful Iives Goodwill of $1,291 mifion has been assigned to
the Software ($1,277 million) and GBS (814 milion) segments Itis
expected that approximately 25 percent of the goodwill will be
deductible for tax purposes.
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On January 8, 2012, the company announced it had completed
the acquisition of Platform Computing, a privately held company
headquartered in Toronto, Ontario, Canada Platform Computing
1s a gtobal leader in cluster and gnd management software for
distributed computing environments At the date of issuance of the
financial statements, the initial purchase accounting was not complete
for the Platform Computing acquisition

On January 11, 2012, the company announced it had completed
the acquisition of Green Hat, a privately held company jointly head-
quariered in London, England and Wilmington, Delaware Green Hat
helps customers improve the qualty of software application by
enabling developers to leverage cloud computing technologies to
conduct testing on a software apphcation prior to its delivery At the
date of issuance of the financial statements, the initial purchase
accounting was not complete for the Green Hat acgquisition

On February 1, 2012, the company completed the acquisition of
Emptoris Inc, a privately held company based in Burlington,
Massachusetts Emptoris 1s a leading provider of cloud and
on-premise anaklytics software that brings more mteiligence to
procurement and supply chain operations with spend, supplier and
contract management for Srarter Cornmerce At the date of issuance
of the financial statements, the initial purchase accounting was not
completed for the Empteris acquisition

QOn February 10, 2012, the company completed the acquisttion
of Worklight, a privately held company based in Israel Workiight 1s
a leading provider of mobile software for smartphones and tablets
and will become an important part of the company's mobilty strategy
At the date of Issuance of the financial statements, the initial purchase
accounting was not compileted for the Worklight acquisiion

On February 15, 2012, the company annocunced that it had
completed the acquistion of DemandTec, a public company based
in San Mateg, California OemandTec delivers cloud-based anatytics
software that enables businesses to exarming different customer
buying scenanos, both cnline and in-store At the date of issuance
of the financial statements, the inthial purchase accounting was not
completed for the DemandTec acquisition

2010
In 2010, the company completed 17 acquisittons at an aggregate
cost of $6,538 milion

Netezza Corporation (Netezza)—On November 10, 2010, the
company completed the acquisition of 100 percent of Netezza, for
cash consideration of $1,847 millon Netezza will expand the compary's
business analytics iniatives to help clients gain faster insights into
therr business information, with iIncreased performance at a lower
cost of ownership Netezza was integrated nto the Software segment
upon acqusition, and goodwall, as reflected in the table on page 91,
was entirely assigned to the Software segment It1s expected that
none of the goodwill will be deductible for tax purposes The overall
weighted average useful life of the identfied intangible assets
acquired 18 6 9 years

Sterling Commerce—0On August 27, 2010, the company completed
the acquisition of 100 percent of Sterting Commerce, a wholly owned
subsidiary of AT&T, Inc, for cash consideration of $1,415 million

Sterling Commerce will expand the cormpany's ability to help clients
accelerate ther nteractions with customers, partners and suppliers
through dynarmic business networks using ether on-premise or cloud
delvery models Stering Commerce was integrated into the Software
segment upon acquisiion, and goodwill, as reflected in the table on
page 91, was entrely assigned to the Software segment It is expected
that none of the goodwill will be deductible for tax purposes The
overall weighted average useful kfe of the identified intangible assets
acquired is 8 9 years

Other Acquisitions—The Software segment also completed
acquisitions of 10 privately held companies and one publicly held
company In the first quarter, Lombardt Software, Inc {Lombard)),
intelliden Inc and Initiate Systems, Inc , in the second quarter, Cast
Iron Systems, 1n the third quarter, BigFix, Inc, Coremetrics and
Datacap, and in the fourth quarter, Unica Corporation (Unica), a
publicly held company, PSS Systems, OpenPages. Inc (OpenPages)
and Clanty Systerns Global Technology Services (GTS) completed
an acqusition In the first quarter the core operating assets of Wilshire
Credit Corporation {(Wilshire) GBS also completed an acquisttion in
the first quarter National Interest Security Company, LLC, a privately
held company Systems and Technology (STG) completed acguistions
of two privately held companies in the third quarter, Storwize, and
in the fourth quarter, BLADE Network Technologies (BLADE) All
acquisthions were for 100 percent of the acquired companies
Lombardi is aleading provider of business process management
software and services, and became part of the company’s apphcation
integration software portfolio Inteliden 1s a leading provider of
inteligent network automation software and will exiend the network
management offenngs Inibate 15 a market leader in data integnty
software for information shanng among healthcare and government
organizations Cast lron Systems, a leading Software as a Service
(SaaS) and cioud application integration provider, enhances the
WebSphere business integration portfollo BigFix, Inc 1s aleading
provider of high-performance enterprise systems and secunty
management solutions that revolutionizes the way T organizations
manage and secure ther computing infrastructure Coremetrics, a
feader 1n Web analytics scftware, will expand the company’s business
analytics capabilities by enabling organtzations to use cloud
computing services to develop faster, more targeted marketing
campagns Datacap will strengthen the company’s ability to help
organizations digitize, manage and autormnate therr information assets.
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The table below reflects the purchase price related to the 2010 acquisitions and the resulting purchase price allocations as of December 31,2010

2010 Acquisttions
(2 n millions)
Amortization Steriing Other
Life {in Years) Neatezza Commerce Acquisitions
Current assels $ 218 $ 196 $ 377
Fixed assets/noncurrent assets_ . oL —_— o _ 73, . 106 0 209
Intangible assets
Gooawll — — N/A _ W40 o 1es2 | 2312
. Lompletedtechnology L e e e e e 31O T .02 L2180 L. A8
Client relationships 27 52 244 293
.n-processR&D ) 4 WY
Patentg/trademarks 1to7 16 14 27
Total assets acquired 1975 1810 3.728
Currenthabibes e e e 9) gzg . _ (81
Noncurrent liabtihes (120) (266) {291}
Total kabites assumed (128) (385) {452}
Total purchase pnce $1847 81 415 $3 277

N/A—Not applicatle

Unica, a leading provider of software and services used to automate
marketing processes, will expand the company's ability to help
organzations analyze and predict customer preferences and develop
more targeted marketing campaigns PSS Systems is a leading
provider of legal information governance and information management
software OpenPages Is a leading provider of software that helps
companies more easlly identify and manage nisk and compliance
actvities across the enterpnse through a single management system
Clanty Systems delivers financial governance software that enables
organizations to autornate the process of collecting, prepanng,
certifying and controlling financial statements for electronic filing
Wilshire’s mortgage serwicing platform wall continue the strategic
focus on the mortgage services industry and strengthens the
commitment to deliver mortgage business process outsourcing
solutiens National Interest Secunty Company will strengthen the
abiity to deliver advanced analytics and IT solutions to the public
sector Storwize, a provider of in-line data compression apphance
solutions, will help the company to make it more attordable for clients
o analyze massive amounts of data in order to provide new insights
and business outcomes BLADE provides server and top-of-rack
switches as well as software 1o virtualize and manage cloud
computing and other workioads

Purchase price consideration for the “Other Acquistions” as
reflected in the table above, 1s paid primarnly in cash All acquisitions
are reported in the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows net of
acquired cash and cash equivalents For the “Other Acquisitions,”
the overall weighted-average kfe of the identified intangible assets
acquired 1s 6 4 years These identified intangible assets will be
amortized on a straight-line basis over ther useful ives Goodwill of
$2,312 million has been assigned to the Scftware {$1,653 million),
GTS ($32 milhion), GBS ($252 milkon) and STG ($375 million) segments
It 1Is expected that approximately 10 percent of the goodwill will be
deductible for tax purposes

2009
in 2009, the company completed six acquisitions at an aggregate
cost of $1,471 million

SPSS, Inc {SPSS)—On October 2, 2009, the company acqurred
100 percent of the outstanding common shares of SPSS for cash
consideration of $1,177 millon SPSS 1s a leading glebal prowider of
predictive analytics software and solutions and this acquisttion
strengthened the company’s business analytics and optimization
capabiites SPSS was integrated into the Software segment upon
acquisition, and goodwill, as reflected in the table on the nexipage.
was entirely assigned to the Software segment Substantially all of
the goodwillis not deductible for tax purposes The overall weighted
average useful fe of the identified intangible assets acquired,
excluding goodwill, 1s 70 years

H
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2009 Acquisitions
{$ in millons)
Amortzation Life Crther
{in Years} SPSS Acquisitions
Current assets § 397 $ 13
Fxed assets/noncurrent it _ e [TV - ¢ HN. |
Intangible assels L e e e e e e i o = ——— e e e o e e
___Goodwill _ N/A 748 255
. Completed toChnology_ . . e e e e e AT 205 89
Client relationships 5t07 30 20
Other identifiable il 107 36 1
Total assets acquired 1,338 330
Current kabilities (157) 34
Noncurrent habilities (2) 0
Total liabilities assumed (160) (35}
Tolal purchase price $1 177 $205

N/A—Not applicable

Cther Acquisitions—The Software segment also completed
acquisitions of four privatety held companies In the second quarter,
Qutblaze Limited, a messaging software provider, and Exgros, inc,
a data discovery firm, in the third quarter, securty provider Qunce
Labs, Inc, and in the fourth quarter, Guardium, Inc , a database
secunty company GTS completed an acquisition in the fourth quarter
RedPill Sclutions PTE Limited, a privately held company focused on
business analytics

Purchase price constderation for the “Other Acquisthions,” as
reflected in the table above, was paid primanty incash Allacquisitions
were reported 1 the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows net of
acquired cash and cash equwvalents For the “Other Acquisitions,”
the overall weighted-average life of the identified intangible assets
acqguired was 6 5 years With the exception of goodwill, these identified
intangible assets will be amoertized on a straght-ine basis over therr
useful ives Goodwill of $255 million was assigned to the Software
($246 million) and GTS {$10 million) segments Substantially alt of
the goodwill is not deductible for tax purposes

Divestitures
201
During the fourth quarter of 2011, the company completed the
divestiture of the (Cluster business to Rocket Software \Cluster,
which was acquired in the Bata Mirror acquisition in 2007, was
part of the Software business This transaction was not material
to the Gonsolidated Financial Statements

Durning the second guarter of 2011, the company completed
two divestitures refated to subsidianes of IBM Japan The impact
of these transactions was not materral to the Consohdated Financial
Statements

2010

On March 31, 2010, the company completed the sale of s actvties
associated with the sales and support of Dassault Systemes’
{Dassault) product ifecycle management (PLM) software, including
customer contracts and related assets to Dassault The company
recerved net proceeds of $459 million and recognized a net gain
of $591 millon on the transaction in the first quarter of 2010 The
gain was net of the farr value of certain contractual terms, certain
transaction costs and the assets and habdities sold The gamn was
recorded in other (income) and expense in the Consolidated Statement
of Earnings and the net proceeds were reflected in proceeds from
disposition of marketable secunties and other investments within
cash flow from investing actvities in the Consolidated Staterment of
Cash Flows
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2009
On October 1, 2009, the company completed the divestiture of its
UniData and Universe software products and related tools to Rocket
Software, a privately held global software development firm The
company recognized gams related to this transaction in the fourth
quarter of 2009 and in the fourth quarter of 2010

On March 16, 2008, the company completed the sale of certain
processes, resources, assets and third-party contracts related to

Note D

Fair Value Measurements

1ts core logistics operations to Geodis The company recewved
procaeds of $365 million and recognized a net gain of $2€8 milion
on the transaction n the first quarter of 2008 The gain was net of
the far value of certain contractual terms, certain transaction costs
and related real estate charges As part of this transaction, the
company outsourced its logistics operations to Geodis which enables
the company to leverage industry-leading skills and scale and
improve the productivity of the company’s supply chamn

Financial Assets and Liabihties Measured at Fair Value on a Recurring Basis
The following tables present the company’s financial assets and financial Llabilities that are measured at farr value on a recurring basis at

December 31, 2011 and 2010

{3 n millons)

At December 3, 201 Level 1 Level 2 Lovel3 Total

Assets -

Cash equwvalents™ e S
Time deposits and cernficates of daposit S - S° 087 S 3 pan
CommereBlpaper | | | L . e e e e e e T A0 o A0

__Money market funds R . hBEb _ o I ST
Ug government securties - 2,00 ~ L0
Other secunties b 8

VUL - S . < U S X, o: 2

Debt secuntres —noncurrent @ 1 7 8

Avallable-for sale equity mvestments® ; [ L L I < |

Denvative assets @

Interest rate contracts - b :

. Forelgn exchange contracts - —— - - t10 _t1e
Equity contracts 7 7

Toia 17" - h

Total t 51 256 B 12 o SHH/ @

Liabilities i

Dervativg ablitles® e - — e e e -
Foreign exchange contracls r - Yotio L- b 4
Equity contracts - 3 - o

Total kabilities - 5 rai 5 - e

0 Included within cash and cash equivalents in the Consolidated Staterent of Financial Position
2 Included within investments and sundry assets In the Congolidated Statement of Financial Position
@ The gross balances of derivative assets contained within prepaid expenses and other current assets and investments in sundry assets In the Consolidated Statement of Financial

Posiion at Decembaer ¥, 2071 are $546 milon and $754 mitkon respectively

“ The gross balances of denivative llabilities contained withun other accrued expenses and liabilties and other liabdities in the Consoligated Staternent of Financial Position

at December 31 2011 are $365 miflion and $166 million respectively
© Availabte for sale securities with carryng values that approximate fair valua

® |{ denvative exposuras covered by a qualifying master nettng agreement had been netted in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Fosition the total darivative asset and

hability positions would have been recuced by $324 million each
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{$ n millions}
At Dy ber 31, 2010 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Fotal
Assets o . R . - ~ .
Cash equivalents™ . . .
Time depostts and certrficates of depostt _ .. . .. ... % - J82478 &= $ 2473
__Commercalpaper — = 2673 ... e 2673
Money market funds 1,632 — — 1,532
.. Canadagovernmentsecuries e o erem s s e 10D — = 1054
U'S government securities_ 5SS L. SO 44
U S government agency secunties — 22 - 22
Other securities - 3 — 3
Total 1532 6,269 — 7.801%
Debt secunties—current?@
Commercal paper - 490 - 490
US government secunties - 500 - 500
Other securities - 1 - 1
Tota! ~ . o L R, N o= _ _ 8% o 990
Debt securiies —noncurrent @ 1 6 — 7
Avallable-for-sale equity investments® _ ... U - R 458
Derwvative g
Interest rate contracts - 548 - 548
. Foreign exchange contracts - T - B8 L .589
Equity contracts = 12 - 12
Total - 1,099 — 1 0gga
Total t: $1,978 $8377 $— $10,3550
Liabilities
Dernvatve liabiities ® S . e e e e i
__ Foreign exchange contracts _ s — $1003 $— $ 1,003
Equity contracts - 3 — 3
Total liabilities $ - $1.008 $— $ 1,006M

% Included wittun cash and cash equivalents in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Posltion

@ Reported as markatabla securities in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

@ Included within investments and sundry assets in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
 The gross balances of denvative assets contained within prepaid expenses and other currant assets and investments ang! sundry assets in the Consalidated Statement

of Financial Pesition at December 31 2010 are $541 million and $588 million respectively

® The gross balances of denvative kabilities contained within other accrued expenses and llabiities and other llabidities in the Censolicated Statement of Financial Position

at December 31 2010 are $871 million and $135 milion respectively
18 Avanlabla-for sale secunties wath carrying values that approxirate far value

@ If derivative exposures covered by a quallfying master neting agreement had been netted in the Consolldated Statement of Financial Position the total derivative asset and

labriity positions would have been reduced by $475 milion each

There were no significant transfers between Leveis 1and 2 for the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010
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Financial Assets and Liawlies Not Measured at Farr Value
Short-Term Recewables and Payables

Netes and other accounts receivable and other investments are
financial assats with carrying values that approximate fair value
Accounts payable, other accrued expenses and short-term debt are
financial habiites with carrying values that approximate far value

Loans and Long-Term Recevables
Far values are based on discounted future cash flows using current
Interest rates offered for similar loans to clients with simitar credit

Long-Term Debt

Fair value of publicly traded long-term debt 1s based on quoted
market prices for the identical hability when traded as an asset In
an active market For other long-term debt for which a quoted market
price 1S not availlable, an expected present value technique that uses
rates currently available to the cornpany for debt with smilar terms
and remaning matunties 1s used to estimate fair value The carrying
amount of long-term debt 18 $22 857 million and $21,846 million
and the estimated farr value 1s $27,383 milkon and $24,006 muliton
at December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively

ratings for the same remaining matunties At December 31, 2011 and
2010, the difference between the carrying amount and estimated far
value for loans and long-term recevables was immaternial

Debt and Marketable Equity Securities

The company's cash equivalents and current debt securities are considered available-for-sale and recorded at farr value which 1s not materially
different from carrying value in the Consolidated Statement of Financaal Position The following tables summarize the company's noncurrent
debt and marketable equity securiies which are also considered avaslable-for-sale and recorded at far value in the Consolidated Statement
of Financial Position

(§ :n milions)
Gross Grass
Agdjusted Urncealzed Unrealized Far
At D er 31, 2011 Cost Gans Losses Value
Debt secuntios —noncurrent @ R e e e
Other securities ) 5 1 5 ¢ a
Total 5 7 5 1 5 — S Ir
Avadable-for-sale equity investments® ey £27 512 >3
0 Included within Investments and sundry asssts in the Consolidated Statemant of Financial Position
{$ i miilions)
Gross Gross
Adjusted Unrealized Unreahzad Far
At December 31, 2010~ Cost Gans Losses Valua
Debtsecurlies—nONCUIRIM™ e o o e e e
Other secunties $ 6 $ 1 $(0) $ 7
Total $ B $ 1 $0) $ 7
Avalable-for sale equity investmants® $194 $264 0 $458

0 Included within Investments and sundry assets In tha Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
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Based on an evaluation of avalable evidence as of December 31, 2011,
the company believes that unreahized losses on debt and marketable
equity securities are temporary and do not represent an other-than-
temporary impairment

Sales of debt and marketable equity secunties during the period
were as follows

(8 in millions) [

For the year ended D ber 31 . 2010 2009
Proceads . . _ %16 $24
Grossrealized gans (beforetaxesy - 6 .3
Gross realized losses (before taxes) 0 0) (40}

The after-tax net unrealized holding gains/(losses) on avallable-for-
sale debt and marketable equity securities that have been included
n other comprehensive income/{loss) for the penod and the after tax
net (gains)losses reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive
income/(loss) to net INncome were as follows

{3 1n mullions)
For the year ended December 31 701 2010
Net unrealized gains/(losses)
_argingdunngthepened % @M 851
Net unrealized (gainsylosses
reclassified 1o net income” (143 )

* Includes writedowns of $0 3 million and $3 6 mitlonin 2011 and 2010 respeciively

The contractual maturities of substantally all available-for-sale debt
securities are less than one year at December 31, 2011

Derivative Financia! Instruments

The company operates in multiple functional currencies and 1s
a significant lender and borrower In the global markets In the normal
course of business, the company Is exposed to the impact of interest
rate changes and foreign currency fluctuations, and to a lesser extent
equity and commodity price changes and client credit isk The
company limits these nsks by following established risk management
policies and procedures, including the use of dervatives, and, where
cost effective, financing with debt m the currencies in which assets
are denominated For interest rate exposures, derivatives are used
to better align rate movements between the interest rates associated
with the company's lease and cther financial assets and the interest
rates associated with its financing debt Dernivatives are also used
to manage the related cost of debt For foreign currency exposures,
derivatives are used to better manage the cash flow volatility ansing
from foreign exchange rate fluctuations

As a result of the use of dervative Instruments, the company is
exposed to the risk that counterparties to derivative contracts will
fail to meet their contractual obligations To mitigate the counterparty
credit nsk, the company has a policy of only enfering into contracts
with carefully selected major financial institutions based upon thewr
credit ratings and other factors The company's established policies
and procedures for mitigating credit nsk on principal transactions
include reviewing and establishing imits for credit exposure and
continually assessing the creditworthuiness of counterparties The
nght of set-off that exists under certain of these arrangements
enables the legal entities of the company subject to the arrangement
to net amounts due to and from the counterparty reducing the
maximum loss from credit nskin the event of counterparty defauit

The company 1s also a party to collateral secunity arrangements
with most of its major counterparties These arrangements require
the company to hold or post collatera (cash or US Treasury secunties)
when the derivative fair values exceed contractually established
thresholds Posting thresholds can bs fixed or can vary based on
credit default swap pricing or credit ratings recemved from the major
credit agencies The aggregate far value of ali dervative nstruments
under these collateralized arrangements that were in a kability posttion
at December 31, 2011 and 2010 was $131 millon and $363 militon,
respectively, for which no collateral was posted at December 31, 2011
The company posted collateral of $9 milion at December 31, 2010
Full collateralization of these agreements would be required in the
event that the company’s credit rating falls below investment grade
or if Its credit default swap spread exceeds 250 basis points, as
applicable, pursuart to the terms of the collateral secunty arrangements
The aggregate far value of derivative mmstruments in net asset
positions as of December 31, 2011 and 2010 was $1,300 million and
$1,099 million, respectively This amount represents the maximum
exposure to loss at the reporting date as a result of the courterparties
failing to perform as contracted This exposure was reduced by
$324 milion and $475 million at December 31, 2011 and 2010,
respectively, of labilities included in master netting arrangements
with those counterparties Additionally, at December 31, 2011 and
2010, this exposure was reduced by $466 million and $88 million
of collateral, respectively, recewved by the company

The company does not offset dervative assets against labilities
In master netting arrangements nor does 1t ofiset receivables or
payables recognized upon payment or receipt of cash collateral
against the farr values of the related derivative instruments No
amount was recognized In other recenables at December 31, 2011
for the right to rectaim cash collateral At December 31, 2010,
$9 million was recognized in other recenables for the right to reclaim
cash coltateral The amount recogrized in accounts payable for
the obligation to return cash collateral totaled $466 mithon and
$88 million at December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively The company
restricts the use of cash collateral received to rehypothecation, and
therefore reperts it n prepaid expenses and other current assets
in the Consclidated Statement of Financial Position No amount
was rehypothecated at December 31, 2011 At December 31, 2010,
$9 milllon was rehypothecated
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The company may employ derivative instrurments to hedge the
volatility in stockholders’ equity resuling from changes in currency
exchange rates of significant foreign subsidiaries of the company
with respect to the U S dollar These instruments, designated as
net investment hedges, expose the company to iquidity nisk as the
denvaiives have an immediate cash flow mpact upon maturity which
1S not offset by a cash flow from the translation of the underlying
hedged equity The company monitors this cash loss potential on an
ongaing basts, and may discontinue some of these hedging
refatonships by de-designating the denvative instrument in order to
manage the iquidity nisk Although not designated as accounting
hedges, the company may utiize denvatives to offset the changes
in the far value of the de-designated instruments from the date of
de-designation until matunty

In its hedging programs, the company uses forward contracts,
futures contracts, interest-rate swaps and cross-currency swaps,
depending upon the underlying exposure The company 15 not a
party to leveraged denvative instruments

A brief descniption of the major hedging programs, categorized
by underlying nsk, follows

Interest Rate Risk

Fixed and Vanable Rate Borrowings

The company 1ssues debt in the global capital markets, principally
to fund its financing lease and loan portfolio Access to cost-effective
financing can result In interest rate mismatches with the underlying
assets To manage these mismatches and to reduce overall interest
cost, the company uses interest rate swaps to convert specific fixed-
rate debt 1ssuances into variable-rate debt (1 e, far value hedges)
and fo convert specific variable-rate debt 1ssuances into fixed-rate
debt (te, cash flow hedges) At December 31, 2011 and 2010,
the total notional amount of the company’s interest rate swaps was
$5 9 biifion and $71 billion, respectively The weighted-average
remaining maturity of these instruments at Decermber 31, 2011 and
December 31, 2010 was approximately 5 5 and 57 years, respectively

Forecasted Debt Issuance
The company i1s exposed to interest rate volatility on future debt
1ssuances To manage this risk, the company may use forward-
starting interest rate swaps to lock in the rate on the Interest payments
related to the forecasted debt issuance These swaps are accounted
for as cash flow hedges The company did not have any dervative
instruments relating to this program outstanding at December 31,
201 and 2010

At December 31, 2011 and 2010, net losses of approximately
$5 milion and $13 million (before taxes), respectively, were recorded
in other comprehensive Income/(loss}) in connection with cash flow
hedges of the company's borrowings Within these amounts $6 mihon
and $8 million of losses, respectively, are expected to be reclassified
to net income within the next 12 months, providing an offsetting
economic impact against the underlying transactions

Foreign Exchange Risk
Long-Term Investments in Foreign Subsidiaries
{Net Investment)
A large portion of the company’s foreign currency denomnated debt
portfolio 1s designated as a hedge of net investment in foreign
subsidianes to reduce the volatiity in stockholders’ equity caused
by changes in foreign currency exchange rates in the functional
currency of major forexgn subsicianes with respect tothe U S
dollar The company also uses cross-currency swaps and foreign
exchange forward contracts for this risk management purpose At
December 31, 2011 and 2010, the fotal notional amount of dervative
instruments designated as net investment hedges was $5 O bilkon
and $19 bithon, respectively The weighted-average remaining
matunty of these instruments at Decermnber 31, 2011 and 2010 was
approximately 0 4 years for both penods

In addition, at December 31, 2010, the company had liabilities of
$221 million, representing the fair value of dervative instruments that
were previously designated in qualifying net investment hedgmng
relattonships, but were de-designated prior to December 31, 2010,
this amount matured in 2011 The notional amount of these
instruments at December 31, 2010 was $16 bithon, includng oniginal
and offsetling transactions No instruments were outstanding at
December 31, 2011

Anticipated Royalties and Cost Transactions
The company's operations generate significant nonfunctional
currency, third-party vendor payments and intercomparty payments
for royalties and goods and services among the company's non-U S
subsidiaries and with the parent company In anticipation of these
foreign currency cash flows and in view of the volatility of the currency
markets, the company selectively employs foreign exchange forward
contracts 1o manags its currency risk These forward contracts are
accounted for as cash flow hedges The maximum lengsh of time
over which the company 1s hedging 1ts exposure to the variability in
future cash flows 1s four years At December 31, 2011 and 2010, the
total notional amount of forward contracts designated as cash flow
hedges of forecasted royalty and cost transactions was $10 9 billon
and $11 3 bitkon, respectively, with a weighted-average remaining
maturity of 07 years and 0 8 years, respectively

At December 31, 2011 and December 31, 2010, in connection
with cash flow hedges of anticipated royalties and cost transactions,
the company recorded net gains of $88 million and net losses
of $147 milhon {before taxes), respactively, in other comprehensive
income/(loss} Within these amounts $191 milhion of gains and
$249 milion of losses, respectively, are expected to be reclassified
to net income within the next 12 months, providing an of{setting
economic impact against the underlying anticipated transactions
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Foreign Currency Denominated Borrowings
The company I1s exposed to exchange rate volatility on foreign
currency denominated debt To manage this nsk, the company
employs cross-currency swaps to convert fixed-rate foreign currency
denominated debt to fixed-rate debt denominated in the functional
currency of the borrowing entity These swaps are accounted for
as cash flow hedges The maximum length of time over which
the company hedges its exposure o the vanabiiity in future cash
flows 1s approximately three years At Decembrer 31, 2011, no
instruments relating to this program remamned ocutstanding At
December 31, 2010, the total notional amount of cross-currency
swaps designated as cash flow hedges of foreign currency
denominated debt was $0 2 billion

At December 31, 2010, net losses of approximately $1million
(pefore taxes) were recorded in other comprehensive Income/(loss)
in connection with cash flow hedges of the company's borrowings
No amount remains in accumulated other comprehensive income
at December 31, 201t

Subsidiary Cash and Foreign Currency

Asset/Liability Management

The company uses its Global Treasury Centers to manage the cash
of its subsidianes These centers principally use currency swaps to
convert cash flows in a cost-effective manner in addition, the
company uses foreign exchange forward contracts to economically
hedge, on a net basis, the forergn currency exposure of a portion of
the company's nonfunctional currency assets and liabilities The
terms of these forward and swap contracts are generally less than
one year The changes in the far values of these contracts and of
the underlying hedged exposures are generally offsetting and are
recorded in other (income} and expense in the Consolidated Staterment
of Earnings At December 31, 2011 and 2010, the total notional amount
of dervative instruments 1n economic hedges of foreign currency
exposure was $13 6 billon and $13 0 billon, respectively

Equity Risk Management

The company Is exposed to market price changes in certain broad
market indices and N the company’s own stock primarily related to
certain obligations to employees Changes in the overall value of
these employee compensation obligations are recorded in SG8A
expense In the Consolidated Statement of Earnings  Although not
designated as accounting hedges, the company utiizes derivatives,
Including equity swaps and futures, to economically hedge the
exposures related to s employee compensation obilgations The
derivatives are inked to the total return on certain broad market
inchices or the total return on the company’s common stock They
are recorded at far value with gains or iosses also reported
In SG8A expense in the Consolidated Statement of Earnings
At December 31, 2011 and 2010, the total notional amount of denvative
instruments In economic hedges of these compensation obligations
was $10 bilion for each year

Other Risks
The company may hold warrants to purchase shares of common
stock In connection with various investments that are deemed
derivatives because they contain net share or net cash settiement
provisions The company records the changes in the farr value of
these warrants in other iIncome) and expense in the Consalidated
Statement of Earnings The company did not have any warrants
qualifying as dervatives outstanding at December 31, 2011 and 2010
The company 1s exposed to a potential loss if a clent fals to pay
amounts dug under contractual terms The company utiizes credit
defauit swaps to economically hedge its credit exposures These
dervatives have terms of one year or less The swaps are recorded
at farr value with gains and losses reported in other (iInceme} and
expense in the Consolidated Statement of Earnings The company
did nct have any dervative Instruments relating to this program
outstanding at December 31, 2011 and 2010
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The following tables provide a quantitative summary of the derwvative and non-denvative Instrument related nsk management activity as of
December 31, 2011 and 2010 as weli as for the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively

Fair Values of Derivative Instruments in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

{3 In millions)
Farr Valua of Dervative Assets Fair Value of Derivative Llabilities
Balance Balance
Sheet Sheot
At December 31 Classification 2010 Classification 2010
Designated as hedgmg instrurments e
Prepad expenses Other accrued
and ather expensas
Interest rate contracts currént assets . ' $ 33 andt liabilties 5 -
Investrments and
sundry assets ‘ 514 Other kakxities -
Prepad expenses Cther accrued
and other expenses
. Foreign exchange contracts B _curentassets ity ... 224 and habilties 498
Investments and Other
sundry essets 22 labilibes ‘. 135
Fair vahue of Far vatue of
dervative 51 $ 794  derrvatrve liabifties N $ 633
Not designated as hedging nstruments . e e el L
Prepad expenses Other accrued
and other expensas
[Foregnexchangacontracts . cumentassals s f2 $ 242 anclabites o % 870
vestrnents and Cther
o e sundry ssels Al 51 labiities 11 _ -
Prepad expenses Other accrued
and other eXpenses
Equiy contracts curent aesets 7 12 and kabiites i 3
Fair value of Fair value of
derrvative assets R 1Y) $ 305  derwative liabilities 10y $ 373
Total debt designated 8 hedging nstrumants e
JSherttermdebt e e N e e . 2 5828
Long-term debt N A BN/A 1 L7y 1,746
Total 54300 $1.089 e ) $3.576

N/A—Not applicable
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The Effect of Derivative Instruments in the Consolidated Statement of Earnings

{$ in milkons)
Gan/(t.oss) Recognized in Earnings
Consolidated
Staternent of
Eamings Recogrized Attnbutable to Risk
Line item on Dervatves!® Being Hedged?
For the year anded December 31 27 2010 2009 ' 2010 2009
Derivatve instruments in far valug hedges - —n
Interest rate contracts _ _ . Costof finanaing ~ S271  §241 172y ~av § (70) $344
Interest expense z00 160 97) ] (46) 193
Derwatve instruments not designated
_ashedgng wmstruments® - e o e ot e
Other (income}
__Foreign exchange contracts and expense 387 289 @2y o NA A
__Equity contracts o mrm e e e e ... _SCoAopense .. 105 W7 NA___NA
Other (income}

Warrants and expense H = — L N/A N/A,
Total £4380 $805 5219 Tt ${116) $537
($ 1in milions)

Gainv{Loss} Recogrized in Earrungs and Other Comprehensive Income
Consobidated
Statement of Ineffectvenass and
Effectve Portion Eamings Effectve Portion Amounts Excluded from
Recognized in OCI Line ltem Reclassified from ADCH Effectveness Testing™
For tha year ended Decermnber 31 “ut 2010 2009 2013 2010 2009 111 2010 2009
Derwatve instruments i cash flow hedges _ e
Interest rate contracts B $ — $ (@ Interestexpense S (B} $ @ $ (13 - $— 5—
Other (income)
Foreign exchange contracts 1= Oy 371 718) and expense {247} (54) 143 {3y {4} 3
B o » . e . Costotgaes {182y (92) (49) _ — -
e i e e o o, JOGBAGKRENSE T (49) 4 - -~
Instruments in net nvestment hedges*

Foreign exchange contracts 45 178 (162) Interest expenss v 0 — 5 {3) 1

Total RFAY) $549 ${880) St511) $(203) $ 94 ) $(7) $(2)

™ The amount in¢ludes changes in clean fair values of the derfvative Instruments in falr value hedglng relationships and the pericdic accrual for coupon payments required under

thase derivative contracts

2 The amount ncludes basls adjustments to the carrying valua of the hedged item recorded duning the penod and amortization of basis adjustments recorded on de-designated

hedging relationships dunng the period

& The amount of gain/fioss) recognized in income represents ineffectiveness on hedge relationships
W Instruments in net investment hedges Include desivative and non denvative INstrumants

For the 12 months ending December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2008, there
were no significant gains or losses recogrized IN earminNgs representing
hedge ineffectiveness or excluded from the assessment of hedge
effectiveneass (for far value hedges), or associated with an underlying
exposure that did not or was not expected to oceur {for cash flow
hedges), nor are there any anticipated N the normal course of business

Refer to note A, “Significant Accounting Policies,” on pages 83
and 84 for additonal nformation on the company's use of dervative
financial instruments

Note E.

e, s

{$ 1 rmulbons)

At D ber 31 3ot 2010
Fishedgoods . o o 5 43
Work in process and raw materials sy 2,018
Total A $2,450
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Note F.

oo oo Lo it

The followsng table presents financing receivables, net of allowances
for credit iosses, including residual values

(3 in milions)
At December 31 [ 2010
Current . . .
Net investment in sales-type
—__anddrectfinancing leases Poeucke 838945
Commercral financing recevables A 6777
Client loan recevables . 5,105 4,718
Instaiiment payment receivables B1g 816
Total 516 501 $16 257
Noncurrent
Net nvestment n sales-type
_and direct financing leases . _& 53k 55384
Commercial financing recevables e 43
_ Chent loan recenvables o 4m2s 4,734
installment payment recervables 410 388
Total $10 776 $10 548

Net investment in sales-type and direct financing leases relates
principally to the company’s systems products and are for terms ranging
generally from two 1o six years Net investment in sales-type and
direct financing Ieases includes unguaranteed residual values
of $745 million and $871 million at December 31, 2011 and 2010,
respectively, and I reflected net of unearned income of $733 million
and $816 million, and net of the allowance for crecht losses of
$118 milion and $126 million at those dates, respectively
Scheduled maturtties of minimum lease payments outstanding
at December 31, 2011, expressed as a percentage of the total, are
approxxmately 2012, 44 percent, 2013, 28 percent, 2014, 18 percent,
2015, 7 percent, and 2016 and heyond, 3 percent

Commercral financing receivables, net of allowance for credit
iosses of $53 millon and $58 milion at December 31, 2011 and 2010,
respectively, relate primarily to inventory and accounts receivable
financing for dealers and remarketers of IBM and non-IBM products
Payment terms for inventory and accounts recevable financing
generally range from 30 to 90 days

Chent loan recevables, net of allowance for credit losses
of $126 million and $16C mithon at December 31, 2011 and 2010,
respectively, are loans that are provided by Global Financing primarily
to clients to finance the purchase of software and services Separate
contractual relationships on these financing arrangements are for
terms ranging generally from ong to seven years

Installment payment recewables, net of allowance for credit
losses of $51 millon and $56 mithon at December 31, 2011 and
2010, respectively, are foans that are provided pnimarily to clents to
finance hardware, software and services ranging generally from cne
to three years

Client ican receivables and installment payment recevables
financing contracts are priced independently at competitive market
rates The company has a history of enforcing the terms of these
separate financing agreements

The company utiizes certain of its financing receivables as
collateral for non-recourse borrowings Financing recervables pledged
as collateral for borrowings were $324 millon and $302 million at
December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively These borrowings are
included in note J, "Borrowings,” on pages 106 to 108

The company did not have any financing recevables held for
sale as of December 31, 2011 and 2010

Financing Receivables by Portfolio Segment
The following table presents financing receivables on a gross basis
excluding the allowance for credit losses and residual value, by
portfolio segment and by class, excluding current commercial
financing receivables and other miscellaneous financing receivables
The company determines its allowance for credit losses based on
two portfolio segments lease recevables and loan receivables
and further segments the portfolio via two classes major markets
and growth markets

(% in millions)
Mayor Growth
At December 31, 201 Markets Markets Total
Financing receivables
Leaserecewables S 650 $1931 5 0430
Loan receivables .07 7 250, 11 G99
Endmg balance 515 LRT 84 477 830,10
Collectively evaluated for imparment  S13 22t ¢ 37 £40.0
Indvidually evalugted forympairment & 766 & 10D 5 T8
Allowance for credit losses
Begiwnning balance at
J v 1,201 R —
_ Lease recevables 5 B4 S 4 5 125
Loan recevables 150 s 246
Total 5 234 £ 110 &
Wrte offs . _ | B € U6 o
Provision K o @
Other 11} -0 i
Ending balance at ’
December 31, 2011 & ng S A0 T
_ Lease recenvables .. & 7o $ 4ap 5 1B
Loan recevables § 125 L S nts
Collectively evaluated for mparment < a7 & 15 < Ba
Incividually evaluated forimparment . & 122 g m B 31
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(& in milions) - Impaired Loans
At Decermber 31, 2010 Mar:é?; S;?:el:: Total The company considers any loan with an individually evaluated
Financing recelvables reserve as animparred loan Depending on the level of imparment,
Lease recenables $ 6562 $1983 % B545 loans will also be placed on a non-accrual status The following table
I: oan reCBIVBEﬂ s o 9 0s7 1:993 1*1 080 presents impaired client loan recevables
Ending balance $15 650 $3975  $19625 & milons)
Collectively evaluated for impairment ~ $15,199 $3,794  $18,993 Focorded pvem
Indvidually evaluated forimpairment 451 5 181 $ 632 AtD 3,200 Investment  Alliowance
Allowance for credit losses Major markets — DU L
_ Leaserecenables” $ 84 $ 42 % 126 Growth markets o .
Loan recewvables” 150 76 226 Total Fone 12
Ending balance at
December 31, 2010 g 234 $ 119 $ 353 {$ in millions)
Collectvely evaluated for mpairment ~ $ 60 $ # § 71 At 21,208 |£§2?rrr?:$ Nlc;rte;laa;gg
Individually evaluated forimparment . § 174 $ 108 $ 282 Mayor markets um# 5196 a119
* Reclassified to conform with 2011 presentation Growth marksts 132 88
When determining the allowances, financing recenvables are evaluated Total 3528 $187
either on an individual or a collective basis For indmdually evaluated
recevables, the company determines the expected cash flow for the (8 In millons}
receivable and calculates an estimate of the potential loss and the interest
probability of loss For those accounts i which the loss 1s probable, Average interest aec£°n°£§
the company records a specific reserve In addition, the company AD 31,201 "52‘;3'“‘1:: Heoc';;rfgg on BC:;:
records an unallocated reserve that 1s determined by applying a Major marksts 3142 3" s
reserve rate 1o 11s different portfolios, excluding accounts that have Growth market =
been speciically reserved This reserve rate is based upan credit rating, fOWHh Marels g 2
Total 5332 43 54

probability of default, term, characteristics (lease/loan} and loss history

Financing Receivables on Non-Accrual Status
The following table presents the recorded investment in financing
receivables which are on non-accrual status

{3 in mithons})

At December 31 201t 2010
Major markets £ 46 $ 89
Growth markets 20 33
Total lease recelvables S 66 $101
Major markets _ s 7 $141
Growth markets 29 123
Total loan receivables & Y $264

Total receivables S165 $366

Credit Quality Indicators
The company's credit quality ndicators which are based on rating
agency data, publicly available information and information provided
by customers, are reviewed periodically based on the relative level
of risk The resulting indicators are a numerical rating system that
maps to Moody’s Investors Service credit ratings as shown on the
following page Moody's does not provide credit ratings to the
company on Its customers

The tables present the gross recorded investment far each class
of recevables, by credit quality indicator Recevables with a creait
quality ndicator ranging from Aaa to Baa3 are considered nvestment
grade All others are considered non-investment grade
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Lease Receivables”

{$ in milions) (& in millicns)
Major Growth Malor Grawth
At December 31, 2011 Markets Markets At December 31, 2010 Markets Markets
Credtratng . Credit ratmg e
_Aaza-Aa3 o oS 687 5 a8 _Aaa-Aad . . . % 794 B 173
A1-A3 1450 36 A1-A3 1,463 182
_ Baal-Baa3 B R 2,334 753 Baal-Baa3 . 2494 837
Bai-Ba2 R ~ 1110 L7 8a21-Ba2 _ L 899 _ 403
Ba3-B1 fy 4 s Ba3-B1 518 242
Bz-B3 . . o R L2 ay B2-83 _ oL ~ 230 93
Caa-D 1LL 1a Caa-D 164 54
Total La 510 5160 Total $5,562 $1,983
* Reclassifiad to conform with 2011 prasentation
Loan Receivables
Loan Recelvables”
{$ In mihons)
Major Grawth (B in milkons)
At Docember 31, 201 Markets Markets Major Growth
Credit rating ) . i o At Decernber 31, 2010 Markets Markets
Aaa-Aa3 o s ar 5 e Credtrtng
A1-A3 2 034 ro7 Asa-Aad - B L
Baal-Baa3 o 30 £60 - A1-A3 - - 202 8
_Bal-Ba2 ) ) 1 559 50" Baal-Baaj 3,453 a4
B_a§:51 . e 744 355 Ba1_Ba_2_ - 1245 . .‘.40..5
Bo_B3 ] B 6z 179 Ba3-B1 718 243
Caa-D 151 20 B2-88 | SAL SN
Total $3077 52542 Caa-D 227 54
Total $9.087 $1,803

* Aecfassified 1o conform with 2011 presentation

At December 31, 201, the industnies which made up Global Financing's
recenables portfolo consisted of Financial (39 percent}, Government
(15 percent), Manufacturing (13 percent), Retail (9 percent), Services
(7 percent), Communications (6 percent) and Other (11 percent)

At December 31, 2010, the industries which made up Global
Financing's recevables portfolio consisted of Financial (36 percent),
Government (16 percent), Manufactunng (14 percent), Retai
{9 percent), Services (8 percent), Communications (5 percent) and

Other (12 percent)
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Past Due Financing Receivables

{3 1n mihons)
Recorded
Tota! Total Investment
Past Due Financing >80 Days
AtD 31,204 > 80 Days® Current Recevables and Accnang
Major markets o _ ~ - o g0 SLEO b w0 R
Growth markets a 193 1 U2 A
Total lease recevables 4G & Bat1y » 8430 a1
Maprmarkels ———— - B LBNBA 30
Growth markets o 2 S0 5.0 J
Total loan receivables s €11 Serd =44 £20 el
Total 2t L% AP RTLT) e Jud St
* Does not include accounts that are fully reserved
($ in millions)
Recorded
Total Total Investment
Past Due Financing >80 Days
At December 31, 2010 > 90 Days* Current Recewvables and Acenuing
Major markets s $10 $6552  $6562 $5
Growth markeis 13 1870 1983 5
Total lease recewvables $22 $ 8523 $ 8545 $10
Major markets $11 $ 9076 $ 9,087 $ 4
Growth markets 82 1961 1.803 17
Total loan recervables $43 $11 037 $11.,080 21
Total $65 $19,560 $10.625 $31
* Does notinclude accounts that are fully reserved
Troubled Debt Restructurings Note H.
in 2011, the company adopted new FASB guidance that helps Iwvestmeaents and SUI ery f\.‘_ s0is
creditors determing whether a restructunng constitutes a troubled
debt restructuring The company assessed all restructurings & 1n mitions)
that occurred on or after January 1, 2011 and determined that there ~ 2tDecember 31 e 2010
were no troubled debt restructurings for the 12 months ended Defe‘fd ‘h"a”z“'fon zd setup costs
S "~ 81 7
December 31, 2011 ___and other deferred arrangements 170t $1853
Dervatives —noncurrent** B L 588
Allance investments
Note G. Equity method o 122
R i Ll ared I Meesid TTm o T om e e
K y ! o " o _Non-equity method R ) ! 531
(% 1n milions) P_rgga'd software JE R S 26§
A1 D Eal 2.0 2018 Long-term deposits } 21 350
Land and land improvements o 5 Tee _ & 777 Other recevables o 560
Buildings and buliding improvements 4 hal 9,414 Employee benefit-related 4 4089
Plant, laberatory and office equipment 20 440 26,676 Prepaid mcome taxes ... 2w 434
Plant and other property —gross ML 36,867 Other assets 5 663
Less Accumufated depreciation 21l 24,435 Total G T $5 778
Plant and other property —net e 12,432 * Daferred transition and setup costs and other deferred arrangements are related to
Rental machines K 3,422 Global Services client arrangements Seenote A Significant Accounting Policies
Tt - TmE T A ' - !"" '“"1 ;” on pages 76 to 86 for additional nforrmaticn
Less Accumulated depreciation el 58 **See note D “Financial Insiruments” op pages 96 through 00 for the tair value of all
Rental machines — net T 1,665 denvatives reported in the Consolidated Statemnent of Financial Position
Total — net 513 8.3 $14,096
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Note |

peroor e e T R L A

Intangible Assets
The following table detalls the company’s Intangible asset balances
by major asset class

% In milhons)
Gross Net
Carring  Accumulates Carrying
At December 31, 201 Amount  Amortization Amount

Inangbleassetclass . R

Captatzedsoftware = &1*7 5 [LFE 8 709
Client relationships 1,751 (715, 1 0L
Completed technology R 745} 1Turl
in-process R&D A 1 21
__Patentsrademarks 07 Gy 119
Other b [T /
Total S5 6d” o £501 53 392
($ in millons)
Gross Net
Garryng  Accunutated Carryng
At December 31, 2010~ Amount  Amortizaton Arhount
Intangible asset class J— ——
_Capitaized software $1.568 & (728) $ 83t
_ _Clentrelatonships 1,708 647) 1,082
__Completed tachnology . 2111 {688) 1422
In-process R&D R "4 D ¢ B |
__Patents/trademarks 211 rn 140
Cther* 39 28 11
Total $5,649 $(2,161) $3 488

* Other intanglibles are pnmarily acquired propriatary and nonproprietary business
processes methodotogies and systems

The net carrying amount of intangible assets decreased $96 million
during the year ended December 31, 2011, pnmarnily due to amortization,
partially offset by Intangote asset addions No imparment of
intangble assets was recorded in any of the periods presented

Total amortization was $1,226 milion and $1,174 milion for the
years ended December 31, 201t and 2010, respectvely The aggregate
intangible amortization expense for acquired intangibles (excluding
capitalized software) was $634 million and $517 mithon for the years
ended December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively In addition, in 2011
the company retired $1,133 miliion of fully amortized intangible assets,
impacting both the gross carrying amount and accumulated
amortization for this amount

The amortization expense for each of the five succeeding years
relating to intangible assets currently recorded in the Consolidated
Statement of Financial Position 1s estimated to be the following at
December 31, 2011

{8n muflions)
Capltalized Acguired

Software Intangibles Totat
2012 ~ . %480 _ 8634 $1,113
2013 250 590 840
2014 S £ . .. S 516
2ns - - _ 340 340
2018 - 303 303
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Goodwill
The changes In the goodwill balances by reportable segment, for the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010, are as follows
{8 in millions)
Foreign
Currency
Balance Purchase Translation Balance
January 1 Goodwll Price and Other December 31
gr 201 Additions Adjustments Divestitures Adjustrments 201t
Global Business Services . 543y & 14 X SI1G, Stedi. . . 3
Global Technology Services o R0 o £ 133 L
Software o 16 963 1277 10 2 127) 81zt
Systems and Technology 1139 - =] Oy BN
Total 525 136 51 21 5 2 543, S(20039 SIulh
{$ 1in mulions)
Foreign
Currency
Balance Purchase Translation Balance
January 1 Goocwll Price and Other December 31
Segrent 2010 Additions Adjustments Divestitures Adjustments 2010
Global Business Services - $ 4,042 $ 252 $0 8= 33 54329
Glotal Technology Services. - e - 2 . a pd Lo 0s o 2704
Software _ o 12,605 4,095 52) - 315 16 963
Systems and Technology 766 375 m — ) 1,189
Total $20,190 $4 754 $(54) $— $225 $25,136
Purchase price adjustrments recorded in the 2011 ang 2010 were relatad Note J
rprior r 31, 201 .
to acquisitions that were compileted on ¢r prior to December 31, 2010 BOT FOWINGS
or 2009, respectively, and were stil subject to the measurement -
oenod that ends at the earlier of 12 menths from the acquisition date Short-Term Debt
or when information becomes availlable There were no goodwill
impairment losses recorded in 201 or 2010, and the company has §n millons)
At December 31 Q11 2010
no accumulated imparment losses
Commercial paper _ o . 52306 $1 144
Short-termloans o 1853 1,617
Long-term debt— current matunties 4 300 4017
Total 54 163 $6,778

The weighted-average interest rates for commercial paper at
December 31, 2011 and 2010 were 01 percent and 0 2 percent,
respectively The weighted-average interest rates for short-term
loans was 1 2 percent and 11 percent at December 31, 2011 and
2010, respectively
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Long-Term Debt
Pre-Swap Borrowing
8 in malhons)
At Dacember 31 Maturitigs 2010
U S dollar notes and debentures (average interest rate at December 31 2011}
372% _ _2012-2013 LA $ 6,326
102% o - 2014-2015 R 5019
494% 2016-2020 T 6,359
290% — 2080 e
700% 2025 oo 600
622% 2027 -t 469
650% e e 2028 e ___ 313
5875% 2032 t 600
800% I 2038 1t _ .87
560% . - e 2039 T 18545
700% 2045 7 27
7125% 2086 ITs 322
S 107 21,766
Other currencies (average interest rate at December 31, 2011 in parentheses)
Euros(66%) . . .. .o e = - L. 22206 rmar 1897
Japanese yen {0 8%) o 2013-2014 113 1,162
Swiss francs (38%) 2012-2020 T3 540
Other {51%) 2012-2014 $77 240
. 20 707 25,606
Less net unamortized discount e _ . o 63+ 531
Add farvalue adpustment** G 788
e " . 2. 161 25863
Less current matunties 4 30, 4,017
Total S22 £57 $21,846

" $16 biillon In gebt secunties issued by IBM International Group Capital LLC whichis anindirect 100 percent owned flnance subsidiary of the company, Is included In 2012 20185
Debt securities issued by IBM Internations! Group Capital LLC are fully and uncondltionalty guaranteed by the company

** The portion of the company s fixad rate debt abligations that is hedged is reflected in the Consolidatac Statemeant of Financial Position as an amaount equal to the sum of the
debt s carrying value plus a far value adjustment repragenting changas In the falr value of the hedged debt obligations attributable to movements in banchmark interest rates

Post-Swap Borrowing (Long-Term Debt, Including Current Portion)

{n milhons)

" 2010
For the year ended December 31 Amount Average Rate Amount Average Rate
Fixed-rate debt S1d s 4 3B $14,446 529%
Floating-rate debt t L 1o 11,417 123%
Total ST 1600 $25 863

* includes $5 BOB milion in 2011 and $7 072 milionin 2090 of notionai inerest rate swaps 1hal effectively corvert 1he fixed rate tong 181m dett into flosting rate de't (Seae noe D,

*Financial Instrumenis” on pages 96 10 100)
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Pre-swap annual contractual maturities of long-term debt cutstanding
at December 31, 2011, are as follows

The Credit Agreement contains customary representations and
warranties, covenants, events of default, and indemnification
provisions The company believes that circumstances that might give

(% n milions) nse to breach of these covenants or an event of default, as specified
Total In the Credit Agreement, are remote As of December 31, 2011, there
2012 R %431 were no borrowings by the company, or its subsidiaries, under the
2013 5495 Credit Agreement
o014 - - T 3763 The company also has other committed lines of credit n some
2015 ) ) 197 Ofthe geograptues which are not signiicant in the aggregate Interest
ol T T s e 'AP”A;'OBE rates and other terms of borrowing under these lines of credit vary
_2.61_7;;.‘;6;}‘0”{1 — etk ﬂmf;’gz—é from country to country, depending on local market conditions
Total $26 702
Note K
interest on Debt Otner balbtiies
{$ 1n mulions) {8 1n muflions)
For the year endet D ber 31 01 2010 2009 At D 3 o 2010
Costoffnancing  _ __ _ £eh3 $555 $ 706 Income tax reserves _ . oo MR 53486
Interest expense L 1 365 404 Executiva compensation accruals I A T L ] :}ng
Netnvestment dervative actvity 4 3 (1) Dsabitybenefits 835 739
Interest capitalized ) 5 13 Denvatves liabiltios - . R S
Total interest paid and accrued $573 $928 $1,122 Special actions 3809
Workforce reducticns 360 w.a?)%s
Refer 1o the related discussion on page 137 in note T, “Segment Deferred taxes ) ;;q : 378
Information,” for total interest expense of the Global Financing Env;mnmen@ accruals h ) —"49 249
segment See note D, “Financial Instruments,” on pages 96 to 100 Noncurrent warranty aceruals 1t 130
for a discussion of the use of currency and interest rate swaps in Asset retrement obbigats on; " B 166 o 151
the company’s debt nsk management program Ot;m T T e “?84 "1“
Total 53 926 $3,226

Lines of Credit

In 2011 the company renewed tts five-year, $10 bilion Credit Agreement
{the “Credit Agreement™), which now expires on November 10, 2016
The total expense recorded by the company related to this faciity
was $5 0 million in 2011, $6 2 million in 2010 and $6 3 milton in 2009
The Credit Agreement permits the company and its Substdiary
Borrowers to borrow up to $10 billlon on a revolving basis Borrowings
of the Subsidiary Borrowers will be unconditionally backed by the
company The company may also, upon the agreement of erther
existing lenders, or of the additional banks not currently party to
the Credit Agreement, Increase the commutments under the Crecht
Agreement up to an additional $2 0 bilion Subject to certain terms
of the Credit Agreement, the company and Subsidiary Borrowers
may barrow, prepay and reborrow amaounts under the Credit
Agreement at any tme during the Credit Agreement Interest rates
on borrowings under the Credit Agreement will be based on prevailing
market interest rates, as further described in the Credit Agreement

In response to changing busingss needs, the company pencdically
takes workforce reduction actions to improve productvity, cost
competitiveness and to rebalance sklls The noncurrent contractually
obligated future payments associated with these activities are
reflected in the workforce reductions caption in the previous table

In addition, the company executed certan special actions as
follows (1) the second quarter of 2005 associated with Global
Services, primarily in Europe, (2) the fourth quarter of 2002 associated
with the acquisition of the PricewaterhouseCoopers consulting
business, (3) the second quarter of 2002 associated with the
Microelectronics Division and the rebalancing of the company's
workforce and leased space resources, (4) the 2002 actions
associated with the hard disk drive business for reductions in
workforce, manufacturing capacity and space, (5) the actions taken
n 1998, and (B) the actions that were executed prior to 1964
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The table below provides a roll forward of the current and noncurrent liabilities associated with these special actions The current habilities
presented in the table are inciuded in other accrued expenses and liabilities in the Consoldated Statement of Financial Position

{nmilhons)
Liabliity Lability
as of as of
January 1 Other December 31
201 Payments Adustments* 2011
Current e e e e e e — —
___Workiorce . _ e e e - ! — —
Space \ .
Total current v L e ) Iy '
Noncurrent —
__Workferce St s 0 I ‘o
Space 3 ') ™ i
Total noncurrent £330 5 0 S Laad

° Theother acjustments ¢olumn In the table above pnncipally includes the reclassification of nencurrent to cusrent, foreign currency translation adjusiments and Interest aceretion

The workforce accruals primarily relate to terminated employees
who are no longer working for the comparny who were granted annual
payments to supplement therr ncomes in certain countries Depending
on the mndividual country's legal requirements, these required
payments will continue until the former employee begins receiving
pension benefits or passes away The space accruals are for ongoing
obligations to pay rent for vacant space that could not be sublet or
space that was sublet at rates lower than the committad lease
arrangement The length of these obligations varies by lease with
the longest extending through 2014

The company employs extensive internatl environmental protaction
programs that pnmanly are preventive in nature The company also
participates in environmental assessments and cleanups at a number
of locations, including operating facilitres, previously owned facilities
and Superfund sites The company's maximum exposure for all
environmental habilites cannot be estimated and no amounts have
been recorded for non-ARO environmental habilties that are not
probable or estimable The total amounts accrued for non-ARO
environmental labiities, ncluding amounts classified as current in
the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position, that do not reflect
actual or anticipated nsurance recoverigs, were $262 million at
December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively Estimated environmental
costs are not expected to matenally affect the consolidated financial
position or consobdated results of the company’s operations in future
penods However, estimates of future costs are subject to change
due to protracted cleanup perods and changing environmental
remediation regulations

As of December 31, 2011, the company was unable to estmate
the range of settlement dates and the related probabilities for certan
asbestos remediation AROs These conditional AROs are pnmarily
related to the encapsulated structural fireproofing that is not subject
to abatement unless the bulldings are demolished and non-
encapsulated asbestos that the company would remediate only if it
performed major renovations of certain existing buldings Because
these conditional obhgations have indeterminate settierment dates,
the company could not develop a reasonable estimate of therr far
values The company will continue to assess its ability to estimate
far values at each future reporting date The related lability will be
recognized once sufficient additional information hecomes avallable
The total amounts accrued for ARC labihties, including amounts
classified as current in the Consolidated Statement of Financial
Position were $187 milicn and $176 million at December 31, 2011
and 2010, respectively
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Note L.

v MOTd,

The authorized capital stock of iBM consists of 4,687,500,000 shares
of common stock with a $ 20 per share par value, of which
1,163,182,565 shares were outstanding at December 31, 2011 and
150,000,000 shares of preferred stock with & $ 01 per share par
value, none of which were outstanding at December 31, 2011

Stock Repurchases

The Board of Directors authorizes the company to repurchase I8M
cormmon stock The company repurchased 88,683,716 common
shares at a cost of $15,034 milion, 117,721,650 common shares at
a cost of $15,418 milhon and 68,650,727 common shares at a cost
of $7.534 million iy 2011, 2010 and 2008, respectively These amounts
reflect transactons executed through December 31 of each year
Actual cash disbursements for repurchased shares may differ due to
varying settiement dates for these transactions. At December 31, 201,
$8,660 milion of Board common stock repurchase authorization
was still available. The company plans to purchase shares on the open
market or in private transactions from tme to time, depending on
market condrions

Other Stock Transactions

The company rssued the followang shares of common stock as part
of s stock-based compensation plans and employee stock purchase
plan 20,669,785 shares in 2011, 34,783,386 shares in 2010 and
30,034,808 shares in 2009 The company issued 4,920,198 treasury
shares in 2011, 7,820,318 treasury shares in 2010 and 6,408,265 treasury
shares in 2009, as a resuft of exarcises of stock options by employees
of certain acquired businesses and by non-U S employees Also,
as part of the company’s stock-based compensation plans, 1,717,246
common shares at a cost of $289 rmullion, 2,334,932 commoen shares
at a cost of $297 milion and 1,550,846 commen shares at a cost of
$161 millior in 2011, 2010 and 2008, respectively, wera remitted by
employees to the company m order to satisfy minimum statutory tax
withholding requirements These amounts are included in the
treasury stock balance in the Consoldated Statement of Financial
Position and the Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
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Taxes Related to Items of Other Comprehensive Income

($ In miltions)

Before Tax  Tax {Expense)/ Net of Tax
For the year endad Dx ber 31, 2011 Amount Benefit Amount
Other comprehensive income
Forelign currency translation adjustments [ E] S N o
Net changes related to available-for-sale securities
... Unvesized gans/(losses) ansing dunng the period _ — S S A
Raclassification of {gains)/losses to net ncome T L
Subsequent changes In previously Impatred securities arsing during the period 1 {
Total net changes related to avaitable-for-sale securities ARG Al ] s _a {*
Unrealized gains/{losses) on cash flow hedges
- Hrrealized gansAlosses) ansing dunngthepenod L SMEee By L
Reclassification of (gaing)/losses to net income 11 i —e
Total unrealized gamns/losses) on cash flow hedges L 243 5 (T 5 1u
Retirement-refated beneft plans
Prior servica costs/(credits} el ] A
.. Netossesygans arising dunng the penod, . . e ol e e 2R ART e
Curtalments and settlements 11 3 .
Amortization of prior service (creditsy/cost Ly [ \
Amortization of net gains/(logses) 1btT (01 1500
Total retirement-related benefit plans = 3790) 51713 ]
Other compreh income/(loss) *'a 4T 51 330 S 110}
{$ in miligns)
Before Tax  Tax {Expense) Net of Tax
For the yeer ended December 31, 2010+ Amount Benefit Amount
Other comprehensive income-
Foreign currency translation adjustments $§ 712 $ (69 $ 643
MNet chang lated to available-for-sale securities
____Urrealized gains/{lossas) ansing dunng the period 8.0 5 _(24) 48
Reclassificatron of (gansilosses to net income o _ R o [(9)] L))
Subsequent changes in previously Impaired secunties ansing dunng the penod 8 3 5
Total net changes related to available-for-sale securities $ 78 27 3 5
Unrealized gains/(losses) on cash flow hedges
Urrealized gans/losses) ansing dunng the pencd § an Q200 & 251
Rectassification of (gains)iosses 1o Net ncoma 203 {68) 134
Total unrealized gains/{losses) on cash flow hedges $ 578 $ (188) $ 385
Retirement-related benefit plans
____Priorservice costs/{credits) } $ 28 & @B .8 =20
Net {losses)/gains ansing dunng the penod (2,728) 1.016 {17112
Curtalments and settlements . 10 (3) 7
____Amortezation of prior sennce (credits)/cost - i (183) 67 116)
Amortization of net gains/{icsses) 1,249 (441) BO8
Total retirement-related benefit plans $11.624) $ 632 $ (992)
Other comprehengive income/floss) 3 _260) 3 348 $ 67

m
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(& in milhons}
Before Tax  Tax (Expense)/ Net of Tax
For the yaar ended D 31, 2009 Amount Benefit Amount
Other comprehensive income
Foreign currency transiation adjustments $1,675 $ 57 $1,732
Net ch related to itable-for-sale securities
Unmalzed gains/flosses) ansingdunngtheperod . ... . _$ M8__ _s@7_ _ §_72
_ _Rectassification of (gains)/losses to netincoms_ . B e . . ©b4 Loy 38
Subsequent changes in previously Impawred secunbies ansing dunng the periogd — e -
Total net changes related to lable-tor-sale securities $ 182 $ (71) $ 11
Unrealired gains/{lossas) on cash flow hedges
Unreaized gains/(losses) ansing during the penod $ (718} __ 3224 $ (493
Reclassification of {gams)/losses to net ncome {94) 32 63
Total unrealzed gains/{losses) on cash flow hedges $ 812) $ 256 $ (556)
Retirement-related benefit plans
_..Prorservicecosts/icrednts) . $375 8w _$ 229
Net (losses)/gans ansing during the period 1,433 {43g) 994
_._ Curtaimentsandsetternnts ... _ _ e e e o R A S < I - <
_ _Amortization of pror service (credits)/cost " (162) 86 (107)
Amortization of net gaing/(l0sses) 1105 (402 704
Total retirement-related benefit plans $2.626 $(898) $1727
Other comprehensive income/{loss) $3,671 $(656) $3 015

Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income/{Loss) {net of tax)

(& in millions)
Nat Change Net Unrealized

Net Unrealized Foreign Ratirement- Gains/ osses Accumulated
Gains/fLosses) Currency Related ©on Avalable- Other
on Cash Flow Translation Benefit For Sale  Comprehensve
Hedgas Adjustments* Plans Secunties  IncomeA{Loss)
December 31, 2008 $(481) $1,836 $20,297) $113 $(18 830)
Change for period 385 6543 (992) 51 87
December 31, 2010 {96) 2,478 (21,289) 164 $18,743)
Change for period 167 711} (2,448) (150) (3,142
December 31, 2011 S 71 51 704 BIZA 737) S td 821 LT

" Formgn curtency translation adjustments are presentad gross except for any assoclated hedgas which are presantsd net of tax,

Note M.
NS S D1 P S VPR IYe-~ g W
Contingencies

As a company with a substantial employee population and with
chents in more than 170 countries, IBM 15 involved, either as plantiff
or defendant, in a variety of ongoing claims, demands, suits,
Investigations, tax matters and proceedings that arise from time to
time in the ordinary course of its business The company Is aieader
in the information technology industry and, as such, has been and
will continue to be subject to claims challenging its P rights and
associated products and offerings, Including claims of copyright and
patent infringement and violations of trade secrets and other IP rights
It addition, the company enforces its own IP against infringement,
through license negotiations, lawsuits or otherwise Also, as s typical
for companies of IBM’s scope and scale, the company 1s party 1o
actions and proceedings In various junsdictions nvolving a wide

range of [abor and employment rssues {INcluding matters retated
to contested employment decisions, country-specific labor and
employment laws, and the company’s pension, retrement and other
benefit plans), as well as actions with respect to contracts, product
liabiity, secunties, foreign operations, competition law and environmental
matters These actions may be commenced by a number of different
parties, sncluding compettors, clients, current or former employees,
government and regulatory agencies, stockholders and representatives
of the locations i which the company does business Seme of the
actions to which the company 1s party may involve particularly
complex technical 1ssues, and some actions may raise novel
questions under the laws of the various junisdictions in which these
matters arise

The company records a provision with respect to a clam, sut,
invashgatton or proceeding when it 1s prebable that a hability has
been mcurred and the amount of the Yoss can be reasonably
estimated Any recorded llabilities, including any changes to such
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liabilities for the years ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009
were not matenal to the Consoldated Financial Statements

In accordance with the relevant accounting guidance, the
company provides disclosures of matters for which the likelihood of
matertai loss 1s at least reasonably possible [n addion, the comparry
also discloses matters based on its consideration of other matters
and qualtative factors, ncluding the experience of other companies
in the industry, and investor, customer and employee relations
considerations

With respect to certam of the clams, suits, iInvestigations and
proceedings discussed herein, the company believes at this time
that the hkelhood of any material loss 1s remote, given, for example,
the procedural status, court rulings, and/or the strength of the
company's defenses in those matters With respect to the remaining
claims, suits, nvestigations and proceedings discussed in this Note,
the company 1s unable to prowde estimates of reasonably possible
losses or range of losses, including losses in excess of amounts
accrued, if any, for the followng reasons Claims, suits, Investigations
and proceedings are mherently uncertan, and it 1s not possible to
predict the uluimate cutcome of these matters It 1s the companys
expernience that damage amounts claimed in itigation against it are
unreliable and urrelated to possible cutcomes, and as such are not
meaningful indicators of the company’s potential lability Further,
the company is unable to provide such an estimate due to a number
of other factors with respect to these claims, suits, Investigations
and proceedings, Including considerations of the procedural status
of the matter in question, the presence of complex or novel legal
theories, and/or the ongoing discovery and development of
information important to the matters The company reviews clams,
suits, Investigations and proceedings at least quarterly, and decisions
are made with respect to recording or adjusting provisions and
disclosing reasonably possible losses or range of losses (individually
or in the aggregate), to reflect the impact and status of settlernent
discussions, discovery, procedural and substantive ruings, reviews
by counsel and other information pertinent to a particular matter

Whether any losses, damages or remedies finally determined in
any claim, surt, investigation or proceeding could reasonably have a
material effect on the company's business, financial condition, results
of operations or cash flows will depend on a number of varables,
including the timing and amount of such iosses or damages, the
structure and type of any such remedies, the significance of
the impact any such losses, damages or remedies may have in
the Consoflidated Financial Statements, and the unicue facts and
crrcumstances of the particular matter that may give nse to additional
factors While the company will continue to defend itself vigorousty,
it1s possible that the comparny's business, financial condition, reseits
of operations or cash flows could be affected in any particular penod
by the resolution of one or more of these matters

The following i1s a summary of the more significant legal matters
invelving the company

The company 1s a defendant in an action filed on March 6, 2003
In state court in Sat Lake City, Utah by the SCO Group {SCQ v IBM}
The company removed the case to Federal Court in Utah Plamtff
I1s an alleged successor I interest to sorme of AT&T's UNIX IP nghts,
and alleges copyrnght infringament, unfair competition, Interference
with coniract and breach of contract with regard to the company’s

distribution of AlX and Dynix and contnibution of code to Linux The
company has asserted counterclaims, ncluding breach of contract,
violatton of the L.anham Act, unfarr competiion, intentional torts,
unfair and deceptive trade practices, breach of the General Public
Licensa that governs open source distnbutions, promissory estoppel
and copynght infringement Motions for summary judgment were
heard in March 2007, and the court has not yet 1ssued its decision
On Septemnber 14, 2007, plantff filed for bankruptcy protection, and
all proceedings n this case were stayed On August 25, 2009, the
US Bankruptcy Court for the District of Delaware approved the
appointment of a Chapter 11 Trustee of SCO The court In another
suit, the SCO Group, Inc v Novell, Inc , hetd a trial in March 2010
The jury found that Novell 1s the owner of UNIX and UnixWare
copyrights, the judge subsequently ruled that SCO 15 obligated to
recognize Novell's waiver of SCO's claims against iBM and Sequent
for breach of UNIX hcense agreements On August 30, 2011, the
Tenth Circuit Court of Appeals affrmed the district court’s ruling
and denied SCO's appeal of this matter In November 2011, SCO
filed a motion in Federal Court in Utah seeking to reopen the SCO
v IBM case

Complants against [BM were filed with the European Commission
(EC) by Platform Solutions, Inc 1n 2007, T3 Technologies, Inc in 2009
and TurboHercules SAS in 2010 Each complaint alleged that IBM
violated European Competition law, primarily by refusing to license
its patents and trade secrets to the complainants and by refusing
to license its software for use on computer systems made and/or
sold by complainants Each complamnt has been withdrawn, and in
September 2011, the EC closed these investigations 1BM had been
notified that the US Department of Justice (DOJ) was investigating
possible antitrust violations by IBM based on the company's refusal
to license certam patents and trade secrets and its refusal to license
its software for use on systems that 1IBM beleves infringe its
intellectuat property nights In October 2011, the DOJ notified IBM
that this nvestrigation has been closed

The company was a defendant in an action filed on Apnl 2, 2009
in the United States District Court for the Eastern District of Texas
by ACQIS LLC {(Acqis), which alleged that certan IBM products
mfringe certain patents relating generally to modular computing
devices Acqis sought damages and injunctive relief The tnal took
place in February 2011, and in late February, the jury found in favor
of Acqis and awarded damages in the amount of $8 milion Both
parties submitted post-trial motions In late December 2011, the
parties entered Into a settlement agreement resolving all clams
between them

The company was a defendant in an action fied on February 5, 2010
in the Urited States District Court for the Eastern Distnict of Virginia
by TecSec, inc, which alleged that certan IBM products infringe certain
patents relating generally to encryption TecSec sought damages
and injunctive relief The case was set for tnal in March 2011 In late
February 2011, the court granted IBM's motion for summary judgment
of non-infringement, and final jJudgrnent has been entered In favor
of IBM TecSec filed an appeal, and in mid-January 2012, the Court
of Appeals for the Federal Circuit affirmed jJudgment in favor of IBM

On May 13, 2010, IBM and the State of Indiana (acting on behalf
of the Indiana Family and Soctal Services Administration) sued one
ancther In a dispute over a 2006 contract regarding the medermization
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of socral service program processing in indiana The State terminated
the contract, claming that IBM was in breach, and the State s seelang
damages IBM believes the State’s claims against it are without ment
and is seeking payment of termination amounts specaified in the
contract Tnal began in late February 2012 in Marnion County, indiana
Supenor Court

The company was named as a co-defendant In numerous
purported class actions filed on and after March 18, 2011 1n federal
and state courts in Califorrua in connection with an iformation
technology outsourcing agreement between Health Net, Inc and
IBM The matters were consolidated in the United States District
Court for the Eastern District of Califorma, and plaintiffs filed a
consolidated complaint onJduly 15, 2011 The consclidated complaint
alleges that the company wiclated the Catiformia Confidentiaty of
Medical information Act in connection with hard drives that are
unaccounted for at cne of Health Net's data centers in California,
plaintiffs have been notified by Health Net that certain of therr personal
information 1s beleved to be contained on those hard drives Plantiffs
seek damages, as well as inunctive and declaratory relief iIBM has
atso receved a request for Information regarding this matter from the
Califorria Attorney General On January 12, 2012, the court granted
IBM's motion to dismiss the complaint for lack of standing, and on
February 22, the case against {BM was dismissed

IBM United Kingdom Eimited (IBM UK) intiated legal proceedings
in May 2010 before the High Court in London agamst the IBM UK
Pensions Trust (the UK Trust) and two representative beneficianes
of the UK Trust membership IBM UK 1s seeking a declaration that
1t acted lawfully both in notifying the Trustee of the UK Trust that it
was closing its UK defined benefit plans to future accruals for most
participants and in Mplementing the company's new retrement policy
The trial In the High Court 1s scheduled to begin in February 2013
in additicn, IBM UK 1s a defendant in approximately 275 individual
actions brought since early 2010 by participants of the defined benefits
plans who feft IBM UK These actions, which allege constructive
dismissal and age discnirmination, are pending before the Employment
Tribunal in Southampton UK and are currently stayed pending
resoclution of the above-referenced High Court proceedings Ina
separate but related proceeding, n March 2011, the Trustee of the
IBM UK Trust was granted leave to initate a clam before the High
Courtin London against IBM UK and one member of the UK Trust
membership, seeking an order modifying certan documents and
terms relating to retirement provisions in IBM UK's largest defined
benefit plan dating back to 1883 The trial of these proceedings i1s
scheduled to begin in May 2012

In March 2011, the company announced that it has agreed to
settle a civil enforcement action with the SEC relating to activities
by employees of IBM Korea, LG IBM, IBM (China) Investrment Company
Limited and IBM Glebal Services (China) Co, Ltd , duning the penod
from 1998 through 2009, allegedly In wiclation of the Foresgn Corrupt
Practicas Act of 1977 As part of the settlement, IBM has consented
to the entry of a jJudgment relating to the books and records and
internal control provisions of the securities laws 1B8M has also
agreed to pay a total of $10 milion, categorized by the SEC as follows
{1 $5 3 million, representing profits gained as a result of the conduct

alleged in the SEC's complaint, {i) prejudgment interest on that
amount of $2 7 million, and (i) a civit penalty of $2 millton The
settlement s subject to court approval

The company 1s a defendant In numerous actions filed after
January 1, 2008 in the Supreme Court for the State of New York,
county of Broome, on behalf of hundreds of plantifts The complaints
allege numerous and different causes of action, including for negligence
and recklessness, private nuisance and trespass Plaintiffs in these
cases seek medical monitonng and ¢laim damages i unspecified
amounts for a varety of personal mjunes and property damages
allegedly ansing out of the presence of groundwater contamination
and vapor intrusion of groundwater contaminants iNto certain structures
in which plantifs reside or resided, or conducted business, allegedly
resulting from the release of chemicals into the environment by
the company at s former manufactuning and development faciity
in Endicott These complaints also seek punitive damages in an
unspecified amount The first tnal In these cases 1s scheduled 1o
begin n October 2012

The company 1s party to, or otherwise involved in, proceedings
brought by U 8 federal or state environmental agencres under the
Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability
Act (CERCLA), known as “Superfund,” or taws similar to CERCLA
Such statutes require potentially responsible parties to participate
in remediabion actvties regardiess of fault or ownership of sites The
company 15 also conducting emaronmental investigations, assessments
or remediations at or in the vicinity of several current or former
operating sites globally pursuant to permits, administrative orders
or agreements with country, state or local environmental agencies,
and Is involved In lawsuits and claims concerning certain current or
former operating sites

The company s also subject 10 ongoing tax examinations and
governmental assessments in various junsdictions Afong with mary
other US companies doing business in Brazll, the comparny 1s
nvolved in vanous challenges with Braziian authorities regarding
non-income tax assessments and non-ncome tax iigation matters
These matters nclude claims for taxes on the importation of computer
software In November 2008, the company won a significant case in
the Supenor Chamber of the federal administrative tax court in Brazi,
and n fate July 2009, the company received written confirmation
regarding this dectsion The total potential amount related to the
rermaining matters for all applicable years i1s approximately $600 million
The company believes it will prevail on these matters and that this
amount 1s not a meaningful indicator of tiabiity

Commitments

The company's extended (ines of credit to third-party entities
include unused amounts of $4,040 milion and $3,415 million at
December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively A portion of these amounts
was avalable to the company’s busimess pariners to support their
working capital needs n addition, the company has committed to
provide future financing to s chents in connection with client purchase
agreements for approximately $2,567 millon and $2,825 milien at
December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively
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The company has applied the guidance requinng a guarantor to
disclose certain types of guarantees, even f the lkehhood of requinng
the guarantor's performance i1s remote The following 1s a descnption
of arrangements in which the company 1s the guarantor

The company 1s a party to a vanety of agreements pursuant to
which it may be obligated to mdemnify the other party with respect
to certain matters Typically, these obkigations anse in the context of
contracts entered into by the company, under which the company
customarily agrees to hold the other party harmless aganst losses
ansing from a breach of representations and covenants related to
such matters as title to assets sold, certain P nghts, specified
environmental matters, third-party performance of nonfinancial
contractual obligatons and certan income taxes Ineach of these
crcumstances, paymernt by the company 1s conditioned on the other
party making a claim pursuant to the procedures specified in the
particular contract, the procedures of which typically allow the
company to challenge the other party’s clasms While typically
indemnification provisions do not include a contractual maximum
on the company’s payment, the company's obligations under these
agreements may be imited 1n terms of time and/or nature of clam,
and in some Instances, the company may have recourse against
third parues for certain payments made by the company

1115 not possible 1o predict the maximum potential amount of
future payments under these or similar agreements due to the
conditional nature of the company's obligatons and the unique facts
and circumstances involved in each particular agreement Histoncally,
payrments made by the company under these agreements have not
had a matenal effect on the company's business, financial conditron
or results of operations

In addtion, the company guarantees certain loans and financial
commitments The maximum potential future payment under
these financial guarantees was $42 million and $48 million at
December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively The far value of the
guarantees recognized in the Consolidated Statement of Financial
Position 1s not materal

{% In orwiliongy
For the year ended December 31 Ty 2010 2009
Income before Income taxes —
US operations LTy $ 9,140 $ 9,524
Non-US operations 11267 10583 8614
Total income before income taxes 571 003 $19,723 $18 138

The provsion for Income taxes by geographic operations 1s as foliows

(%0 milions)

For the yaar ended December 31 b 2010 2009
US operatons 2141 82000  $2,427
Non-U S operations 343 2,800 2 286

Total provision for income taxes RS $4,890 $4 713

The components of the provision for Income taxes by taxing junsdiction
are as follows

{8 In mihons)
For the year ended Decembar 31 1 2010 2009
U5 federal _ e
Current ) $ 190 $ 473
Deferred ) 1,015 1341
1157 1,205 1814
US state and local
LLBurent e e e 279, 120
Deferred 81 210 185
510 489 305
Nonus .
Current 5,739 3,127 2,347
Deferred 222 69 247
501 3,196 2,594
Total provision for income taxes 5,74 4,800 4,713

Prowision for social security,
real estate, personal proparty
and other taxes 4 2473 4018 3,986
37

Total taxes Included in net Income SC & $8,008 $8.699

A reconciliation of the statutory US federal tax rate to the company’s
sffective tax rate 15 as follows

($ in mitlions)

For the year endod Decsmber 31 771 2010 2009
Statutory rate 33 35% __35%
Forewntaxdifferental 19 (10 . __©
State and local 2 2 1
Other il {2} (1)
Effective rate 24 25% 26%

The significart components reflected within the tax rate reconciliation
above labeled “Foreign tax differential” include the effects of foreign
subsidianes’ earnings taxed at rates other than the U S statutory
rate, foreign export ncentives, U S taximpacts of non-U S earnings
repatriation and any net mpacts of ntercompany transactions These
ttemns also reflect audit settlements or changes in the amount of
unrecognized tax benefits associated with each of these items

In the second quarter of 2011, the company reached agreement
with the Internal Revenue Service (IRS) related to the valuation of
certain intellectual property within the 2004-2005 and 2006-2007
audit periods The agreermnent resolved all open matters for the penod
2004 though 2007 with the IRS As a result, the company recorded
a benefit to the provision for ncome taxes of $173 milion

in the fourth quarter of 2011, the IRS commenced its audit of the
company's U S tax returns for the years 2008 through 2010

Hs
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The effect of tax law changes on deferred tax assets and liabiliies
did not have a matenal mpact on the company's effective tax rate

The significant components of deferred tax assets and habiliies
that are recorded in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
were as follows

Deferred Tax Assets

(% In millions}

At December 31 &1 2010
Retrrement benetits - IOV - L B B <
Share-based and other compansation e hEE_ 1570
Domestic 1ax logs/credit carryforwards 914 948
Defered INCOME__ | . e =+ e 834 1080
Foreign tax loss/credt carryforwargs 752 .. 158
Bad debt, inventory and warranty reserves 678 564
Depreciation e 174 470
Capialized research and development TC 291
Other 1 A0y 1,486
Grogsdeferredtaxassets 11823 11,208
Less valuation allowance 512 795
Net deferred tax assets 510 $16 $10 503

Deferred Tax Liabilities

{$ in mithons)

At D 31 2ot 2010
Leases $2,149 $1,950
Depreciation - . T i 1,223
Goodwill and iIntangible it 796 909
Retirement benefits 551 338
Software development costs Wwo 638
Other 1121 1,114
Gross deferred tax liabilities S6 504 $6 172

For income tax return purposes, the company has foreign and
domesuc loss carryforwards, the tax etfect of which s $791 million,
as well as domestc and foreign credtt carryforwards of $875 million
Substantially all of these carryforwards are avallable for at least two
years or are avalable for 10 years or more

The valuation allowance at Decemnber 31, 201 principally applies
to certain foreign, state and local loss carryforwards that, in the
opinion of management, are more likely than not to expire unutilized
However, to the extent that tax benefits related to these carryforwards
are realized In the future, the reducton in the valuation allowance
will reduce income tax expense

The amount of unrecognized tax benefits at December 31, 2011
increased by $282 million in 2011 to $5,575 milllon A reconciliation
of the beginning and ending amount of unrecognized tax benefits
15 as follows

{8 In milions)
Zu1l 2010 2009

Balance at January 1 . $27 3 $4790 $3,808
Additions based on tax positions

related to the current year (el _ 1,054 554
Agditions for tax positions

of pnor years non 1.768 634
Reductions for tax postions

of prior years {including impacts

__duetoalapsa in statute) __ e o B89 (277
Settlements {231) {660) (19)
Balance at December 31 L8 7h 35 293 $4,790

The additions to unrecognized tax benefits related to the current
and prior years are pnmarily attributable to non-U S i1ssues, certain
tax incentives and credits, acquisition-related matters and state
1issues The settlements and reductions to unrecognized tax benefits
for tax posiens of pnor years are primanly related to non-U S audits
and to the conclusion of the IRS exarmnation of the company’s
income tax returns for 2004 through 2007, related to the valuation
of certain intellectual property, as well as impacts due 1o lapses In
statutes of limitation

In Apnl 2010, the company appealed the determination of a non-
U S taxing authonty with respect to certain foreign tax losses The
tax benefit of these losses, approximately $1,475 million, had been
included in unrecognized tax benefits wathin 2010 additions for tax
positions of prior years The tax benefit of these losses total $1,557
million as of December 31, 2011 The increase was driven by currency
and has been included in the 2011 additions for tax positions of prior
years In Apni 2011, the company receved notification that the appeal
had been denied In June 2011, the company filed a lawsuit chal-
lenging this decision No final determination has been reached on
this matter

The habilty at December 31, 2011 of $5,575 million can be reduced
by $485 milkon of offsetting tax benefits associated with the correlative
effects of potential transfer pricing adjustments, state Income taxes
and timing adjustmerts. The net amount of $5,080 miltion, if recogmized,
would favorably affect the company’s effective tax rate The net
amounts at December 31, 2010 and 2009 were $4,849 million and
$4,213 millon, respectively

Interest and penalties related to Income tax liabilties are ncluded
inincome tax expense. During the year ended Decernber 31, 201, the
company recognized $129 million in iInterest expense and penalties, I
2010, the company recegnized a $15 million benefit in nterest expense
and penalties, and In 2009, the company recogrized $183 million
In interest expense and penalties The company has $461 million for
the payment of interest and penalties accrued at December 31, 2011
and had $374 million accrued at December 31, 2010
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Within the next 12 months, the company believes 1t 1s reasonably
possible that the total amount of unrecognized tax benefits associated
with cerian positions may be reduced The company expects that
certain foreign and state 1ssues may be concluded in the next
12 months The company estimates that the unrecogmized tax benefits
at December 31, 201t could be reduced by $138 million

With limited exception, the company ts no fonger subjectto U S
federal, state and local or non-U S income tax audits by taxing
authoribies for years through 2007 The years subseguent to 2007
contain matters that could be subject to differing interpretations of
applicable tax laws and regulations as it relates to the amount and/
or timing of income, deductions and tax credits Although the
outcome of tax audits is always uncertain, the company believes
that adequate amounts of tax and interest have been provided for
any adjustments that are expected to result for these years

The company has not provided deferred taxes on $37 9 billion
of undistrbuted earnings of non-U'S subsidianies at December 31, 2011,
as 113 the company’s policy to mdefintely reinvest these earnings
nnen-US operations However, the company periodically repatriates

Note P,

Foo, a oo honaof Gonunon St e

a portion of these earnings to the extent that it does not Incur an
additional US tax labiity Quantification of the deferred tax iabilty,
if any, associated with indefinitely reinvested earnings is not practicable.

Note O

i TR L

RD&E expense was $6,258 million in 2011, $6,026 milkon in 2010
and $5,820 mullion in 2009

The company incurred expense of $5,990 milion, $5,720 million
and $5,523 rillon in 2011, 2010 and 2009, respectively, for scientific
research and the application of scientific advances to the development
of new and improved products and their uses, as well as services
and ther application Within these amounts, software-related expense
was $3,097 milion, $3,028 million and $2,991 million in 2011, 2010
and 2009, respactively

Expense for product-related engineering was $267 million,
$306 million and $297 milion 1n 2011, 2010 and 2009, respectively

The following table presents the computation of basic and diuted earnings per share of common stock

(% In milions except per share ameunts)

For the year ended December 31

s 2010 2009

Welghted-average number of shares on which earnings per share calculations are based

Cutvy O . 1.268,789,202 1 327 157,410

Baslc
Add—mncremental shares under stock-based compensation plans e e V4516189053 12258 864
Add —incremental shares associated with contingently issuable shares P 2,377,133 1,936,480
Assuming dilution 21370 fr. 1287 355388 1341352754
Net income on which basic earnings per share Is calculated 517 rDh $14.833 $13,425
Lass—net income apphcable to contingantly 1ssuable shares ! o] -
Net income on which diluted earmings per share is calcutated sit T $14,833 $13 425
Eamings/floss) pershareof comMONSoCk . .l n e
__Assuming ditution R $ 1182 1001
Basic g 13:% $ 11869 § 1012

Stock options to purchase 612,272 common shares in 2009 were outstanding, but were not included in the computation of diluted earnings
per share because the exercise price of the options was greater than the average market price of the commeon shares for the applicable full

year, and therefore, the effect would have been antidilutive

"7
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Note Q.

Peopdao b e oL omimidnen s
Rental expense, including amounts charged to inventories and
fixed assets, and excluding amounts previously reserved, was
$1,836 million in 201, $1727 millon in 2010 and $1,677 milkon in 2009
Rental expense in agreements with rent holidays and scheduled rent
increases Is recorded on a straight-line basis over the lease term

Contingent rentals are included 1n the determination of rental
expense as accruable The table below depicts gross mimmum
rertal commitrents under noncancelable leases, amounts related
to vacant space assoclated with infrastructure reductions and
special actions taken through 1994, and in 1899, 2002 and 2005
{previously reserved), sublease mcome commitments and capital
lease commitments These amounts reflect actmities primarily
related to office space, as well as manufacturing facilimes

{% 0 rmithions)
2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 Beyond 2016
Operating lease commitments R e
Gross miimum rental cormmitrments
.. —(ncluding vacantspace below) $1562 #1824 §1.000 ..begn_ 443 5613
__Vacant space $ 29 s 10 $ 9 $ 7 $ 3 51
Sublease Income commitments . o $ 29 $ 14 5 9 - .3 4 $ 8
Capital lease commitments $ 19 $ 28 $§ 13 $ 14 $ 7 $ 5
Note R Incentive Awards

O B asenn Comnr Sabot

Stock-based compensation cost 1s measured at grant date, based
on the farr value of the award, and 1s recognized over the employee
requisite service perod See note A, “Significant Accounting Policies,”
on page 82 for additional information

The following table presents total stock-based compensation
cost included in the Consolidated Statement of Earnings

{8 in milions)
For the year ended December 3t 2611 2010 2009
Cost _ o $ 120 $ g4 $ 94
Seling, general and administratve - 514 488 497
Research, development

and engneerng &2 .48 47
Other (Income) and expense” ~ o)) —
Pre-tax stock-based

compensation cost _ b7 . 629 558
Income tax benefits [#4b) (240) (221)
Total stock-based

compensation cost n 440 $ 388 $ 337

* Reflects the one-time effects of the sale of the Product Lifecycle Management actwvities.

Total unrecognized compensation cost related to non-vested awards
at December 31, 2011 and 2010 was $1,162 milion and $1,044 mellion,
respectively, and 1s expected to be recognized over 4 weighted-
average penod of approximately three years

There was no significant capitalized stock-based compensaton
cost at Decemnber 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009

Stock-based mncentive awards are provided to employees under
the terms of the company's long-term performance plans (the
“Plans”} The Plans are administered by the Executive Compensation
and Management Resources Committee of the Board of Directors
(the “Committee™) Awards available under the Plans principally
Include stock options, restricted stock units, performance share
unrts or any combination thereof

The armount of shares onginally authorized to be 1ssued under
the compainy's exising Plans was 274 1milion at December 33, 2011
In addition, certan sncentive awards granted under previous plans,
If and when those awards were canceled, could be reissued under
the company's existing Plans As such, 66 2 milion additional awards
were considered authorized to be issued under the company's existing
Plans as of December 31, 2011 There were 124 8 million unused shares
avallable to be granted under the Flans as of December 31, 2011

Under the company’s long-standing practices and policies, all
awards are approved prior to or on the date of grant The exercise
price of at-the-money stock options 1s the average of the high and
low market price on the date of grant The options approval process
spectfies the individual recemng the grant, the number of options or
the value of the award, the exercise price or formula for determining the
exercise prioe and the date of grant All awards for senior managemernt
are approved by the Committee All awards for employees other than
senior management are approved by senior management pursuant to
asenes of delegations that were approved by the Committee, and the
grants made pursuant to these delegations are reviewed panodically
with the Committee Awards that are given as part of annual total
compensaton for senior management and other employees are
made on specific cycle dates scheduled In advance With respect
to awards given in connection with promotions or new hires, the
company’s palicy requires approval of such awards prior to the grant
date, which 1s typically the date of the promotion or the date of hire
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Stock Options
Stock options are awards which allow the employee 1o purchase
shares of the company’s stock at a fixed price Stock options are
granted at an exercise price equal to the company stock price on
the date of grant These awards, which generally vest 25 percent
per year, are fully vested four years from the date of grant and have
a cortractual term of 10 years

The company estimates the farr value of stock options at the date
of grant using the Black-Scholes valuation model Key inputs and

assumptions used to estmate the farr value of stock options include
the grant pnce of the award, the expected option term, volatility of
the company’s stock, the rnsk-free rate and the company’s dividend
yietd Estimates of far value are not intended to predict actual future
events or the value utimately realized by employees who receive equity
awards, and subsequent events are not Indicatve of the reasonableness
of the original estimates of far value made by the company

During the years ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009, the
company did not grant stock options

The following table surmmarizes option actwity under the Plans during the years ended Decermber 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009

T 2010 2009
Weighted Nurnber of Weighted Number of Weghted Number of
Average Shares Average Shares Average Shares
Exarcise Price Under Option Exarcise Price Under Optlon Exercise Price Under Option
Balance at January 1 AL 3 AnTET, § 98 73210457 $102_ 119307170
Optonsexercised o e e o (33078315) 98 (28,100,192
Options canceled/expied 10hs {3 007 108 {034,413} 127 {17,996,521)
Balance at December 31 G =5 20 5 A 327 $ 04 30197 728 $ 08 73 210 457
Exercisable at December 31 6 ] 20 462 322 $ 04 39,197,728 5 98 72,217 126
The shares under option at December 31, 2011 were in the following exercise price ranges
Options Quistanding and Exercisable
Weightad Average
Welghted Number of Aggregate Remaining
Average Shares Intrinsic Contractua Life
Exercise Price Range Exnrcise Price Under Opticn Valug {in Years)
$61-$85 5 74 Cri o - EN -
L P . SN Ko T2 S M-S St S 3
$106 and over 10, 15 a7 F1b A7x o '
< ™) SO0 IR L™ 810 T M

In connection with various acquisition transactions, there was an
addihional 10 millien stock-based awards, consisting of stock options
and restricted stock units, outstanding at December 31, 2011, as a
result of the company's assumption of stock-based awards previously
granted by the acquired entites The weighted-average exarcise
price of these awards was $59 per share

Exercises of Employee Stock Options

The total intrinsic value of options exercised dunng the years ended
December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009 was $1,266 million, $1,072 rmulion
and $639 milion, respectively The totat cash receved from employees

as a result of employee stock option exercises for the years ended
December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2000 was approximately $1,786 rmillion,
$3.347 million and $2,744 million, respectively In connection with
these exercises, the tax benefits realized by the company for the
years ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 20089 were $412 million,
$351 million and $243 million, respectively

The company settles employee stock option exercises primarily
with newly issued common shares and, occasicnally, with treasury
shares Total treasury shares held at December 31, 2011 and 2010
were approximately 1,019 milion and 934 million shares, respectively

19
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Stock Awards

In lieu of stock options, the company currently grants rts employees stock awards These awards are made In the form of Restricted Stock
Units (RSUs), ncluding Retention Resincted Stock Units {RRSUs) or Performance Share Unus (PSUs)
The tables below summarize RSU and PSU actvity under the Plans duning the years ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009

RSUs
M1 2010 2009
Weighted Weighted Weighted
Average Number Average Number Average Number
Gran Price of Units Gran Price of Uruts Grant Price of Unis
Balance at January 1 110 11108 adE $102 13,405,654 $100 12,397,515
R3Usgranted [ AT 122 3,459,303 ) 105 4,432 449
RSUsreleased . e  BL¥%owr 88 (5102951 89 (2748613
RSUs canceled/forfered Mt 166, 9371 105 (865,560) m {675 697)
Balance at December 31 -0 P $110 11,196,446 $102 13,405 654
PSUs
201 2010 2009
Waighted Weighted Weighted
Average Number Avarage Number Average Nurnber
Grant Price of Urts Granit Price of Units Grant Prca of Units
Balance at January 1 . R 511 3 549 208 $107 3,476,737 $102 3,078,604
PSUs granted at target 154 1055 L7 117 1,239,468 101 1568,129
Addtional shares earned above target” . IR B E I 2 LS 103 463,813 ~ 83 396,794
PSUs rel d 118 {1109 7 ) 103 {1,486,484) 83 {1,440,099)
PSUs canceled/for feited 118 {44y 108 {44,346) 111 (126 781)
Balance at December 31** $122 3 L0 991 $i11 3,640,268 $107 3,476,737

* Reprasents additonal shares Issued to employees after vesting of PSUs because final performance metrics exceeded specified targets
** Represents the number of shares expected Lo be issued based on achievemant of grant date performance 1argets The actual number of shares Issued depends on the company’s

performance against specified targsls over the vesting penod

RSUs are stock awards granted to employees that entiffe the holder
to shares of common stock as the award vests, typically over a
one- to five-year period The farr value of the awards 1s determined
and fixed on the grant date based on the company’s stock price
RSUs granted to employees prior to January 1, 2008 are considered
participating securities as they receive non-forfeitable dwvidend
equivalents at the same rate as cormmen stock Any unvested awards
that contain these nights are included n computing earnings per
share pursuant to the two-class method For RSUs awarded on or
after January 1, 2008, dividend equivalents are not paid The far
value of such RSUs 1s determined and fixed on the grant date based
on the company’s stock price adjusted for the exclusion of dvidend
equivalents

The remaining weighted-average contractual term of RSUs at
December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009 1s the same as the period over
which the remamning cost of the awards will be recognized, which
IS approximately three years The fair value of RSUs granted durng
the years ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009 was $803 mulion,
$421 mulion and $467 million, respectively The total farr value of RSUs
vested and released during the years ended December 31, 2011,
2010 and 2009 was $373 mulion, $503 million and $272 million,
respectively As of December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2008, there was
$1,021 million, $865 muliron and $892 militon, respectively, of

unrecognized compensation cost related to non-vested RSUs The
company receved no cash from employees as a result of employee
vesting and release of RSUs for the years ended December 31, 2011,
2010 and 2009 In the second quarter of 2011, the company granted
equity awards valued at approximately $1 thousand each to about
400,000 non-executive employees These awards were made under
the Plans and vest in December 2015

PSUs are stock awards where the number of shares ultimately
received by the employee depends on the company's performance
against specified targets and typically vest over a three-year period
The fair value of each PSU 1s determined on the grant date, based
on the company’s stock price, and assumes that performance
targets will be achieved Over the performance period, the number
of shares of stock that will be issued is adjusted upward or downward
based upon the probabulity of achievement of performance targets
The uttimate number of shares 1ssued and the related compensation
cost recognized as expense will be based on a comparison of the
final performance metncs to the specified targets The farr value of
PSUs granted at target during the years ended December 31, 2011,
2010 and 2009 was $165 million, $145 milion and $159 million,
respectively Total farr value of PSUs vested and released during
the years ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009 was $141 milion,
$153 million and $120 million, respectively
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In connection with vesting and release of RSUs and PSUs,
the tax benefits realzed by the company for the years ended
December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009 were $283 million, $293 million
and $156 million, respectively

IBM Employees Stock Purchase Plan
The company maintains a non-compensatory Employees Stock
Purchase Plan (ESPP) The ESPP enables eligible participants to
purchase full or fractional shares of IBM common stock at a 5 percent
discourt off the average market price on the day of purchase through
payroll deductons of up o 10 percent of eligible compensation Elgible
compensation includes any compensation receved by the employee
during the year The ESPP provides for offering panods durng which
shares may be purchased and continues as long as shares remain
available under the ESPP, uniess terminated earlier at the discretion
of the Board of Directors indmvidual ESPP participants are restricted
from purchasing more than $25,000 of common stock In one
calendar year or 1,000 shares in an offering pencd

Employees purchased 19 rilion, 2 4 million and 3 2 millon shares
under the ESPP during the years ended December 31, 2011, 2010
and 2008, respectively Cash dividends declared and paid by the
company on its common stock also include cash dmdends on the
company stock purchased through the ESPP Dvidends are paid
on full and fractional shares and can be reinvested in the ESPP The
company stock purchased through the ESPP 1s considered outstanding
and s included In the weighted-average outstanding shares for
purposes of computing basic and diluted earnings per share

Approximately 5 4 milon, 72 miflion and 9 6 million shares were
available for purchase under the ESPP at December 31, 2011, 2010
and 2009, respectively

Note S

Bievwer oo 1 e g Biangehls

Description of Plans

IBM sponsors defined benefit pension plans and defined contribution
plans that cover substantially all regular employees, a supplemental
retention plan that covers certain U S executives and nonpension
postretrement benefit plans primarly consisting of retiree medical
and dental benefits for eligible retirees and dependents

US Plans

Defined Benefit Pension Plans

IBM Personal Pension Plan

IBM prowides US regular, full-time and part-time employees hired
prior to January 1, 2008 with noncontributory defined benefit penston
benefits via the IBM Personal Pension Plan Prior to 2008, the IBM
Personal Pension Plan consisted of a tax qualified {qualified) plan
and a nen-tax qualified (nonqualified) plan Effective January 1, 2008,

the nonquahfied plan was renamed the Excess Personal Pension
Plan (Excess PPP) and the gqualified plan 1s now referred 1o as the
Qualified PPP The combined plan 1s now referred to as the PPP
The Qualified PPP s funded by company contributions to an
rrevocable trust fund, which ts held for the sole benefit of participants
and beneficlaries The Excess PPP, which 1s unfunded, provides
benefits in excess of IRS hmitations for qualfied plans

Benefits provided to the PPP participants are calculated using
benefit formulas that vary based on the partcipant The first method
uses a five-year, final pay formula that determines benefits based
on salary, years of service, mortality and other participant-specific
factors The second method 1s a cash balance formula that calculates
benefits using a percentage of employees’ annual salary, as well as
an interest crediting rate

Benefit accruals under the IBM Personal Pension Plan ceased
December 31, 2007 for all participants

S Supplemental Executive Retention Plan

The company also sponsors a nonqualified US Supplemental

Executrve Retention Plan (Retention Plan) The Retention Plan, which

18 unfunded, provides banefits to elgible U S executives based on

average eamings, years of service and age at termination of employmert
Benefit aceruals under the Retention Plan ceased December 31,

2007 for all participants

Defined Contribution Plans
IBM 401(x) Flus Plan
US regular, full-time and part-time employees are eligible to
participate in the IBM 401(k) Plus Ptan, which 1s a qualified defined
contnbution plan under section 401() of the Internal Revenue Code
Effectve January 1, 2008, under the IBM 401(k) Plus Plan, eligible
employees receive a dollar-for-dollar match of their contributions
up ta 6 percent of eligible compensation for those hired prior to
January 1, 2005, and up 10 5 percent of elgible compensation for
those hired on or after January 1 2005 In addrtion, eligible employees
receive automatic contnbutions from the company equal to 1, 2 or
4 percent of eligible compensation based on therr eligiility to
participate in the PPP as of December 31, 2007 Employees receve
automatic contributions and matching contributions after the
completion of one year of service Further, through June 30, 2009,
IBM contnbuted transition credits to eligible participants' 401(K) Plus
Plan accounts The amount of the transition credits was based ona
participant’s age and service as of June 30, 1999

The company’s matching contributions vest mmediatety and
participants are always fully vested in their own contrnibutions All
centributions, Inciuding the company match, are made in cash and
invested in accordance with participants’ Investment elections There
are no minmum arnounts that must be invested in company stock,
and there are no restrictions on transferning armounts out of company
stock to another investment choice, other than excessive trading
rules applicable to such investments
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1BM Excess 401(k) Plus Plan
Eftactive January 1, 2008, the company replaced the IBM Executive
Deferred Compensation Plan, an unfunded, nonqualified, defined
contribution plan, with the 1IBM Excess 401(k) Plus Plan (Excess
4Q(K}), an unfunded, nongualified defined contribution plan Employees
who are eligible to participate 1n the 401(k) Plus Plan and whose
ehgible compensation is expected to exceed the [RS compensation
Iimit for qualified plans are ekgible to participate in the Excess 401(k)
The purpose of the Excess 401(k} is to prowide benefits that would be
provided under the qualified IBM 401(k) Plus Plan if the compensation
limits did not apply

Amounts deferred into the Excess 401(k) are record-keeping
{notional} accounts and are not held in trust for the participants
Participants in the Excess 401(k) may invest therr notional accounts
in Investments which mirror the primary investment options available
under the 431(k) Pius Pian Participants in the Excess 401(k) are
also eligible to receve company match and automatic contributons
on eligible compansation deferred into the Excess 401(k} and on
compensation earmed in excess of the Internal Revenue Code
pay hmit once they have completed one year of service Through
June 30, 2009, eligible participants alsc receved transition credits
Amounts deferred into the Excess 401(k}, including company
contributions are recorded as liabilities in the Consolidated Staternent
of Financial Positicn

Nonpenston Postretirement Benefit Plan

U S Noanpension Postretirement Plan

The compary sponsors a defined benefit nonpension postretrement
benefit plan that provides medical and dental benefits to eligble US

Plan Financial Information

Summary of Financial Information

retirees and eligible depandents, as well as Ife nsurance for ehigible
US retrees Effective July 1,1999, the company established a Future
Health Account (FHA) for employees who were more than five years
from retirement eligibility Employees who were within five years of
retirement ehgiblity are covered under the company’s prior retiree
health benefits arrangements Under either the FHA or the prior
retiree health benefit arrangements, there 1s a maxmum cost to the
company for retiree health benefits

Since January 1, 2004, new hires, as of that date or later, are not
eligble for company subsidized nonpension postretrement benefits

Non-U § Plans
Most subsidianes and branches outside the United States sponsor
defined benefit and/or defined contribution plans that cover
substantially all regular employees The company deposits funds
under varous fiduciary-type arrangements, purchases annuities
under group contracts or provides reserves for these plans Benefits
under the defined benefit plans are typically based either on years
of service and the employee’s compensation (generally durting a
fixed number of years immediately before retrement) or orr annual
credits The range of assumptions that are used for the non-U S
defined benefit ptans reflect the different economic environments
within the vanous countries

In addition, certan of the company's non-U S subsickanes sponsor
nonpension postratirement benefit plans that provide medical and
dental benefits to eligible non-U S retirees and eligible dependents,
as well as Iife nsurance for certain eligible non-U S retirees However,
most non-U S retirees are covered by local government-sponsored
and -administered programs

The following table presents a summary of the total retirement-related benefits net periodic (iIncome)/cost recorded in the Consolidated

Statement of Earnings
{8 In milions)
S Plans Nan-U 8 Plans Total

For the year ended December 31 Pl 2010 2009 EOR 2010 2009 Al 20310 2009
Defined benefitpensianplans__ ___ _ _ S(7-a) S48 _SQ19) _ $ 7 $ 641 $ 621 S 14 ${408) _$ (398}
Retention Plan 3 14 13 — — § 14 13
Total defined benefit

pension plans (incorme)/cost 5 bt $935) $(906) £ . 4 $ 541 $ 521 L $ (384) $ (384}
1BM 401k} Pius Plan

and Non-U § plans _ 5Bia  $882 3946 L Lh $ 527 . $. 478  Svwes  $1409 §1,424
Excess 401(k} 32 20 26 — — S 20 26
Total defined contnbution plans cost ~f $ 002 $872 5 601 $ 527 $ 478 LS I 1 430 $1,450
Nonpension postretirerment N

benefit plans cost 5 LY $ 281 $292 < o $ 66 $ 58 PR S 347 $ 350
Total retirement-related

benefits net periodic cost ¥t $ 248 $ 358 L1146 $1134 $1,057 16 $1,382 $1.415
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The following table presents a summary of the total projected benefit obligation (PBO) for defined benefit pension plans, accumulated
postretirement benefit obligation (APBO) for nonpension postretirement benefit plans (benefit obhigations), fair value of plan assets and the
associated funded status recorded in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

(& In milions)
Benefit Obligations Fair Value of Plan Assets Funded Status™
At Dagember 31 2 2010 au 2010 MR 2010
UsPlans
L Overfundedplans
Qualified PPP “ $49,663 ¢ $50,259 $ 596
. Undertunded plans _ e e . e
Qualfied PPP ) . .: — o — s
Excess PPP 1 e 1360 = .
_ _Ratention Plan e _ e 271 e e e T MO 4277
Nonpension postretrement benefit plan 5,173 5123 3 as GRS {5,088}
Total underfunded U S plans 559 358 $ 6,753 551 250 5 35 L $ (6,718}
Non-U S. Plans e o B } - .
Overfunded plans o
Qualihed definad benefit pension plans 512 B $22625 S16 61 $25,006 » 2R3 § 2471
Nonpension postretirernent benefit plans 7 B - 9 ° 1
Total gverfunded non-U S plans S1317. $22,633 S 6T $25,105 & T Pal $ 2472
___Underfunded plans e
Qualified defined benefit pension plans _ BaaLem $14,507 W%, $10,626 € 23 $ (3,881)
Nonqualified defined benefit pension plans 5¢ 5452 — - (5 452)
Nonpension postretirernent benefit plans £G4 864 105 111 ™ (753}
Total underfunded non-U S plans 530 &7 $20,823 14, 155 $10,737 S{11 1791 ${10,086)
Totat overfunded plans 513175 $72,206 S1G 018 $75 364 L . 8.3 $ 3068
Total underfunded plans 389 844 $27 576 S/0 712 $10772 %513 232) $(16,804)

* Funded status Is recognized in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position as follows  Assat amounts as prepard pensicn assets, (Liabillty) amounts as compensation and
benefits {current hability) and retirement and nonpension postretirement benehit obligations {noncurrent llability)

At December 31, 2011, the company’s qualfied defined benefit pension plans worldwide were 96 percent fundad compared to the benefit
obligations, with the US qualified PPP 98 percent funded Overall, ncluding nongualifed plans, the company's defined benefit pension plans
were §9 percent funded
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Defined Benefit Pension and Nonpension

Postretirement Benefit Plan Financial Information

The following tables through page 126 represent financial information
for the company's retirement-retated benefit plans, excluding defined
contribution plans The defined benefit penston plans under US
Plans consists of the Qualified PPP, the Excess PPP and the Retention

Plan The defined benefit pension plans and the nonpension
postretrement benefit plans under Non-U S Plans consists of all
ptans sponsored by the company's subsidianes The nonpension
postretrement benefit plan under US Plan consists of only the U S
Nonpension Postretrement Benefit Plan

The tables below present the components of net penodic {income)/cost of the compary's retirerment-relaied benetit plans recognized in
Consolidated Statement of Earnings, excluding defined contnbution plans

{$ In miliions)
Defined Benefit Pension Plans
Us Plans Non-U'S Plans
For the year ended December 31 AT 2010 2008 vt 2010 20089
Service cost $ $ .= § - .5 8% $ 508 % 58
Interest cost. o " 45, 2,601 2,682 _1e . 1,841 1,608
Expected raturn on plan assets _ e {4 Cad} (@07 | (4,009 i 521 (2,461} _(2539)
Amortization of transition s = — e QO
Amortization of prior service costs/credits) I |+ W .10, Loz arma (126)
Recognized actuariallosses . .. . .. &M ATV LA LEro. e 624
Curtadments and settlements - 1 - t 27 (126)
Muti-emplover plans/other costs - — 111 89 200
Total net periodic {income)/cost S {75 $ (935 $ (906} s 734 5 oM $ 521
(& In muions)
Nonpension Postretirement Benefit Plans
US Pian Non US Plang
For the year entded December 31 201 2010 2009 e 200 2000
Sarvica cost < 32 $ 33 $ 4 511 $£9 $10
Imgrestegost N N 235 262 289 'r 59 51
Expected retum on plan assets - = 1) @ 8
Arnortization of transthon t: - _ - o o 0
Amortization of prior service costs/gredits) — USRI, £ SNSRI . ISR - U - NN |
Recognized actuaria! losses = - 13 12 11
Total net periodic cost 5163 $281 $292 e $66 %58
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The following table presents the changes in benefit obligations and ptan assets of the company’s retirement-related benefit plans, excluding
defined contribution plans

(S In milions)
Defnad Benefit Pension Ptans Nonpension Postretrement Banefit Plans
US Plans Non US Plans US Plan Non-U 5 Plans

M 2010 £ 1 2010 . 2010 1 2010
Change in benefit obligation —— —
Benafit oblgation at January1 R . E5100 L4 § 767
Service cost 3B " 9
Interest cost _ S 282 B8
Plan participants contnbytions — - - R
Acquisitions/divestitures, net - u 1
Actyanallosses/gains) . __ SN 8573 Fn 1,666 Cea 1@ T _ &
Benefits paid from trust {3121 {3,145) A n {1,957) Vi3 (641} fe 1)
Oirect benefit payments [ 92) Mz (457) (R 8) [F (25)
Foregnexchangewmpact . L . T2 @) o ._mr
Medicare/Government subsidies — — L _i6 —
Amaendments/curtallments/settlements/other 1 tal {73) — 0
Benefit oblhgation at December 31 S5 o $51,203 12031 $42 584 SN 272 $ 5,123 S 601 $ 872
Change in plan agsets
FarvilueotplanassetsatJanuaryl = 0Thh BA7260  £is0ne  $34305 ¢ 4 8.8 g1 . 8104
Actualretumonplanassets . ‘™0 B8 16w 2983 o 0 . 7
Empioyer contnbutiens = - 720 801 af? 408 n 0
Acguisiions/dwvestitures, ne - — 177, oy .~ 0) A o
Plan participants _contributions - — o3 57 22¢ 235 - —
Benefils paid from trust (3171 (3.145) {1,995 (1,957} (B 541) [ 7}
Foreignexchangewnpact T - 5371 (396) ——T = us 6
Amendments/curtalments/sattiements/other — 3 {51) — - —
Fair value of plan assets at December 31 51 118 $50,259 €5 77" $35 722 g3 $ 35 1 $120
Funded status at December 31 S0 &4 ${1.034) S (7 409, $ (6.861) Sy as ${5 088) Ol Tdg 3752)
Accumu_lg_ted benefit obigatlon' %34 (95 $51 293 £12 063 $41 630 N A N/A 3 A N/A

Ex¢ludes a defined benafit pansion plan in Brazll due to restrictlons on the use of plan assets imposed by governmental regutations

° Intludes the reinstalerment of certain pian asselsin Brazi tue toa 2011 government ruiing alowing cartain previously resincied plan assets o be returned 10 1BM Beginming June
2011 the essets will be returned to (BM monthly over a three year period, with approximately $200 milfion expected to be returned during 2012 The remaining surplus in Brazi at
Decamber 31 2011 remains excluded from total plan assets dus te continued restrictions imposed by the government on tha vse of those plan assets

* Represents the beneit obligation assurming no future participant compensation nicreases
N/A—Not applicabte

The following table presents the net funded status recognized in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

(& In milicng)
Defined Benefit Pension Plans Norpension Postratirement Benefit Plans

US Plans Non-U S Plans US Plan Non-US Plans

1 2010 N 2010 i 2010 s 2016
Prepaid pension assets . n $ 596 rornt $2471 - $ 1] ¢ $ 1
Current babikties — compensation and benefits L (94) i (288 e M2 b (29
Noncurrent kabilifies — retirement and nonpansion
__postretrernent benefit obligations 17,7 4¢ {1,536) 110 035, (9,044) (4.7t (4,667 e (731)
Funded status—net hRteY) $(1,034) O {7 4T $(6.861) EIC:] $(5 088) S n 8752)

The table on page 126 presents the pre-tax net loss and pnor service costs/(credits) and transition (assets)/labilities recognized in other
comprehensive Income/(loss) and the changes In the pre-tax net loss, prior servce costs/{credits) and transition (assetsyliabilies recognized
In accumulated other comprehensive income/(loss) for the retrement-related benefit plans
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(£ n milions)
Defined Benefit Pensicn Plans Nonpension Postratirement Benefit Plans
US Plans Non US Plans US Plan Non U S Plans
2013 2010 Zu 2010 011 2010 P 2010

Net loss at January 1 15,665 $14 880 £17.580 $17,172 £442 5397 3 A% $167
Current pericd loss/(gan) .. 3ma 1,456 tE% 1,130 #n 96 . 24
Curtadments and settlements - (k] {t0) - - -
Amortization of net loss included

in net penodic (income)/cost {3181 471) 12071 712) - A3 (13)
Net loss at December 31 L 18 R $15,865 <10, 302 $17,580 5734 $492 >4 $180
Prior service costs/credits) at January 1 R § 158 £ 8 $(1,104) _t = (14 sty 809
Current penod prior service costs/(credits) oL - 28 Lo ey - _ . Q)
Cuntalments andsettiemets T T e T e e T _
Armortization of prior servica (costs)/credits T

n¢luded n net penodic Income)/cost 110 (10} Tor 174 14 4 5
Prior service costs/(credits) at December 31 o 148 $ 149 S (Tu? $_ (958) £ - $ — Sy $(14)
Transion (assets)/labilives at January 1 s - $ - & i & () 3 = $ - ElR. $ 1
Amortization of transition assets/{labities)

included in net periodic {income)/cost - — ¢ 0 — — 1Li) Q)
Transihon {assets)/iabiities at December 31 5 ~- 3 — 5 it} 3 {0) S - $ — S 0 3 1
Total! loss recognized i accumulated other

comprehensive mcome/{loss)” S1d 701 $16,014 £17 541 $16,621 $734 $402 L.y $167

* See note L, “Equity Actwity” on pages 110 to 12 for the total change in the accumulated other comprebensive iIncome/{loss) and the Consolidated Stalement of Comprehgnsive
Income for the components of net pencdic incomel/cost Including the relaled tax effects recognized n other ¢comprehengive income/(loss) for the retrement-related beneht plans

The following table presents the pre-tax estmated net loss, estimated prior service costs/{credits) and estmated transiion (assets)/
labnltes of the retirement-related benefit plans that will be amortized from accumulated other comprehensive income/{loss) Into net periodic

(income)/cost in 2012

{$ in millions)
Defined Benafit Nonpension Posiretirement
Pension Plans Benefit Plans.
US Plans  Non US Plans US Plan __ Non-US Plans
Net loss _ o oo L .. 31343 81047 824 = 818
Prior service costs/(credits) 9 {157) - G

Transimon (assetsyiabilities

= o)} - 0

During the years ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2008, the
company paid $16 rmultion, $22 million and $140 milion, respectively,
for mandatory pension insolvency INSUrance coverage premiuums
in certain non-U 8§ countries (Germany, Canada, Luxembourg and
the U K) Premiums were significantly higher in 2009 due to the
increased level of nsolvencies experienced by other companies as
a resuit of the economic ¢risis in that period

No significant amendments of retirement-retated benefit plans
occurred during the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010 that
had a material effect in the Consoclidated Statement of Earrungs

In 2008, the company approved changes to the United Kingdom
Pension Plan which included ending benefit accruals under this plan
effective April 2011 As aresult of this action, the company recorded
a curtallment gain of $124 milkon which was included in 2009 net
periodic (income)/cost and reduced the PBO by $85 million

Assumptions Used to Determine Plan Financial Information
Underlying both the measurement of benefit obligations and net
perodic income)/cost are actuanal valuations These valuations
use participant-specific nformation such as salary, age and ysars
of service, as well as certain assumpticns, the most significant of
which include estimates of discount rates, expected return on plan
assets, rate of compensation increases, interest crediting rates and
mortalty rates The company evaluates these assumptions, at a
minimum, annually, and makes changes as necessary
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The table below presents the assumptions used to measure the net penodic (Income)/cost and the year-end benefit obligations for retirernent-
related benefit plans

Defined Benefit Pension Plans

US Plans Non-US Plans
731 2010 2009 N 2010 2009
Weighted-average assumptions used to measure net
penodic (income)/cost for the year ended December 31
Discount rate B o R X 560% _ 575% 33 o 4Ba% 4 89%
Expected long-term returns
on plan assets 8o 8 00% 8 00% [ 6 56% 673%
Rate of compensation increase” P L - N/A o NA o 292% 309%
Weighted-average assumptions used to measure
benefit obligations at December 31
Discountrate . _oar0 . 500%  _ 580% s %b 4 33% . 484%
Rate of compensation increase* 1) N/A N/A : 47 237% 2 92%

* Rate of compensation increase Is not applicable tothe US defined banefit pansion plans as benefit accruals ceased December 31 2007 for all parucipants
N/A—Nat applicable

Nonpension Postretirement Benefit Plans

US Plan Non-US Plans
2011 2010 2009 el 2010 2009
Weighted-average assumptions used {0 measure net
penodic cost for the year ended December 31
__ _Discountrate o 480, 5 40% 575% ___17% TR%  736%
Expected long-term returns
on plan assets L . o M N/A N/A - Bov 916% _ 919%
Weighted-average assumptions used to measure
benefit obligations at December 31
Discount rate 3 50~ 4 BD% 5 40% 737 7 75% 7 02%
N/A—Nct applicable
Discount Rate For the U S defined benefit pension plans, the changes in the

The discount rate assumptions used for retirement-related benefit discount rate assurmptions impacted the net penodic income)/cost
plans accounting refiect the vields avardable on high-qualty, fixed and the PBO The changes in the discount rate assumptions resulted
income debt mstruments at the measurement date For the US and In a decrease In 2011 net periodic income of $171 million, a decrease
certainnon-US countries, a portfolo of high-quality corporate bonds n 2010 net penodic income of $40 miliion and a decrease in 2009
is used to construct a yield curve The cash flows from the company's net penodic income of $70 million The changes in the discount rate
expected benefit obligation payments are then matched to the yield assumptions resulted in an increase in the PBO of $4,216 million and
curve to denve the discountrates In other non-US countnes, where $2,943 million at December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively

the markets for high-quality long-term bonds are not generally as For the nonpension postretirement benefit plans, the changes in
weli developed, a portfolio of long-term government bonds is used the discount rate assumpbions had no matenal mpact on net perodic
as a base, to which a credit spread 1s added 1o simulate corporate cost for the years ended December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009 and
bond yields at these matunties in the junsdiction of each plan, as resulted in an increase In the APBO of $359 millon and $240 milkon
the benchmark for developing the respective discount rates at December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively ‘
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Expected Long-Term Returns on Plan Assets
Expected returns on plan assets, a component of net penodic
(income)/cost, represent the expected long-term returns on plan
assets based on the calculated market-related value of plan assets
Expected long-term returns on plan assets take into account long-
term expectations for future retums and the investment policies and
strategies as described on page 129 These rates of return are
developed by the company, calculated using an arithmetic average
and are tested for reasonableness against histoncal returns The
use of expected long-term returns on plan assets may result In
recognized pension ncome that 1s greater or less than the actual
returns of those plan assets in any given year Over time, however,
the expected long-term returns are designed to approximate the
actual long-term returns, and therefore resultin a pattern of income
and cost recognition that more closely matches the pattern of the
services provided by the employses Differences between actual
and expected returns are recognized as a component of net 1oss or
gain in accumulated ¢ther comprehensive income/({loss), which 1s
amortized as a component of net pertodic {income)/cost over the
service lives or life expectancy of the plan participants, depending
on the plan, provided such amounts exceed certain thresholds
provided by accounting standards The market-related value of plan
assets recognizes changes in the farr value of plan assets systematically
over a five-year penod In the expected return on plan assets line in
net periodic (income)/cost

For the US defined benefit pension plan, the Qualfied PPP, the
expected long-term rate of return on plan assets of 8 00 percent
remained constant for the years ended December 31, 2011, 2010
and 2008 and, consequently, had no incremental impact on net
peniodic (income)/cost

For the nonpension postretirement benefit plans, the company
maintains a nominal, highly lquid trust fund balance to ensure tmely
payments are made As a result, for the years ended December 31, 2011,
2010 and 2009, the expected long-term return on plan assets and
the actual return on those assets were not ratenal

Rate of Compensation Increases and Mortality Rate

The rate of compensation Increases (s determmned by the company,
based upon its long-term plans for such increases The rate of
compensation increase IS not applcable to the US defined benefit
pension plans as benefit accruals ceased December 31, 2007 for all
participants Mortality rate assumptions are based on Iife expectancy
and death rates for different types of participants Mortality rates are
perodically updated based on actual expenience

Interest Crediting Rate
Benefits for certain participants in the PPP are calculated using a
cash balance formula An assumption underlying this formula 1s an
interest crediting rate, which impacts both net periodic (Income)/
cost and the PBO This assumption provides a bas's for projecting
the expected Interest rate that participants will earm on the benefits
that they are expected to receve in the following year and 1s based
on the average from August to October of the one-year US Treasury
Constant Matunity yield plus one percent

For the PPP, the change in the interest crediting rate to 13 percent
for the year ended December 31, 2011, from 1 4 percent for the year
ended December 31, 2010, resulted in an increase in 2011 net periodic
mcome of $4 mullon The change in the interest crediting rate to
14 percent for the year ended December 31, 2010, from 2 8 percent
for the year ended December 31, 2009, resulted in an increase in
2010 net perodic ncome of $62 milllon The change in the interest
crediting rate to 2 8 percent for the year ended December 31, 2009,
from 5 2 percent for the year ended December 31, 2008, resulted In
an increase In 2009 net penodic income of $151 million

Healthcare Cost Trend Rate

Fer nonpension postretirement benefit plan accounting, the company
reviews external data and its own histonical trends for healthcare
cOsts to determine the healthcare cost trend rates However, the
healthcare cost trend rata has an insignificant effect on plan costs
and obhgations as a result of the terms of the plan which hmit the
company’s obligation to the participarts The company assumes
that the healthcare cost trend rate for 2012 witl be 75 percent in
addstion, the comparny assumes that the same trend rate will decrease
1o 5 percent over the next five years A one percentage point increase
or decrease in the assumed healthcare cost trend rate would not
have had a matenal effect on 2011, 2010 and 2009 net periodic cost
or the benefit obligations as of December 31, 2011 and 2010

Healthcare Legisiation

The expected effects of the U S healthcare reform legistation enacted
In March 2010 were incorporated Into the remeasurements of the
US nonpension pestretirement benefit plan at December 31, 2011
and 2010 The impact was Insignificant as a result of the terms of
the plan which kmit the company’s obligation to the participants
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Plan Assets

Retirement-related benefit plan assets are recognized and measured
at far value as described in note A, “Significant Accounting Policies,”
onpage 84 Because of the inherent uncertainty of valuations, these
fair value measurements may not necessarily reflect the amounts
the company could realize in current market transactions

Investment Policies and Strategies
The nvestment objectives of the Qualified PPP portfolio are designed
to generate returns that will enable the plan to meet its future
obligations The precise amount for which these obligaticns will
be settled depends on future events, Including the retirement
dates and Ife expectancy of the plans’ participants The obligations
are estimated using actuanal assumptions, based on the current
economic environiment and other pertinent factors described on
pages 12610 128 The Qualfied PPP portfolio's investment strategy
balances the requirement to generate returns, usng potentially higher
yelding assets such as equity securities, with the need to control
nsk in the portfolio with less volatile assets, such as fixed-income
secunties Risks include, among cthers, iInflation, volatiity in equity
values and changes in interest rates that could cause the plan to
become underfunded, thereby mcreasing its dependence on
cantnbutions from the company To mitigate any potential concen-
tration nsk, careful consideration 1s given to balancing the portfolio
among Industry sectors, companies and geographies, taking nto
account iInterest rate sensitivity, dependence on economic growth,
currency and other factors that affect investment returns  As a result,
the Qualified PPP portfolio’s target allocation 1s 43 percent equity
securities, 46 percent fixed income securities, 6 percent real estate
and 5 percent other investments, which 1s conststent with the
aliocation decisions made by the company's management and Is
similar to the prior year target allocation The table cn page 130
detalls the actual equity, fixed mcome, real estate and other types
of invastments in the Qualified PPP portfolic

The assets are managed by professional investment firms and
investment professionals who are employeses of the company They
are bound by investment mandates determined by the company’s
management and are measured against specific benchmarks Among
these managers, consideration 1s given, but not imrted to, batancing
secunty concentration, 1Issuer concentration, investment style and
relfance on particular active and passive investment strategies

Market iquidity nsks are tightly controlled, with only a modest
percentage of the Qualified PPP portfolio invested in private
market assets consisting of private equities and private real estate
investments, which are less Iquid than publicly traded securities As
of December 31, 201, the Qualified PPP portfolio had $2,663 million
i commitrments for future iInvestments in private markets to be made
over a number of years These commitments are expected to be
funded from plan assets

Dervatves are used on a imited basis as an effective means to
achreve investment objectives and/or as a component of the plan’s
risk management strategy The primary reasons for the use of
denvatives are fixed Income management, iInciuding duration, interest
rate management and credit exposure, cash equitization and to
manage currency and commadity strategies

Quiside the U S, the investrment objectives are similar to those
described above, subject to local regulations The weighted average
target aflocation for the non-U S plans 1s 37 percent equity securities,
51 percent fixed income securities, 3 percent real estate and
9 percent other investments, which 1s consistent with the allocation
decisions made by the company's management The table on page
130 detalls the actual equity, fixed income, real estate and cther types
of investments for non-US plans In some countries, a higher
percentage allocation to fixed income securities Is required In others,
the responsibility for managing the investments typically lles with a
board that may include up to 50 percent of members elected by
employees and retirees This can result in shight differences compared
with the strategies previously described Generally, these non-U S
plans do not invest in lgquid assets and their use of dervatives 1s
usually irmited to currency hedging, adjusting portfolio durations
and reducing specific market risks The target allocation for equity
securihes decreased from 47 percent to 37 percant in the current
year, offset by an increase in the target allocation for fixed income
secunties and gther investments

The company's defined benefit pension plans include
investments in certan Eurcpean government securites At
December 31, 2011, the U S plan held appraxamatety $1 billien
and the non-U 8 plans held approximately $1t billion in European
sovereign debt Investments, respectively Investments in government
debt securities in Italy, Spain and Ireland were de minimis inthe U S
plan and reprasented less than 1 percent of total non-U S plan assets
The plans hold no drect investments In government debt securiies
of Greece and Fortugal

The company’s nonpensicn postretirement benefit plans are
underfunded or unfunded For some plans, the company mantans
a nominal, highly iquid trust fund balance to ensure timely benefrt
payments
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Defined Benefit Pension Plan assets
The following table presents the company's defined benefit pension plans’ asset classes and their associated far value at December 31, 2011
The US Plan consists of the Qualified PPP and the Non-U S Plans consist of all plans sponsored by the company’s subsidiaries

{$ in millons)
US Pian Non-US Plans
Level 1 Level 2 Lewl 3 Tota) Level 1 Lewel 2 Level 3 Total

Equity - N - R — o e - - R - - -

Equity securittes™ R RO s i 5 I b7 L O VI oLb L INVIANA

Equity commingled/mutual fundsg P 3 1877 - 1,300 Jae 77 TOH
Fxedwingome el I

Government and related® 1% 107 hal 16133 [P -

Corporate bonds * — 7 Sa¢ i 3 Jue - 1,40 o Y
_ Morigage and asset-backed secunties - IR 45 GBa Wl .

Fred iIncome commingted/mutual funds ™ "l 715 "4 1775 i e

Insurancecontracts . e P SR S o
Cash and short-term nvestments @ . Rob 293 - 4575 1 34 B Lt
Hedge funds - 1140 714 1 £53 417 Y
Povateequity™ e LM AR BE T
Prrvate real estate™ - T 258u Ly 540
Dervatives® 19 ] - %) i< Ly o
Other commingled/mutual funds =2 - — - 5 114 1ot
__Subtotal _ 14707 23 Mo 1,842 51,55% B,L7C Y e .
Other® -~ - - (508 - = = (%41}
Fair value of plan assets Sid4 207 529 444, 57 532 551 218 Sh b 27 557 5077 334 204

® Represents US and international securities TheU S Planincludes IBM comman stock of $132 mithon representing 0 3 percent of the U S Plan assets Non US Plans inclixie
1BM common stock of $35 million representing 01 percent of the non US Plans assets

) Comminglad funds rapresent pocled institutional investments

o Invests In pregominanily equity securiies

@ Includes debt issued by nationa!, state and local governments and agencies

© The US Plan Inctudes 1BM corporate bonds of $13 milllon, representing 0 03 percent of the U S Plan assets

0 Invests in predominantly fixed income securities

w Includes cash and cash equivalents and short-term marketable secuntes

m Includes imited partnerships and venture capital partnerships

m Pnmanly includes interest rate dervatives and to a lesser extent forwards exchange traded and other over-the-counter derivatives
U Invests in both equity and fixed income securities

* Repressnts net unsettied trensactions relating primarily to purchases and sales of plan assats

The US nonpension postretirement benefit plan assets of $38 millon were invested m cash, categorized as Level 11n the far value hierarchy
The non-U S nonpension postretirement benefit plan assets of $112 milfion, prmarily in Brazil, and, to a lesser extent, in Mexico and South
Africa, were invested primarily in government and related fixed income securities and corporate bonds, categonzed as Level 2.:n the far
value hierarchy
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The foflowing table presents the company's defined benefit pension plans’ asset classes and their associated far value at December 31, 2010
The U S Plan consists of the Qualfied PPP and the Non-U § Plans cenasist of all plans sponsored by the company's subsidianes

{8 n milhons)
US Plan Non US Plans
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Totat Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
L RO -
Equity secunues® $16,407 $ 54 § - $16,460 $7,903 $ - & — $ 7,903
.. Equny commingled/mutual fungg e 27 1829 — 1,856 276 9252 - 9,527
Bredmoome e e - —_ JR— -
Government and related™ — 12,743 = 12,743 — 7.574 - 7,574
Sorporatebonds L. . e T 8TV - BTV o 1282 n......1.288
Mortgage and asset-backed securlties o= _ 1147 BB 1202 = a = 45
___Fxed ncome commingled/mutual funds #% 252 662 221 1,136 i) 6,993 = 7068
Insurance cortracts R ot e T e .. 108 — 1085
Cash and short-term investments ® 244 2,000 — 2,244 147 254 - 401
Hedge funds - 953 624 1,577 - — — -
Private equity — — — 4,251 4,251 - =~ 176 176
Private real estate@ - - 2634 2634 - - 533 533
Dervatves™ i 2 £ e RDUU.. DU & B L1 NSO . -
Other commmngled/mutual funds = — — — — — 28 — 28
__ Subtotal 16,960 26,117 7.786 50,863 8 411 26,623 720 35755
Other? — — - {603) — — — 33)
Fair value of plan t: $16 960 $26 117 $7,786 $50,259 $8.411 $26 623 $720 $35,722

@ Represents U S and international securities The US Plan includes IBM common stock of $12Z million, representing 0 2 percent of the U'S Plan assets Non US Plansinclude
IBM common stock of $32 millien representing O 1 percent of thenon U S Plans assets

™ Commirglad funds represent pooled institutional investments

® Invests in predomenantly equily securities

0 Includes debt issued by national state and local governments and agencles

# Invests in predorminantly fixed income securities

® Includes cash and cash equivalents and short-term marketable securities

@ Includes limited partnerships and venture capital parinerships

™ Primarily includes interest rate derlvatives and 10 a lesser extent forwards exchange traded and other over the counter derivatives
0 Invasts in both equity and fixed Income securlties

i Represents net unsettled transactions relating primarily 1o purchases and sales of plan assets

The US nonpension postretirement benefit plan assets of $35 miflon were investad in cash, categonzed as Level 11n the far vatue huerarchy
The non-U S nonpension postretirement benefit plan assets of $120 million, pnmarily in Brazi, and, to a lesser extent, in Mexico and South
Afnca, were invested primarily in government and related fixaed income secunities, categonzed as Level 2n the farr value hierarchy
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The following tables present the reconciliation of the beginning and ending balances of Level 3 assets for the years ended December 31, 2011

and 2010 for the US Plan

{% in maflions)
Mortgage
and Asset  Fomd Incomie

Government Corporate Backed Commngled/ Hedge Private Prmvate

and Related Bonds Secunties  Mutual Funds Funds Equity  Real Estate Total
Balance at January 1,201 L5 & £56 AT N M. SO YA
Return on assets held at end of year [(ud] L 11, e B ‘1 N <
Return onasssts soldduingtheyear M Zi ]
Purchases sale 12 N e
Transfers, net 17 7 t - Lt "
Balance at December 31, 2011 s29 512 S45 $24u [ ANY e’ R 3 L2
* Due 10 an increase in the redemption term during 2013, the asset was transferred from Level 2to Level 3
5 in mifions)

Morigage
Equity and Asset  Fixed Income
Commungled/ Backed Commingled/ Hedge Private Private
Mutual Funds. Securities  Mutual Funds Funds Equity  Real Estate Total

Balance at January 1, 2010 $ 26 837 $192 $587 $3,877 $2,247 $6,964
Return on assets held at end of year 24 3 30 45 829 123 1,054
Retrnonassetssoddunngtheyear @ 90 = ... 3 (8% 8 039
Purchases, sales and settierments net 139 11 - {11) (302} 248 85
Transfers, net 188y 4 - - = = (184}
Balance at December 31, 2010 $§ — $56 $221 $624 $4 251 $2.634 $7,786

* Duning the year ended December 31 2010 the fund hured an independent agministrater responsible for valuing the fund Ag a result of this action the asset was transferred from

Level 3to Level 2

The following tables present the reconciiiation of the beginning and ending balances of Level 3 assets for the years ended December 31, 2011

and 2010 for the non-U S Plans

{3 0 milions)

Government Corporate Private Private

and Related Bonds Equity Real Estate Total
Balanceat January 1,201 [ - S 1 & O _atiu R
Retunonassetsheldatendofyear . ___ .. __ .. i e 2 S LB - -t
Return on assets sold dunng the year o [N} t [
Purchases, sales and settlerments net__ e e e e o Lk I
Transtersmet S SV AU
Foreign exchange impact {7 i
Balance at December 31, 2011 i =11 L2k S~ ‘o
(3 1in milions) .

Corporate Privata Privata
Bonds Equnty Real Estata Total

Balance atJanuary12000_ - ——— $— ... 593 __ p492 %585
Retumonassetsheidatendofyear .. M A 8B
Retusn on assets sold during the year - . ... . —_— T . B @) . 0
Purchases, splesand setflerents, net oA 88 e 8
Transfers, net R R .. - Sl . LT o - 7
Foreign exchange wmpact 0 3 (6) (2]
Batance at December 31, 2010 $11 $176 $533 $720
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Valuahon Technigues
The following s a description of the valuation technigues used to
measure plan assets at far value There were no changes In valuation
techmigues during 2011 and 2010

Equity securities are valued at the closing price reporied on the
stock exchange on which the individual securities are traded 1BM
commen stock 1s valued at the closing price reperted on the New
York Stock Exchange Equity commingled/mutual funds are typically
valued using the net asset value (NAV) provided by the administrator
of the fund and reviewed by the company The NAV 1s based on the
value of the underlying assets owned by the fund, minus liabilities
and divided by the number of shares or urits outstanding These
assets are classified as Level 1, Level 2 or Level 3 depending on
avallability of quoted market pnces

The farr value of fixed income securities 1s typically estimated
using pricing models, quoted prices of secunties with simstar
charactenstics or discounted cash flows and are generally classified
as Level 2 If avalable, they are valued using the closing price reported
on the major market on which the individual secunties are traded

Cash includes money market accounts that are valued at theirr
cost plus interest on a daily basis, which approximates far value
Short-term investments represent secunties with onginal maturities
of one yaar or lass These assets are classified as Level 1or Level 2

Private equity and private real estate partnership valuations
require significant jJudgment due to the absence of quoted market
prices, the inherent lack of iguidity and the long-term nature of such
assets These assets are inthially valued at cost and are reviewed
periodically utiizing avallable and relevant market data to determine
if the carrying value of these assets should be adjusted These
nvestments are classified as Level 3 The valuation methodology is
applied consistently from penod to penod

Exchange traded derivatives are valued at the closing price
reported on the exchange on which the indvidual securities are
traded, while forward contracts are valued using a mid-close price
Over-the-counter derivatives are typically valued using pricing
models The models require a vaniety of Inpuits, including, for example,
yield curves, credit curves, measures of volatility and foreign exchange
rates These assets are classified as Level 1 or Level 2 depending
on avalabilty of quoted market prices

Expected Contributions
Defined Benefit Pension Plans
It 15 the company's general practice to fund amounts for pensions
sufficient to meet the minimum requirements set forth in applicable
empioyee benefits laws and local tax laws From time to time, the
company contributes additional amounts as it deems appropriate

The company contributed $728 millon and $801 milion in cash
to non-U S defined benefit pension plans and $70 million and
$64 million in cash to non-U 8 multi-employer plans during the
years ended Decernber 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively The cash
contributions to multi-employer plans represent the annual cost
Included i net penodic (ihcome)/cost recognized in the Consolicated
Statement of Earnings The company has no liabdity for participants
in rulti-employer plans other than its own employees As aresult,
the company’s participation in multi-employer plans has no matenal
impact on the company’s financtal staterments

In 2012, the company I1s not legally required to make any
contributtons to the U S defined benefit pension plans However,
depending on market conditions, or other factors, the company
may elect to make discretionary contributions to the Qualfied PPP
duning the year

The Pensicn Protection Act of 2006 {the Act), enacted into law
N 2006, 15 a comprehenstve reform package that, among other
provisions, Increases penston funding requirements for certan U S
defined benefit plans, provides guidelines for measuring pension
plan assats and pension obligations for funding purposes and raises
tax deduction lirmits for contributions to retirement-related benefit
plans The additonal funding requirernents by the Act apply to plan
years beginning after December 31, 2007 The Act was updated by
the Worker, Retiree and Employer Recovery Act of 2008, which
revised the funding requirements in the Act by clanfying that pension
plans may smooth the value of pension plans over 24 months At
December 31, 2011, no mandatory contribution 1s required for 2012

In 2012, the company estimates contributions to its non-U S
defined benefit and multi-empioyer plans to be approximately
$800 million, which wilf be mainly contributed to defined benefit
pension plans in Japan, Switzertand and the UK This amount
represents the legally mandated minimum contrnibutions Financiat
market performance in 2012 could increase the legally mandated
minimum contribution in certain countries which require monthly or
daily remeasurement of the funded status The company could also
elect fo contribute more than the legally mandated amount based
on market conditions ar cther factors

Nonpension Postretirement Benefit Plans

The company contributed $362 mition and $363 milion to the
nonpension postretirement benefit plans during the years ended
December 31, 2011 and 2010 These contribution amounts exclude
the Medicare-related subsidy discussed on page 134
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Expected Benefit Payments

Defined Benefit Pension Plan Expected Payments

The following table presents the total expected benefit payments to defined benefit pension plan participants These payments have been
estimated based on the same assumptions used to measure the plans’ PBO at December 31, 2011 and include benefits atiributable to
estimated future compensation increases, where applicable

{$ 1n mulions)
Total
Qualfied Nongqualified Qualified Nonqualified Expectad
US Plan USPlans  NonUS Plans  Non-US Plans Benefit
Payments Payments Payments Payments _ Peyments
2mz2 $ 3,273 $ 98 $ 2,015 $ 348 $ 5735
2013 3313 102 1,996 354 5,765
20 . 3353 105 2,000 358 5,816
2015 _ 3,420 108 2,024 s8 5520
2006 3,401 W0 2088 377 5857
2072021 17,261 579 10 767 2,110 30,718

The 2012 expected benefit payments to defined benefit pension plan participants not covered by the respective plan assets (Uunderfunded
plans) represent a component of compensation and benefits, within current labiities, in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

Nongpension Postretrement Benefit Plan Expected Payments

The following table reflects the total expected benefit payments to nonpension postretirement benefit plan participants, as well
as the expected receipt of the company’s share of the Medicare subsidy described below These payments have been estimated based on
the same assumptions used to measure the plan's APBO at December 31, 2011

(% n mibons)

Less IBM
Share of Total
Expected Net Expected Qualified Nonquatfied Expacted
Us Pan Medicare US Plan  Non-US Plans  Non-US Plans Benefit
Payments Subsidy Payments Payments Paymants Payments
202 e _— — $ ag2 $(26) $ 466 s $§ a2 $ 505
2013 - 509 (26) 483 8 36 527
2014 e e e e, Ma8_ @R 423 .8 B8 4an
2015 432 23) 409 10 42 ... 46t
2016 o e e e i S S V1045480
20172021 2,003 — 2,003 83 282 2,348

The 2012 expected benefit payments 1o nonpension postretirement
benefit plan participants not covered by the respective plan assets
represent a component of compensation and benefits, withun current
lhabilites, in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Posibon

Medicare Prescription Drug Act

In connection with the Medicare Prescrniption Drug improvement
and Moderrization Act of 2003, the company I1s expected to continue
to receve a federal subsidy of approximately $196 millkion to subsidize
the prescription drug coverage provided by the US nonpension
postretirernent benefit plan, which 1s expected to extend until 2015
Approximatety $100 million of the subsidy will be used by the company
to reduce s obligation and cost related to the U S nonpension
postretirement benefit plan The company will contribute the remaining

subsidy of $86 milion to the plan in order to reduce contributions
required by the participants The company received total subsigies
of $36 milhon and $45 million for prescnption drug-related coverage
during the years ended December 31, 201i and 2010, respectively,
which were utiized to reduce the company contributions to the US
nonpension postretirernent benefit plan

The company has Included the impact of its portion of tha subsidy
in the determination of net penodic cost and APBO for the US
nonpension postretirement benefit plan at and for the years ended
December 31, 2011, 2010 and 2009 The impact of the subsidy
resulted in a reduction in APBO of $33 million and $107 million at
December 31, 2011 and 2010, respectively The impact of the subsidy
resulted in a reduction m 2011, 2010 and 2009 net periodic cost of
$37 milion, $19 millon and $28 million, respectively
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Other Plan Information

The following table presents informatior for defined benefit pension plans with accumutated benefit obligations (ABO) In excess of plan
assets For a more detailed presentation of the funded status of the company's defined benefit pension plans, see the table on page 125

{% n millons)
L 2010
Banafit Plan Benefit Plan
AtD ber 31 Obligation Assets QObhgation Assels
Plans with PBO n excess of plan assets oL 37 PR $21,589 $10,627
Plans with ABO mn excess of plan assets o A o 21 166 10576
Plans with s 1n excess of PBO 15100 wiit 72,288 75,355

Note T

wouoH

|:i’f1; lA“’

The company's major operations consist of five business segments
Global Technology Services, Global Business Services, Software,
Systems and Technology and Glchal Financing The segments
represent components of the company for which separate financial
information 1s available that is utihzed on a regular basis by the chief
executive officer in determining how to allocate resources and
evaluate performance The segments are determined based on
severai factors, inciuding client base, homogenetity of products,
technology, delivery channels and similar econormic charactenstics
Information about each segment’s business and the products and
services that generate each segment’s revenue ts located in the
“Description of Business” section on pages 22 to 24, and n *Segment
Details,” on pages 26 through 31in the Management Discussion
Segment revenue and pre-tax income include transactions
between the segments that are intended to reflect an arm's-length,
market-based transfer pnce Systems and software that is used by
Global Technology Services th outsourcing engagements 1s primarily
sourced internally from Systems and Technology and Software For
provicing IT services that are used internally, Global Technology

Services and Global Business Services recover cost, as well as a
reascnable fee, that 1s intended to reflect the arm’s-length value of
providing the services The Global Services segments enter into
arm's-length leases and loans at prices equivalent to market rates
with Global Financing to facilitate the acquisibon of equipment used
N services engagements All internal transaction prices are reviewed
annually, and reset if appropnate

The company utilhizes globally ntegrated support organizations
to realize economies of scale and efficient use of resources Asa
result, a considerable amount of expense ts shared by all of the
segments This shared expense includes sales coverage, certan
marketing functions and support functions such as Accounting,
Treasury, Procurement, Legal, Human Resources and Billing and
Collections Where practical, shared expenses are allocated based
oh measurable drivers of expense, e g, head count When a clear
and measurable driver cannot be identified, shared expenses are
allocated on a financial basis that 1s consistent with the company’s
management system, € g, advertising expense 1s allocated based
on the gross profits of the segments A portion of the shared expenses,
which are recorded in net ncome, are not allocated to the segments
These expenses are associated with the elimmnation of internal
transactons and other miscellaneous items
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The following tables reflect the results of operations of the company’s segments consistent with the management and measurement system
utihzed within the company Performance measurement i1s based on pre-tax income These results are used, n part, by senior management,
both in evaluating the performance of, and In allocating resources to, each of the segments Effective January 1, 2011, the company transitioned
its management and measurement system to reflect operating earnings in an effort to provide betier transparency into the operating results
of the business As aresult, certain acquisition-related charges and non-operating retirement-related costs are not reflected In the segment

results S

pre-tax income and pre-tax margin have been reclassified to conform to the new management and measurement system

Management System Segment View

ge the “*Operating (non-GAAP) Farnings” section on page 18 for additional information regarding this change Prior year segment

{$ 10 milkons)
Giobal Services Segments
Global {Global

Technology Business Systemns and Glchal Total
For the year ended D H Services Servicas Software Technology Financing Segments
201
External revenue SANETS 519764 $14 94w S1a.0uh €3 RS
Internal revenue 1 242 707 3,276 |et] 2.00 azre
Total revenue 542121 S0 041 528 219 L1262 Selin ERE.
Pre-tax mcome $ 6284 S 300 § 6¢8/0 5 1683 s2011 S 2oeMd
Revenus year-to-year change _ I L. ..56% w9t w28 B
Pre-tax income year-to-year change 14 3 18 1Y 53 - 22 R
Pre-tax incone margin 148°% 160, 353 . e 49 200
2010
External revenue . _$38201  $18223 $22,485 517,973 $2,238 $ 99120
Internal revenue 1,313 798 2950 804 1842 7707
Total revenue $38.514 $19 021 $25,436 $18,777 54,080 $106 827
Pre-tax income” $ 5,499 $ 2,546 $ 9,466 3 1,456 $1,956 $ 20,823
Revenue year-to-year change 20% 26% 57% 298% 01% _ 42%
Pre-tax ncome year-to-year change” 03% 18% 13 8% 121% 135% __83%
Pre-tax income margin® 13 9% 13 4% 37 2% 7 8% 48 0% 19 6%
2009
Exiernal revenue - $37,347 $17,653 $21,396 $16,190 8§2,302 £ 94,889
Internal revenue 1,386 887 2,677 211 1,774 7,635
Total revenue $38,734 $18,540 $24 073 $17 102 $4,076 $102 524
Pre-tax income* $ 5,482 $ 2,501 $ 8,319 $ 1208 $1.724 $ 10323
Rovenue yoar-to-year change__ ___ 8% (103%  @N% 052% . B4% (7%
Pre-tax income year-t0-year change* 23 0% B 49% 139% 88)% 71% 11 2%
Pre-tax ncome margm” 14 2% 13 5% 34 6% 7 6% 42 3% 18 8%

* Reclassified to conform with 2011 presentation
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Reconcihations of IBM as Reported

{$ i millions}
For the yoar ended December 31 n 2010 2009
Revenue
Total reportabte segments s1144'y  $106827  $102,524
Other ravenue and adjustments ine 750 869
Elrrenation of internal transactions il 7707 {7635}
Total IBM consolidated revenue S . $ 99870 § 95758
{$ in millions)
For the year ended Dy ser 31 PR 2010° 2009"
Pre-tax mcome
Total reportable segments o $20923 $15,323
Amortization of acquired

intangibie agsets {0685 {512} (489)
Acqustion-refated charges . dv | {46 @
Nen-operating retirement-

related {costsyincome " 414 509
Eimination of nternal transactions 124w ({857) (744}

Unallocated corporate amountg** 15 {98) (453)

Total IBM consoclidated
pre-tax income

521 0% $10,723 $18 138

* Reclassifled to conformwith 2014 presentation

**The 2009 amount n¢luded a provision related to a jont veniure investment, while
the 2010 amount included an adjustment of that provision as the venture was divested
The 2009 and 2010 amounts included gains related to the divestiture of the pninting
business

immaterial tems

Investment in Equity Alhances

and Equity Alhances Gains/{Losses)

The investments in equity allances and the resulting gains and
(losses) from these investments that are attributable to the segments
did nct have a matenal effect on the financial position or the financial
results of the segments

Segment Assets and Other ltems
Giobal Technology Services assets are primarly accounts recevable,
plant, property and equipment iIncluding the assets assocated with
the outsourcing business, gocdwill, acquired intangible assets,
deferred services arrangement transition costs and mantenance parts
inventory Global Business Services assets are primarily goodwill
and accounts receivable Software assets are mainly goodwill,
acquired intangible assets and accounts receivable Systems and
Technology assets are primarily plant, property and equipment,
manufacturng inventory and accounts recevable Global Financing
assets are primarily financing recewables and fixed assets under
operating leases

To ensure the efficient use of the company’s space and equipment,
several segments may share plant, property and equipment assets
Where assets are shared, landiord ownership of the assets 1s
assgned to one segment and Is not allocated to each user segment
This 1s consistent with the company’s management system and 15
reflected accordingly in the table on page 138 In those cases, there
wilf not be a precise correlation between segment pre-tax ncome
and segment assets

Sirmularly, the depreciation amounts reported by each segment
are based on the assigned jandlord ownership and may not be
consistent with the amounts that are included in the segments’ pre-
tax ncome The amounts that are included in pre-tax income reflect
occupancy charges from the landlord segment and are not specifically
dentified by the management reporting system Caprtal expenditures
that are reported by each segment also are consistent with the
landlord ownership basis of asset assignment

Global Financing amounts for interest income and interest
expense reflect the interest income and interest expense associated
with the Global Financing business, including the intercompany
financing actvities discussed on page 24, as well as the income from
irvestrnent in cash and marketable secunties The explanation of the
difference between cost of inancing and interest expense for segment
presentation versus presentation in the Congolidated Staternent of
Earnings 1s included on page 66 of the Management Discussicn
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Management System Segment View

{$ In milions)

Global Services Segments

Global Global

Technology Business Systems and Global Total
For the year enged December 31 Servces Services Software Technology Financing Segments
201 )
Assets B 815470 a VTh D23 429 ST b} B.%8e S b
Depreciation/amaortization of mtangnbles" . 1,71 L R Y REREE .
Caprtal experditures/mvestments in intangibles R ¥ 4 3 ' (o . nar Sy
Interest ncome . T - _ - . - < 109 R
Intgrest experse - i) LA
2010
Assets _ . 315560 88,007 $22 625 57287 835813  $80.2G92
Dapreciation/amortization of intangibles® . 1.6832 _ 75 .. fe2 784 1,417 _4.900
Caprtal expenditures/investments in intangibles oM 52 463 1,163 1,246 4434
Interest ncome - = — = 2118 2,116
Interest expense - — = = 548 548
2009
Assets _ . . . %18422 . %6885 $16,894 $6,907 834,605 $81 714
Depreciation/amortzation of intangibies” 1680 87 906 814 1694 5,181
Capital expenditures/investments in intangibles 1,512 45 471 658 1,460 4,145
Interest mcome [N T T .. = 2,265 . 2,265
Interest expense = = - - 674 674

* Segment pre tax Income does not include the amortization of Intang:ble assets




Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
International Business Machines Corporation and Subsidiary Companies

Reconcihations of IBM as Reported

(S in millions}
At December 31 0 2010 2008
Assets
Total reportable sagments LI $ 89202 3 81,714
Elmination of iternal ransacvons {5,515) (5 481}
Unallocated amounts e e
___Cash and markstable securiies Do 10,113 12,688
__Notesandaccountsrecevable 3762 3928
Deferred tax agsets 4,494 5,545
Plant, other property
._.amddegqupment . 3067 2871
. Pension assets_ R et . B0e0 2904
Other [ 5178 4,665
Total IBM consohdated L1110 418  $113452 $109,022

Major Clients
No single client representad 10 percent or more of the company's
total revenue in 2011, 2010 or 2006

Geographic Information
The following provides information for those countnes that are
10 percent or mere of the specific category

Revenue”

{$ in millionsg)

For the year ended December 31 Sav 2010 2009
United States _ .. &304 __ $35581  $34 150
Japan 13 7 10,701 10222
Other countnes 'y LD 53 589 51,386
Total IBM consolidated revenue £104 40 $99 870 $95 758
* Hevenues are attributed 1o countngs based on the location of the client

Net Plant, Property and Equipment

{8 In millions)

At December 31 ' 2010 2009
United States [ $ 6,134 $ 6,313
Other countnes vl 6,208 6142
Total L $12432 $12 455

Revenue by Classes of

Similar Products or Services

The following table presents external revenue for similar classes of
products or services within the company’s reportable segments
within Global Technology Services and Global Business Services,
client solutions often include IBM software and systems and other
suppliers’ products if the client solution requires it Within Software,
product icense charges and ongomng subscription and support are
reported as Software, and software as a service, consutting,
education, training and other product-related services are reporied
as Services Within Systems and Technology, Microelectronics
onginal equipment manufacturer {OEM) revenue 1s pnimarily from
the sale of semiconductors Microelectronics Services revenue
includes circurit and compoenent design services and technelogy
and manufacturing consulting services See "Description of the
Business,” beginning on page 20 for additional information

{3 in midions}
For tho year ended December 31 v 2010 2009
Global Technology Services
_ Services ___ T, ‘g w o $20367 828,762
Maintenarice o I 1, 7,250 6 956
Systems . ... 13U 1409 1279
_Software 140 175 351
Global Business Services
Services - S1u556  $17.858  $17,213
. Software 286 291
Systems 113 129 208
Software ~ _ ~ . } R
Software | $20 882 $20 094
Services 2urn 1,603 1,302
Systams and Technology o _
Servers ..z $11,619 $10,627
_Storage . ....__.‘1°___ 3420 3377
Microelectronics OEM _1of 1,938 1550
Retall Stora Solutions Th 674 551
. Mcroelectronics Services | .07 821 285
Global Financing
Financing fin § 1,580 $ 1715
Used eguipment sales w. 659 588
Note U.

F TN L)
NS U LR TR G TR AL

On January 31, 2012, the company announced that the Board of
Directors approved a quarterly dividend of $0 75 per common share
The dividend s payable March 10, 2012 to shareholders of record
on February 10, 2012

On February 1, 2012, the company issued $2 5 billion in fixed rate
bonds ag follows $15 bullion in 3-year bonds with a 0 55 percent
coupon, and $10 bilkon in 5-year bonds with a 125 percent coupon

On February 3, 2012, the company 1ssued C$500 miticn In
Canadian 5-year fixed rate bonds with a 2 20 percent coupon
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S in milfions except per share amounts)

For the year endexd D 3 201 2010 2009 2008 2007
Revenue $106,916 % 99870 $ 95,758 $103,630 $98,786
Netingome . _ .l e . ...B15855  $14833  $.13425 _ §123% _ 0418
QOperating (non-GAAP) earnings"* $ 16,318 $ 15,023 $ 13,452 $ 12,293 $10.864
Earnings per share of common stock

Assuming dilution _ R . .. .5 1306 % Mms2 % 1001 % BE9 $ 718
__ Basic . . $ 1325 $ 1169 $ 1012 § 902 0§ 727

Diuted operating (non-GAAPY % 134§ Me7 & 1008 _§ 88 5 746
Cashdmdendspadoncommonsteck . . . ... B 3878 8 3177 0% 2860 8 2586 $2147

Per share of cornmon stock 2.90 250 215 190 150
Investment n proparty, plant and equiprent $ 4108 $ 4185 8 3447 §.4171 | 84630
Retum on IBM stockholders eguity 71 2% 66 8% 80 4% 48 7% 42 6%
At December 3 20H 2010 2009 2008 2007
Total assets . . $116,433 $113,452 $109,022 $109,524 $120,431
Net investment in property, plant and equipment . s .. 13883 14008 14165 14,305 15,081
Working capial 8,805 7,554 12,833 6,568 8,857
Toatdebt o 31,320 28,624 26,009 33,926 _..35274
Total equity 20,236 23,172 22,755 13,584 28 615

* On December 31 2002 the company sold its hard disk dnve (HDD) business 1o Hitachi Lid (Hitachi} The HDD business was accounted for as a discontinued operaticn under
generalty accepted accounting principtes in the United States (GAAP) and tharefore the HDD resutts of operations and eash flows have been remmcved from the company's results
of continuing operations and cash flow for 2007 There was no activity in 2008, 2008, 2010 or 2011 The 2007 discontinued net Ioss was less than $0 6 millon ang had noimpact
on earmings per share of common stock

“*Refer {0 page B2 of the company s first-quarier 2011 Form 10 Q filed on April 26 2011 for the reconci:ation of non-GAAR financlal information for the years 2007 through 2010
Also see "GAAP Reconciliation,” on page 38 for the reconcifiation of non-GAAP financial mtorrmation for 2011
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& 1n milions except per share amounis and $1ock pnces)

First Second Thurd Fourth Full
201 Crarter CQuarter Quarter Quarter Year
Revenue $24,607 $26,666 $26,157 $29,486 $106,916
Gross profit $10,858 $12,385 512,173 $14,722 $ 50,138
Net income B R o L ... 5283 = S$3664 = 53839  $5490 S 15855
Operating (non-GAAP) earnings* $ 2,990 $ 3777 $ 3,054 $ 5,597 $ 16,318
Earnings per share of common stock — . —— e
Assumingdiuton L — - e $.231 0% 300 $ 319 0§ 462§ 1306
Basic $ 234 $ 304 $ 323 $ 468 $ 1325
__Divedoparatnglnon-GAAPT $ 24 $.300 $ 328 % am $_ 1344
Dnadends per share of common stock $ 065 $ QT5 $ 075 $ 075 $§ 2%
Stock prices’ e e
O ... 16805 $17287  _$18521 _ S19456
Low 147 05 162 33 15754 173 29
(3 In milions except per shara amounts and stock pnces)
First Second Third Fourth Ful
2010 CQuarter Quarter Quarter Quarter Year
Revenue = = e $22,857 23724 823271 $29019  _ $99,870
Gross profit $ 9,976 $10,809 $11,001 $14 227 $46 014
Net ncome $ 2,601 $ 3386 $ 3589 § 5257 $14 833
Operating (non-GAAP) earnings” $ 2,638 $ 3402 $ 3,628 $ 5354 $15,023
Eamings per share of common stock
_ Assumngdivwon $ 197 $ 261 $ 282 $ 418 $ 1152
Base % 200 % 265 B 286 % 424 %1169
Diluted operating {non-GAAP)" $ 200 $ 262 $ 285 $ 425 $ 1167
Dradends per share of common stock $§ 055 $ 065 $ Q065 $ 065 $ 250
Stockprices” e — S - — - e e
_Hgh $134 14 $13268 $135 48 $145 92 I
Low 121 88 122 10 121 86 135 25

* Refer o pages 61and 62 of the company's first quarter 2011 Form 10-Q fited on April 26 2011 pages 72 and 73 of the company s second quarter 2011 Form 10-Q filed on July 26 2011
page 73 of the company s third guartar 2011 Form 10-Q filed on October 25 2011 and page 43 under the heading "GAAP Reconciliation” for the raconciliation of non-GAAP
Information for the quarterly data for 2011 and 2010 Also see "GAAP Reconcillation,” on page 38 for the reconcliiation of non GAAP financial Information for full year 2011 and 2010

" Earnings Per Share (EPS) in each quaner Is computed using the weightad average number of snares owstanding during that quarter while EPS tor the full year Is computed using
the weighted average number of shares ouisianding during the year Thus, the sum of the four quarters® EPS does not equal the full year EPS

* The stock prices reflect the high and low prices for IBM's common stock on the New York Stock Exchange composita tape for the last two years
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Performance Graphs
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Comparison of One- Five- and Ten-Year Cumulative Total Return for IEM, '
S&P 500 Stock Index and S&P Information Technology index

The following graphs compare the one-, five- and ten-year cumulative
total returns for IBM common stock with the comparable cumulatve
return of certain Standard & Poor’s {S&P) ndices Due to the fact
that IBM 1s a company included in the S&P 500 Stock Index, the
SEC's rules reqguire the use of that index for the required five-year
graph Under those rules, the second index used for comparison
may be a published industry or ine-of-business index The S&P

Information Technology Index is such an index. IBM 1s also included
in this index

Each graph assurnes $100 invested on December 31 (of the rmitial
year shown in the graph) In IBM common stock and $100 invested
on the same date in each of the S&F indices The comparisons
assurne that alt dvidends are reinvested

One-Year Five-Year
{US Dollar) S Dollar)
130 . P L R 20 - - mmm = c e e e S S
180 - - e e e
125
170
120 -~ e - R FRS——
150
15 - - - - - 130 e o m mmmen mm e e e - e
10
10 - .
90
105 - -
O = cm s e —
e 4
o
100 . - o - - .
10 Ll 06 T w 08 09 10 "
One-Year
2010 2m
= 1BM Common Stock $100 00 $127 42
* S&P 500 Index 100 00 102 11
* S&P Information Technology Index 100 00 102 41
Five-Year
2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 201
<BMCommonStock . _ . 810000 $i1284  _ _Se9dt _ fu41& | $16207  _ $206.50
« S&P 500 Index } o _10000 10549 6646 8405 867 9875
» S&P Information Technology Index 100 00 116 31 66 13 106 65 117 B5 120 69
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Ten-Year

(US Dollar)

s - T S

150

125
100
75
50
o a2 B R Y o o6 a0 "m0 e 0 T h
Ten-Year
2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 20m
+IBMCommonStock  $10000_ _ $6453 $ 7776 $8335 $7015 $8402 $9481 7512 $11915 $13617 $17351
* S&P 500 Index 100 00 7790 10024 11115 116 61 135 03 142 45 B8 75 11350 130 59 133 35

* S&P Information
Technology Index 100 00 62 59 82 14 94 50 95 44 103 47 120 35 68 43 110 66 121 94 124 88
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Board of Ditectors

Alain J P Belda
Managmg Director
Warburg Pincus LLC

William R Brody
President
Salk Instrtute for Brological Studies

Kenneth | Chenault
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
American Express Company

Michael L Eskew
Retired Charrman and
Chief Executive Officer
Urited Parcel Service, Inc

David N Farr
Charman and Chief Executive Officer
Emerson Electric Co

Sentor Leadership

Rodney C Adkins
Senior Vice President
Systems and Technology Group

Colleen F. Amold
Senior Vice President
Apphcation Management Services

James P Bramante
Sentor Vice President
Growth Markets

Michelle H Browdy
Vice President, Assistant
General Counsel and Secretary

Ench Clement
Senior Vice President
Giobal Technology Services

Michael E. Daniels
Senior Vice President
and Group Executive
Services

Robert F. Del Bene
Vice President and Treasurer

Bruno V Di Leo Allen
Senior Vice President
Sales and Distribution

Shirley Ann Jackson
President
Rensselaer Polytechnic institute

Andrew N Livens
Chairman, President and
Chief Executive Officer

The Dow Chermical Company

W James McNerney, Jr
Chairrman, President and
Chief Executive Offtcer
The Boeing Company

James W Owens
Retired Charrman and
Chief Executve Officer
Caterpiiar inc

Jon C Iwata
Senior Vice President
Marketing and Communications

James J Kavanaugh
Vice President and Controifer

John E Kelly 11l
Senior Vice President and Director
Research

Robert J. LeBlanc
Semor Vice President
Middleware Software Group

Mark Loughndge

Senior Vice President and

Chief Financial Officer

Finance and Enterprise Transformation

J Randall MacDonald
Senior Vice President
Hurnan Resources

Steven A. Milis
Semior Vice President
and Group Executive
Software and Systemns

Samuel J. Palmisano
Charman of the Board
8mM

Virginia M. Rometty
President and Chief Executive Officer
eM

Joan E Spero

Adjunct Senior Research Scholar
Columbia University School of
international and Public Affairs

Sidney Taurel
Senor Advisor
Capital Royaity L P

Lorenzo H Zambrano
Charrman and

Chief Executive Officer
CEMEX, SAB deCV

Samuel J Palmisano
Charrman of the Board

Michael D Rhodin
Senior Vice President
Software Solutions Group

Virginia M Rometty
President and Chief Executive Officer

Linda S Sanford
Senior Vice President
Enterprise Transformation

Timothy S Shaughnessy
Senior Vice President
GTS Services Delivery

Bridget A van Krahngen
Senor Vice President
Global Business Services

Robert C Weber

Senior Vice President

Legal and Regulatory Affairs,
and General Counsel
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IBM Stockholder Services
Stockholders with questions about ther accounts should contact

Computershare Trust Company, NA PO Box 43078
Providence Bhode Island 02940-3078 (888) IBM-6700

Irvestars resikling outside the Unvted States Canada and
Puerto Rico should call {781) 575-2727

Stackholders can also reach Computershare Trust Company, N A
via e-mail at ibrm@computershare com

Hearing-impaired stockholders with access to a telecommunications
device (TDD) can communicate directly with Computershare

Trust Caormpany N A, by caling (800) 490-1493 Steckholders
residing outside the Unied States, Canada and Puerto Rico

should call (781) 575-2694

IBM on the Internet

Topics featured in this Annual Report can be found wia the IBM home
page on the Intemst (bitp /wwwibmcom) Financial results, news on IBM
products, services and other actvities can also be found via that address.

!BM filas reports with the Securities and Exchange Comnission (SEC),
Including the annual report on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q,
current reports on Form B-K and any other fiings required by the SEC

IBM's website (hitp /Awww ibrmcom) contains a significant amount of
information about IBM, including the company s annual report on Form
10 K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q current reports on Form 8-K

and all amendments to those reports as soon as reasonably practicable
alter such matenal 15 elecironically filed with or furnishet 1o the SEC

(http //www Iibm com/investor) These matenals are available free of
charge on or through our website.

Tha public may read and copy any materials the company files with the
SEC at the 3EC’s Pubiic Reference Room at 100 F Street, NE, Washington,
DC 20549 The public may obtain informaton on the oparation of the
Public Reference Room by calling the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330 The SEC
maintains an Internet site (http.//Awww.sec.gov) that contains reports,
proxy and information statements, and other information regarding 'ssuers
that file electronically with the SEC

IBM Investor Services Program

The Investor Services Program brochure outlines a nurmnber of services
provided for IBM stockholders and potenuat IBM investors, iInciuding
the remvestment of dvidends, diract purchase and the deposit of IBM
stock certficates for safekesping Call (888) IBM-6700 for a copy of
the brochure Investors rasding outside the United States, Canada and
Puerto Rico should call (781) 575-2727

Investors with other reguests may write to 1BM Stockholder Relations,
New Orchard Road, Armank, New York 10504

1IBM Stock
IBM common stock is listed on the New York Stock Exchange,
the Chicago Stock Exchange, and outside the United States.

Stockholder Communications

Stockholders in the United States and Canada can get quarterly
financial results 2 summary of the Annual Meeting remarks,
and voting results from the mesting by caling (800} 1BM-7800
Stockholgers residing outside the United States, Canada and
Puarto Rico should call (402) 573-9861

Annual Meeting

The IBM Annual Meeting of Stockholders will be held on Tuesday,
Apnl 24 2012, at 10 a m. in the Charleston Area Convention Center,
North Charleston, Scuth Carolina

Literature for IBM Stockholders
The Iterature mentioned below on I1BM 1s avalable without charge from

Computershara Trust Company, N A, PO Box 43078,
Providence, Rhode Island 02940-3078 (888) IBM-6700

Investors residing outside the United States, Canada and
Puerto Rico should call (781) 575-2727

The company s annual report on Form 10-K and the quarterty reports
on Form 10-Q provide addittonal information on IBM s business The
10-K report 1s released by the end of February 10-Q reports are relsased
by early May August and November

An audio recording of the 2011 Annual Report will be available for
sight-imparred stockholders in June 2012

The IBM Corporate Responsibility Report ighlights IBM's values

and its integrated approach 1o corporate responsibility including

Its Innovative strategies for transforming communities through

global citizenship The Report Summary 1s avaitable in prninted form

and downloadable at htip./Avwwibm.com/responsibiity The full Comporate
Responsibiity Report 1s onkne with downloadable sections

at http //www ibmcom/responsibility

General Information

Stockholders of record can recene onling account information and
answers o frequently asked questions regarding stockholder accounts
via the Internet {http /fwwwibm convinvestory Stockholders of record can
also consant to recelve future IBM Annual Reports and Proxy Staterments
onling through the Internet at this site

For answers to general questions about IBM from wathir the continental
United States, cail (800) IBM-4YOU From outside the United Statas
Canada and Puerto Rico, call (914} 469-1900
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International Business Machines Corporation
New Orchard Road, Armonk, New York 10504
(914) 459-1900

Algonthmics, DS8000, 1BM, IBM SmartCloud ILOG, Initiate Systems
Lombard Lotus, Netezza, OpenPages, POWER?, Power Systemns Rational,
Smarter Cities, Smarter Commerce, Smarter Planet, Sterfing Commerce,
System x System z, Tivol, WebSphere, XIV and zEnterprise are trademarks
or registered trademarks of internauonal Business Machines Corporation
of its wholly owned subsidianes Jeopardy! 1s a registered radamark

of Jeopardy Froductions Inc Linux is a registered trademark of Linus
Torvakds in the Unnted States, other countries, or both Oracle s a registered
tracternark of Oracle Corporation UNIX is a registered trademark of the
Open Group in the United States and other countries Other cormnparny
product and service names may be trademarks or service marks of others.

The IBM Annual Report 1s printed on recycled paper and 1s recyclable
Printed in the U S5.A COLO3002-USEN-02

Design VSA Partners, Inc Printing RA Donnelley




+

S
N o
@ »

Let’s build a smarter planet.




